Cohomological Invariants of Homogeneous Varieties (with Applications to Quadratic Forms and Central Simple Algebras)

HABILITATIONSSCHRIFT

Reine Mathematik

Fachbereich Mathematik der Westfälischen Wilhelms-Universität Münster

> vorgelegt von NIKITA KARPENKO aus St. Petersburg

Preface

Let X be a projective homogeneous variety over a field F. We study the Chow group $CH^*(X)$ of algebraic cycles on X modulo rational equivalence graded by codimension of cycles. Especially, we are interested in the Chow group $CH^2(X)$ of 2-codimensional cycles because of its connection with the relative Galois cohomology group $H^3(F(X)/F, \mathbb{Z}/2)$, where F(X) is the function field of X. We compute these groups for various types of X and apply the results to problems in the theories of quadratic forms (e.g. isotropy over function fields of homogeneous varieties) and central simple algebras (decomposability, common splitting fields).

Each chapter is written as an independent article with an abstract and an introduction.

Results of Chapters 3–7 are obtained in joint work with Oleg Izhboldin.

Support of the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (Habilitatndenstipendium KA 1234/1-1) is gratefully acknowledged.

Contents

Chap	ter 1. Commension 2 cycles on Severi-Brauer varieties	9
U. 1	Introduction Deduction to the primary case	11
1. 9	Chorn alorses and somme filtration	11
⊿. 3	Main observation	12
$\frac{1}{2}$	Computation of gamma-filtration	20
5	Algebras of prime exponent	30
6.	Appendix	32
Chap	ter 2. Codimension 2 cycles on products of Severi-Brauer varieties	35
0.	Introduction	35
1.	Two preliminary results	36
2.	Grothendieck group of product of Severi-Brauer varieties	36
3.	Disjoint varieties and disjoint algebras	37
4.	"Generic" varieties	39
5.	"Generic" algebras	40
6. -	Biquaternion variety times conic	42
1.	Product of two Severi-Brauer surfaces	45
Chap	ter 3. Isotropy of virtual Albert forms over function fields of quadrics	49
0.	Introduction	49
1.	Terminology, notation, and backgrounds	50
2.	Computation of $H^3(F(SB(A) \times SB(B))/F)$	52
3.	Computation of $H^3(F(X_{\psi} \times \mathrm{SB}(D))/F)$	54
4.	8-dimensional quadratic forms	56
5.	Main theorem	57
Chap	ter 4. Isotropy of 6-dimensional quadratic forms over function fields	
	of quadrics	59
0.	Introduction	59
1.	Terminology, notation, and backgrounds	61
2.	The group $H^3(F(\rho_1, \rho_2)/F)$	62
3.	The Grothendieck group of a quadric	65
4.	The Grothendieck group of a product of quadrics	68
5. C	UH ² of a product of quadrics $I^{3}(E(-1)/E)$	69
6. 7	The group $I^{\circ}(F(\rho, \psi)/F)$	(4 75
(.	I ne case of index 1	- (3

CONTENTS

8. 9.	Main theorem The case of index 2	78 81
Chap	ter 5 Some new examples in the theory of quadratic forms	83
0.	Introduction	83
1.	Terminology, notation, and backgrounds	85
2.	Products of Severi-Brauer varieties	86
3.	The Grothendieck group of a grassmanian	88
4.	Pull-back to generic fiber	92
5.	Weil transfer via Galois descent	93
6.	Galois action on Grothendieck group	95
7.	Product of conics	96
8.	Preliminary calculations I	98
9.	Preliminary calculations II	103
10.	First basic construction	109
11.	Second basic construction	111
12.	Quadratic forms over complete fields	113
13.	8-dimensional quadratic forms $\phi \in I^2(F)$	115
14.	14-dimensional quadratic forms $\phi \in I^3(F)$	119
15.	Nonstandard isotropy	121
Chap	ter 6. On the group $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$	123
0.	Introduction	123
1.	Terminology, notation, and backgrounds	124
2.	The group $\operatorname{Tors} G^*K(X)$	125
3.	Auxiliary lemmas	126
4.	On the group $\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y)$	128
5.	The group $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$	129
6.	The group $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$	131
7.	Corollaries	133
8.	A generalization	135
Chap	ter 7. Isotropy of 8-dimensional quadratic forms over function field	elds
-	of quadrics	137
0.	Introduction	137
1.	Terminology and notation	138
2.	The groups $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$ and $I^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$	139
3.	The group $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$	141
4.	The group $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$	142
5.	Standard isotropy in the case $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) = 0$	145
6.	The group $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$ in the case $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\psi) \otimes_F D) = 2$	146
7.	Main theorem	149
8.	Isotropy over the function field of a conic	151
Chapt	ter 8. A generalization of the Albert-Risman theorems	153
0.	Introduction	153

CONTENTS	
----------	--

1. 2.	Preliminaries The proof	$\begin{array}{c} 154 \\ 155 \end{array}$
Chap	ter 9. Linked algebras	157
0.	Introduction	157
1.	The theorem	158
2.	Preliminary observations	158
3.	The proof	159
Chap	ter 10. Common splitting fields of division algebras	163
0.	Introduction	163
1.	"Generic" algebras of given behaviour	164
2.	Definition of β	166
3.	The theorem	166
Bibli	ography	169

CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1

Codimension 2 cycles on Severi-Brauer varieties

For a given sequence of integers $(n_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$, we consider all the central simple algebras A (over all fields) satisfying the condition ind $A^{\otimes i} = n_i$ and find among them an algebra having the biggest torsion in the second Chow group CH² of the corresponding Severi-Brauer variety ("biggest" means that it can be mapped epimorphically onto each other).

We give a description of this biggest torsion in the general case (via the gamma-filtration) and find out when (i.e. for which sequences $(n_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$) it is non-trivial. We also make an explicit computation in some special situations: e.g. in the situation of algebras of a square-free exponent e the biggest torsion turns out to be (cyclic) of order e.

As an application we prove indecomposability for certain algebras of a prime exponent.

0. Introduction

We consider finite dimensional central simple algebras over fields. Let A be such an algebra and X = SB(A) the corresponding Severi-Brauer variety ([6, §1]). We are interested to describe the torsion in the second Chow group $CH^2(X)$ of 2-codimensional cycles on X modulo rational equivalence (the question seems more natural if one takes in account that the groups $CH^0(X)$ and $CH^1(X)$ never have a torsion). Here are some preliminary observations. The group Tors $CH^2(X)$ is finite and annihilated by ind A. Further, if A' is another algebra Brauer equivalent to A and X' = SB(A') then by [58, Lemma 1.12] or [37, Corollary 1.3.2]

$$\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X) \simeq \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X')$$
.

Finally, if

$$A = \bigotimes_p A_p$$

is the decomposition of an algebra A into the tensor product of its primary components and $X_p = SB(A_p)$ for each prime p then

$$\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X) \simeq \bigoplus_p \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_p)$$

or in other words, the *p*-primary part of the group $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X)$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_p)$ (Proposition 1.3).

Summarizing, we see that the problem to compute $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X)$ for all algebras reduces itself to the case of primary division algebras.

Now consider the Grothendieck group $K(X) = K_0(X)$ together with the gamma-filtration (Definition 2.6):

$$K(X) = \Gamma^0 K(X) \supset \Gamma^1 K(X) \supset \dots$$

One has a canonical epimorphism (see the proof of Corollary 2.15)

$$\Gamma^{2/3}K(X) \longrightarrow \mathrm{CH}^2(X)$$

of the quotient

$$\Gamma^{2/3}K(X) = \Gamma^2 K(X) / \Gamma^3 K(X) .$$

We consider the group $\Gamma^{2/3}K(X)$ as an upper bound for $CH^2(X)$ and will show that in the primary case this upper bound is in certain sense the least one.

To formulate it precisely, let us call the sequence $(\operatorname{ind} A^{\otimes i})_{i=1}^{\infty}$ the behaviour of A. A sequence of integers $(n_i)_{i=1}^{\infty}$ will be called a ((p-)primary) behaviour if it is the behaviour of a ((p-)primary) algebra.

Suppose that A is a division algebra. The Grothendieck group K(X) depends only on the behaviour of A (Theorem 3.1). Moreover, K(X) together with the gamma-filtration (and the group $\Gamma^{2/3}K(X)$ in particular) depend only on the behaviour (Corollary 3.2) and our main observation is (Theorem 3.13):

For any primary behaviour (and any given field) there exists a division algebra \widetilde{A} (over an extension of the field) of the given behaviour for which the canonical epimorphism $\Gamma^{2/3}K(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{CH}^2(\widetilde{X})$ with $\widetilde{X} = \operatorname{SB}(\widetilde{A})$ is bijective.

The construction of the algebra \widetilde{A} is rather simple (Definition 3.12). We take a division algebra (over a suitable extension of the field) of the index as in the given behaviour and of the exponent coinciding with the index. After that we pass to the function field of a product of certain generalized Severi-Brauer varieties in order to change the behaviour in the way prescribed.

Since the groups $\Gamma^{2/3}K(X)$ and $\operatorname{CH}^2(X)$ have the same rank (Proposition 2.14) (rank 1 if X is a Severi-Brauer variety of dimension at least 2), we also have an epimorphism of the torsion subgroups

Tors
$$\Gamma^{2/3}K(X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X)$$

which is moreover bijective iff $\Gamma^{2/3}K(X) \to CH^2(X)$ is (Corollary 2.15). So, formulating the main observation we may replace (and we do replace) both the groups $\Gamma^{2/3}K(X)$ and $CH^2(X)$ by their torsion subgroups.

The gamma-filtration for a Severi-Brauer variety X and the group

Tors
$$\Gamma^{2/3}K(X)$$

in particular are from the so to say "algebro-geometrical" point of view very easy to compute (Propositions 4.1, 4.6, 4.10): K(X) is a subring of $K(\mathbb{P})$ where \mathbb{P} is a dim X-dimensional projective space and the Chern classes on X with values in K (Definition 2.1, Remark 2.2) needed to determine the gammafiltration are simply the restrictions of the Chern classes on $K(\mathbb{P})$. However to get the answer in a final form (say, to find the canonical decomposition of the finite abelian group Tors $\Gamma^{2/3}K(X)$ for any primary behaviour) further calculations are required which can be done e.g. by computer in every particular situation (i.e. for every particular behaviour) but seem to be not easy in the general case. Our main efforts in this direction are made in Propositions 4.7, 4.9, 4.13 and 4.14 where we firstly find out when this group is non-trivial (Propositions 4.7, 4.9) and after that describe a wide class of situations when this group is cyclic and compute its order (Propositions 4.13, 4.14, see also Example 4.15).

To the structure of the chapter.

In §1 we reduce the problem of computation of $\text{Tors } \text{CH}^2(\text{SB}(A))$ for an arbitrary central simple algebra A to the case when ind A is a power of a prime. In §2 we recall and partially prove certain general facts on the Chern classes (with various values) and on the gamma-filtration. In §3 we make the main observation. In §4 we investigate the group $\Gamma^{2/3}K$ for various primary behaviours.

In §5 we consider algebras of prime exponent. We show that the group Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X)$, where $X = \operatorname{SB}(A)$ for an algebra A of a prime exponent p, is (cyclic) of order p or trivial (Proposition 5.1). Moreover, if A decomposes (into a tensor product of two smaller algebras), then Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X) = 0$ (Proposition 5.3). However, the torsion group is non-trivial if A is a "generic" division algebra of index p^n and exponent p (see Example 4.12 for the definition) with $n \geq 2$ for an odd p and $n \geq 3$ for p = 2 (Proposition 5.1). Thus we obtain a wide family of indecomposable algebras (Corollary 5.4) which can be constructed over an extension of any given field (without any restriction on the characteristic in particular). Here is a list of some articles where the question of indecomposability for central simple algebras was considered previously: [4, 73, 83, 26, 35]. The method of [35] is close to but different from the one presented here; it does not cover the case p = 2.

Some additional notations concerning filtrations on K(X) are introduced in § 2.

1. Reduction to the primary case

In this §, A is a central simple algebra over a field F, A_p (for every prime number p) stays for the p-primary component of A, finally

$$X = SB(A)$$
 and $X_p = SB(A_p)$.

For an abelian group C, we denote by C_p its *p*-primary part. Let E/F be a finite field extension. Consider the homomorphisms

$$\operatorname{res}_{E/F} \colon \operatorname{CH}^2(X) \to \operatorname{CH}^2(X_E) \quad \text{and} \quad N_{E/F} \colon \operatorname{CH}^2(X_E) \to \operatorname{CH}^2(X) .$$

The projection formula shows that the composition $N_{E/F} \circ \operatorname{res}_{E/F}$ coincides with the multiplication by [E:F].

LEMMA 1.1. The composition $\operatorname{res}_{E/F} \circ N_{E/F}$ coincides with the multiplication by [E:F] as well.

PROOF. Consider the homomorphisms $\operatorname{res}_{E/F}$ and $N_{E/F}$ on the Grothendieck groups K(X) and $K(X_E)$. Since these groups are torsion-free and have the same rank (Theorem 3.1) and since the composition $N_{E/F} \circ \operatorname{res}_{E/F}$ is the multiplication by [E : F], the composition taken in the other order is the multiplication by [E : F] as well. Since the second Chow group coincides with the second successive quotient of the topological filtration on the Grothendieck group (see e.g. [32, §3.1]), we are done.

COROLLARY 1.2. If [E : F] is not divisible by a given prime number p, then

$$\operatorname{CH}^2(X)_p \simeq \operatorname{CH}^2(X_E)_p$$
.

PROPOSITION 1.3. For every prime p, the p-primary part of the group $CH^2(X)$ coincides with the torsion of $CH^2(X_p)$.

PROOF. Fix a prime p and a finite field extension E/F of degree prime to p such that the algebra A_E is Brauer equivalent to $(A_p)_E$. We have

$$\operatorname{CH}^2(X)_p \simeq \operatorname{CH}^2(X_E)_p \simeq \operatorname{CH}^2((X_p)_E)_p \simeq \operatorname{CH}^2(X_p)_p$$

(for the first and the third steps, we use the corollary). Since $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_p)$ is annihilated by $\operatorname{ind} A_p$, we finally get

$$\operatorname{CH}^2(X_p)_p = \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_p)$$
.

2. Chern classes and gamma-filtration

In this \S , we are working with the category of smooth projective irreducible algebraic varieties over a fixed field. The Grothendieck ring K is considered as a contravariant functor on this category.

DEFINITION 2.1 (Chern classes with values in K). The total Chern class c_t is a homomorphism of functors

$$c_t: K^+ \longrightarrow K[[t]]^{\times}$$

(where the left-hand side is the additive group of the ring K while the righthand side is the multiplicative group of series in one variable t over K) satisfying the following property: if $\xi \in K(X)$ is a class of an invertible sheaf on a variety X then

$$c_t(\xi) = 1 + (\xi - 1)t$$
.

One defines the Chern classes $c^i: K \to K$ by putting

$$c_t = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} c^i \cdot t^i \; .$$

REMARK 2.2. Usually, one does *not* use the name "Chern classes" for the maps c^i defined above e.g. since unlike the Chern classes 2.7, 2.8, and 2.11 they do not satisfy the rule $c^1(\xi \cdot \eta) = c^1(\xi) + c^1(\eta)$ for classes of invertible sheaves ξ and η .

PROPOSITION 2.3. Chern classes with values in K are unique.

PROOF. Follows from the

LEMMA 2.4 (Splitting principle, [52, Proposition 5.6]). For any variety X and any $x \in K(X)$ there exists a morphism $f: Y \to X$ such that:

- 1. f is a composition of some projective bundle morphisms;
- 2. $f^*(x) \in K(Y)$ is a linear combination (with integral coefficients) of classes of some invertible sheaves.

To obtain uniqueness of the Chern classes just note that the homomorphism $f^*: K(X) \to K(Y)$ in the lemma is injective.

PROPOSITION 2.5. Chern classes with values in K exist.

PROOF. Here is the way of constructing due to Grothendieck with the original notations ($[52, Theorem 3.10 \text{ and } \S 8]$).

Take a variety X. First one constructs a homomorphism

$$\lambda_t: K^+ \longrightarrow K[[t]]^{\times}$$

by sending the class of a locally free sheaf \mathcal{E} to

$$\lambda_t([\mathcal{E}]) = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} [\Lambda^i \mathcal{E}] \cdot t^i$$

where $\Lambda^i \mathcal{E}$ is the *i*-th exterior power of \mathcal{E} .

After that one considers another homomorphism

$$\gamma_t: K^+ \longrightarrow K[[t]]^{\times}$$

namely,

$$\gamma_t = \lambda_{\frac{t}{1-t}}$$

(this γ_t gave the name of the gamma-filtration).

Finally, one puts

$$c_t = \gamma_t \circ (\mathrm{id} - \mathrm{rk})$$

where $\operatorname{rk} : K(X) \to \mathbb{Z}$ is the rank homomorphism (followed by the inclusion $\mathbb{Z} \hookrightarrow K(X)$ more precisely).

DEFINITION 2.6 (Gamma-filtration). The gamma-filtration

$$K(X) \supset \Gamma^0 K(X) \supset \Gamma^1 K(X) \supset \dots$$

is the smallest ring filtration on K(X) such that $\Gamma^0 K(X) = K(X)$ and

 $c^i(K(X)) \subset \Gamma^i K(X)$ for all $i \ge 1$.

In other words, for every $l \ge 0$, $\Gamma^l K(X)$ is the subgroup of K(X) generated by all the products

$$c^{i_1}(x_1) \dots c^{i_r}(x_r)$$
 with $x_j \in K(X)$ and $\sum_{i=1}^r i_j \ge l$

(it might be not immediately clear but it is nevertheless easy to see that the group $K(X) = \Gamma^0 K(X)$ is really also generated by these products).

In particular, $\Gamma^1 K(X) = \operatorname{Ker}(\operatorname{rk} : K(X) \to \mathbb{Z}).$

We denote by $G^*\Gamma K(X)$ the adjoint graded ring.

DEFINITION 2.7 (Chern classes with values in $G^*\Gamma K$). For any variety X, we call the induced maps

$$c^i: K(X) \to \mathbf{G}^i \Gamma K(X)$$

the Chern classes with values in $G^*\Gamma K$. The total Chern class c_t is the homomorphism

$$c_t: K(X)^+ \longrightarrow \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{G}^i \Gamma K(X) \cdot t^i\right)^{\times}$$

It is a morphism of functors and

$$c_t(\xi) = 1 + (\xi - 1)t$$

for a class $\xi \in K(X)$ of an invertible sheaf on X ($(\xi - 1)$ is considered as an element of $G^1\Gamma K(X)$ in the last formula).

Side by side with the gamma-filtration we consider the topological filtration on K(X) (in fact defined on $K'_0(X)$) ([69, §7]):

$$K(X) = T^0 K(X) \supset T^1 K(X) \supset \dots$$

Note that

$$T^1K(X) = Ker(rk: K(X) \to \mathbb{Z}) = \Gamma^1K(X)$$

We will denote by $G^*TK(X)$ the adjoint graded ring.

DEFINITION 2.8 (Chern classes with values in G^*TK). The total Chern class c_t is a homomorphism of functors

$$c_t: K^+ \longrightarrow \left(\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \mathbf{G}^i \mathbf{T} K \cdot t^i\right)^{\times}$$

satisfying the property:

$$c_t(\xi) = 1 + (\xi - 1)t$$
.

One defines the Chern classes $c^i: K \to G^i T K$ by putting

$$c_t = \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} c^i \cdot t^i \; .$$

PROPOSITION 2.9. Chern classes with values in G^*TK are unique.

PROOF. Follows from the splitting principle (Lemma 2.4) since the homomorphism

$$f^*: \mathrm{G}^*\mathrm{T}K(X) \to \mathrm{G}^*\mathrm{T}K(Y)$$

is injective ([13, Lemma 3.8 of Chapter V]).

PROPOSITION 2.10. Chern classes with values in G^*TK exist.

PROOF. Simply compose the Chern classes with values in CH^{*} (Definition 2.11) with the canonical epimorphism CH^{*} $\rightarrow \rightarrow$ G^{*}TK mapping a class $[Z] \in$ CH^{*}(X) of a simple cycle $Z \subset X$ to the class of the structure sheaf \mathcal{O}_Z of Z prolonged to X by 0.

DEFINITION 2.11 (Chern classes with values in CH^{*}). We repeat Definition 2.8, replacing G^{*}TK by CH^{*}. In the formula $c_t(\xi) = 1 + (\xi - 1)t$, we consider $(\xi - 1)$ as an element of CH¹(X) via the canonical isomorphism CH¹(X) \simeq G¹TK(X) ([**69**, §7.5]) described in the proof of Proposition 2.10.

PROPOSITION 2.12. Chern classes with values in CH^{*} are unique.

PROOF. Follows from the splitting principle (Lemma 2.4) since the homomorphism

$$f^* : \mathrm{CH}^*(X) \to \mathrm{CH}^*(Y)$$

is injective.

PROPOSITION 2.13 ([12, §3.2]). Chern classes with values in CH^{*} exist.

Now we establish certain connections between the gamma-filtration and the topological one.

PROPOSITION 2.14. For any variety X,

1. $\Gamma^i K(X) \subset T^i K(X)$ for all *i*;

2. $\Gamma^i K(X) = T^i K(X)$ for $i \leq 2$;

3. $\Gamma^i K(X) \otimes \mathbb{Q} = \mathrm{T}^i K(X) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ for all *i*.

PROOF. 1. [13, Theorem 3.9 of Chapter V]. 2. We only need to manage the case i = 2. There are canonical isomorphisms

> $G^1 \Gamma K(X) \simeq \operatorname{Pic}(X) ([\mathbf{13}, \operatorname{Remark} 1 \text{ in } \S 3 \text{ of Chapter IV}]);$ $\operatorname{CH}^1(X) \simeq G^1 \operatorname{T} K(X) ([\mathbf{69}, \S 7.5])$

(the definition of the second map is given in the proof of Proposition 2.10).

Since $\Gamma^2 K(X) \subset T^2 K(X)$ we have a surjection $G^1 \Gamma K(X) \longrightarrow G^1 T K(X)$ which gives an epimorphism $\operatorname{Pic}(X) \to \operatorname{CH}^1(X)$. But the latter map is an isomorphism ([14, Corollary 6.16]). Thus $\Gamma^2 K(X) = T^2 K(X)$.

 \square

3. [13, Proposition 5.5 of Chapter VI].

COROLLARY 2.15. One has an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathrm{T}^{3}K(X)/\Gamma^{3}K(X) \to \mathrm{Tors}\,\mathrm{G}^{2}\Gamma K(X) \to \mathrm{Tors}\,\mathrm{CH}^{2}(X) \to 0$$

PROOF. The equality $\Gamma^2 K(X) = T^2 K(X)$ and the inclusion $\Gamma^3 K(X) \subset T^3 K(X)$ stated in the proposition give an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathrm{T}^3 K(X) / \Gamma^3 K(X) \to \mathrm{G}^2 \Gamma K(X) \to \mathrm{G}^2 \mathrm{T} K(X) \to 0 \; .$$

Consider the commutative diagram with exact columns

$$\begin{array}{ccccccc} 0 & 0 \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \operatorname{Tors} \mathrm{G}^{2} \Gamma K(X) & \stackrel{(1)}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{Tors} \mathrm{G}^{2} \mathrm{T} K(X) \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \mathrm{G}^{2} \Gamma K(X) & \stackrel{(2)}{\longrightarrow} & \mathrm{G}^{2} \mathrm{T} K(X) \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \mathrm{G}^{2} \Gamma K(X) / \operatorname{Tors} & \stackrel{(3)}{\longrightarrow} & \mathrm{G}^{2} \mathrm{T} K(X) / \operatorname{Tors} \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ 0 & 0 \end{array}$$

The map (2) is surjective. Hence the map (3) is surjective as well. Since by the proposition the map $(3)\otimes\mathbb{Q}$ is bijective, the map (3) itself is bijective as well. Thus (1) is surjective and the kernels of (1) and (2) coincide. So, we get the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathrm{T}^{3}K(X)/\Gamma^{3}K(X) \to \mathrm{Tors}\,\mathrm{G}^{2}\Gamma K(X) \to \mathrm{Tors}\,\mathrm{G}^{2}\mathrm{T}K(X) \to 0$$
.

Finally, the canonical map $CH^2(X) \to G^2TK(X)$ is an isomorphism (see e.g. [32, §3.1], the definition of the map is given in the proof of Proposition 2.10).

As a corollary of the uniqueness assertion of Proposition 2.9, we get a connection between Chern classes with different values:

LEMMA 2.16. The following diagram of maps commutes:

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
K(X) & \stackrel{c^{i}}{\longrightarrow} & \operatorname{CH}^{i}(X) \\
\downarrow_{c^{i}} & & \downarrow_{can.} \\
G^{i}\Gamma K(X) & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{G}^{i}\operatorname{T} K(X)
\end{array}$$

PROOF. Both the compositions are Chern classes with values in G^*TK (Definition 2.8) which are unique (Proposition 2.9).

REMARK 2.17. One can formulate a criterion (which will be used later) for when the gamma-filtration coincides with the topological one. It is clear from the very definition (Definition 2.6) that for any variety X the ring $G^*\Gamma K(X)$ is generated by the Chern classes (with values in $G^*\Gamma K$). So, if the gamma

16

and the topological filtrations are the same, the ring G^*TK is generated by the Chern classes (with values in G^*TK this time) as well.

The other way round, if G^*TK is generated by the Chern classes, then the homomorphism $G^*\Gamma K(X) \to G^*TK(X)$ is surjective whence the filtrations coincide.

3. Main observation

From now on, X denotes the Severi-Brauer variety corresponding to a central simple algebra A over a field F.

Denote by \mathbb{P} the projective space $X_{\bar{F}}$ where \bar{F} is an algebraic closure of Fand let $\xi \in K(\mathbb{P})$ be the class of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}}(-1)$. The ring $K(\mathbb{P})$ is generated by ξ subject to only one relation: $(\xi - 1)^n = 0$ where $n = \dim X + 1 = \deg A$. We consider the restriction map $K(X) \to K(\mathbb{P})$ which is a ring homomorphism commuting with the Chern classes 2.1.

THEOREM 3.1 ([69, §8, Theorem 4.1]). The map $K(X) \to K(\mathbb{P})$ is injective; its image is additively generated by $(\operatorname{ind} A^{\otimes i}) \cdot \xi^i$ $(i \ge 0)$.

COROLLARY 3.2. For a division algebra A, the group K(X) together with the gamma-filtration depends only on the behaviour of A.

PROPOSITION 3.3 ([33, Theorem 1]). If ind $A = \exp A$ for an algebra A then (for any $l \ge 0$) the *l*-th term of the topological filtration $T^l K(X)$ is generated by all

$$\frac{\operatorname{ind} A}{(i, \operatorname{ind} A)} (\xi - 1)^i \quad with \ l \le i < \deg A$$

where (\cdot, \cdot) denotes the greatest common divisor. In particular, the group $G^*TK(X)$ is torsion-free.

PROPOSITION 3.4. If A is a primary algebra then

$$\frac{\operatorname{ind} A}{(i, \operatorname{ind} A)} (\xi - 1)^i \in \Gamma^i K(X) \text{ for any } i \ge 0.$$

PROOF. Put n = ind A. For $n\xi \in K(X)$ we have:

$$c_t(n\xi) = c_t(\xi)^n = (1 + (\xi - 1)t)^n$$

where c_t is the total Chern class with values in K (the last equality holds by Definition 2.1). Whence

$$c^{i}(n\xi) = \binom{n}{i}(\xi - 1)^{i} \in \Gamma^{i}K(X) .$$

In particular,

$$(\xi - 1)^n \in \Gamma^n K(X)$$

thereby for the rest of the proof we may assume that $i \leq n$. Moreover,

$$n^{i}(\xi - 1)^{i} = c^{1}(n\xi)^{i} \in \Gamma^{i}K(X)$$
.

The last observation is

LEMMA 3.5. If n is a power of a prime p and $n \ge i \ge 0$ then

$$\left(n^{i}, \binom{n}{i}\right) = \frac{n}{(i,n)}$$
.

Moreover, if $i \neq 0$ then $v_p\binom{n}{i} = v_p(n) - v_p(i)$, where $v_p(i)$ is the multiplicity of p in i.

PROOF. The case i = 0 is evident. Suppose that $i \neq 0$. If $1 \leq j < n$ then $v_p(j) < v_p(n)$ and so $v_p(n-j) = v_p(j)$. Hence

$$v_p\left(\frac{(n-1)(n-2)\dots(n-(i-1))}{1\cdot 2\dots(i-1)}\right) = 0$$

and

$$v_p\binom{n}{i} = v_p\left(\frac{n}{i}\right) = v_p\left(\frac{n}{(i,n)}\right)$$
.

COROLLARY 3.6. If A is a primary algebra and ind $A = \exp A$ then the gamma-filtration on K(X) coincides with the topological one.

THEOREM 3.7. Let A be as in Corollary 3.6, X = SB(A). Let Y_1, \ldots, Y_m be some generalized Severi-Brauer varieties ([7, §4]) of some algebras which are (Brauer equivalent to) some tensor powers of A.

The gamma-filtration on the Grothendieck group of the variety X over the function field $F(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_m)$ coincides with the topological one. In particular, the epimorphism of Corollary 2.15

$$\operatorname{Tors} \mathrm{G}^2 \Gamma K \longrightarrow \operatorname{Tors} \mathrm{CH}^2$$

for this variety is bijective.

PROOF. For every Y_i the product $X \times Y_i$ is a Grassman bundle over X(with respect to the first projection) (Corollary 6.4). Hence $CH^*(X \times Y_i)$ is generated as a $CH^*(X)$ -algebra by the Chern classes of a locally free sheaf (see e.g. [12, Proposition 14.6.5] or [43, Theorem 3.2]). Taking the product of all $X \times Y_i$ over X we obtain that

$$\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_m)$$

is generated as a $CH^*(X)$ -algebra by the Chern classes (of some locally free sheaves).

The homomorphism of $CH^*(X)$ -algebras

$$\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_m) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(X_{F(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_m)})$$

(given by the pull-back) is surjective (see e.g. [39, Theorem 3.1]). Whence the right-hand side is generated as a $CH^*(X)$ -algebra by the Chern classes as well.

Using the epimorphism $CH^* \rightarrow G^*TK$ of the Chow ring onto the adjoint graded Grothendieck ring we obtain the same statement as in the previous paragraph but for G^*TK instead of CH^* by meaning the Chern classes with values in G^*TK this time.

The gamma-filtration on K(X) coincides with the topological one (Corollary 3.6) and therefore the ring $G^*TK(X)$ is generated by the Chern classes (Remark 2.17). Consequently, $G^*TK(X_{F(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_m)})$ is generated by the Chern classes as a ring, not only as a $G^*TK(X)$ -algebra. It means that the gammafiltration on $K(X_{F(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_m)})$ coincides with the topological one (Remark 2.17).

DEFINITION 3.8. Let A be a p-primary algebra. The sequence of integers

$$\left(\log_p \operatorname{ind} A^{\otimes p^i}\right)_{i=0}^{\log_p \exp A}$$

is called the *reduced behaviour* of A.

EXAMPLE 3.9. The reduced behaviour of a p-primary algebra A with

$$\operatorname{ind} A = \exp A = p^n$$

is $n, n-1, n-2, \ldots, 1, 0$.

PROOF. Suppose that n > 0. By [3, Lemma 7 on Page 76], $\operatorname{ind} A^{\otimes p} < \operatorname{ind} A$. Moreover, $\operatorname{ind} A^{\otimes p} \ge \exp A^{\otimes p} = p^{n-1}$. Thus $\operatorname{ind} A^{\otimes p} = p^{n-1}$.

LEMMA 3.10. The behaviour of a primary algebra is completely determined by its reduced behaviour. The reduced behaviour of an algebra is a finite strong decreasing sequence of integers with 0 in the end. Any finite strong decreasing sequence of integers with 0 in the end is for any prime p the reduced behaviour of a p-primary division algebra.

PROOF. Let A be a p-primary algebra. If i is an integer prime to p then the splitting fields of the algebra A are the same as the splitting fields of the algebra $A^{\otimes i}$. Therefore ind $A^{\otimes i} = \operatorname{ind} A$, what proves the first sentence of the lemma.

If in addition ind $A \neq 1$ then ind $A^{\otimes p} < \text{ind } A$ ([3, Lemma 7 on Page 76]). It proves the second sentence.

Finally, fix a sequence $n_0 > n_1 > \cdots > n_m = 0$ and a prime p. A construction of a p-primary algebra having the reduced behaviour $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$ is given in [78, Construction 2.8]. This construction involves function fields of usual Severi-Brauer varieties only. We describe another known construction which involves function fields of generalized Severi-Brauer varieties as well and is more suitable for our purposes.

We start with a division algebra A (over a suitable field) for which

$$\operatorname{ind} A = \exp A = p^{n_0} \,.$$

For each i = 1, 2, ..., m consider the generalized Severi-Brauer variety

$$Y_i = \operatorname{SB}(p^{n_i}, A^{\otimes p^i})$$

(we define here $\text{SB}(p^{n_i}, A^{\otimes p^i})$ to be the variety of rank p^{n_i} left ideals in $A^{\otimes p^i}$; its function field is a generic extension making the index of $A^{\otimes p^i}$ to be equal to p^{n_i}).

Finally, we denote the function field $F(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_m)$ by \widetilde{F} and put $\widetilde{A} = A_{\widetilde{F}}$. Using the index reduction formula [7, Theorem 5] or an improved version of this formula [60, Formula I] one can easily show that the algebra \widetilde{A} has the reduced behaviour $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$.

REMARK 3.11. In the construction described in the proof above, it is not necessary to use all of the varieties Y_i : if $n_i = n_{i-1} - 1$ for some *i* then the variety Y_i can be omitted.

DEFINITION 3.12. We refer to an algebra \hat{A} constructed like as in the above proof (with taking the remark into account) as to a "generic" *p*-primary division algebra of the reduced behaviour $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$. Note that it can be constructed over an extension of any given field.

THEOREM 3.13. Fix a prime p and a reduced behaviour. If \tilde{A} is a "generic" p-primary division algebra of the given reduced behaviour (Definition 3.12) then the epimorphism of Corollary 2.15

$$\operatorname{Fors} \mathrm{G}^2 \Gamma K(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Tors} \mathrm{CH}^2(\widetilde{X}) \quad (where \ \widetilde{X} = \mathrm{SB}(\widetilde{A}))$$

is bijective. If A is an arbitrary p-primary algebra of the same reduced behaviour as \widetilde{A} then there exists an epimorphism

$$\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(\widetilde{X}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X)$$
.

PROOF. The first part follows from Theorem 3.7 and from the definition of "generic" algebras (Definition 3.12). The second part follows from Corollary 2.15, Corollary 3.2 and from the first one. \Box

4. Computation of gamma-filtration

Remind that we have put forever X = SB(A).

PROPOSITION 4.1. Let A be a p-primary algebra and $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$ its reduced behaviour. For any $l \ge 0$, the group $\Gamma^l K(X)$ is generated by all the products

(*)
$$\prod_{i=0}^{m} \frac{p^{n_i}}{(j_i, p^{n_i})} (\xi^{p^i} - 1)^{j_i} \text{ with } j_i \ge 0 \text{ and } \sum_{i=0}^{m} j_i \ge l$$

where $\xi = [\mathcal{O}(-1)] \in K(\mathbb{P}).$

PROOF. The formula

$$c^{j}(p^{n_{i}}\xi^{p^{i}}) = \binom{p^{n_{i}}}{j}(\xi^{p^{i}}-1)^{j} \text{ where } 0 \le j \le p^{n_{i}}$$

and Lemma 3.5 show that for any $j \ge 0$ (even for $j > p^{n_i}$) the element $\frac{p^{n_i}}{(j,p^{n_i})}(\xi^{p^i}-1)^j$ lies in $\Gamma^j K(X)$ (compare with the proof of Proposition 3.4). Therefore, each product (*) lies in $\Gamma^l K(X)$.

For the opposite inclusion we need

LEMMA 4.2. Consider the polynomials over \mathbb{Z} in one variable ζ . For any integers $j, r \geq 0$ the polynomial $(\zeta^r - 1)^j$ is equal to a sum

$$\sum_{s \ge j} a_s (\zeta - 1)^s$$

with integers a_s such that $s \cdot a_s$ is a multiple of $j \cdot r$.

PROOF. It is clear that

$$(\zeta^r - 1)^j = \sum_{s=j}^{j \cdot r} a_s (\zeta - 1)^s$$

for some (uniquely determined) $a_s \in \mathbb{Z}$. Taking the derivative we obtain the statement on the coefficients.

As follows from Theorem 3.1, the additive group K(X) is generated by all $p^{n_i}\xi^{rp^i}$ with $0 \le i \le m$ and $r \ge 0$. We have:

$$c^{j}(p^{n_{i}}\xi^{rp^{i}}) = \binom{p^{n_{i}}}{j}(\xi^{rp^{i}}-1)^{j} = \sum_{s\geq j} \binom{p^{n_{i}}}{j} \cdot a_{s} \cdot (\xi^{p^{i}}-1)^{s}$$

Since by the lemma $j \mid s \cdot a_s$ and $v_p {p^{n_i} \choose j}$ equals $n_i - v_p(j)$ or ∞ (Lemma 3.5), the coefficient

$$\binom{p^{n_i}}{j} \cdot a_s$$
 is divisible by $\frac{p^{n_i}}{(s, p^{n_i})}$

Thus the Chern class $c^{j}(p^{n_{i}}\xi^{rp^{i}})$ is a linear combination (with integral coefficients) of

$$\frac{p^{n_i}}{(s,p^{n_i})} (\xi^{p^i} - 1)^s \quad \text{with} \quad s \ge j \; .$$

DEFINITION 4.3. Fix a prime number p, a reduced behaviour $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$, and consider a polynomial ring $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta]$. Let $\mathbb{K} \subset \mathbb{Z}[\zeta]$ be the additive subgroup generated by all $p^{n_i} \cdot \zeta^{r \cdot p^i}$ where $0 \leq i \leq m$ and $r \geq 0$. Consider a filtration Γ on \mathbb{K} defined by the formula of Proposition 4.1: for any $l \geq 0$, the group $\Gamma^l \mathbb{K}$ is generated by all the products

(*)
$$\prod_{i=0}^{m} \frac{p^{n_i}}{(j_i, p^{n_i})} (\zeta^{p^i} - 1)^{j_i} \text{ with } j_i \ge 0 \text{ and } \sum_{i=0}^{m} j_i \ge l.$$

Note that \mathbb{K} is a ring and that for any $l_1, l_2 \geq 0$ one has $\Gamma^{l_1} \mathbb{K} \cdot \Gamma^{l_2} \mathbb{K} \subset \Gamma^{l_1+l_2} \mathbb{K}$.

LEMMA 4.4. In the notation of the definition, one has:

- 1. $\mathbb{K} = \Gamma^0 \mathbb{K}$;
- 2. for any $l \geq 0$, $\mathbb{K} \supset \Gamma^{l} \mathbb{K} \supset \Gamma^{l+1} \mathbb{K}$;
- 3. if n is a multiple of p^{n_0} , then $\Gamma^n \mathbb{K} = (\zeta 1)^n \mathbb{K}$.

PROOF. 1. The inclusion $\mathbb{K} \subset \Gamma^0 \mathbb{K}$ is evident. The inverse inclusion is a particular case of the second statement of the lemma.

2. The inclusion $\Gamma^{l}\mathbb{K} \supset \Gamma^{l+1}\mathbb{K}$ is evident. Fix an arbitrary $l \geq 0$. We prove the inclusion $\mathbb{K} \supset \Gamma^{l}\mathbb{K}$ using the third statement of the lemma. Choose a multiple n of p^{n_0} such that n > l. Since $\Gamma^{l}\mathbb{K} \supset \Gamma^{n}\mathbb{K} = (\zeta - 1)^{n}\mathbb{K} \subset \mathbb{K}$, it suffices to show that $\mathbb{K}/(\zeta - 1)^{n}\mathbb{K} \supset \Gamma^{l}\mathbb{K}/(\zeta - 1)^{n}\mathbb{K}$. Find a p-primary algebra A (over an appropriate field F) having the reduced behaviour $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$ (see Lemma 3.10 for the existence of A). The latter inclusion follows now from Proposition 4.1. 3. Since $(\zeta - 1)^n \in \Gamma^n\mathbb{K}$, the inclusion \supset holds. One also sees immediately from the definition that any polynomial $f \in \Gamma^n\mathbb{K}$ is of the kind $f = (\zeta - 1)^n \cdot h$ where $h \in \mathbb{Z}[\zeta]$. We have to prove that $h \in \mathbb{K}$. It is a consequence of the following

LEMMA 4.5. Let f, g, and h are polynomials from $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta]$ such that $f = g \cdot h$ and suppose that the free coefficient of g equals ± 1 . If f and g lie in \mathbb{K} then hlies in \mathbb{K} as well.

PROOF. Let

$$f = \sum_{i \ge 0} f_i \zeta^i$$
, $g = \sum_{i \ge 0} g_i \zeta^i$, $h = \sum_{i \ge 0} h_i \zeta^i$.

We prove that $h_i \zeta^i \in \mathbb{K}$ using an induction on *i*. There is no problem with the base of the induction: $h_0 \in \mathbb{K}$ for any integral h_0 . Suppose that $h_1 \zeta, \ldots, h_{i-1} \zeta^{i-1} \in \mathbb{K}$. Polynomial *f* is equal to the product of *g* and *h*; because of that we have:

$$f_i\zeta^i = \pm h_i\zeta^i + g_1\zeta \cdot h_{i-1}\zeta^{i-1} + \dots + g_{i-1}\zeta^{i-1} \cdot h_1\zeta + g_i\zeta^i \cdot h_0 .$$

Since $g \in \mathbb{K}$, every its monomial $g_j \zeta^j$ is in \mathbb{K} as well (see the definition of \mathbb{K}). By the same reason, $f_i \zeta^i \in \mathbb{K}$. Hence $h_i \zeta^i \in \mathbb{K}$.

If now A is a p-primary algebra of the reduced behaviour $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$, the ring homomorphism $\mathbb{K} \to K(X)$ mapping ζ to ξ respects the filtrations and thereby induces a homomorphism of graded groups

$$\mathrm{G}^*\Gamma\mathbb{K} \to \mathrm{G}^*\Gamma K(X)$$
.

PROPOSITION 4.6. For every $0 \le l < \deg A$ the group homomorphism

$$\mathrm{G}^{l}\Gamma\mathbb{K}\to\mathrm{G}^{l}\Gamma K(X)$$

is bijective.

PROOF. It is evidently surjective by Proposition 4.1. To see the rest, put $n = \deg A$. By Lemma 4.4 and Theorem 3.1, the ring homomorphism ϕ : $\Gamma^{0/n}\mathbb{K} \to K(X)$ is bijective. Consider the induced filtration on $\Gamma^{0/n}\mathbb{K}$. We know that the bijective ring homomorphism ϕ respects the filtrations and is surjective on the successive quotients. Thus it is bijective on the successive quotients.

The proposition gives in particular a description of the group $G^2\Gamma K(X)$ for any *p*-primary algebra A of the reduced behaviour $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$. We want to find out when this group has a non-trivial torsion. We start with the case of an odd prime.

PROPOSITION 4.7. Let A be a p-primary algebra with an odd p. The group $G^2\Gamma K(X)$ has a torsion iff ind $A > \exp A$.

PROOF. See Proposition 3.3 with Corollary 3.6 for the "only if" part.

Suppose that ind $A > \exp A$. Then in the reduced behaviour $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$ of A one has:

$$n_s \leq n_{s-1} - 2$$
 for some s .

Using Proposition 4.6, we shall work with $G^2\Gamma \mathbb{K}$ instead of $G^2\Gamma K(X)$.

Consider the element

$$x = p^{n_{s-1}-2} (\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^2 - p^{n_{s-1}} (\zeta^{p^{s-1}} - 1)^2 \in \Gamma^2 \mathbb{K} .$$

Since x is divisible by $(\zeta - 1)^3$ in the polynomial ring $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta]$, since moreover $p^{n_0}(\zeta - 1)^3 \in \Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$ and $p^{n_0}f(\zeta) \in \mathbb{K}$ for any polynomial $f(\zeta)$ by Definition 4.3, one sees that a multiple of x lies in $\Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$. So, for our purposes it suffices to show that x itself is not in $\Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$.

Let us act in the polynomial ring $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta]$ modulo $p^{n_{s-1}-1}$. We have:

$$x \equiv p^{n_{s-1}-2} (\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^2 \, .$$

Consider a generator of $\Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$ (Definition 4.3):

(*)
$$\prod_{i=0}^{m} \frac{p^{n_i}}{(j_i, p^{n_i})} (\zeta^{p^i} - 1)^{j_i} \text{ where } j_i \ge 0 \text{ and } \sum_{i=0}^{m} j_i \ge 3.$$

We state that

$$(*) \equiv (\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^3 \cdot f(\zeta^{p^s})$$

where f is a polynomial. If we would manage to show it, we could proceed as follows. Suppose that $x \in \Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$. Then

$$p^{n_{s-1}-2}(\zeta^{p^s}-1)^2 = (\zeta^{p^s}-1)^3 \cdot f(\zeta^{p^s}) + p^{n_{s-1}-1} \cdot g(\zeta^{p^s})$$

for some polynomials f and g. Canceling by $p^{n_{s-1}-2}$ and $(\zeta^{p^s}-1)^2$ and substituting $t = \zeta^{p^s} - 1$ we get:

$$1 = tf_0(t) + pg_0(t) \in \mathbb{Z}[t]$$

what is a contradiction because t and p do not generate the unit ideal in the polynomial ring $\mathbb{Z}[t]$.

It remains to show that

$$(*) \equiv (\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^3 \cdot f(\zeta^{p^s})$$

If for all i < s the number j_i in the product (*) equals 0 then even the exact equality (not only the congruence) holds. Suppose that $j_i \neq 0$ for some i < s. Write down this j_i as $j_i = p^r \cdot j$ with j prime to p. If $n_i - r \geq n_{s-1} - 1$ then

$$\frac{p^{n_i}}{(j_i, p^{n_i})} \equiv 0$$

and hence $(*) \equiv 0$. So, assume that $n_i - r < n_{s-1} - 1$. We have:

 $r > n_i - n_{s-1} + 1 \ge (s-1) - i + 1 = s - i$.

In order to proceed we need

LEMMA 4.8. In a polynomial ring $\mathbb{Z}[t]$, there is a congruence

$$(t-1)^{p^k} \equiv (t^p - 1)^{p^{k-1}} \mod p^k$$

for any prime p and any integer k > 0.

PROOF. Induction on k starting from k = 1:

$$(t-1)^{p^{k+1}} = \left((t-1)^{p^k}\right)^p =$$
$$= \left((t^p-1)^{p^{k-1}} + p^k \cdot f(t)\right)^p \equiv (t^p-1)^{p^k} \mod p^{k+1}$$

(f(t)is a polynomial, it exists by the induction hypothesis).

According to the lemma we have:

$$(\zeta^{p^i} - 1)^{p^r} \equiv (\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^{p^{r-s+i}} \mod p^{r-s+i+1}$$
.

Hence

$$\frac{p^{n_i}}{(j_i, p^{n_i})} (\zeta^{p^i} - 1)^{j_i} \equiv \frac{p^{n_i}}{(j_i, p^{n_i})} (\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^{p^{r-s+i} \cdot j} \mod p^{n_i - s + i + 1} .$$

Since $p^{r-s+i} \cdot j \ge p \ge 3$ and $n_i - s + i + 1 \ge n_{s-1} - 1$ we are done.

The analogous statement in the case p = 2 looks out a little bit more complicated:

PROPOSITION 4.9. Let A be a 2-primary algebra. The group $G^2\Gamma K(X)$ has a torsion iff ind $A > \exp A$ and the reduced behaviour of A is not of the kind

$$n, n-1, \ldots, 3, 2, 0$$
.

PROOF. We start with the "only if" part. The case $\operatorname{ind} A = \exp A$ is covered by Proposition 3.3 with Corollary 3.6. Suppose that A has the reduced behaviour

$$n, n-1, \ldots, 3, 2, 0$$
.

Using the same method as in [33] one can show that the whole adjoint graded group is torsion-free. Namely, a formula like one of [33, Proposition] states:

$$|\operatorname{Tors} \mathrm{G}^* \Gamma K(X)| = \frac{|\mathrm{G}^* \Gamma K(\mathbb{P}) / \operatorname{Im} \mathrm{G}^* \Gamma K(X)|}{|K(\mathbb{P}) / K(X)|}$$

where | . | denotes the order of a group. Since we know the behaviour of A we can compute that

$$|K(\mathbb{P})/K(X)| = \frac{1}{2} \prod_{i=0}^{2^n-1} \frac{2^n}{(i,2^n)}$$

(to avoid unnecessary complications we assume here that A is a division algebra). On the other hand, Proposition 3.4 shows that

$$|\mathbf{G}^{i}\Gamma K(\mathbb{P})/\operatorname{Im}\mathbf{G}^{i}\Gamma K(X)| \leq \frac{2^{n}}{(i,2^{n})}$$
 for any i .

Moreover,

$$\left| \mathrm{G}^{1} \Gamma K(\mathbb{P}) / \operatorname{Im} \mathrm{G}^{1} \Gamma K(X) \right| \leq 2^{n-1}$$

because $\xi^{2^{n-1}} - 1 \in \Gamma^1 K(X)$ (see also the computation of $CH^1(X)$ in [6, §2]) and therefore

$$\left|\mathbf{G}^* \Gamma K(\mathbb{P}) / \operatorname{Im} \mathbf{G}^* \Gamma K(X)\right| \le \frac{1}{2} \prod_{i=0}^{2^n - 1} \frac{2^n}{(i, 2^n)}$$

Thus, $|\operatorname{Tors} G^* \Gamma K(X)| = 1.$

Now we "correct" the "if" proof of the previous proposition in order to match the current 2-primary situation. Suppose that we have an algebra A for which existence of the torsion is stated. Then in the reduced behaviour $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$ of A we have:

$$n_s \leq n_{s-1} - 2$$
 and $n_{s-1} \geq 3$ for some s .

Consider the element

$$x = 2^{n_{s-1}-3} (\zeta^{2^s} - 1)^2 - 2^{n_{s-1}-1} (\zeta^{2^{s-1}} - 1)^2 \in \Gamma^2 \mathbb{K}$$

where \mathbb{K} is as in Definition 4.3. Since in $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta]$ the polynomial x is divisible by $(\zeta - 1)^3$, it is clear that a multiple of x lies in $\Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$. So, for our purposes it suffices to show that x itself is not in $\Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$.

Let us act in the polynomial ring $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta]$ modulo $2^{n_{s-1}-2}$. We have:

$$x \equiv 2^{n_{s-1}-3} (\zeta^{2^s} - 1)^2$$

Consider a generator of $\Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$ given in Proposition 4.1:

(*)
$$\prod_{i=0}^{m} \frac{2^{n_i}}{(j_i, 2^{n_i})} (\zeta^{2^i} - 1)^{j_i} \text{ where } j_i \ge 0 \text{ and } \sum_{i=0}^{m} j_i \ge 3.$$

We state that

$$(*) \equiv (\zeta^{2^{s}} - 1)^{3} \cdot f(\zeta^{2^{s}})$$

where f is a polynomial. If we would manage to show it we could proceed in the same manner as in the proof of the previous proposition.

If for all i < s the number j_i in the product (*) equals 0 then even the exact equality (not only the congruence) holds. Suppose that $j_i \neq 0$ for some i < s. Write down this j_i as $j_i = 2^r \cdot j$ with j prime to 2. If $n_i - r \ge n_{s-1} - 2$ then

$$\frac{2^{n_i}}{(j_i, 2^{n_i})} \equiv 0$$

and hence $(*) \equiv 0$. So, assume that $n_i - r < n_{s-1} - 2$. We have:

$$r > n_i - n_{s-1} + 2 \ge (s-1) - i + 2 = s - i + 1$$
.

According to Lemma 4.8, we have:

$$(\zeta^{2^{i}} - 1)^{2^{r}} \equiv (\zeta^{2^{s}} - 1)^{2^{r-s+i}} \mod 2^{r-s+i+1}$$

Hence

$$\frac{2^{n_i}}{(j_i, 2^{n_i})} (\zeta^{2^i} - 1)^{j_i} \equiv \frac{2^{n_i}}{(j_i, 2^{n_i})} (\zeta^{2^s} - 1)^{2^{r-s+i} \cdot j} \mod 2^{n_i - s + i + 1} .$$

Since $2^{r-s+i} \cdot j \ge 2^2 \ge 3$ and $n_i - s + i + 1 \ge n_{s-1} - 1$ we are done.

Now we want to reduce the number of generators of the filtration of Definition 4.3.

PROPOSITION 4.10. In the notation of Definition 4.3, for every $l \geq 0$, the group $\Gamma^{l}\mathbb{K}$ is in fact also generated by a reduced number of the products (*), namely by the products satisfying the additional condition: $j_i = 0$ for every i such that $n_i = n_{i-1} - 1$.

PROOF. Fix some *i* such that $n_i = n_{i-1} - 1$. One has

$$(\zeta^{p^i} - 1)^j = \sum_{s \ge j} a_s \cdot (\zeta^{p^{i-1}} - 1)^s$$

for some integers a_s with $j \cdot p \mid s \cdot a_s$ (Lemma 4.2). Consequently,

$$\frac{p^{n_i}}{(j,p^{n_i})}(\zeta^{p^i}-1)^j = \sum_{s\geq j} a_s \cdot \frac{p^{n_i}}{(j,p^{n_i})}(\zeta^{p^{i-1}}-1)^s = \sum_{s\geq j} b_s \cdot \frac{p^{n_{i-1}}}{(s,p^{n_{i-1}})}(\zeta^{p^{i-1}}-1)^s$$
for some integers b_s .

for some integers b_s .

Using the proposition, we compute the group $\operatorname{Tors} G^2 \Gamma K(X)$ explicitly in a special situation. The situation we mean is described in the following

DEFINITION 4.11. We say that a reduced behaviour $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$ "makes (exactly) one jump" iff there exists exactly one s such that $n_s \leq n_{s-1} - 2$.

EXAMPLE 4.12. Fix a prime p and integers $n > m \ge 1$. One can define a "generic" division algebra A of index p^n and exponent p^m in spirit of Definition 3.12: take a division algebra A of index and exponent p^n , put $Y = SB(A^{\otimes p^m})$ and $A = A_{F(Y)}$.

The resulting algebra \widetilde{A} can be also obtained as a "generic" *p*-primary division algebra of the reduced behaviour

 $n, n-1, \ldots, n-m+2, n-m+1, 0$.

In particular, it is an example of an algebra with reduced behaviour "making one jump".

PROPOSITION 4.13. Let A be a p-primary algebra with an odd p and suppose that the reduced behaviour $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$ of A "makes one jump". Then the torsion in $G^2\Gamma K(X)$ is a cyclic group of order p to the power

$$\min\{s, n_0 - n_s - s\}$$

where s is the subscript for which $n_s \leq n_{s-1} - 2$.

PROOF. We work with \mathbb{K} instead of K(X) (see Proposition 4.6). According to Proposition 4.10, for any $l \geq 0$, the group $\Gamma^{l}\mathbb{K}$ is generated by the products:

$$\frac{p^{n_0}}{(j_0, p^{n_0})} (\zeta - 1)^{j_0} \cdot \frac{p^{n_s}}{(j_s, p^{n_s})} (\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^{j_s} \text{ with } j_i \ge 0 \text{ and } j_0 + j_s \ge l$$

In particular, residue classes in the quotient $G^2\Gamma \mathbb{K}$ of the following three elements

$$u = p^{n_0} (\zeta - 1)^2 ;$$

$$v = p^{n_0} (\zeta - 1) \cdot p^{n_s} (\zeta^{p^s} - 1) ;$$

$$w = p^{n_s} (\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^2$$

of $\Gamma^2 \mathbb{K}$ generate the quotient. The second one can be excluded: the difference $v - p^{n_s+s}u$ is in $\Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$ since it is divisible by $p^{n_0}(\zeta - 1)^3$ in $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta]$ and thereby can be written as a linear combination (with integral coefficients) of the polynomials

$$p^{n_0}(\zeta - 1)^3, p^{n_0}(\zeta - 1)^4, \ldots \in \Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$$

Since the classes of u and w in the quotient have infinite order, any torsion element $x \in G^2\Gamma\mathbb{K}$ of the kind x = u - kw or x = ku - w with an integer k(if exists) generates the torsion subgroup. Consider two cases: if $n_0 \ge n_s + 2s$ then we put

$$x = u - p^{n_0 - n_s - 2s}w ;$$

otherwise we put

$$x = p^{n_s + 2s - n_0} u - w \; .$$

The element $x \in G^2\Gamma\mathbb{K}$ is evidently a torsion element. We finish the proof when we show that x has order p^s in the first case and order $p^{n_0-n_s-s}$ in the second. In both cases it means the same:

(1)
$$p^{n_0+s}(\zeta - 1)^2 - p^{n_0-s}(\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^2 \in \Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$$

and

(2)
$$p^{n_0+s-1}(\zeta-1)^2 - p^{n_0-s-1}(\zeta^{p^s}-1)^2 \notin \Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$$
.

In order to avoid repetition of some boring computations, we prove the inclusion (1) in the following "tricky" way. Consider a ring \mathbb{K}' with a filtration Γ constructed as in Definition 4.3 for the reduced behaviour $(n_0, n_0 - 1, \ldots, 1, 0)$. The ring \mathbb{K}' is contained in \mathbb{K} and this inclusion respects the filtrations. The element of (1) is in $\Gamma^2\mathbb{K}'$ and there is a multiple of it lying in $\Gamma^3\mathbb{K}'$. Since $G^*\Gamma\mathbb{K}'$ is torsion-free (Propositions 4.6 and 3.3), this element lies even in $\Gamma^3\mathbb{K}'$. Hence (1).

The proof of (2) goes parallel to the proof of Proposition 4.7 and does not contain any new idea. Let us act in the polynomial ring $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta]$ modulo p^{n_0-s} . The element we are interested in is congruent to

$$p^{n_0-s-1}(\zeta^{p^s}-1)^2$$
.

Consider a generator of $\Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$:

$$(*) \quad \frac{p^{n_0}}{(j_0, p^{n_0})} (\zeta - 1)^{j_0} \cdot \frac{p^{n_s}}{(j_s, p^{n_s})} (\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^{j_s} \text{ with } j_i \ge 0 \text{ and } j_0 + j_s \ge 3.$$

The proof is completed when we show that

$$(*) \equiv (\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^3 \cdot f(\zeta^{p^s})$$

where f is a polynomial (compare with the proof of Proposition 4.7).

If $j_0 = 0$ then even the exact equality (not only the congruence) holds. Suppose that $j_0 \neq 0$. Write down j_0 as $j_0 = p^r \cdot j$ with j prime to p. If $n_0 - r \geq n_0 - s$ then

$$\frac{p^{n_0}}{(j_0, p^{n_0})} \equiv 0$$

and hence $(*) \equiv 0$. So, assume that $n_0 - r < n_0 - s$, i.e. that r > s. According to Lemma 4.8, we have:

$$(\zeta - 1)^{p^r} \equiv (\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^{p^{r-s}} \mod p^{r-s+1}$$

Hence

$$\frac{p^{n_0}}{(j_0, p^{n_0})} (\zeta - 1)^{j_0} \equiv \frac{p^{n_0}}{(j_0, p^{n_0})} (\zeta^{p^s} - 1)^{p^{r-s} \cdot j} \mod p^{n_0 - s + 1} .$$

Since $p^{r-s} \cdot j \ge p \ge 3$ and $n_0 - s + 1 \ge n_0 - s$, we are done.

PROPOSITION 4.14. Let A be a 2-primary algebra. Suppose that the reduced behaviour $(n_i)_{i=0}^m$ of A "makes one jump" and let s be the subscript for which $n_s \leq n_{s-1} - 2$. The group $\text{Tors } G^2 \Gamma K(X)$ is cyclic; its order equals p to the power

$$\begin{cases} \min\{s, n_0 - n_s - s\} & if n_s > 0; \\ \min\{s, n_0 - s - 1\} & if n_s = 0. \end{cases}$$

PROOF. We describe here only the changes which should be made in order to adopt the previous proof to the 2-primary case.

First suppose that $n_s > 0$.

The quotient $G^2\Gamma\mathbb{K}$ has three generators:

$$u = 2^{n_0 - 1} (\zeta - 1)^2;$$

$$v = 2^{n_0} (\zeta - 1) \cdot 2^{n_s} (\zeta^{2^s} - 1);$$

$$w = 2^{n_s - 1} (\zeta^{2^s} - 1)^2.$$

The second one can be evidently excluded.

If $n_0 \ge n_s + 2s$ then we put

$$x = u - 2^{n_0 - n_s - 2s} w$$
;

otherwise we put

$$x = 2^{n_s + 2s - n_0} u - w \; .$$

The element $x \in G^2 \Gamma \mathbb{K}$ generates the torsion subgroup. To verify the statement on its order we have to check that

(1)
$$2^{n_0+s-1}(\zeta-1)^2 - 2^{n_0-s-1}(\zeta^{2^s}-1)^2 \in \Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$$
and

(2)
$$2^{n_0+s-2}(\zeta-1)^2 - 2^{n_0-s-2}(\zeta^{2^s}-1)^2 \notin \Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$$

The inclusion (1) can be done in the same way as previously.

Let us do (2). We act in the polynomial ring $\mathbb{Z}[\zeta]$ modulo 2^{n_0-s-1} . The element we are interested in is congruent to

$$2^{n_0-s-2}(\zeta^{2^s}-1)^2$$
.

Consider a generator of $\Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$:

(*)
$$\frac{2^{n_0}}{(j_0, 2^{n_0})} (\zeta - 1)^{j_0} \cdot \frac{2^{n_s}}{(j_s, 2^{n_s})} (\zeta^{2^s} - 1)^{j_s}$$
 with $j_i \ge 0$ and $j_0 + j_s \ge 3$.

The proof is complete when we show that

$$(*) \equiv (\zeta^{2^s} - 1)^3 \cdot f(\zeta^{2^s})$$

where f is a polynomial.

If $j_0 = 0$ then even the exact equality (not only the congruence) holds. Suppose that $j_0 \neq 0$. Write down j_0 as $j_0 = 2^r \cdot j$ with odd j. If $n_0 - r \ge n_0 - s - 1$ then

$$\frac{2^{n_0}}{(j_0, 2^{n_0})} \equiv 0$$

and hence $(*) \equiv 0$. So, assume that $n_0 - r < n_0 - s - 1$, i.e. that r > s + 1. According to Lemma 4.8, we have:

$$(\zeta - 1)^{2^r} \equiv (\zeta^{2^s} - 1)^{2^{r-s}} \mod 2^{r-s+1}$$
.

Hence

$$\frac{2^{n_0}}{(j_0, 2^{n_0})} (\zeta - 1)^{j_0} \equiv \frac{2^{n_0}}{(j_0, 2^{n_0})} (\zeta^{2^s} - 1)^{2^{r-s} \cdot j} \mod 2^{n_0 - s + 1} .$$

Since $2^{r-s} \cdot j \ge 2^2 \ge 3$ and $n_0 - s + 1 \ge n_0 - s - 1$ we are done.

Now suppose that $n_s = 0$.

The generators of $G^2\Gamma\mathbb{K}$ are:

$$u = 2^{n_0 - 1} (\zeta - 1)^2;$$

$$v = 2^{n_0} (\zeta - 1) \cdot (\zeta^{2^s} - 1);$$

$$w = (\zeta^{2^s} - 1)^2.$$

The second one can be evidently excluded.

If $n_0 \ge 2s + 1$ then we put

$$x = u - 2^{n_0 - 2s - 1}w;$$

otherwise we put

$$x = 2^{2s+1-n_0}u - w \; .$$

The element $x \in G^2 \Gamma \mathbb{K}$ generates the torsion subgroup. To verify the statement on its order we have to check that

(1)
$$2^{n_0+s-1}(\zeta-1)^2 - 2^{n_0-s-1}(\zeta^{2^s}-1)^2 \in \Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$$

and

(2)
$$2^{n_0+s-2}(\zeta-1)^2 - 2^{n_0-s-2}(\zeta^{2^s}-1)^2 \notin \Gamma^3 \mathbb{K}$$

But it was done already (the assumption $n_s > 0$ was not in use).

EXAMPLE 4.15. Let \widetilde{A} be a "generic" division algebra of index p^n and exponent p^m (Example 4.12). Put $\widetilde{X} = \operatorname{SB}(\widetilde{A})$. From Theorem 3.13 and Propositions 4.13 and 4.14, it follows that $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(\widetilde{X})$ is a cyclic group of order p to the power

$$\begin{cases} \min\{m, n-m\} & \text{for an odd } p; \\ \min\{m, n-m-1\} & \text{for } p=2. \end{cases}$$

5. Algebras of prime exponent

Applying Theorem 3.13 and Propositions 4.13 and 4.14 to the case of a prime exponent we can state

PROPOSITION 5.1. Let A be an algebra of a prime exponent p. Then the group Tors $CH^2(X)$ is trivial or (cyclic) of order p. It is trivial if A = p or $A \mid A$. It is not if A is a "generic" division algebra of index p^n and exponent p (see Definition 3.12 or Example 4.12) where $n \ge 2$ in the case of odd p and $n \ge 3$ in the case when p = 2.

COROLLARY 5.2. Let A be an algebra of a square-free exponent e. The group Tors $CH^2(X)$ is (cyclic) of order dividing e; moreover, there exists an algebra \widetilde{A} of the exponent e with Tors $CH^2(\widetilde{X})$ of order e.

PROOF. Follows from Propositions 1.3 and 5.1.

It would be interesting to list all algebras A of prime exponent with trivial Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X)$. We can only describe a class of such algebras. In [**34**] it was shown that any *decomposable* (into a tensor product of two smaller algebras) division algebra of index p^2 and exponent p has no torsion in $\operatorname{CH}^2(X)$ (in fact, there is no torsion in the whole graded group $\operatorname{G}^*\operatorname{T} K(X)$ ([**34**, Theorem 1])). The 2-analogy of this fact was obtained in [**36**, Corollary 3.1]: any decomposable division algebra of index 2^3 and exponent 2 has no torsion in $\operatorname{CH}^2(X)$ (although non-trivial torsion may exist in $\operatorname{G}^*\operatorname{T} K(X)$). These facts can be generalized as follows:

PROPOSITION 5.3. Let A be a division algebra of prime exponent. If A decomposes then the group $CH^2(X)$ is torsion-free.

PROOF. First consider the case when $p \neq 2$. We have a surjection

Tors $G^2 \Gamma K(X) \longrightarrow Tors G^2 T K(X) \simeq Tors CH^2(X)$.

30

The group from the left-hand side is cyclic (Proposition 4.13), its generator is represented by the element

$$x = p^{n}(\xi - 1)^{2} - p^{n-2}(\xi^{p} - 1)^{2} \in \Gamma^{2}K(X) = T^{2}K(X)$$

where $p^n = \operatorname{ind} A$.

Let $A = A_1 \otimes A_2$ be the decomposition of A into a product of two smaller algebras. Assume that the base field F has no extensions of degree prime to p (otherwise we can replace F by a maximal extension of prime to p degree; such a change has no effect on $\operatorname{CH}^2(X)$, compare with Corollary 1.2). Take an extension E/F of degree $[E:F] = p^{n-2}$ such that $\operatorname{ind}(A_1)_E = \operatorname{ind}(A_2)_E = p$ (one can obtain E/F by taking first an extension E_1/F of degree $[E_1:F] =$ $(\operatorname{ind} A_1)/p$ for which $\operatorname{ind}(A_1)_{E_1} = p$ and extending E_1 to E in such a way that $[E:E_1] = (\operatorname{ind} A_2)/p$ and $\operatorname{ind}(A_2)_E = p$). Consider an element

$$y = p^2 (\xi - 1)^2 - (\xi^p - 1)^2 \in \mathrm{T}^2 K(X_E)$$
.

Since the algebra A_E is Brauer equivalent to a decomposable division algebra of index p^2 the group $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_E)$ is torsion-free ([**34**, Theorem 1]). Hence, $y \in \operatorname{T}^3 K(X)$. Taking the transfer of y we get:

$$N_{E/F}(y) = p^n(\xi - 1)^2 - p^{n-2}(\xi^p - 1)^2 = x \in \mathrm{T}^3 K(X) \;.$$

Consequently Tors $CH^2(X) = 0$.

Now consider the case p = 2.

If $\operatorname{ind} A = 4$ then $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X) = 0$ (see e.g. Proposition 4.9 or use the Albert theorem and [34, Theorem 1]). Suppose that $\operatorname{ind} A \ge 8$.

The group Tors $G^2\Gamma K(X)$ is cyclic (Proposition 4.14), its generator is represented by the element

$$x = 2^{n-1}(\xi - 1)^2 - 2^{n-3}(\xi^2 - 1)^2 \in \Gamma^2 K(X) = T^2 K(X)$$

where $2^n = \operatorname{ind} A$.

Let $A = A_1 \otimes A_2$ be the decomposition of A into a product of two smaller algebras and $\operatorname{ind} A_1 \geq \operatorname{ind} A_2$. Assume that the base field F has no extensions of odd degree. Take an extension E/F of degree $[E : F] = 2^{n-3}$ such that $\operatorname{ind}(A_1)_E = 4$ and $\operatorname{ind}(A_2)_E = 2$ (one can obtain E/F by taking first an extension E_1/F of degree $[E_1 : F] = (\operatorname{ind} A_1)/4$ for which $\operatorname{ind}(A_1)_{E_1} = 4$ and extending E_1 to E in such a way that $[E : E_1] = (\operatorname{ind} A_2)/2$ and $\operatorname{ind}(A_2)_E = 2$). Consider an element

$$y = 2^2 (\xi - 1)^2 - (\xi^2 - 1)^2 \in \mathrm{T}^2 K(X_E)$$
.

Since the algebra A_E is Brauer equivalent to a decomposable division algebra of index 2^3 the group $CH^2(X_E)$ is torsion-free ([**36**, Corollary 3.1]). Hence, $y \in T^3K(X)$. Taking the transfer of y we get:

$$N_{E/F}(y) = 2^{n-1}(\xi - 1)^2 - 2^{n-3}(\xi^2 - 1)^2 = x \in \mathrm{T}^3 K(X) \;.$$

Consequently Tors $CH^2(X) = 0.$

COROLLARY 5.4. A "generic" algebra of prime exponent p and index p^n (Example 4.12) is always indecomposable excluding the Albert case: p = 2 = n.

PROOF. Follows from Propositions 5.1 and 5.3.

6. Appendix

This § is included because we do not have an appropriate reference for Corollary 6.4. A particular case of Corollary 6.4 is proved in [64, Proposition 4.7].

We start with certain preliminary observations concerning functors of points of algebraic varieties (schemes).

Let F be a field. Denote by $F-\mathfrak{alg}$ the category of commutative associative unital F-algebras. One refers to a covariant functor from $F-\mathfrak{alg}$ to the category of sets as to an F-functor.

Let X be a scheme over F. For any $R \in F$ -alg the set of R-points X(R) of X is by definition the set $Mor_F(\operatorname{Spec} R, X)$ of morphisms of schemes over F. This set is evidentely functorial in R, so we obtain an F-functor X called the *functor of points* of the scheme X. A morphism of F-schemes $f: X \to Y$ gives a natural transformation of their functors of points.

PROPOSITION 6.1 ([63, Proposition 2 in §6 of Chapter 2]). Let X and Y be F-schemes and let $\phi: X \to Y$ be a natural transformation of their functors of points. There exists a unique morphism of F-schemes $f: X \to Y$ inducing ϕ .

COROLLARY 6.2. Two F-schemes X and Y are isomorphic iff there exists a natural transformation of the F-functors $\phi : X \to Y$ such that for every $R \in F$ -alg the map of sets $\phi(R) : X(R) \to Y(R)$ is bijective.

If additionally we are given morphisms $X \to Z$ and $Y \to Z$ to one more F-scheme Z, then the schemes X and Y are isomorphic over Z iff there exists a natural transformation ϕ as above commuting with the natural transformations to the F-functor Z.

We need a couple more of natural definitions and trivial remarks.

Let \mathcal{F} be an F-functor supplied with a natural transformation $\mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{G}$ to another F-functor \mathcal{G} . For any $R \in F$ - \mathfrak{alg} , the fibre of \mathcal{F} over an R-point x of \mathcal{G} is by definition the inverse image of x with respect to the map $\mathcal{F}(R) \to \mathcal{G}(R)$; let us denote it by \mathcal{F}_x .

Let \mathcal{F}' be one more F-functor supplied with a natural transformation to \mathcal{G} . Giving a natural transformation $\mathcal{F} \to \mathcal{F}'$ over \mathcal{G} is equivalent to giving a collection of maps of sets $\mathcal{F}_x \to \mathcal{F}'_x$ for every $R \in F$ -alg and every $x \in \mathcal{G}(R)$ satisfying the evident functorial property: if $R \to S$ is a homomorphism in F-alg, $x \in \mathcal{G}(R)$, and if $y \in \mathcal{G}(S)$ is the image of x with respect to the map $\mathcal{G}(R) \to \mathcal{G}(S)$, the following diagram commutes:



6. APPENDIX

Now everything is prepared to prove

PROPOSITION 6.3. Let A be a central simple algebra over a field F, X its Severi-Brauer variety, and Y a generalized Severi-Brauer variety SB(n, A)with some $n \ge 0$ (see Remark 6.6).

The product $X \times Y$ considered over X (via the first projection) is isomorphic (as a scheme over X) to the Grassman bundle $\mathbb{F}(n, \mathcal{V})$ "of n-dimensional subspaces" of the canonical vector bundle \mathcal{V} on X (see e.g. [80, Page 94] for a definition of the canonical vector bundle on a Severi-Brauer variety).

PROOF. It suffices to show that for every $R \in F-\mathfrak{alg}$ and every $x \in X(R)$ there is a natural bijection of the sets $(X \times Y)_x$ and $\prod (n, \mathcal{V})_x$. First of all we give descriptions of the sets of R-points of the varieties under consideration (these descriptions are in fact the most natural definitions of the varieties, see e.g. [38]).

The set Y(R) consists of *left* ideals J of the R-algebra $A_R = A \otimes_F R$ having the following two properties:

1. the exact sequence of A_R -modules

$$0 \rightarrow J \rightarrow A_R \rightarrow A_R/J \rightarrow 0$$

splits (in particular, J is a projective R-module);

2. $\operatorname{rk} J = n$ where $\operatorname{rk} J$ is the *R*-rank of *J* devided by deg *A*.

Analogously, the set X(R) consists of right ideals I of A_R such that the sequence $0 \to I \to A_R \to A_R/I \to 0$ splits and $\operatorname{rk} I = 1$. For the rest of the proof, we fix R, an ideal I like that, and we set $x = I \in X(R)$. Note that $A_R = \operatorname{End}_R I$.

The fiber \mathcal{V}_x of \mathcal{V} over x is I; $\mathbf{\Gamma}(n, \mathcal{V})_x$ is the set of R-submodules N of I such that the sequence

$$0 \to N \to I \to I/N \to 0$$

splits and $\operatorname{rk}_R N = n$.

Now it is clear that the Morita theory ([11, Theorem 4.29]) gives a canonical bijection of the sets $(X \times Y)_x = Y(R)$ and $\mathbb{F}(n, \mathcal{V})_x$: $N \in \mathbb{F}(n, \mathcal{V})_x$ corresponds to the left ideal $\operatorname{Hom}_R(I, N)$ of $(\operatorname{End}_R I)^{\operatorname{op}} = A_R$, where $(\operatorname{End}_R I)^{\operatorname{op}}$ is the opposite algebra.

COROLLARY 6.4. In the condition of the proposition, put $Y_m = SB(n, A^{\otimes m})$ for any m > 0. Then $X \times Y_m$ is a Grassman bundle over X.

PROOF. Two ways of proving are possible: one can adopt the proof of the proposition to this new setting, or one can argue as follows.

Put $X_m = \text{SB}(A^{\otimes m})$ and consider the morphism of varieties $X \to X_m$ given by the following natural transformation of their functors of points: for every $R \in F$ -alg the map $X(R) \to X_m(R)$ puts an ideal $I \in X(R)$ to its *m*-th tensor (over R) power $I^{\otimes m} \in X_m(R)$. In the cartesian square



the right arrow is a Grassman bundle by the proposition. Hence the left arrow is a Grassman bundle as well. $\hfill \Box$

REMARK 6.5. It is possible to "spread out" the statement of the corollary a little bit replacing $A^{\otimes m}$ by any Brauer equivalent central simple F-algebra.

REMARK 6.6. In contrast to $[7, \S2]$ and in contrast to the definition of SB(A), we define here SB(n, A) to be the variety of rank n left ideals in A. This variety is canonically isomorphic to the variety of rank deg A - n right ideals in A [42, §1 of Chapter I]. Of course, it is also isomorphic to the variety of rank n right ideals in the opposite algebra A^{op} .

CHAPTER 2

Codimension 2 cycles on products of Severi-Brauer varieties

We study the Chow group of 2-codimensional cycles on products of n Severi-Brauer varieties $(n \ge 2)$. We analyze more detailed

- the product of a biquaternion variety and a conic;
- the product of two Severi-Brauer surfaces.

0. Introduction

In Chapter 1, we study the Chow group CH^2 for one Severi-Brauer variety. Here, using the same methods, we study the same group for a direct product of Severi-Brauer varieties. The motivation for doing this work is given by the following result of O. Izhboldin ([24]): the function field of a Severi-Brauer variety is universally excellent if and only if the index of the corresponding algebra is not divisible by 4. To prove this result, he needed a certain information on the group CH^2 of the product of a biquaternion variety and a conic (Theorem 6.1).

Certain results on the group CH^2 of a product of Severi-Brauer varieties was obtained in [66]. Its connection with the 3d Galois cohomology group ([66, Theorem 4.1]) was established and an example of product of three conics with torsion in CH^2 was constructed ([66, Remark 6.1]).

The main and general result of this Chapter is Theorem 5.5 (with Corollary 5.6). We apply it to products of two small-dimensional varieties (Theorems 6.1 and 7.1); this way we obtain, in particular, new examples of torsion in CH^2 .

We use the following terminology and notation. By saying "A is an algebra", we always mean that A is a central simple algebra over a field. For an algebra A over a field F, we denote by [A] its class in the Brauer group Br(F) of F; exp A stays for the exponent, deg A for the degree and ind A for the index of A.

The Severi-Brauer variety of an algebra A is denoted by SB(A). A variety is always a smooth projective algebraic variety over a field; a *sheaf* over X is an \mathcal{O}_X -module. The Grothendieck ring of a variety X is denoted by K(X);

$$K(X) = \Gamma^0 K(X) \supset \Gamma^1 K(X) \supset \dots$$
 and $K(X) = T^0 K(X) \supset T^1 K(X) \supset \dots$

are respectively the gamma-filtration and the topological filtration on K(X); we use the notation $G^*\Gamma K(X)$ and $G^*TK(X)$ for the adjoint graded rings of these filtrations. There are certain relations between $G^*\Gamma K(X)$, $G^*TK(X)$, and the Chow ring $CH^*(X)$ we use here; they can be found in §2 of Chapter 1.

1. Two preliminary results

PROPOSITION 1.1. Let A_1, \ldots, A_n and B_1, \ldots, B_m be algebras over a field F such that the subgroups in Br(F) generated by $[A_1], \ldots, [A_n]$ and by $[B_1], \ldots, [B_m]$ coincide. Then

 $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(\operatorname{SB}(A_1) \times \cdots \times \operatorname{SB}(A_n)) \simeq \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(\operatorname{SB}(B_1) \times \cdots \times \operatorname{SB}(B_m)).$

PROOF. Set $X = SB(A_1) \times \cdots \times SB(A_n)$, $Y_1 = SB(B_1)$. It suffices to show that

 $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X) \simeq \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X \times Y_1)$.

Since $X \times Y_1 \to X$ is a projective space bundle (Proposition 5.3), one has ([14, §2 of Appendix A])

$$\operatorname{CH}^2(X \times Y_1) \simeq \operatorname{CH}^2(X) \oplus \cdots \oplus \operatorname{CH}^{2-\dim Y_1}(X)$$
.

The last observation is: for all i < 2, the group $CH^i(X)$ has no torsion (for i = 1 see [74, Lemme 6.3, (i)]).

Let p be a prime. For an algebra A as well as for an abelian group A, we are going to denote by $A\{p\}$ the p-primary part of A.

PROPOSITION 1.2. Let A_1, \ldots, A_n be algebras over a field. One has $\operatorname{CH}^2\left(\operatorname{SB}(A_1) \times \cdots \times \operatorname{SB}(A_n)\right)\{p\} \simeq \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2\left(\operatorname{SB}(A_1\{p\}) \times \cdots \times \operatorname{SB}(A_n\{p\})\right).$

PROOF. For n = 1, the assertion is proved in Proposition 1.3 of Chapter 1. The same proof works for n > 1.

2. Grothendieck group of product of Severi-Brauer varieties

Let A_1, \ldots, A_n be algebras over a field F, let X_1, \ldots, X_n be their Severi-Brauer varieties, and $X = X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n$. Fix a separable closure \overline{F} of Fand put $\overline{X}_i = (X_i)_{\overline{F}}$ for each i. The varieties \overline{X}_i are (isomorphic to) projective spaces; denote by ξ_i the class in $K(\overline{X})$ of the tautological sheaf of the projective space bundle

$$\bar{X} \to \prod_{j \neq i} \bar{X}_j$$

The ring $K(\bar{X})$ is generated by the elements ξ_1, \ldots, ξ_n subject to the relations

$$(\xi_1 - 1)^{\deg A_1} = \dots = (\xi_n - 1)^{\deg A_n} = 0$$

Consider the restriction $K(X) \to K(\overline{X})$ which is a ring homomorphism.

THEOREM 2.1. The homomorphism $K(X) \to K(\overline{X})$ is injective; its image is additively generated by the elements

$$\operatorname{ind}(A_1^{\otimes j_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes A_n^{\otimes j_n}) \cdot \xi_1^{j_1} \cdots \xi_n^{j_n}$$

with $0 \le j_1 < \deg A_1, \ldots, 0 \le j_n < \deg A_n$.

PROOF. Use a generalized Peyre's version [66, Proposition 3.1] of Quillen's computation of K-theory for Severi-Brauer schemes [69, Theorem 4.1 of §8] n times.
COROLLARY 2.2. For algebras A_1, \ldots, A_n of fixed degrees, the ring K(X) with the gamma-filtration (and in particular the group Tors $G^2\Gamma K(X)$) depend only on the numbers $\operatorname{ind}(A_1^{\otimes j_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes A_n^{\otimes j_n})$.

PROOF. By the theorem, the numbers determine K(X) completely as a subring in $K(\bar{X})$. The Chern classes with values in K (Definition 2.1 of Chapter 1) for X, which determine the gamma-filtration (Definition 2.6 of Chapter 1), are the restrictions of the Chern classes for \bar{X} .

3. Disjoint varieties and disjoint algebras

DEFINITION 3.1. Let X_1, \ldots, X_n be arbitrary varieties over a field. We say that they are *disjoint* if the ring homomorphism

 $K(X_1) \otimes \cdots \otimes K(X_n) \to K(X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n)$,

induced by the pull-back homomorphisms

$$pr_i^* \colon K(X_i) \to K(X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n)$$

with respect to the projections $pr_i: X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n \to X_i$, is an isomorphism.

PROPOSITION 3.2. Let X_1, \ldots, X_n be disjoint varieties. The gamma-filtration on $K(X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n)$ coincides with the filtration induced by the gammafiltrations on $K(X_1), \ldots, K(X_n)$.

PROOF. Denote by X the product $X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n$ and by $\tilde{\Gamma}$ the induced filtration, where for each $l \geq 0$, the term $\tilde{\Gamma}^l K(X)$ is going to be the subgroup of K(X) generated by the products

$$pr_1^*\Gamma^{l_1}K(X_1)\cdots pr_n^*\Gamma^{l_n}K(X_n)$$

for all $l_1, \ldots, l_n \geq 0$ with $l_1 + \cdots + l_n \geq l$. Since a pull-back homomorphism respects the gamma-filtration, one has an inclusion $\tilde{\Gamma}^l K(X) \subset \Gamma^l K(X)$. Let us prove the inverse inclusion. Since the gamma-filtration Γ on K(X) is the smallest ring filtration having the properties $\Gamma^0 K(X) = K(X)$ and $c^l(x) \in$ $\Gamma^l K(X)$ for all $x \in K(X)$ and $l \geq 1$, where c^l is the *l*-th Chern class with values in K (Definition 2.1 of Chapter 1), it suffices to show that

(*)
$$c^l(x) \in \tilde{\Gamma}^l K(X)$$
.

Since the varieties X_1, \ldots, X_n are disjoint, the additive group of K(X) is generated by the products

$$(**) x = pr_1^*(x_1)\cdots pr_n^*(x_n)$$

where $x_i \in K(X_i)$ is the class of a locally free sheaf. Therefore it suffices to check the inclusion (*) only for x of the form (**). Since c^l commutes with pr_i^* , one has

$$c^l(pr_i^*(x_i)) \in \tilde{\Gamma}^l K(X)$$
,

and the last step of the proof is

LEMMA 3.3. Let $n, m, l \ge 0$. There exists a \mathbb{Z} -polynomial $f_l((\sigma_i), (\tau_j))$, where $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n$ and τ_1, \ldots, τ_m are variables, having two following properties:

- if $x, y \in K(X)$ are classes of locally free sheaves over a variety X, the Chern class $c^{l}(x \cdot y)$ is equal to $f_{l}(c^{i}(x), c^{j}(y))$;
- if one puts deg $\sigma_i = i$ and deg $\tau_j = j$, the degree of every monomial of f_l is at least l.

PROOF. By the splitting principle ([52, Proposition 5.6]), it suffices to consider the case where

$$x = \xi_1 + \dots + \xi_n, \quad y = \eta_1 + \dots + \eta_m$$

with the classes of invertible sheaves ξ_i, η_j . For the total Chern class c_t (Definition 2.1 of Chapter 1), one has

$$c_t(x) = c_t(\sum_{i=1}^n \xi_i) = \prod_{i=1}^n \left(1 + (\xi_i - 1)t \right) = \prod_{i=1}^n (1 + a_i t) \text{ where } a_i = \xi_i - 1;$$

$$c_t(y) = c_t(\sum_{j=1}^m \eta_j) = \prod_{j=1}^m \left(1 + (\eta_j - 1)t \right) = \prod_{j=1}^m (1 + b_j t) \text{ where } b_j = \eta_j - 1;$$

$$c_t(xy) = c_t(\sum_{i,j} \xi_i \eta_j) = \prod_{i,j} \left(1 + (\xi_i \eta_j - 1)t \right) = \prod_{i,j} \left(1 + (a_i b_j + a_i + b_j)t \right).$$

The class $c^{l}(xy)$ is (by definition) the coefficient of t^{l} in $c_{t}(xy)$. This coefficient is evidently a polynomial in a_{1}, \ldots, a_{n} and b_{1}, \ldots, b_{m} symmetric with respect to the variables (a_{i}) and also symmetric with respect to the variables (b_{j}) (notice that the degree of each monomial is at least l). Consequently, by the main theorem on the symmetric polynomials, $c^{l}(xy) = f_{l}((\sigma_{i}), (\tau_{j}))$ for a polynomial f_{l} , where $(\sigma_{i})_{i=1}^{n}$ are the standard symmetric polynomials for (a_{i}) $(\sigma_{i}$ is a homogeneous polynomial of degree i) and $(\tau_{j})_{j=1}^{m}$ are the standard symmetric polynomials for (b_{j}) . The assertion of the lemma concerning the degree is evidently satisfied. Finally, note that $\sigma_{i} = c^{i}(x)$ and $\tau_{j} = c^{j}(y)$.

COROLLARY 3.4. Let X_1, \ldots, X_n be varieties with finitely generated Grothendieck groups (for instance, Severi-Brauer varieties). If the varieties are disjoint and the groups $G^*\Gamma K(X_1), \ldots, G^*\Gamma K(X_n)$ are torsion-free, then the group $G^*\Gamma K(X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n)$ is torsion-free as well.

PROOF. According to the proposition, the natural homomorphism

$$G^*\Gamma K(X_1) \otimes \cdots \otimes G^*\Gamma K(X_n) \to G^*\Gamma K(X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n)$$

is surjective. By our assumption, the group on the left-hand side is finitely generated and torsion-free; so, it is a free abelian group of finite rank. This rank coincides with the rank of the group on the right-hand side, because the varieties are disjoint. $\hfill \Box$

No we are going to understand what the condition of being disjoint means for Severi-Brauer varieties. DEFINITION 3.5. Let A_1, \ldots, A_n be algebras over a field. We say that they are *disjoint* if

 $\operatorname{ind}(A_1^{\otimes j_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes A_n^{\otimes j_n}) = \operatorname{ind} A_1^{\otimes j_1} \cdots \operatorname{ind} A_n^{\otimes j_n} \text{ for all } j_1, \dots, j_n \ge 0.$

PROPOSITION 3.6. Algebras A_1, \ldots, A_n are disjoint if and only if their Severi-Brauer varieties are disjoint.

PROOF. Since, for an arbitrary algebra A, there is a canonical isomorphism $K(A) = \text{ind } A \cdot \mathbb{Z}$, where K(A) denotes the Grothendieck group of the algebra, the algebras are disjoint if and only if the maps

$$K(A_1^{\otimes j_1}) \otimes \cdots \otimes K(A_n^{\otimes j_n}) \to K(A_1^{\otimes j_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes A_n^{\otimes j_n})$$

are isomorphisms for all $0 \leq j_1 < \deg A_1, \ldots, 0 \leq j_n < \deg A_n$. Taking the direct sum over all j_1, \ldots, j_n , we obtain the map

$$\begin{pmatrix} \deg A_1 - 1 \\ \prod_{j_1 = 0} K(A_1^{\otimes j_1}) \end{pmatrix} \otimes \cdots \otimes \begin{pmatrix} \deg A_n - 1 \\ \prod_{j_n = 0} K(A_n^{\otimes j_n}) \end{pmatrix} \longrightarrow \\ \longrightarrow \prod_{j_1 = 0}^{\deg A_1 - 1} \cdots \prod_{j_n = 0}^{\deg A_n - 1} K(A_1^{\otimes j_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes A_n^{\otimes j_n}) .$$

Identifying the factors of the product on the left-hand side with

 $K(\operatorname{SB}(A_1)),\ldots,K(\operatorname{SB}(A_n))$

and the direct sum on the right-hand side with

$$K(\operatorname{SB}(A_1) \times \cdots \times \operatorname{SB}(A_n))$$

by Theorem 2.1, one obtains on the place of the arrow the homomorphism of Definition 3.1. $\hfill \Box$

4. "Generic" varieties

DEFINITION 4.1. Let us say that a variety X is "generic", if the gammafiltration on K(X) coincides with the topological filtration.

LEMMA 4.2. If Tors $G^*\Gamma K(X) = 0$ (for an arbitrary variety X), then X is "generic".

PROOF. To see that the filtrations coincide, it suffices to show that the homomorphism

$$\alpha \colon \mathrm{G}^* \Gamma K(X) \to \mathrm{G}^* \mathrm{T} K(X) \;,$$

induced by the inclusion of the filtrations, is injective. Since $\alpha \otimes \mathbb{Q}$ is bijective ([13, Proposition 5.5 of Chapter VI]), the kernel of α contains only elements of finite order. Therefore, α is really injective if the group $G^*\Gamma K(X)$ has no torsion.

LEMMA 4.3. Let $\mathcal{G} \to X$ be a grassmanian bundle. If X is "generic", the variety \mathcal{G} is "generic" as well.

PROOF. Since \mathcal{G} is a grassmanian bundle over X, the CH^{*}(X)-algebra CH^{*}(\mathcal{G}) is generated by the Chern classes (with values in CH^{*}) (see [12, Proposition 14.6.5] or [43, Theorem 3.2]). Using the natural epimorphism CH^{*} \rightarrow G^{*}TK, one obtains the same result for G^{*}TK: the G^{*}TK(X)-algebra G^{*}T $K(\mathcal{G})$ is generated by the Chern classes (with values in G^{*}TK). Since X is "generic", the ring G^{*}TK(X) itself is generated by the Chern classes (Remark 2.17 of Chapter 1). Consequently, G^{*}T $K(\mathcal{G})$ is generated by the Chern classes not only as algebra but also as a ring. That means \mathcal{G} is "generic" (Remark 2.17 of Chapter 1).

LEMMA 4.4. Let $X \to Y$ be a smooth morphism of varieties and let \tilde{X} be its generic fiber. If X is "generic", the variety \tilde{X} (it is a variety over the function field of Y) is also "generic".

PROOF. The morphism (of schemes) $X \to X$ induces a homomorphism of Grothendieck groups $K(X) \to K(\tilde{X})$, respecting the both filtrations, and a homomorphism of Chow groups $CH^*(X) \to CH^*(\tilde{X})$ which is surjective (Proposition 4.1 of Chapter 5, see also [**39**, Theorem 3.1]). Consequently, the homomorphism

$$G^*TK(X) \to G^*TK(X)$$

is also surjective, and therefore, for every l, the group $T^l K(X)$ is mapped surjectively onto $T^l K(\tilde{X})$. Since $T^l K(X) = \Gamma^l K(X)$, it follows that $T^l K(\tilde{X}) \subset$ $\Gamma^l K(\tilde{X})$. The inverse inclusion is always true.

COROLLARY 4.5. Let X and Y be varieties over a field F such that the projection $X \times Y \to X$ is a grassmanian bundle. If X is "generic", then $X_{F(Y)}$ is also "generic".

PROOF. The variety $X \times Y$ is "generic" according to Lemma 4.3; therefore the variety $X_{F(Y)}$ is "generic" by Lemma 4.4.

5. "Generic" algebras

PROPOSITION 5.1. Let A be a primary algebra (i.e. $\deg A$ is a power of a prime). Suppose that

- either ind $A = \exp A$
- or ind $A = 2^n$ and ind $A^{\otimes 2^{n-2}} = 4$ $(n \ge 2)$

(an example of such A is a biquaternion algebra). Then the group $G^*\Gamma(SB(A))$ is torsion-free.

PROOF. For algebras of the first type see Proposition 3.3 and Corollary 3.6 of Chapter 1; for the second type see the proof of Proposition 4.9 of Chapter 1. \Box

COROLLARY 5.2. Let A_1, \ldots, A_n be disjoint algebras and suppose that each A_i satisfies the condition of Proposition 5.1. Then for the product X of their Severi-Brauer varieties, one has: Tors $G^*\Gamma K(X) = 0$; in particular, Tors $CH^2(X) = 0$.

PROOF. It is a straightforward consequence of the proposition with Corollary 3.4 and Proposition 3.6. $\hfill \Box$

For an algebra B and an integer $r \ge 0$, denote by SB(r, B) the generalized Severi-Brauer variety of rank r right ideals in B ([7, §2]). In particular, SB(1, B) = SB(B).

PROPOSITION 5.3. Let A_1, \ldots, A_n and B be algebras over a field, let $X = SB(A_1) \times \cdots \times SB(A_n)$ and let Y = SB(r, B) with certain $r \ge 0$.

If the Brauer class [B] of the algebra B belongs to the group generated by $[A_1], \ldots, [A_n]$, then the projection $X \times Y \to X$ is an r-grassmanian.

PROOF. We may assume that

$$B \simeq A_1^{\otimes j_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes A_n^{\otimes j_n}$$

with some $j_1, \ldots, j_n \ge 0$. Consider the cartesian square

$$\begin{array}{cccc} X \times Y & \longrightarrow & T \times Y \\ \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ X & \longrightarrow & T \end{array}$$

where T = SB(B) and where the morphism $X \to T$ is given by tensor product of ideals. The arrow on the right-hand side (that is the projection $T \times Y \to T$) is an *r*-grassmanian by Proposition 6.3 of Chapter 1. Therefore, the projection $X \times Y \to Y$ (that is the left-hand side arrow) is an *r*-grassmanian as well. \Box

DEFINITION 5.4. We call a collection of algebras A_1, \ldots, A_n "generic", if it can be obtained by the following procedure. One starts with disjoint algebras A_1, \ldots, A_n over a field F such that each A_i satisfies the condition of Proposition 5.1. Then one takes F-algebras B_1, \ldots, B_m such that their classes in Br(F) belong to the subgroup generated by $[A_1], \ldots, [A_n]$. Finally, one takes as Y a direct product of some generalized Severi-Brauer of algebras B_1, \ldots, B_m and one puts $\tilde{A}_i = (A_i)_{F(Y)}$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$.

THEOREM 5.5. If a collection of algebras $\tilde{A}_1, \ldots, \tilde{A}_n$ is "generic", then the product \tilde{X} of their Severi-Brauer varieties is a "generic" variety (Definition 4.1); in particular, the epimorphism

Tors
$$\mathrm{G}^2\Gamma K(\tilde{X}) \to \mathrm{Tors}\,\mathrm{CH}^2(\tilde{X})$$

is bijective in this case.

PROOF. Let A_1, \ldots, A_n be algebras used in construction of our "generic" collection (Definition 5.4). Put $X_i = \text{SB}(A_i)$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$ and let $X = X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n$. According to Corollary 5.2, the group $G^*\Gamma K(X)$ is torsion-free. In particular, the variety X is "generic" (Lemma 4.2).

Now, let Y be the direct product of generalized Severi-Brauer varieties, used in the construction of our generic collection. By Proposition 5.3, the projection $X \times Y \to X$ is a fiber product (over X) of grassmanians. Therefore, using Corollary 4.5 *m* times, one proves that the variety $\tilde{X} = X_{F(Y)}$ is "generic". \Box COROLLARY 5.6. Let A_1, \ldots, A_n be arbitrary algebras and let X be the product of their Severi-Brauer varieties. Let $\tilde{A}_1, \ldots, \tilde{A}_n$ be a "generic" collection of algebras such that deg $\tilde{A}_i = \deg A_i$ and

$$\operatorname{ind}(\tilde{A}_1^{\otimes j_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \tilde{A}_n^{\otimes j_n}) = \operatorname{ind}(A_1^{\otimes j_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes A_n^{\otimes j_n})$$

for all i and all j_1, \ldots, j_n . Then the group $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X)$ is isomorphic to a factorgroup of $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(\tilde{X})$.

PROOF. By the theorem, there is an isomorphism

Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(\tilde{X}) \simeq \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{G}^2 \Gamma K(\tilde{X})$;

by Corollary 2.2, one has

Tors $G^2 \Gamma K(\tilde{X}) \simeq \text{Tors } G^2 \Gamma K(X)$;

finally, we always have a surjection (Corollary 2.15 of Chapter 1)

 $\operatorname{Tors} \mathrm{G}^2 \Gamma K(X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Tors} \mathrm{CH}^2(X)$.

6. Biquaternion variety times conic

A Severi-Brauer variety of a biquaternion algebra is called *biquaternion* variety here.

THEOREM 6.1. Let X be a biquaternion variety, Y be a conic (over the same field) and A, B be the corresponding algebras (B is a quaternion algebra).

- 1. The torsion in the group $CH^2(X \times Y)$ is either trivial, or of order 2.
- 2. If the torsion is non-trivial, then

(*)
$$\operatorname{ind} A = \operatorname{ind}(A \otimes B) = 4 \quad and \quad \operatorname{ind} B = 2.$$

3. If the collection A, B is "generic" (Definition 5.4) and satisfies the condition (*), then the torsion is not trivial.

PROOF. If ind $B \neq 2$, i.e. if B is split, then we know from Proposition 1.1 that $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X \times Y) \simeq \operatorname{CH}^2(X)$; hereby the latter group is torsion-free ([**34**, Corollary]).

If ind $A \neq 4$, than A is Brauer-equivalent to a quaternion algebra A'; denoting by X' its Severi-Brauer variety, one gets (Proposition 1.1)

 $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X \times Y) \simeq \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X' \times Y)$.

Since $\dim(X' \times Y) = 2$, the group

$$G^{2}\Gamma K(X' \times Y) = \Gamma^{2} K(X' \times Y) \subset K(X' \times Y)$$

has no torsion. It follows that in this case $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X \times Y) = 0$ as well.

Let C be a division algebra Brauer-equivalent to the product $A \otimes B$; T = SB(C). Using Proposition 1.1 once again, we have

 $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X \times Y) \simeq \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(T \times Y)$.

If $ind(A \otimes B) \leq 2$, then dim $T \times Y \leq 2$ and we are done in the same way as above.

If $\operatorname{ind}(A \otimes B) = 8$, then the algebras A, B are disjoint and Corollary 5.2 shows that $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X \times Y) = 0$.

The rest is served by

PROPOSITION 6.2. Suppose that a biquaternion algebra A and a quaternion algebra B are division algebras and $ind(A \otimes B) = 4$. For X, Y as above, one has: Tors $G^2 \Gamma K(X \times Y) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/2$.

PROOF. Put $K = K(X \times Y)$, $\overline{K} = K(\overline{X} \times \overline{Y})$. The commutative ring \overline{K} is generated by elements ξ, η subject to the relations $(\xi - 1)^4 = 0 = (\eta - 1)^2$ (see §2). In particular, the additive group of \overline{K} is a free abelian group generated by the elements $\xi^i \eta^j$, i = 0, 1, 2, 3, j = 0, 1. We are also going to use another system of generators: $f^i g^j$, i = 0, 1, 2, 3, j = 0, 1, where $f = \xi - 1, g = \eta - 1$.

For each l, the l-th term $\Gamma^l \bar{K}$ of the gamma-filtration on \bar{K} is generated by the products $f^i g^j$ with $i + j \ge l$. In particular, $G^l \Gamma \bar{K}$ is an abelian group freely generated by the residue classes of the products $f^i g^j$ with i + j = l.

LEMMA 6.3. The subring $K \subset \overline{K}$ is additively generated by the elements 1, 4ξ , ξ^2 , $4\xi^3$, 2η , $4\xi\eta$, $2\xi^2\eta$, $4\xi^3\eta$.

PROOF. It is a particular case of Theorem 2.1.

LEMMA 6.4. The following elements are also generators of the additive group of K:

1,
$$2f - f^2$$
, $2g$, $2f^2$, $4fg$, $4f^3$, $2f^2g$, $4f^3g$

(the singled out element is going to produce the torsion — see Corollary 6.9).

PROOF. A straightforward verification.

LEMMA 6.5. There are the following inclusions:

$$\begin{split} \Gamma^1 K &\ni 2f - f^2, \ 2g ; \\ \Gamma^2 K &\ni 2f^2, \ 4fg, \ \boxed{2f^2g} ; \\ \Gamma^3 K &\ni 4f^3, \ 2 \cdot \boxed{2f^2g} ; \\ \Gamma^4 K &\ni 4f^3g . \end{split}$$

PROOF. The assertion on $\Gamma^1 K$ is evident.

Since $2f^2$, $4fg \in K \cap \Gamma^2 \overline{K}$ and the restriction homomorphism $G^1 \Gamma K \to G^1 \Gamma \overline{K}$ is injective ([74, Lemme 6.3, (i)]), the assertion on $\Gamma^2 K$ holds (a direct verification (see the rest of the proof) is also easy).

Finally, one has:

$$c_t(4\xi) = (1+ft)^4 \implies c^3(4\xi) = 4f^3 \implies 4f^3 \in \Gamma^3 K ;$$

$$2f^2 \in \Gamma^2 K \text{ and } 2g \in \Gamma^1 K \implies 4f^2 g = (2f^2) \cdot (2g) \in \Gamma^3 K ;$$

$$c^4(4\xi\eta) = (\xi\eta - 1)^4 = ((f+1)(g+1) - 1)^4 = 4f^3 g \in \Gamma^4 K .$$

COROLLARY 6.6. Denote by α^* the restriction homomorphism

$$\mathrm{G}^*\Gamma K \to \mathrm{G}^*\Gamma \overline{K}$$
.

For all i > 0, one has: $\operatorname{Im} \alpha^i \subset 2\mathrm{G}^i \Gamma \overline{K}$.

PROOF. According to the lemma, the group $G^1\Gamma K$ is generated by the residue classes of the elements $2f - f^2$ and 2g; their images in $G^1\Gamma \overline{K}$ are really divisible by 2. So,the assertion of the corollary for i = 1 is proved.

Since the elements of $\Gamma^2 K$, $\Gamma^3 K$ and $\Gamma^4 K$, listed in the lemma, generate $\Gamma^2 K$ and are divisible by 2 in \bar{K} , we obtain the assertion for $i \geq 2$ (use the absence of torsion in $G^*\Gamma \bar{K}$).

COROLLARY 6.7. $\#(\text{Tors } G^*\Gamma K) \leq 2.$

PROOF. Since the group $G^*\Gamma \overline{K}$ is torsion-free, $\operatorname{Tors} G^*\Gamma K \subset \operatorname{Ker} \alpha^*$. We are going to show that $\#(\operatorname{Ker} \alpha^*) \leq 2$, using the following formula ([**33**, Proposition]):

$$\#(\operatorname{Ker} \alpha^*) = \#(\operatorname{Coker} \alpha^*)/\#(K/K)$$
.

It is easy to calculate that $\#(\bar{K}/K) = 2^{10}$. According to the lemma,

 $\#(\operatorname{Coker} \alpha^*) \le 2^{11} .$

LEMMA 6.8. $2f^2g \notin \Gamma^3 K$.

PROOF. It suffices to show that $\operatorname{Im} \alpha^3 \subset 4\mathrm{G}^3\Gamma \overline{K}$.

The group $\operatorname{Im} \alpha^3$ is generated by the subgroup $\operatorname{Im} \alpha^1 \cdot \operatorname{Im} \alpha^2$ and by the subset $\alpha^3(c^3K)$, where c^3 is the 3d Chern class with values in $\operatorname{G}^*\Gamma K$ (Definition 2.7 of Chapter 1). Since $\operatorname{Im} \alpha^i \subset 2\operatorname{G}^i\Gamma \overline{K}$ for i > 0 by Corollary 6.6, one has: $\operatorname{Im} \alpha^1 \cdot \operatorname{Im} \alpha^2 \subset 4\operatorname{G}^3\Gamma \overline{K}$. Therefore, it suffices to verify that $\alpha^3(c^3(S)) \subset 4\operatorname{G}^3\Gamma \overline{K}$ for a system S of generators of the additive group of K. The verification is trivial if we take as S the system of generators of Lemma 6.3.

COROLLARY 6.9. The residue of $2f^2g$ in $G^2\Gamma K$ has order 2 and generates the torsion subgroup.

PROOF. The residue is of order 2 by Lemmas 6.8 and 6.5. It generates the whole torsion subgroup (not only in $G^3\Gamma K$ but also in $G^*\Gamma K$) by Corollary 6.7.

The proofs of the theorem and of the proposition are complete.

REMARK 6.10. In the condition of the theorem, denote the base field by Fand suppose that there exists a quadratic extension L/F (or, more generally, an extension of degree not divisible by 4) such that the algebra A_L is no more a division algebra and the algebra B_L is split. In this case, $f^2g \in T^3K(X_L \times Y_L)$;

using the norm map, we obtain: $2f^2g \in T^3K(X \times Y)$, i.e. $\text{Tors } \text{CH}^2(X \times Y) = 0$.

Therefore, if A, B are such that $\text{Tors } \text{CH}^2(X \times Y) \neq 0$ (for example, if A, B form a "generic" collection (Theorem 6.1)), there are no extensions like that. The first example of this phenomenon is constructed in [51].

7. Product of two Severi-Brauer surfaces

A Severi-Brauer surface is a Severi-Brauer variety of dimension 2.

THEOREM 7.1. Let X, Y be Severi-Brauer surfaces over a field and let A, B be the corresponding algebras.

- 1. The torsion in the group $CH^2(X \times Y)$ is either trivial, or of order 3.
- 2. If the torsion is not trivial, then

(*)
$$\operatorname{ind} A = \operatorname{ind} B = \operatorname{ind}(A \otimes B) = \operatorname{ind}(A \otimes B^{\circ}) = 3$$

where B° is the algebra opposite to B.

3. If the collection A, B is "generic" (Definition 5.4) and satisfies the condition (*), then the torsion is not trivial.

PROOF. If at least one of the algebras $A, B, A \otimes B, A \otimes B^{\circ}$ is split, then there exists an algebra C of degree 3 such that its class [C] in the Brauer group generates the same subgroup as [A] and [B] (together). According to Proposition 1.1, in this case, the group Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X \times Y)$ is isomorphic to the group Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(\operatorname{SB}(C))$ which is trivial by [**33**, Corollary], or also by Lemma 2.4 of Chapter 4.

If $ind(A \otimes B) = ind(A \otimes B^{\circ}) = 9$, then the algebras A, B are disjoint and one can use Corollary 5.2.

Put $Y^{o} = SB(B^{o})$. Since by Proposition 1.1

$$\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X \times Y) \simeq \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X \times Y^{\circ})$$
,

it suffices to consider only one of the two following cases:

- $\operatorname{ind}(A \otimes B) = 3$ and $\operatorname{ind}(A \otimes B^{\circ}) = 9$;
- $\operatorname{ind}(A \otimes B) = 9$ and $\operatorname{ind}(A \otimes B^{\circ}) = 3$.

LEMMA 7.2. If ind $A = \operatorname{ind} B = \operatorname{ind}(A \otimes B) = 3$ and $\operatorname{ind}(A \otimes B^{\circ}) = 9$, then $\operatorname{Tors} G^2 \Gamma K(X \times Y) = 0$.

PROOF. Put $K = K(X \times Y)$, $\overline{K} = K(\overline{X} \times \overline{Y})$. The commutative ring \overline{K} is generated by elements ξ, η subject to the relations $(\xi - 1)^3 = 0 = (\eta - 1)^3$ (see §2). In particular, the additive group of \overline{K} is an abelian group freely generated by the elements $\xi^i \eta^j$, i, j = 0, 1, 2. We also are going to use another system of generators: $f^i g^j, i, j = 0, 1, 2$, where $f = \xi - 1, g = \eta - 1$.

For every l, the l-th term $\Gamma^l \overline{K}$ of the gamma-filtration on \overline{K} is generated by the products $f^i g^j$ with $i + j \ge l$. The condition of the lemma implies that

ind
$$A^{\otimes 2} = \operatorname{ind} B^{\otimes 2} = \operatorname{ind} (A^{\otimes 2} \otimes B^{\otimes 2}) = 3$$
 and
 $\operatorname{ind} (A \otimes B^{\otimes 2}) = \operatorname{ind} (A^{\otimes 2} \otimes B) = 9$.

So, according to Theorem 2.1, the subring $K \subset \overline{K}$ is additively generated by

$$1, \ 3\xi, \ 3\xi^2, \ 3\eta, \ 3\xi\eta, \ 9\xi^2\eta, \ 3\eta^2, \ 9\xi\eta^2, \ 3\xi^2\eta^2 \ .$$

We are also going to use another system of generators:

$$1, \ 3f, \ 3g, \ 3f^2, \ 3fg, \ 3g^2, \ 9f^2g, \ 3f^2g + 3fg^2 + 6f^2g^2, \ 9f^2g^2 \ .$$

Now it is evident that the intersection $K \cap \Gamma^3 \overline{K}$ is generated by

$$9f^2g, \ 3f^2g + 3fg^2 + 6f^2g^2, \text{ and } 9f^2g^2$$

To prove that the group $G^2\Gamma K$ is torsion-free, it suffices to verify that these three elements belong to $\Gamma^3 K$.

Since $3f^2$, $3g^2 \in \Gamma^2 K$, and $3g \in \Gamma^1 K$, one has:

$$9f^2g = (3f^2) \cdot (3g) \in \Gamma^3 K, \ 9f^2g^2 = (3f^2) \cdot (3g^2) \in \Gamma^4 K.$$

The last element coincides with a 3-d Chern class:

$$c^{3}(3\xi\eta) = (\xi\eta - 1)^{3} = ((f+1)(g+1) - 1)^{3} = (fg + f + g)^{3} = 3fg(f+g)^{2} + (f+g)^{3} = 6f^{2}g^{2} + 3f^{2}g + 3fg^{2}.$$

We finish the proof of the theorem by

PROPOSITION 7.3. If ind $A = \text{ind } B = \text{ind}(A \otimes B) = \text{ind}(A \otimes B^{\circ}) = 3$, then $\text{Tors } G^2 \Gamma K(X \times Y) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/3$.

PROOF. We use the notation introduced in the beginning of the proof of the last lemma.

LEMMA 7.4. The subring $K \subset \overline{K}$ is now generated by 1 and $3\overline{K}$. Moreover,

$$\begin{split} \Gamma^1 K &= 3 \Gamma^1 \bar{K} \ ; \\ \Gamma^2 K &= 3 \Gamma^2 \bar{K} \ ; \\ \Gamma^3 K &\ni 3 f^2 g - 3 f g^2, \ 3 f^2 g + 3 f g^2 + 6 f^2 g^2 \ ; \\ \Gamma^4 K &\ni 9 f^2 g^2 \ . \end{split}$$

PROOF. The assertion about $\Gamma^1 K$ is trivial. The assertion about $\Gamma^2 K$ is caused by injectivity of the restriction homomorphism $G^1\Gamma K \to G^1\Gamma \overline{K}$ ([74, Lemme 6.3, (i)]); $9f^2g^2 \in \Gamma^4 K$ because $3f^2, 3g^2 \in \Gamma^2 K$.

To prove the assertion about $\Gamma^3 K$, let us compute the 3d Chern class

 $c^3(\xi^2\eta) = (\xi^2\eta - 1)^3 = \left((f+1)^2(g+1) - 1\right)^3 = 27f^2g^2 + 12f^2g + 6fg^2 \ .$ Since $9f^2g, 9fg^2 \in \Gamma^3 K$, we conclude that $3f^2g - 3fg^2 \in \Gamma^3 K$.

Finally, as we have already computed in the proof of Lemma 7.2,

$$3f^2g + 3fg^2 + 6f^2g^2 = c^3(3\xi\eta) \in \Gamma^3 K$$

COROLLARY 7.5. $\#(\text{Tors } G^*\Gamma K) \leq 3.$

PROOF. Analogously to Corollary 6.7. Now one has (Lemma 7.4):

 $\#(\bar{K}/K) = 3^8$ and $\#(\operatorname{Coker} \alpha^*) \le 3^9$.

LEMMA 7.6. $3f^2g^2 \notin \Gamma^3 K$.

PROOF. Let us define a homomorphism $\phi_9 \colon \overline{K} \to \mathbb{Z}/9$ as follows: write an arbitrary element $x \in \overline{K}$ as a linear combination

$$x = \sum_{i,j=0}^{2} a_{ij} f^{i} g^{j} \quad \text{with } a_{ij} \in \mathbb{Z},$$

put $\phi(x) = a_{21} + a_{12} - a_{22}$ and define $\phi_9(x)$ as the residue of $\phi(x)$ modulo 9. Since $\phi_9(3f^2g^2) \neq 0$, it suffices to show that $\phi_9(\Gamma^3 K) = 0$.

A priori, the group $\Gamma^3 K$ is generated by $\Gamma^1 K \cdot \Gamma^2 K$, $c^3(S)$ et $c^4(S)$ where $S = 1, 3\xi, 3\xi^2, 3\eta, 3\xi\eta, 3\xi^2\eta, 3\eta^2, 3\xi\eta^2, 3\xi^2\eta^2$.

Hereby,
$$c^4(s) = 0$$
 for all $s \in S$; thus one can eliminate $c^4(S)$ from the list of

generators. Since

 $\Gamma^1 K \cdot \Gamma^2 K \subset \Gamma^1 K \cdot \Gamma^1 K \subset 9\bar{K} \quad \text{(Lemma 7.4)},$

one has: $\phi_9(\Gamma^1 K \cdot \Gamma^2 K) = 0.$

It remains $c^3(S)$. For $s = 1, 3\xi, 3\xi^2, 3\eta$, and $3\eta^2$, the value $\phi(s)$ is already 0. The following calculations show that $\phi_9(c^3(s)) = 0$ for the other four elements $s \in S$ as well:

$$\begin{split} c^{3}(3\xi\eta) &= (\xi\eta - 1)^{3} = \left((f+1)(g+1) - 1\right)^{3} = \left(fg + (f+g)\right)^{3} = \\ &= 3fg(f+g)^{2} + (f+g)^{3} = \left[6f^{2}g^{2} + 3f^{2}g + 3fg^{2}\right];\\ c^{3}(3\xi^{2}\eta^{2}) &= (\xi^{2}\eta^{2} - 1)^{3} = \left((f+1)^{2}(g+1)^{2} - 1\right)^{3} = \left((f^{2} + 4fg + g^{2}) + 2(f+g)\right)^{3} = \\ &= 12(f^{2} + 4fg + g^{2})(f+g)^{2} + 8(f+g)^{3} = \left[120f^{2}g^{2} + 24f^{2}g + 24fg^{2}\right];\\ c^{3}(3\xi^{2}\eta) &= (\xi^{2}\eta - 1)^{3} = \left((f+1)^{2}(g+1) - 1\right)^{3} = \left(f(f+2g) + (2f+g)\right)^{3} = \\ &= 3f(f+2g)(2f+g)^{2} + (2f+g)^{3} = \left[27f^{2}g^{2} + 12f^{2}g + 6fg^{2}\right];\\ c^{3}(3\xi\eta^{2}) &= \left[27f^{2}g^{2} + 6f^{2}g + 12fg^{2}\right]. \end{split}$$

47

According to Lemma 7.4, we have $3f^2g^2 \in \Gamma^2 K$. The residue class of the element $3f^2g^2$ in $G^2\Gamma K$ has order 3 by Lemmas 7.4 and 7.6. Therefore, by Corollary 7.5, it generates the whole torsion subgroup of $G^2\Gamma K$. So, the proof of Proposition 7.3 is complete.

Proposition 7.3 completes the proof of Theorem 7.1.

CHAPTER 3

Isotropy of virtual Albert forms over function fields of quadrics

Let F be a field of characteristic different from 2 and ϕ be a virtual Albert form over F, i.e. an anisotropic 6-dimensional quadratic form over F which is still anisotropic over the field $F(\sqrt{d_{\pm}\phi})$. We give a complete description of the quadratic forms ψ such that ϕ becomes isotropic over the function field $F(\psi)$. This completes the series of works ([16], [44], [45], [49], [54]) where the question was considered previously.

Results of this Chapter are obtained in joint work with Oleg Izhboldin.

0. Introduction

Let F be a field of characteristic different from 2 and let ϕ and ψ be two anisotropic quadratic forms over F. An important problem in the algebraic theory of quadratic forms is to find conditions on ϕ and ψ so that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. In the case when $\dim \phi \leq 5$ the problem was completely solved in [15] and [75]. For 6-dimensional quadratic forms, the problem was studied by D. W. Hoffmann ([16]), A. Laghribi ([44], [45]), D. Leep ([49]), and A. S. Merkurjev (54) and was solved fully except for the following two cases (see [44] and [45]):

- dim ψ = 4, d_± ψ ≠ 1, and ind(C₀(φ)) = 2;
 dim ψ = 4, d_± ψ ≠ 1, ind(C₀(φ)) = 4, and d_± φ = d_± ψ.

In this Chapter the second case is studied completely. Our result (Theorem 5.1) and results of Laghribi, Leep, and Merkurjev give rise to the following

Theorem. Let ϕ be a 6-dimensional quadratic form with $ind(C_0(\phi)) = 4$. In the case when $\psi \notin GP_2(F)$, the quadratic form $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic if and only if ψ is similar to a subform of ϕ . In the case when $\psi \in GP_2(F)$, the form $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic if and only if a 3-dimensional subform of ψ is similar to a subform of ϕ .

We deduce Theorem 5.1 from a result on 8-dimensional forms (Proposition (4.1) which also has an independent value: together with [47], it gives rise to Theorem 4.4 answering the question about isotropy of an 8-dimensional quadratic form ϕ with det $\phi = 1$ and $\operatorname{ind}(C(\phi)) = 8$ over function fields of quadrics.

3. VIRTUAL ALBERT FORMS

1. Terminology, notation, and backgrounds

1.1. Quadratic forms. By $\phi \perp \psi$, $\phi \simeq \psi$, and $[\phi]$ we denote orthogonal sum of forms, isometry of forms, and the class of ϕ in the Witt ring W(F) of the field F respectively. To simplify notation we will write $\phi + \psi$ instead of $[\phi] +$ $[\psi]$. For a quadratic form ϕ of dimension n, we set $d_{\pm} \phi = (-1)^{n(n-1)/2} \det \phi$. We consider $d_{\pm} \phi$ as an element of F^*/F^{*2} . The maximal ideal of W(F)consisting of the classes of the even-dimensional forms is denoted by I(F). The anisotropic part of ϕ is denoted by ϕ_{an} . We denote by $\langle\langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle\rangle$ the n-fold Pfister form

$$\langle 1, -a_1 \rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes \langle 1, -a_n \rangle$$

and by $P_n(F)$ the set of all *n*-fold Pfister forms. The set of all forms similar to *n*-fold Pfister forms we denote by $GP_n(F)$. For any field extension L/F, we put $\phi_L = \phi \otimes L$, $W(L/F) = \text{Ker}(W(F) \to W(L))$, and $I^n(L/F) = \text{Ker}(I^n(F) \to I^n(L))$.

For a quadratic form ϕ of dimension ≥ 3 , we denote by X_{ϕ} the projective variety given by the equation $\phi = 0$. We set $F(\phi) = F(X_{\phi})$ if dim $\phi \geq 3$; $F(\phi) = F(\sqrt{d})$ if dim $\phi = 2$ and $d = d_{\pm} \phi \neq 1$; and $F(\phi) = F$ otherwise.

Let $\psi \in GP_2(F)$ and ψ_0 be a 3-dimensional subform of ψ . Then $\psi_{F(\psi_0)}$ and $(\psi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ are isotropic. Hence for any quadratic form ϕ , the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is equivalent to isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi_0)}$. Thus, to give a complete description of the quadratic forms ψ such that ϕ becomes isotropic over the function field $F(\psi)$, it is sufficient to consider the case where $\psi \notin GP_2(F)$.

We say that a quadratic form ϕ is a *Pfister neighbor* if for some *n* there exists $\pi \in P_n(F)$ such that ϕ is similar to a subform of π and dim $\phi > 2^{n-1}$.

Let ϕ be a quadratic form of dimension 2^n . We say that ϕ^* is a *half-neighbor* of ϕ , if dim $\phi^* = 2^n$ and there exists $k \in F^*$ such that $\phi^* \equiv k\phi \pmod{I^{n+1}(F)}$.

1.2. Algebras. Let A be a central simple algebra over F. By deg(A), ind(A), [A], and exp(A) we denote respectively the degree of A, the Schur index of A, the class of A in the Brauer group Br(F), and the order of [A] in the Brauer group. By SB(A) we denote the Severi–Brauer variety of A. If an algebra B has the form $B = A \times A$, we set ind B = ind A.

Let ϕ be a quadratic form. We denote by $C(\phi)$ the Clifford algebra of ϕ . By $C_0(\phi)$ we denote the even part of $C(\phi)$. If $\phi \in I^2(F)$ then $C(\phi)$ is a central simple algebra. Hence we get a well defined element $[C(\phi)]$ of $Br_2(F)$ which we denote by $c(\phi)$.

1.3. Quadratic forms of dimension 6. Let ϕ be an anisotropic quadratic form of dimension 6 and let $d = d_{\pm}\phi$. If d = 1, then ϕ is an Albert form. In this case the problem of isotropy of ϕ over the function field of a quadratic form ψ is completely solved ([49], [54]): in the case when $\psi \notin GP_2(\psi)$, the form $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic if and only if ψ is similar to a subform in ϕ .

Suppose now that $d \neq 1$. Then $C_0(\phi)$ is a central simple algebra over $L = F(\sqrt{d})$. In this case we have the following classification of anisotropic 6-dimension forms:

Type 1 is defined by one of the following equivalent conditions:

- $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\phi)) = 1;$
- ϕ_L is hyperbolic;
- ϕ has the form $\langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle \mu$ where dim $\mu = 3$;
- ϕ is a Pfister neighbor.

Type 2 is defined by one of the following equivalent conditions:

- $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\phi)) = 2;$
- ϕ_L is isotropic but not hyperbolic;
- ϕ is similar to a form of the kind $\langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle \perp c \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle$, where $\langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle_L$ is not isotropic.

Type 3 is defined by one of the following equivalent conditions:

- $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\phi)) = 4;$
- ϕ_L is anisotropic;

The quadratic form of the type 3 is called a *virtual Albert form*.

For the quadratic forms ϕ of type 1 (i.e. for the Pfister neighbors), the problem of isotropy $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is completely solved by Arason–Pfister subform theorem. The case of quadratic forms of type 2 was studied by D. Hoffmann in [16]: he found the conditions on ϕ and ψ so that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic excepting the case dim $\psi = 4$.¹

The case of the quadratic forms ϕ of type 3 (virtual Albert forms) was studied completely by A. Laghribi in [44, 45] except for the case where dim $\psi =$ 4 and $d_{\pm} \psi \neq 1$. In this chapter we complete the investigation of isotropy of virtual Albert forms over the function field of a quadric.

1.4. Cohomology groups. By $H^*(F)$ we denote the graded ring of Galois cohomology

$$H^*(F, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) = H^*(\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\operatorname{sep}}/F), \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}).$$

For any field extension L/F, we set $H^*(L/F) = \text{Ker}(H^*(F) \to H^*(L))$.

We use the standard canonical isomorphisms $H^0(F) = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, $H^1(F) = F^*/F^{*2}$, and $H^2(F) = \operatorname{Br}_2(F)$. Thus any element $a \in F^*$ gives rise to an element of $H^1(F)$; it is denoted by (a). The cup product $(a_1) \cup \cdots \cup (a_n)$ is denoted by (a_1, \ldots, a_n) .

For n = 0, 1, 2 there is a homomorphism $e^n : I^n(F) \to H^n(F)$ defined as follows: $e^0(\phi) = \dim \phi \pmod{2}$, $e^1(\phi) = d_{\pm} \phi$, and $e^2(\phi) = c(\phi)$. Moreover, there exists a homomorphism $e^3 : I^3(F) \to H^3(F)$ which is uniquely determined by the condition $e^3(\langle\langle a_1, a_2, a_3\rangle\rangle) = (a_1, a_2, a_3)$ (see [5]). The homomorphism e^n is surjective and Ker $e^n = I^{n+1}(F)$ for n = 0, 1, 2, 3 (see [53], [62], and [71]).

¹The case where ϕ is of type 2 and dim $\psi = 4$ is studied in Chapter 4.

1.5. K-theory and Chow groups. In $\S2$ we use the following notation.

Let X be a smooth algebraic F-variety. The Grothendieck ring of X is denoted by K(X). This ring is supplied with the filtration "by codimension of support" (which respects the multiplication); the adjoint graded ring is denoted by $G^*K(X)$. There is a canonical surjective homomorphism of the graded Chow ring $CH^*(X)$ onto $G^*K(X)$; its kernel consists only of torsion elements and is trivial in the 0-th, 1-st and 2-nd graded components ([**81**, §9]).

We fix a separable closure \overline{F} of the ground field F and denote by \overline{X} the variety $X_{\overline{F}}$. The image of the restriction homomorphism $G^*K(X) \to G^*K(\overline{X})$ is denoted by $\overline{G}^*K(X)$.

We denote by |S| the order of a finite set S.

2. Computation of $H^3(F(SB(A) \times SB(B))/F)$

THEOREM 2.1. Let A and B be biquaternion division F-algebras such that $ind(A \otimes B) = 8$. Suppose that there exists a quadratic extension L/F such that A_L and B_L are not division algebras. Then

 $H^{3}(F(\mathrm{SB}(A) \times \mathrm{SB}(B))/F) = [A] \cdot H^{1}(F) + [B] \cdot H^{1}(F).$

PROOF. We put $X = SB(A) \times SB(B)$.

LEMMA 2.2 ([33, Proposition 2]).

$$\operatorname{Tors} G^* K(X) | = \frac{|G^* K(\bar{X}) / \bar{G}^* K(X)|}{|K(\bar{X}) / K(X)|}$$

LEMMA 2.3. $|K(\bar{X})/K(X)| = 2^{28}$.

PROOF. Applying [69, §8, Theorem 4.1], one gets an isomorphism

 $K(X) \simeq K(F)^{\oplus 4} \oplus K(A)^{\oplus 4} \oplus K(B)^{\oplus 4} \oplus K(A \otimes B)^{\oplus 4}$

which shows that

$$|K(\bar{X})/K(X)| = (\operatorname{ind} A)^4 \cdot (\operatorname{ind} B)^4 \cdot (\operatorname{ind} A \otimes B)^4 = 2^{28} .$$

The variety $\overline{\operatorname{SB}(A)}$ is a projective space; denote by f the class of a hyperplane in $\operatorname{G}^1\operatorname{K}(\overline{\operatorname{SB}(A)})$.

LEMMA 2.4. For any $i \geq 0$, the group $\overline{G}^i K(SB(A_L))$ contains

- f^i , if i is even,
- $2f^i$, if i is odd.

PROOF. By [33, Lemma 3], for any i, one has an inclusion

$$\bar{\mathbf{G}}^i K(\mathrm{SB}(A_L)) \ni \frac{\mathrm{ind}\, A_L}{(i, \mathrm{ind}\, A_L)} f^i$$

where (\cdot, \cdot) denotes the greatest common divisor. Since $\operatorname{ind} A_L = 2$, the statement follows.

LEMMA 2.5. $\overline{\mathrm{G}}^{1}K(\mathrm{SB}(A)) \ni 2f$.

PROOF. By the computation $[6, \S 2]$ of the Picard group of a Severi-Brauer variety, one knows that

$$\overline{\mathrm{G}}^{1}K(\mathrm{SB}(A)) \ni (\exp A)f$$
.

Since $\exp A = 2$, the statement follows.

The variety $\overline{\text{SB}(B)}$ is a projective space; denote by g the class of a hyperplane in $G^{1}K(\overline{\text{SB}(B)})$.

COROLLARY 2.6. For any $i, j \ge 0$, the group $\overline{G}^{i+j}K(X)$ contains

fⁱ × g^j, if i = j = 0;
2(fⁱ × g^j), if

i and j are even or
i = 0, j = 1 or
i = 1, j = 0;

4(fⁱ × g^j), if

i + j is odd or
i = j = 1;

8(fⁱ × g^j) for any i, j.

PROOF. The case i = j = 0 is evident.

If *i* and *j* are even, then $f^i \in \overline{G}^i K(\operatorname{SB}(A_L))$ and $g^j \in \overline{G}^j K(\operatorname{SB}(B_L))$ by Lemma 2.4. Thus $f^i \times g^j \in \overline{G}^{i+j} K(X_L)$ and the transfer argument shows that $2(f^i \times g^j) \in \overline{G}^{i+j} K(X)$.

By Lemma 2.5, $\overline{G}^1K(SB(A)) \ni 2f$ and $\overline{G}^1K(SB(B)) \ni 2g$. Therefore $\overline{G}^1K(X)$ contains $2(f \times 1)$ and $2(1 \times g)$; moreover, $\overline{G}^2K(X) \ni 4(f \times g)$.

If i+j is odd, then $2(f^i \times g^j) \in \overline{G}^{i+j}K(X_L)$ by Lemma 2.4 and the transfer argument shows that $4(f^i \times g^j) \in \overline{G}^{i+j}K(X)$.

Since there exists a field extension of degree 8 simultaneously splitting the algebras A and B, the inclusion $8(f^i \times g^j) \in \overline{G}^{i+j}K(X)$ holds for any i, j. \Box

COROLLARY 2.7. $|G^*K(\bar{X})/\bar{G}^*K(X)| \le 2^{28}$.

PROOF. Since $\overline{SB(A)}$ and $\overline{SB(B)}$ are projective spaces, $G^*K(\bar{X})$ is an abelian group freely generated by $f^i \times g^j$ with i, j = 0, 1, 2, 3. By Lemma 2.6, we know that the following multiples of these generators are in $\bar{G}^*K(X)$:

$2^0 \cdot (f^0 \times g^0),$	$2^1 \cdot (f^0 \times g^1),$	$2^1 \cdot (f^0 \times g^2),$	$2^2 \cdot (f^0 \times g^3),$
$2^1 \cdot (f^1 \times g^0),$	$2^2 \cdot (f^1 \times g^1),$	$2^2 \cdot (f^1 \times g^2),$	$2^3 \cdot (f^1 \times g^3),$
$2^1 \cdot (f^2 \times g^0),$	$2^2 \cdot (f^2 \times g^1),$	$2^1 \cdot (f^2 \times g^2),$	$2^2 \cdot (f^2 \times g^3),$
$2^2 \cdot (f^3 \times g^0),$	$2^3 \cdot (f^3 \times g^1),$	$2^2 \cdot (f^3 \times g^2),$	$2^3 \cdot (f^3 \times g^3).$

Taking the product of the coefficients, we get 2^{28} .

COROLLARY 2.8. Tors $G^*K(X) = 0$.

PROOF. Follows from Lemma 2.2, Lemma 2.3 and Corollary 2.7.

53

 \square

Since the Chow group $CH^2(X)$ is isomorphic to $G^2K(X)$ ([81, §9]), we also get

COROLLARY 2.9. Tors
$$\operatorname{CH}^2(X) = 0.$$

To complete the proof of Theorem 2.1, we apply [66, Theorem 4.1 with Remark 4.1]. By that result, there is a monomorphism

$$\frac{H^3(F(X)/F)}{[A] \cdot H^1(F) + [B] \cdot H^1(F)} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X)$$

and so, by Corollary 2.9, we are done.

3. Computation of $H^3(F(X_{\psi} \times \text{SB}(D))/F)$

THEOREM 3.1. Let $\psi = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$ be an anisotropic quadratic form over F with $d \notin F^{*2}$. Let $D = (a, b) \otimes (u, v) \otimes (d, s)$ be a division 3-quaternion algebra over F. Then the group

$$H^3(F(X_\psi \times \mathrm{SB}(D))/F)$$

is equal to

$$\{e^3(\psi\langle\langle k\rangle\rangle) \mid k \in F^* \text{ is such that } \psi\langle\langle k\rangle\rangle \in GP_3(F)\} + [D]H^1(F)\}$$

PROOF. Put $\widehat{F} = F((t))$. Consider two biquaternion algebras $A = (a, b) \otimes (d, t)$ and $B = (d, st) \otimes (u, v)$ over \widehat{F} .

Since D is a division algebra, it follows that ind(D) = 8. Therefore

$$\operatorname{ind}((a,b)\otimes(u,v))_{F(\sqrt{d})} = \operatorname{ind} D_{F(\sqrt{d})} = 4$$

Hence $(a, b)_{F(\sqrt{d})}$ and $(u, v)_{F(\sqrt{d})}$ are division $F(\sqrt{d})$ -algebras. By Tignol's theorem [83, Proposition 2.4], A and B are division \widehat{F} -algebras as well.

Since $[A \otimes B] = [D_{\widehat{F}}]$ in $Br(\widehat{F})$, we have $ind(A \otimes_{\widehat{F}} B) = ind(D) = 8$. Since $A_{\widehat{F}(\sqrt{d})}$ and $B_{\widehat{F}(\sqrt{d})}$ are not division algebras, the conditions of Theorem 2.1 hold for the field \widehat{F} and algebras A and B over \widehat{F} . Therefore

$$H^{3}(\widehat{F}(\mathrm{SB}(A) \times \mathrm{SB}(B))/\widehat{F}) = [A]H^{1}(\widehat{F}) + [B]H^{1}(\widehat{F}).$$

Let $E = \widehat{F}(\text{SB}(A) \times \text{SB}(B))$. Clearly $[A_E] = [B_E] = 0$. Hence $[D_E] = [A_E] + [B_E] = 0$. Thus $\text{SB}(D)_E$ is a rational variety.

Since $[A_E] = 0$, the Albert form $\langle -a, -b, ab, d, t, -dt \rangle_E$ of the biquaternion algebra $A_E = ((a, b) \otimes (d, t))_E$ is hyperbolic. Hence $\langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle_E = \langle dt, -d \rangle_E$ in the Witt ring W(E). Therefore ψ_E is isotropic. Hence $(X_{\psi})_E$ is a rational variety.

Let $Y = X_{\psi} \times \text{SB}(D)$. Since $(X_{\psi})_E$ and $\text{SB}(D)_E$ are rational, it follows that Y_E is rational. Hence E(Y)/E is a purely transcendental extension. Therefore $H^3(E(Y)/F) = H^3(E/F)$. We have $H^3(F(Y)/F) \subset H^3(E(Y)/F) = H^3(E/F)$.

54

Let $u \in H^3(F(X_{\psi} \times \mathrm{SB}(D))/F) = H^3(F(Y)/F)$. To prove the theorem, it is enough to show that u can be written in the form

$$u = e^{3}(\psi \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle) + [D] \cup (r)$$

with some $k, r \in F^*$.

Since
$$H^3(F(Y)/F) \subset H^3(E/F)$$
, it follows that

$$u_{\widehat{F}} \in H^3(E/\widehat{F}) = H^3(\widehat{F}(\mathrm{SB}(A) \times \mathrm{SB}(B))/\widehat{F}) = [A]H^1(\widehat{F}) + [B]H^1(\widehat{F}).$$

Since $[A] + [B] = [D_{\widehat{F}}]$, we have $u_{\widehat{F}} \in [A]H^1(\widehat{F}) + [D_{\widehat{F}}]H^1(\widehat{F})$. Hence there are $\alpha, \beta \in \widehat{F}$ such that $u_{\widehat{F}} = [A] \cup (\alpha) + [D_{\widehat{F}}] \cup (\beta)$. Since $\widehat{F}^* / \widehat{F}^{*2} \simeq F^* / F^{*2} \times \{1, t\}$, we can suppose that $\alpha = kt^i$ and $\beta = rt^j$, where $k, r \in F^*$ and $i, j \in \{0, 1\}$. We have

$$\begin{split} u_{\widehat{F}} &= [A] \cup (\alpha) + [D_{\widehat{F}}] \cup (\beta) = \\ &= ((a,b) + (d,t)) \cup (kt^i) + [D] \cup (rt^j) = \\ &= ((a,b,k) + [D] \cup (r)) + (t) \cup (i(a,b) + (d,k(-1)^i) + j[D]). \end{split}$$

Using well-known isomorphism $H^{i}(F((t))) = H^{i}(F) \oplus H^{i-1}(F)$, we have

$$u = (a, b, k) + [D] \cup (r)$$

and

$$i(a,b) + (d,k(-1)^i) + j[D] = 0.$$

We claim that j = 0. Indeed, if $j \neq 0$ then j = 1 and hence $[D] = i(a, b) + (d, k(-1)^i)$. Therefore $[D] = [(a, b^i) \otimes (d, k(-1)^i)]$. Thus $ind(D) \leq 4$, a contradiction.

So j = 0, and we have $i(a, b) + (d, k(-1)^i) = 0$. Thereby $i(a, b)_{F(\sqrt{d})} = 0$. Since $(a, b)_{F(\sqrt{d})} \neq 0$, it follows that i = 0.

Since $i(a,b) + (d,k(-1)^i) = 0$ and i = 0, we have (d,k) = 0. Hence $\langle\!\langle d,k \rangle\!\rangle = 0$ in W(F). Since $\psi = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle = \langle\!\langle a,b \rangle\!\rangle - \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle$, we have

$$\psi \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle = (\langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle - \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle) \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle = \langle\!\langle a, b, k \rangle\!\rangle - \langle\!\langle d, k \rangle\!\rangle = \langle\!\langle a, b, k \rangle\!\rangle.$$

Therefore $\psi \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \in GP_3(F)$ and $e^3(\psi \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle) = (a, b, k)$.

Hence the element $u = (a, b, k) + [D] \cup (r)$ belongs to the set

 $\{e^3(\psi \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle) \mid k \text{ is such that } \psi \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \in GP_3(F)\} + [D]H^1(F).$

PROPOSITION 3.2. In the notation of Theorem 3.1, let $\xi \in I^2(F)$ be a quadratic form such that $c(\xi) = [D]$. Then for an arbitrary element $\pi \in I^3(F(X_{\psi} \times \mathrm{SB}(D))/F)$ there are $k_1, k_2 \in F^*$ such that

$$\pi \equiv \psi \langle\!\langle k_1 \rangle\!\rangle + \xi \langle\!\langle k_2 \rangle\!\rangle \pmod{I^4(F)}$$

PROOF. Obviously $e^3(\pi) \in H^3(F(X_{\psi} \times \operatorname{SB}(D))/F)$. It follows from Theorem 3.1 that there are $k_1, k_2 \in F^*$ such that $e^3(\pi) = e^3(\psi \langle\!\langle k_1 \rangle\!\rangle) + [D] \cup$ (k_2) . Clearly $[D] \cup (k_2) = e^2(\xi) \cup e^1(\langle\!\langle k_2 \rangle\!\rangle) = e^3(\xi \langle\!\langle k_2 \rangle\!\rangle)$. Hence $e^3(\pi) =$ $e^3(\psi \langle\!\langle k_1 \rangle\!\rangle) + e^3(\xi \langle\!\langle k_2 \rangle\!\rangle)$. Since $\operatorname{Ker}(e^3 : I^3(F) \to H^3(F)) = I^4(F)$, we have $\pi \equiv \psi \langle\!\langle k_1 \rangle\!\rangle + \xi \langle\!\langle k_2 \rangle\!\rangle \pmod{I^4(F)}$.

3. VIRTUAL ALBERT FORMS

4. 8-dimensional quadratic forms

PROPOSITION 4.1. Let ϕ be an 8-dimensional quadratic form with $d_{\pm}\phi = 1$ and ind $C(\phi) = 8$. Let ψ be a 4-dimensional quadratic form with $d_{\pm}\psi \neq 1$. Suppose that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. Then there exists a half-neighbor ϕ^* of ϕ such that $\psi \subset \phi^*$.

PROOF. Changing ψ by a coefficient we can assume that $\psi = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$ with $d \notin F^{*2}$. Clearly $C_0(\psi) = (a, b)_{F(\sqrt{d})}$. Since ind $C(\phi) = 8$, there exists a 3-quaternion division algebra D such that $c(\phi) = [D]$.

LEMMA 4.2. There exist $u, v, s \in F^*$ such that $D = (a, b) \otimes (u, v) \otimes (d, s)$.

PROOF. Since $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic, it follows that $D_{F(\psi)}$ is not a division algebra. The index reduction formula [55] shows that $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\psi) \otimes_F D) = 2$. Therefore $\operatorname{ind}((a,b) \otimes_F D)_{F(\sqrt{d})} = 2$. Hence there are $u, v, s \in F^*$ such that $[(a,b) \otimes_F D] = [(u,v) \otimes_F (d,s)]$ in $\operatorname{Br}_2(F)$. Hence $[D] = [(a,b) \otimes_F (u,v) \otimes_F (d,s)]$. Since deg D = 8, we have $D = (a,b) \otimes (u,v) \otimes (d,s)$.

Consider the quadratic form

$$\gamma = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle \perp -s \langle -u, -v, uv, d \rangle$$

One can verify that $d_{\pm} \gamma = 1$ and $c(\gamma) = [D]$. Hence $c(\phi) = [D] = c(\gamma)$. Therefore $\phi + \gamma \in I^3(F)$.

LEMMA 4.3. $\phi + \gamma \in I^3(F(X_{\psi} \times SB(D))/F).$

PROOF. Let $E = F(X_{\psi} \times SB(D))$. Since $\phi + \gamma \in I^3(F)$, it is sufficient to verify that ϕ_E and γ_E are hyperbolic. Obviously $[D_E] = 0$, and the form ψ_E is isotropic. Since $c(\phi_E) = c(\gamma_E) = [D_E] = 0$ and dim $\phi = \dim \gamma = 8$, we have $\phi_E, \gamma_E \in GP_3(E)$. Hence it is sufficient to prove that ϕ_E and γ_E are isotropic. Since $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ and ψ_E are isotropic, ϕ_E is isotropic as well. Since $\psi \subset \gamma$ and ψ_E is isotropic, we see that γ_E is isotropic.

Now we can complete the proof of Proposition 4.1. By Proposition 3.2 and Lemma 4.3, there exist $k_1, k_2 \in F^*$ such that

$$\phi + \gamma \equiv \psi \langle\!\langle k_1 \rangle\!\rangle + \phi \langle\!\langle k_2 \rangle\!\rangle \pmod{I^4(F)}.$$

Let $\rho = -s \langle -u, -v, uv, d \rangle$. We have $\gamma = \psi + \rho$. Hence

$$\phi + \psi + \rho \equiv \psi - k_1 \psi + \phi - k_2 \phi \pmod{I^4(F)}.$$

Thus $k_1\psi + \rho \equiv -k_2\phi \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Hence $\psi + k_1\rho \equiv -k_1k_2\phi \pmod{I^4(F)}$. We finish the proof by setting $\phi^* = \psi \perp k_1\rho$.

THEOREM 4.4. Let ϕ be an 8-dimensional quadratic form with $d_{\pm}\phi = 1$ and ind $C(\phi) = 8$. Let ψ be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 4 such that $\psi \notin GP_2(F)$. The following conditions are equivalent:

- $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic;
- there exists a half-neighbor ϕ^* of ϕ such that $\psi \subset \phi^*$.

5. MAIN THEOREM

PROOF. The case dim $\psi = 4$ is Proposition 4.1. In the case dim $\psi \neq 4$ the statement was proved by Laghribi in [47] and [45].

5. Main theorem

THEOREM 5.1. Let ϕ be a virtual Albert form (i.e. a 6-dimensional quadratic form with $d_{\pm}\phi \notin F^{*2}$ and $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\phi)) = 4$). Let ψ be a 4-dimensional quadratic form such that $d_{\pm}\psi \neq 1$. The following conditions are equivalent:

(1) $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic;

(2) ψ is similar to a subform in ϕ .

PROOF. (1) \Rightarrow (2). Let $d = d_{\pm}\phi$. Consider the 8-dimensional quadratic form $\xi = \phi_{\widehat{F}} \perp t \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle$ over the field $\widehat{F} = F((t))$. Since $d_{\pm}\phi \notin F^{*2}$ and $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\phi)) = 4$, one has $\operatorname{ind}(C(\xi)) = 8$. Clearly $\xi_{\widehat{F}(\psi)}$ is isotropic. It follows from Proposition 4.1 that there exists a quadratic form ξ^* over \widehat{F} such that ξ and ξ^* are half-neighbors and $\psi_{\widehat{F}} \subset \xi^*$.

LEMMA 5.2. ξ^* is similar to ξ .

PROOF. Since ξ and ξ^* are half-neighbors, there exists $k \in \widehat{F}$ such that $\xi \equiv k\xi^* \pmod{I^4(\widehat{F})}$. By Springer's theorem one can write $k\xi^*$ in the form $k\xi^* = \mu_0 \perp t\mu_1$, where quadratic forms μ_0 and μ_1 are defined over F. We have

$$\phi \perp t \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle = \xi \equiv k\xi^* = \mu_0 \perp t\mu_1 \pmod{I^4(F)}.$$

Hence $\phi \equiv \mu_0 \pmod{I^3(F)}$, $\langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle \equiv \mu_1 \pmod{I^3(F)}$, and $\phi + \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle \equiv \mu_0 + \mu_1 \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Therefore $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\mu_0) = \operatorname{ind} C_0(\phi) \geq 4$. Hence $\dim \mu_0 \geq 6$. Therefore $\dim \mu_1 \leq 2$. By Arason–Pfister Hauptsatz the condition $\langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle \equiv \mu_1 \pmod{I^3(F)}$ implies that $\mu_1 = \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle$. Hence $\phi \equiv \mu_0 \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Applying Arason–Pfister Hauptsatz once again, we have $\phi = \mu_0$. Therefore $\xi = k\xi^*$. \Box

Now we return to the proof of Theorem 5.1. Since ψ is similar to a subform in ξ^* , and ξ^* is similar to ξ , it follows that ψ is similar to a subform in $\xi = \phi \perp t \langle \langle d \rangle \rangle$. Thus ψ is similar to a subform of ϕ by the following obvious observation.

LEMMA 5.3. Let ψ , γ_0 and γ_1 be anisotropic quadratic forms over F. The following conditions are equivalent:

- a) $\psi_{F((t))}$ is similar to a subform in $\gamma_0 \perp t\gamma_1$,
- b) ψ is similar either to a subform in γ_0 or to a subform in γ_1 .

Thus we have proved that condition (1) of Theorem 5.1 implies condition (2). On the other hand, condition (2) obviously implies condition (1). The proof of Theorem 5.1 is complete.

THEOREM 5.4. Let ϕ be a virtual Albert form and let $\psi \notin GP_2(F)$. The quadratic form $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic if and only if ψ is similar to a subform in ϕ .

PROOF. This theorem was proved by A. Laghribi in the following cases ([44], [45]):

• dim $\psi \neq 4$;

• dim $\psi = 4$, $d_{\pm} \psi \neq d_{\pm} \phi$.

Thus we can suppose that dim $\psi = 4$. To complete the proof it is sufficient to apply Theorem 5.1.

In the special case which was not covered by the results of A. Laghribi, we get the following

COROLLARY 5.5. Let ϕ be a virtual Albert form and ψ be a 4-dimensional form such that $d_{\pm} \psi = d_{\pm} \phi$. Then $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is anisotropic.

PROOF. If ψ is similar to a subform in ϕ , then ϕ is isotropic, a contradiction. Therefore ψ is not similar to a subform in ϕ . By Theorem 5.1, it means that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is anisotropic.

Together with results described in $\S1$, Theorem 5.4 gives rise to the following

COROLLARY 5.6. Let ϕ be a 6-dimensional quadratic form with ind $C_0(\phi) =$ 4. In the case when $\psi \notin GP_2(F)$, the quadratic form $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic if and only if ψ is similar to a subform of ϕ . In the case when $\psi \in GP_2(F)$, the form $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic if and only if a 3-dimensional subform of ψ is similar to a subform of ϕ .

CHAPTER 4

Isotropy of 6-dimensional quadratic forms over function fields of quadrics

Let F be a field of characteristic different from 2 and ϕ be an anisotropic 6-dimensional quadratic form over F. We study the last open cases in the problem of describing the quadratic forms ψ such that ϕ becomes isotropic over the function field $F(\psi)$.

Results of this Chapter are obtained in joint work with Oleg Izhboldin.

0. Introduction

Let F be a field of characteristic different from 2 and let ϕ and ψ be two anisotropic quadratic forms over F. An important problem in the algebraic theory of quadratic forms is to find conditions on ϕ and ψ so that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

More precisely, one studies the question whether the isotropy of ϕ over $F(\psi)$ is standard in a sense. In this chapter we will use the following definition of "standard isotropy":

Definition. Let ϕ and ψ be anisotropic quadratic forms such that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. We say that the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is *standard*, if at least one of the following conditions holds:

- ψ is similar to a subform in ϕ ;
- there exists a subform $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ with the following two properties:
 - the form ϕ_0 is a Pfister neighbor,
 - the form $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

Otherwise, we say that the isotropy is *non-standard*.

In the case when dim $\phi \leq 5$, the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is always standard ([75], [15]). For 6-dimensional quadratic forms, the problem was studied by A. S. Merkurjev ([54]), D. Leep ([49]), D. W. Hoffmann ([16]), A. Laghribi ([44], [45]), and in Chapter 3. It was proved that isotropy of a 6-dimensional quadratic form ϕ over the function field of a quadratic form ψ is always standard except (possibly) the following case (see [44] and Chapter 3):

• dim $\psi = 4$, $d_{\pm} \psi \neq 1$, $d_{\pm} \phi \neq 1$, and ind $C_0(\phi) = 2$.

In this Chapter we study the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ for quadratic forms ϕ and ψ satisfying these conditions (with dim $\phi = 6$).

Note that the condition ind $C_0(\phi) = 2$ implies that there exist $a, b, c, d \in F^*$ such that ϕ is similar to the form $\langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle \perp -c \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle$. Since ϕ can be replaced by a similar form, we can assume that $\phi = \langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle \perp -c \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle$. Note that in this case $[C_0(\phi)] = [(a,b)_{F(\sqrt{d})}] = [C_0(\rho)]$, where ρ is defined as follows: $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$.

Since dim $\psi = 4$, there exist $u, v, \delta \in F^*$ such that ψ is similar to the quadratic form $\langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$. Since $d_{\pm} \psi \neq 1$, we have $\delta \notin F^{*2}$. Thus our main problem is reduced to the following

Question. Let $\phi = \langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle \perp -c \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle$ and $\psi = \langle\!\langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$ be anisotropic quadratic forms over F with $d, \delta \notin F^{*2}$. Suppose that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. Is the isotropy standard?

This question naturally splits into the following four cases:

(1) $d = \delta$ as elements of F^*/F^{*2} , (2) $d \neq \delta$ and $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 1$, (3) $d \neq \delta$ and $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 2$, (4) $d \neq \delta$ and $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 4$.

We prove that in the cases (1), (2), and (4) the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is always standard (see Theorem 8.5, Propositions 8.6 and 8.7). This statement gives rise to the following

Theorem. Let ϕ be an anisotropic quadratic form of dimension ≤ 6 and ψ be such that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. Then isotropy is standard except (possibly) the following case: dim $\phi = 6$, dim $\psi = 4$, $1 \neq d_{\pm} \phi \neq d_{\pm} \psi \neq 1$, and ind $C_0(\phi) = 2 = \text{ind } C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi)$.

The proof of this theorem is based on a computation of the second Chow group for certain homogeneous varieties. Namely, we show that the question on the standard isotropy can be reduced to a question on the group Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_{\rho})$, where $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$ and X_{ψ} and X_{ρ} are the projective quadrics corresponding to ψ and ρ . In the cases (1), (2) and (4), we compute the group Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_{\rho})$ completely (see Theorems 5.7, 5.1, 5.8, and Lemma 7.7):

Theorem. Let ψ and ρ be 4-dimensional quadratic forms. Then the group $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_{\rho})$ is zero or isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$. Moreover,

- if det $\psi = \det \rho$ or if ind $C_0(\psi) \otimes_F C_0(\rho) = 4$, then the group $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_{\rho})$ is torsion-free;
- in the case ind $C_0(\psi) \otimes_F C_0(\rho) = 1$, the group $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_{\rho})$ is torsion-free if and only if ρ and ψ contain similar 3-dimensional subforms.

It will be shown later (in Chapter 5) that in the case (3), i.e. in the case where $d \neq \delta$ and $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 2$, the answer to our main question (whether the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is always standard) is negative. Here we show that this question is equivalent to the following one (see §9): is the group Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_{\rho})$ trivial for any 4-dimensional quadratic forms ψ and ρ such that $1 \neq \det \psi \neq \det \delta \neq 1$ and $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\psi) \otimes C_0(\rho) = 2$?

1. Terminology, notation, and backgrounds

Quadratic forms. By $\phi \perp \psi$, $\phi \simeq \psi$, and $[\phi]$ we denote respectively orthogonal sum of forms, isometry of forms, and the class of ϕ in the Witt ring W(F) of the field F. To simplify notation, we write $\phi_1 + \phi_2$ instead of $[\phi_1] + [\phi_2]$. For a quadratic form ϕ of dimension n, we set $d_{\pm}\phi = (-1)^{n(n-1)/2} \det \phi \in$ F^*/F^{*2} . The maximal ideal of W(F) generated by the classes of the evendimensional forms is denoted by I(F). The anisotropic part of ϕ is denoted by ϕ_{an} . We denote by $\langle \langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle \rangle$ the *n*-fold Pfister form

$$\langle 1, -a_1 \rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes \langle 1, -a_n \rangle$$

and by $P_n(F)$ the set of all *n*-fold Pfister forms. The set of all forms similar to an *n*-fold Pfister form we denote by $GP_n(F)$. For any field extension L/F, we put $\phi_L = \phi \otimes_F L$, $W(L/F) = \ker(W(F) \to W(L))$, and $I^n(L/F) = \ker(I^n(F) \to I^n(L))$.

For a quadratic form ϕ and a field extension L/F, we denote by $D_L(\phi)$ the set of the non-zero values of the quadratic form ϕ_L .

For a quadratic form ϕ of dimension ≥ 3 , we denote by X_{ϕ} the projective variety given by the equation $\phi = 0$. We set $F(\phi) = F(X_{\phi})$ and $F(\phi, \psi) = F(X_{\phi} \times X_{\psi})$ for quadratic forms ϕ and ψ of dimensions ≥ 3 .

Algebras. We consider only finite-dimensional *F*-algebras.

For a simple *F*-algebra *A*, by ind(A) we denote the Schur index of *A*. For an algebra *B* of the form $B = A \times \cdots \times A$ with simple *A*, we set ind B = ind A.

Let ϕ be a quadratic form. We denote by $C(\phi)$ the Clifford algebra of ϕ . By $C_0(\phi)$ we denote the even part of $C(\phi)$. For any collection ρ_1, \ldots, ρ_m of quadratic forms, the algebra $C_0(\rho_1) \otimes_F \cdots \otimes_F C_0(\rho_m)$ is of the form $A \times \cdots \times A$ with simple A. Therefore, we get a well-defined positive integer ind $C_0(\rho_1) \otimes_F \cdots \otimes_F C_0(\rho_m)$.

If $\phi \in I^2(F)$ then $C(\phi)$ is a central simple algebra. Hence we get a welldefined element $[C(\phi)]$ in the 2-part $\operatorname{Br}_2(F)$ of the Brauer group $\operatorname{Br}(F)$ which we denote by $c(\phi)$.

Cohomology groups. By $H^*(F)$ we denote the graded ring of Galois cohomology $H^*(F, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} H^*(\text{Gal}(F_{\text{sep}}/F), \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})$. For any field extension L/F, we set $H^*(L/F) = \ker (H^*(F) \to H^*(L))$.

We use the standard canonical isomorphisms $H^0(F) = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, $H^1(F) = F^*/F^{*2}$, and $H^2(F) = \operatorname{Br}_2(F)$. So any element $a \in F^*$ gives rise to an element of $H^1(F)$ which we denote by (a). The cup product $(a_1) \cup \cdots \cup (a_n)$ we denote by (a_1, \ldots, a_n) .

For n = 0, 1, 2, there is a homomorphism $e^n : I^n(F) \to H^n(F)$ defined as follows: $e^0(\phi) = \dim \phi \pmod{2}$, $e^1(\phi) = d_{\pm} \phi$, and $e^2(\phi) = c(\phi)$. Moreover there exists a homomorphism $e^3 : I^3(F) \to H^3(F)$ which is uniquely determined by the condition $e^n(\langle\!\langle a_1, a_2, a_3 \rangle\!\rangle) = (a_1, a_2, a_3)$ (see [5]). The homomorphism e^n is surjective and ker $e^n = I^{n+1}(F)$ for n = 0, 1, 2, 3 (see [53], [62], and [71]). We also work with the cohomology groups $H^n(F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(i))$, (i = 0, 1, 2), defined by B. Kahn (see [29]). For any field extension L/F, we set

$$H^*(L/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(i)) = \ker \left(H^*(F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(i)) \to H^*(L, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(i)) \right) \,.$$

For n = 1, 2, 3, the group $H^n(F)$ is naturally identified with the 2-part of $H^n(F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n-1))$.

K-theory and Chow groups. For a smooth algebraic F-variety X, its Grothendieck ring is denoted by K(X). This ring is supplied with the filtration by codimension of support (which respects the multiplication). For a ring (or a group) with filtration A, we denote by G^*A the adjoint graded ring (resp., the adjoint graded group). There is a canonical surjective homomorphism of the graded Chow ring $CH^*(X)$ onto $G^*K(X)$, its kernel consists only of torsion elements and is trivial in the 0-th, 1-st, and 2-nd graded components ([**81**, §9]).

2. The group $H^{3}(F(\rho_{1}, \rho_{2})/F)$

The main result of this \S (in view of our further purposes) is Corollary 2.13.

By a *homogeneous variety* we always mean a *projective* homogeneous variety.

PROPOSITION 2.1 ([67]). For any homogeneous F-variety X, there is a natural (in X and in F) epimorphism

$$au_X : H^3(F(X)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X)$$
.

PROPOSITION 2.2. For any homogeneous varieties X_1, \ldots, X_m over F, the quotient

$$\frac{H^3\big(F(X_1 \times \cdots \times X_m)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)\big)}{H^3\big(F(X_1)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)\big) + \cdots + H^3\big(F(X_m)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)\big)}$$

is canonically isomorphic to

$$\frac{\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_1 \times \cdots \times X_m)}{pr_1^* \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_1) + \cdots + pr_m^* \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_m)}$$

where pr_1^*, \ldots, pr_m^* are the pull-backs with respect to the projections pr_1, \ldots, pr_m of the product $X_1 \times \cdots \times X_m$ on X_1, \ldots, X_m .

PROOF. Set $X = X_1 \times \cdots \times X_m$. The homomorphism τ_X of Proposition 2.1 induces an epimorphism

$$f: \frac{H^3(F(X_1 \times \cdots \times X_m)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2))}{H^3(F(X_1)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) + \cdots + H^3(F(X_m)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2))} \xrightarrow{} \frac{\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_1 \times \cdots \times X_m)}{pr_1^* \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_1) + \cdots + pr_m^* \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_m)}$$

with the kernel ker $f = \ker \tau_X / (\ker \tau_{X_1} + \dots + \ker \tau_{X_m}).$

The kernel of τ_X is computed (for any homogeneous X) in [57]: let A be the separable F-algebra associated with X ([57, §2]) and denote by E the

center of A; then ker $\tau_X = \{N_{E/F}(\bar{x} \cup [A]) \mid \text{with } x \in E^*\}$ where [A] is the class of A in the Brauer group $\operatorname{Br}(E) = H^2(E, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(1)), \bar{x}$ is the class of $x \in E^*$ in $H^1(E, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(1)), \bar{x} \cup [A] \in H^3(E, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2))$ is the cup-product and $N_{E/F}$ is the norm map.

Denote by A_1, \ldots, A_m the separable algebras associated with X_1, \ldots, X_m respectively. Then $A = A_1 \times \cdots \times A_m$ and $E = E_1 \times \cdots \times E_m$. Thus for any $x \in E^*$

$$N_{E/F}(\bar{x} \cup [A]) = N_{E_1/F}(\bar{x}_1 \cup [A_1]) + \dots + N_{E_m/F}(\bar{x}_m \cup [A_m]) ,$$

where x_i is the E_i -component of x, what proves that ker f = 0.

COROLLARY 2.3. Let X_1, \ldots, X_m and X'_1, \ldots, X'_m be homogeneous varieties such that X_i is stably birationally equivalent to X'_i for $i = 1, \ldots, m$. The quotient

$$\frac{\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^{2}(X_{1} \times \cdots \times X_{m})}{pr_{1}^{*} \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^{2}(X_{1}) + \cdots + pr_{m}^{*} \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^{2}(X_{m})}$$

is isomorphic to the quotient

$$\frac{\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X'_1 \times \cdots \times X'_m)}{pr_1^* \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X'_1) + \cdots + pr_m^* \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X'_m)} .$$

LEMMA 2.4. For any homogeneous variety X of dimension ≤ 2 , the group $CH^2(X)$ is torsion-free.

PROOF. Since X is a homogeneous variety, K(X) is a torsion-free group ([65]). Since dim $X \leq 2$, the term $K(X)^{(3)}$ of the topological filtration is trivial. Hence $K(X)^{(2/3)}$ is a torsion-free group. By [81, §9], $CH^2(X) \simeq K(X)^{(2/3)}$. Hence $Tors CH^2(X) = 0$.

COROLLARY 2.5. Under the conditions of Corollary 2.3 suppose additionally that the varieties $X_1, \ldots, X_m; X'_1, \ldots, X'_m$ have the dimensions ≤ 2 . Then there is an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_1 \times \cdots \times X_m) \simeq \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X'_1 \times \cdots \times X'_m).$$

PROOF. Obvious in view of Corollary 2.3 and Lemma 2.4.

LEMMA 2.6. Let X_1 and X_2 be homogeneous varieties. If the variety $(X_2)_{F(X_1)}$ has a rational point, then

$$H^{3}(F(X_{1} \times X_{2})/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) = H^{3}(F(X_{1})/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2))$$

PROOF. Since the homogeneous variety $(X_2)_{F(X_1)}$ has a rational point, it is rational, i.e. the field extension $F(X_1 \times X_2)/F(X_1)$ is purely transcendental.

COROLLARY 2.7. Let X_1 and X_2 be projective quadrics of the dimensions ≤ 2 . If the quadric $(X_2)_{F(X_1)}$ is isotropic (e.g., if X_2 is isotropic or if $X_1 \simeq X_2$) then Tors $CH^2(X_1 \times X_2) = 0$.

PROOF. Follows from Lemma 2.6, Proposition 2.2 and Lemma 2.4.

LEMMA 2.8. For any quadratic form ρ of dimension ≥ 3 , we have

$$2H^3(F(\rho)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) = 0.$$

In other words, $H^3(F(\rho)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) = H^3(F(\rho)/F)$.

PROOF. Let $u \in H^3(F(\rho)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2))$. There exists a field extension L/F such that ρ_L is isotropic and $[L:F] \leq 2$. Since ρ_L is isotropic, $u_L = 0$. Using transfer homomorphism, we have $[L:F] \cdot u = 0$. Hence 2u = 0.

COROLLARY 2.9. For any quadratic form ρ of dimension ≥ 3 the homomorphism $H^3(F(\rho)/F) \rightarrow \text{Tors } \text{CH}^2(X_{\rho})$, induced by the epimorphism of Proposition 2.1, is surjective. In particular, $2 \text{ Tors } \text{CH}^2(X_{\rho}) = 0$.

LEMMA 2.10. Let ρ_1 and ρ_2 be quadratic form of dimension ≥ 3 . Then $2H^3(F(\rho_1, \rho_2)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) = 0.$

In other words, $H^{3}(F(\rho_{1},\rho_{2})/F,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) = H^{3}(F(\rho_{1},\rho_{2})/F).$

PROOF. Let ρ'_1 and ρ'_2 be 3-dimensional subforms in ρ_1 and ρ_2 respectively. Clearly $H^3(F(\rho_1, \rho_2)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) \subset H^3(F(\rho'_1, \rho'_2)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2))$. Thus, replacing ρ_1 by ρ'_1 and ρ_2 by ρ'_2 , one can reduce the proof to the case dim $\rho_1 = \dim \rho_2 = 3$. In this case, dim $X_{\rho_1} \times X_{\rho_2} = 2$; therefore Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho_1} \times X_{\rho_2}) = 0$ (Lemma 2.4). For i = 1, 2, the conic X_{ρ_i} is isomorphic to the Severi-Brauer variety of the algebra $C_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} C_0(\rho_i)$. Applying [**66**, Thm. 41], we obtain

 $\begin{aligned} H^{3}(F(\rho_{1},\rho_{2})/F,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) &= [C_{1}] \cup H^{1}(F,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(1)) + [C_{2}] \cup H^{1}(F,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(1)) \ . \\ \text{Since } 2[C_{1}] &= 2[C_{2}] = 0 \text{ in the group } H^{2}(F,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(1)) = \text{Br}(F), \text{ it follows that} \\ 2H^{3}(F(\rho_{1},\rho_{2})/F,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) &= 0. \end{aligned}$

COROLLARY 2.11. Let ρ_1 and ρ_2 be quadratic forms of dimension ≥ 3 . Then the homomorphism

 $H^3(F(\rho_1,\rho_2)/F) \to \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho_1} \times X_{\rho_2})$

induced by the epimorphism of Proposition 2.1, is surjective. In particular, $2 \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho_1} \times X_{\rho_2}) = 0.$

COROLLARY 2.12. For any quadratic forms ρ_1 and ρ_2 of dimension ≥ 3 , there is a natural isomorphism

$$\frac{H^3(F(\rho_1,\rho_2)/F)}{H^3(F(\rho_1)/F) + H^3(F(\rho_2)/F)} \simeq \frac{\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho_1} \times X_{\rho_2})}{pr_1^* \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho_1}) + pr_2^* \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho_2})} \cdot \operatorname{PROOF.}$$
 Follows from Proposition 2.2 and Lemmas 2.8 and 2.10.

COROLLARY 2.13. For any quadratic forms ρ_1 and ρ_2 with $3 \leq \dim \rho_i \leq 4$ (i = 1, 2), there is a natural isomorphism

$$\frac{H^3(F(\rho_1, \rho_2)/F)}{H^3(F(\rho_1)/F) + H^3(F(\rho_2)/F)} \simeq \text{Tors}\,\text{CH}^2(X_{\rho_1} \times X_{\rho_2}).$$

PROOF. Follows from Corollary 2.12 and Lemma 2.4.

64

3. The Grothendieck group of a quadric

In this §, ρ is an (n+2)-dimensional quadratic form over F (where $n \ge 1$), V is the vector space of definition of ρ , \mathbb{P} is the projective space of the vector space dual to V, and $X = X_{\rho} \subset \mathbb{P}$ is the *n*-dimensional projective quadric determined by ρ .

We are mainly interested in the case when n = 2, i.e. when X is a surface.

The even Clifford algebra $C_0(\rho)$ of the form ρ is denoted in this § by C. Let \mathcal{U} be Swan's sheaf on X [82, §6]. It is an $C \otimes_F \mathcal{O}_X$ -module locally free as \mathcal{O}_X -module (note that the algebra C is canonically self-opposite; thus it is not necessary to distinguish between left and right action of C).

We denote by h the class of a general hyperplane section of X, i.e. the pull-back of the class of a hyperplane with respect to the imbedding $X \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}$. The subring of K(X) generated by h is denoted by H; it coincides with the image of the pull-back homomorphism $K(\mathbb{P}) \to K(X)$. Some further evident assertions on H are collected in

LEMMA 3.1. The abelian group H is freely generated by $1, h, \ldots, h^n$. The topological filtration on K(X) induces on H the filtration by powers of h, i.e. for every $0 \le r \le n$, the term $H^{(r)}$ is generated by all h^j with $r \le j \le n$. In particular, the adjoint graded group G^*H is torsion-free.

In the case when X splits (i.e. when ρ is hyperbolic) and n = 2, we refer as to a *line class* (resp., *point class*) to the class in K(X) of a line (resp., of a closed rational point) lying on X.

LEMMA 3.2 ([31]). Suppose that X splits and dim X = 2.

- 1. For any two different lines in X, their classes in K(X) coincide if and only if the lines have no intersection. There are exactly two different line classes in K(X).
- 2. The classes in K(X) of any two closed rational points of X coincide, i.e. there is only one point class in K(X).
- 3. Denote by l and l' the different line classes and by p the point class in K(X). The abelian group K(X) is freely generated by the elements 1, l, l', p.
- 4. The second term $K(X)^{(2)}$ of the topological filtration on K(X) is generated by p; the term $K(X)^{(1)}$ is generated by l, l', p.
- 5. The multiplication in K(X) is determined by the formulas $l^2 = 0 = (l')^2$ and $l \cdot l' = p$.
- 6. h = l + l' p.

In the case when the quadric X is arbitrary (not necessary of dimension 2, not necessary split), we dispose of the following information on K(X):

LEMMA 3.3. 1. The group K(X) is torsion-free and, for any field extension E/F, the restriction homomorphism $K(X) \to K(X_E)$ is injective.

- 2. The class $[\mathcal{U}(n)] \in K(X)$ of the *n* times twisted Swan's sheaf equals $2^n + 2^{n-1}h + \dots + 2h^{n-1} + h^n$.
- 3. The homomorphism $\mathfrak{u} : K(C) \to K(X)$ given by the functor of taking tensor product $\mathcal{U}(n) \otimes_C (-)$ induces an epimorphism $K(C) \twoheadrightarrow K(X)/H$.
- 4. If C is a skewfield, then K(X) = H.
- 5. For any autoisometry ξ of the quadratic form ρ , the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} K(C) & \stackrel{\mathfrak{u}}{\longrightarrow} & K(X) \\ \uparrow & & \uparrow \\ K(C) & \stackrel{\mathfrak{u}}{\longrightarrow} & K(X) \end{array}$$

commutes, where the vertical maps are induced by the automorphisms of C and of X given by ξ .

PROOF. 1. Follows from [82, Theorem 9.1]. 2. See [32, Lemma 3.6].

3. According to [82, Theorem 9.1], the functor $\mathcal{U} \otimes_C (-)$ induces an epimorphism $K(C) \to K(X)/H$. Since for any $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ (and in particular for r = n) the twisting by r gives an automorphism of K(X)/H, the functor $\mathcal{U}(n) \otimes_C (-)$ induces an epimorphism as well.

4. If C is a skewfield, then the image of this epimorphism is generated by $[\mathcal{U}(n)]$. Since $[\mathcal{U}(n)] \in H$ by Item 2, it follows that K(X) = H.

5. It is evident in view of the way the sheaf \mathcal{U} is constructed (see [82, §6]). \Box

LEMMA 3.4 ([48]). The *F*-algebra $C = C_0(\rho)$ has the dimension $2^{n+1} = 2^{\dim \rho - 1}$ over *F*. Its isomorphism class depends only on the similarity class of ρ . Moreover,

- *if* n *is odd, then* C *is a central simple* F-algebra;
- if n is even, then $C \simeq C_0(\rho') \otimes_F F(\sqrt{d_{\pm}\rho})$ where ρ' is an arbitrary 1-codimensional subform of ρ .

In particular, if ρ is an even-dimensional form of trivial discriminant, the algebra C is the direct product of two isomorphic central simple algebras; any automorphism of C should either interchange or stabilize the factors.

LEMMA 3.5. Suppose that dim ρ is even and $d_{\pm}\rho$ is trivial. Let ξ be an autoisometry of the quadratic space (V, ρ) having the determinant -1. Then the automorphism of C induced by ξ interchanges the simple components of C.

PROOF. Since $d_{\pm} \rho$ is trivial, there exists a basis v_0, \ldots, v_{n+1} of V such that

$$(v_0 \cdots v_{n+1})^2 = 1 \in C$$
.

Since $\xi(v_0) \cdots \xi(v_{n+1}) = (\det \xi) \cdot (v_0 \cdots v_{n+1}) = -v_0 \cdots v_{n+1}$, the automorphism of *C* induced by ξ interchanges the elements

 $e = (1 + v_0 \cdots v_{n+1})/2$ and $e' = (1 - v_0 \cdots v_{n+1})/2$.

Since e and e' are orthogonal idempotents, they lie in different simple components of C. Therefore, the components of C are interchanged.

Comparing Lemma 3.2 with Lemma 3.3 in the situation of a split quadric surface X, we get the following computation (note that here C is isomorphic to $M_2(F) \times M_2(F)$ and thus there exist exactly two, up to isomorphisms, simple C-modules; their classes are free generators of K(C)):

LEMMA 3.6. Suppose that X splits and dim X = 2. There exist simple C-modules M and M' such that u = 1 + l and u' = 1 + l' where

$$u \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathfrak{u}([M]) = [\mathcal{U}(2) \otimes_C M], \quad u' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathfrak{u}([M']) = [\mathcal{U}(2) \otimes_C M'] \in K(X)$$

PROOF. Take as M an arbitrary simple C-module and denote by M' a (determined uniquely up to an isomorphism) simple C-module non-isomorphic to M. Since by Lemma 3.2 the elements 1, l, l', p generate K(X), we have

$$u = a + bl + b'l' + cp$$

for certain $a, b, b', c \in \mathbb{Z}$. Now we are going to show that

$$u' = a + b'l + bl' + cp .$$

Let ξ be an autoisometry of the quadratic space (V, ρ) having determinant -1. By Lemma 3.5, the induced by ξ automorphism of K(C) interchanges [M] and [M']. Thus, by Item 5 of Lemma 3.3, the induced by ξ automorphism of K(X) interchanges u and u'.

Since ρ splits, there exist 2-dimensional totally isotropic subspaces W and W' of V with 1-dimensional intersection and an autoisometry ξ of (V, ρ) having the determinant -1 interchanging W and W'. The line classes in K(X) determined by W and W' are different (Item 1 of Lemma 3.2); therefore they coincide with l and l' (or vice versa: with l' and l).

Thus, we have found an automorphism of K(X) interchanging u with u' and l with l' while leaving untouched 1 (of course) and p (since all the point classes coincide). Thereby, u' = a + b'l + bl' + cp.

Since $2([M] + [M']) = [C] \in K(C)$, we have: $2(u + u') = [\mathcal{U}(2)]$, and so, $2(u + u') = 4 + 2h + h^2$ by Item 2 of Lemma 3.3. Since K(X) is torsion-free, the last equality can be divided by 2. Replacing h by l + l' - p and h^2 by $(l + l' - p)^2 = 2p$ (see Lemma 3.2), we obtain that u + u' = 2 + l + l'. From the other hand, u + u' = 2a + (b + b')l + (b' + b)l' + 2c; therefore a = 1, b + b' = 1and c = 0.

We have proved that

$$u = 1 + bl + (1 - b)l'$$
 and $u' = 1 + (1 - b)l + bl'$

for certain $b \in \mathbb{Z}$. It remains to show that b = 1 or b = 0.

It follows from Item 3 of Lemma 3.3 that the elements $u, u', 1, h, h^2$ generate the group K(X). Since $h^2 = 2p$ and h = u + u' - 2 - p, the elements u, u', 1, palso generate K(X). So, the quotient $K(X)/(\mathbb{Z} \cdot 1 + \mathbb{Z} \cdot p)$ which is according to Item 6 of Lemma 3.2 freely generated by l, l' is also generated by u, u'. Thus, the \mathbb{Z} -matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} b & 1-b \\ 1-b & b \end{pmatrix}$$

is invertible, i.e. its determinant is ± 1 . Hence, b = 1 or b = 0.

4. The Grothendieck group of a product of quadrics

In this and in the next §, we work with two quadratic forms ρ_1 and ρ_2 of the dimensions ≥ 3 . We use the notation of the previous § amplified by the index 1 or 2. So, for i = 1, 2, we have ρ_i , n_i (we are mainly interested in the case when $n_1 = 2 = n_2$), V_i , \mathbb{P}_i , X_i , C_i , \mathcal{U}_i , h_i , H_i , l_i , l'_i and p_i . We set $n = (n_1, n_2)$, $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{P}_1 \times \mathbb{P}_2$, $X = X_1 \times X_2$, and $C = C_1 \otimes_F C_2$.

For any $x_1 \in K(X_1)$ and $x_2 \in K(X_2)$, we denote by $x_1 \boxtimes x_2$ the product $pr_1^*(x_1) \cdot pr_2^*(x_2) \in K(X)$ where pr_1 and pr_2 are the projections of $X_1 \times X_2$ on X_1 and X_2 respectively.

Denote by H the image of the pull-back homomorphism $K(\mathbb{P}) \to K(X)$.

LEMMA 4.1. One has: $H = H_1 \boxtimes H_2 \subset K(X)$. The abelian group H is freely generated by all $h_1^{j_1} \boxtimes h_2^{j_2}$ with $0 \leq j_1 \leq n_1$ and $0 \leq j_2 \leq n_2$. Moreover, the filtration on H induced by the topological filtration on K(X) looks as follows: for any $0 \leq r \leq n_1 + n_2$, the term $H^{(r)}$ is generated by all $h_1^{j_1} \boxtimes h_2^{j_2}$ with $j_1 + j_2 \geq r$. In particular, the adjoint graded group G^*H is torsion-free. \Box

The following lemma is also evident; together with Lemma 3.2, it gives a complete description of the ring with filtration K(X) in the split situation.

LEMMA 4.2. If X_1 and X_2 split then the map $K(X_1) \otimes K(X_2) \to K(X)$, $x_1 \otimes x_2 \mapsto x_1 \boxtimes x_2$ is an isomorphism of rings with filtrations.

For an \mathcal{O}_{X_1} -module \mathcal{F}_1 and an \mathcal{O}_{X_2} -module \mathcal{F}_2 , we denote by $\mathcal{F}_1 \boxtimes \mathcal{F}_2$ the tensor product $pr_1^*(\mathcal{F}_1) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} pr_2^*(\mathcal{F}_2)$. The sheaf $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{U}_1 \boxtimes \mathcal{U}_2$ has for i = 1, 2 the structures of a C_i -module commuting with each other. Thus, it is a C-module. Set $\mathcal{U}(n) = \mathcal{U}_1(n_1) \boxtimes \mathcal{U}_2(n_2)$. It is also a C-module. The functor of taking the tensor product $\mathcal{U}(n) \otimes_C (-)$ determines a homomorphism $\mathfrak{u}: K(C) \to K(X)$.

- LEMMA 4.3. 1. The group K(X) is torsion-free and, for any field extension E/F, the restriction homomorphism $K(X) \to K(X_E)$ is injective.
- 2. The homomorphism $\mathfrak{u} \colon K(C) \to K(X)$, defined right above, induces an epimorphism $K(C) \twoheadrightarrow K(X)/(K(X_1) \boxtimes K(X_2))$.
- 3. If C is a skewfield, then K(X) = H.

PROOF. 1. This statement is valid for any homogeneous variety X ([65]). 2. The isomorphism $K_*(X_1) \simeq K_*(F)^{\oplus n_1} \oplus K_*(C_1)$ of [82, Theorem 9.1] remains bijective after changing the base F to any field extension, i.e. for any field extension E/F, the homomorphism $K_*(\operatorname{Spec} E \times X_1) \to K_*(\operatorname{Spec} E)^{\oplus n_1} \oplus K_*(\operatorname{Spec} E, C_1)$ is bijective. Therefore, for any F-variety Y, the defined in the

68

similar way homomorphism $K_*(Y \times X_1) \to K_*(Y)^{\oplus n_1} \oplus K_*(Y, C_1)$ is bijective (compare to the proof of Proposition 4.1 of [**69**, §7]). In particular, $K(X) \simeq K(X_2)^{\oplus n_1} \oplus K(X_2, C_1)$. Computing $K(X_2)$ and $K(X_2, C_1)$ using [**82**, Theorem 9.1] once again, one gets

$$K(X) \simeq K(F)^{\oplus n_1 n_2} \oplus K(C_1)^{\oplus n_2} \oplus K(C_2)^{\oplus n_1} \oplus K(C) .$$

The image of $K(F)^{\oplus n_1 n_2} \oplus K(C_1)^{\oplus n_2} \oplus K(C_2)^{\oplus n_1}$ in K(X) is contained in $K(X_1) \boxtimes K(X_2)$ and the homomorphism $K(C) \to K(X)$ is induced by the functor of taking tensor product $\mathcal{U} \otimes_C (-)$. Thus $\mathfrak{u}: K(C) \to K(X)$ is modulo $K(X_1) \boxtimes K(X_2)$ an epimorphism.

3. If the algebra C is a skewfield then the image of \mathfrak{u} is contained in H; moreover, the algebras C_1 and C_2 are skewfields as well and thus $K(X_i) = H_i$ for i = 1, 2.

COROLLARY 4.4. If C is a skewfield, then $G^*K(X)$ is torsion-free. In particular, Tors $CH^2(X) = 0$.

PROOF. If C is a skewfield, then K(X) = H by Item 3 of Lemma 4.3. Consequently, $\text{Tors } G^*K(X) = \text{Tors } G^*H = 0$ (see Lemma 4.1).

5. CH^2 of a product of quadrics

The notation used in this § is introduced in the beginning of the previous one. However, each of the quadratic forms ρ_1 and ρ_2 is now supposed to have the dimension 3 or 4. So, each of X_i is either a quadric surface or a conic. We are mainly interested in the case when X_1 and X_2 are surfaces.

THEOREM 5.1. Suppose that $\dim \rho_1 = 4 = \dim \rho_2$, i.e. that X_1 and X_2 are surfaces. If det $\rho_1 = \det \rho_2$, then $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_1 \times X_2) = 0$.

PROOF. If one of the quadratic forms is isotropic, then $\text{Tors } \text{CH}^2(X_1 \times X_2) = 0$ by Corollary 2.7. In the rest of the proof we assume that ρ_1 and ρ_2 are anisotropic.

As a next step, we are going to consider the case when det $\rho_1 = \det \rho_2 = 1$.

LEMMA 5.2. Any projective quadric surface defined by a quadratic form of determinant 1 is stably birationally equivalent to a conic.

PROOF. Suppose that we are given a quadric determined by a 4-dimensional quadratic form ρ with det $\rho = 1$. Take the conic determined by an arbitrary 3-dimensional subform $\rho' \subset \rho$. Since ρ' becomes isotropic over $F(\rho)$ and vice versa, ρ becomes isotropic over $F(\rho')$, the quadrics given by ρ' and ρ are stably birationally equivalent.

Suppose that det $\rho_1 = \det \rho_2 = 1$ and choose some conics X'_1 and X'_2 stably birationally equivalent to X_1 and X_2 respectively. Applying Corollary 2.5, we get an isomorphism of Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_1 \times X_2)$ onto the group Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X'_1 \times X'_2)$ which is trivial by Lemma 2.4.

Therefore, we may assume that $d \neq 1$ where $d = \det \rho_1 = \det \rho_2$.

As a next step of the proof of Theorem, we consider the case when the *F*-algebras $C_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} C_0(\rho_1)$ and $C_2 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} C_0(\rho_2)$ are isomorphic. In this case, the forms ρ_1 and ρ_2 becomes similar over the field $F(\sqrt{d})$. Thus by a theorem of Wadsworth ([**86**, Theorem 7]), they are already similar over *F*. Therefore the quadrics X_1 and X_2 are isomorphic and consequently Tors $\text{CH}^2(X) = 0$ by Corollary 2.7.

It remains only to consider the situation when the forms ρ_1 and ρ_2 are anisotropic, $d \neq 1$ and $C_1 \not\simeq C_2$. Set c = ind C. We have: c = 2 or c = 4.

Fix a separable closure \overline{F} of the field F. For the algebra $C_{\overline{F}}$, the variety $X_{\overline{F}}$, etc. we shall use the notation \overline{C} , \overline{X} , etc.

For i = 1, 2, denote by M_i and M'_i the (determined uniquely up to an isomorphism and up to the order) non-isomorphic simple \bar{C}_i -modules. There are exactly 4 different isomorphism classes of simple C-modules; they are represented by $M_1 \boxtimes M_2$ ($M_1 \boxtimes M_2$ is by definition the tensor product $M_1 \otimes M_2$ considered as \bar{C} -module in the natural way), $M_1 \boxtimes M'_2$, $M'_1 \boxtimes M_2$, and $M'_1 \boxtimes M'_2$. Denote by m_i the class of M_i and by m'_i the class of M'_i in $K(\bar{C}_i)$. The abelian group $K(\bar{C})$ is freely generated by $m_1 \boxtimes m_2$ ($m_1 \boxtimes m_2$ is defined as follows: for i = 1, 2, one takes the image of $m_i \in K(C_i)$ with respect to the map $K(C_i) \to K(C)$ and than takes the product of the images in the ring K(C)), $m_1 \boxtimes m'_2, m'_1 \boxtimes m_2$, and $m'_1 \boxtimes m'_2$. We identify K(C) with a subgroup in $K(\bar{C})$ via the restriction map $K(C) \hookrightarrow K(\bar{C})$.

LEMMA 5.3. The subgroup $K(C) \subset K(\overline{C})$ is generated by

$$c \cdot (m_1 \boxtimes m_2 + m_1' \boxtimes m_2')$$
 and $c \cdot (m_1 \boxtimes m_2' + m_1' \boxtimes m_2)$.

PROOF. Denote by L the quadratic extension $F(\sqrt{d})$ of the field F, where $d = \det \rho_1 = \det \rho_2$. The algebra C_L is the direct product of 4 copies of a central simple L-algebra of index c. Evidently, the subgroup $K(C_L)$ of $K(\bar{C})$ is freely generated by $c \cdot m_1 \boxtimes m_2$, $c \cdot m_1 \boxtimes m'_2$, $c \cdot m'_1 \boxtimes m_2$, and $c \cdot m'_1 \boxtimes m'_2$.

Now we are going to determine K(C) as a subgroup in $K(C_L)$. Computing the norm $N_{L/F}: K(C_L) \to K(C)$, we get:

$$x \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} N_{L/F}(c \cdot m_1 \boxtimes m_2) = c \cdot (m_1 \boxtimes m_2 + m'_1 \boxtimes m'_2);$$

$$x' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} N_{L/F}(c \cdot m_1 \boxtimes m'_2) = c \cdot (m_1 \boxtimes m'_2 + m'_1 \boxtimes m_2).$$

Thus, the elements x and x' are in K(C). Note that:

- x and x' can be included in a system of free generators of the free abelian group $K(C_L)$ (e.g. $x, x', c \cdot m_1 \boxtimes m_2$, and $c \cdot m_1 \boxtimes m'_2$);
- K(C) is a free abelian group of rank 2 (because the algebra C is the direct product of two copies of a simple algebra, since for i = 1, 2 one has: $C_i = C'_i \otimes_F L$ for a central simple F-algebra C'_i ;
- K(C) is a subgroup of $K(C_L)$ containing x and x'.

Consequently, K(C) is generated by x and x'.

We identify K(X) with a subgroup in $K(\bar{X})$ via the restriction map (which is injective by Item 1 of Lemma 4.3). For i = 1, 2, let l_i, l'_i be the different line classes and p_i the point class in $K(\bar{X}_i)$ (see Lemma 3.2).

COROLLARY 5.4. The group K(X) is generated modulo H by $c \cdot (l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l'_2)$ and $c \cdot p_1 \boxtimes p_2$.

PROOF. According to Item 2 of Lemma 4.3, the map $\mathfrak{u}: K(C) \to K(X)/H$ is surjective. By Lemma 5.3, the group K(C) is generated by

 $c \cdot (m_1 \boxtimes m_2 + m_1' \boxtimes m_2')$ and $c \cdot (m_1 \boxtimes m_2' + m_1' \boxtimes m_2)$.

Applying Lemma 3.6, we can compute the images of these generators in K(X): up to the order, they are

$$c \cdot \left((1+l_1) \boxtimes (1+l_2) + (1+l_1') \boxtimes (1+l_2') \right) \text{ and} \\ c \cdot \left((1+l_1) \boxtimes (1+l_2') + (1+l_1') \boxtimes (1+l_2) \right).$$

One can modify the first expression as follows (the formulas of Lemma 3.2 are in use):

$$c \cdot \left((1+l_1) \boxtimes (1+l_2) + (1+l_1') \boxtimes (1+l_2') \right) =$$

= $c \cdot \left(2 + (l_1+l_1') \boxtimes 1 + 1 \boxtimes (l_2+l_2') + l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l_1' \boxtimes l_2' \right) =$
= $c \cdot \left(2 + (h_1+h_1^2/2) \boxtimes 1 + 1 \boxtimes (h_2+h_2^2/2) + l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l_1' \boxtimes l_2' \right) \equiv$
= $c \cdot (l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l_1' \boxtimes l_2') \pmod{H}$

(note that c is divisible by 2). The analogous modification can be made for the second expression as well. Thus, the group K(X) is generated modulo H by $c \cdot (l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l'_2)$ and $c \cdot (l_1 \boxtimes l'_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l_2)$. Taking the sum of these generators, we get:

$$c \cdot (l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l'_2) + c \cdot (l_1 \boxtimes l'_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l_2) =$$

= $c \cdot (l_1 + l'_1) \boxtimes (l_2 + l'_2) = c \cdot (h_1 + h_1^2/2) \boxtimes (h_2 + h_2^2/2) \equiv$
 $\equiv c \cdot (h_1^2/2) \boxtimes (h_2^2/2) = c \cdot p_1 \boxtimes p_2$

(where the congruence is modulo H).

LEMMA 5.5. 1. $c \cdot (l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l'_2) \in K(X)^{(2)};$ 2. $c \cdot p_1 \boxtimes p_2 \in K(X)^{(3)};$ 3. for any $0 \neq r \in \mathbb{Z}$, the set $r \cdot c(l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l'_2) + H$ has no intersection with $K(X)^{(3)}.$

PROOF. 1. It is evident that $c(l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l'_2) \in K(\bar{X})^{(2)}$. Since $K(X)^{(2)} = K(\bar{X})^{(2)} \cap K(X)$ (see e.g. [74, Lemme 6.3, (i)]), we are done.

2. If we multiply the element $c(l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l'_2) \in K(X)^{(2)}$ by the element $h_1 \boxtimes 1 \in K(X)^{(1)}$, we get:

$$K(X)^{(3)} \ni c(l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l'_2) \cdot (h_1 \boxtimes 1) =$$

= $c(p_1 \boxtimes l_2 + p_1 \boxtimes l'_2) = c \cdot p_1 \boxtimes (h_2 + p_2) =$
= $c \cdot p_1 \boxtimes h_2 + c \cdot p_1 \boxtimes p_2$.

Since $c \cdot p_1 \boxtimes h_2 \in H^{(3)} \in K(X)^{(3)}$, it follows that $c \cdot p_1 \boxtimes p_2 \in K(X)^{(3)}$. 3. By Lemmas 3.2 and 4.2, the abelian group $K(\bar{X})$ is freely generated by the products $x_1 \boxtimes x_2$ where x_i is one of the elements $1, l_i, l'_i, p_i$; moreover, the term $K(\bar{X})^{(3)}$ of the filtration is generated by $l_1 \boxtimes p_2, l'_1 \boxtimes p_2, p_1 \boxtimes l_2, p_1 \boxtimes l'_2$ and $p_1 \boxtimes p_2$. In particular, $4K(\bar{X})^{(3)} \subset H$.

Suppose that, for certain $0 \neq r \in \mathbb{Z}$, the intersection of $r \cdot c(l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l'_2) + H$ with $K(X)^{(3)}$ is non-empty. Then $4r \cdot c(l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l'_2) \in H$, a contradiction. \Box

COROLLARY 5.6. Let us supply the quotient K(X)/H with the filtration induced from K(X). Then Tors $G^2(K(X)/H) = 0$.

PROOF. By Corollary 5.4 and Lemma 5.5, $G^2(K(X)/H)$ is an infinite cyclic group (generated by the residue of $c(l_1 \boxtimes l_2 + l'_1 \boxtimes l'_2)$).

To finish the proof of Theorem 5.1, consider the exact sequence

 $0 \to \mathrm{G}^2 H \to \mathrm{G}^2 K(X) \to \mathrm{G}^2(K(X)/H) \to 0$.

The left-hand side term is torsion-free by Lemma 4.1 while the right-hand side term is torsion-free by Corollary 5.6. Consequently, the middle term is a torsion-free group as well. $\hfill \Box$

THEOREM 5.7. The order of the group $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_1 \times X_2)$ is at most 2.

PROOF. Since $2 \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_1 \times X_2) = 0$ by Corollary 2.11, it suffices to show that the torsion in $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_1 \times X_2)$ is a cyclic group.

By Corollary 2.7, it suffices to consider only the case when the both quadratic forms ρ_1 and ρ_2 are anisotropic.

Set as usual $X = X_1 \times X_2$, $C_i = C_0(\rho_i)$ and $C = C_1 \otimes_F C_2$. Suppose that the algebra C is simple. Then K(C) is a cyclic group and therefore, by Item 2 of Lemma 4.3, the quotient K(X)/H is cyclic as well. Moreover, C_1 and C_2 are division algebras (since they are simple and the quadratic forms are anisotropic) and therefore $K(X_i) = H_i$ for i = 1, 2 by Item 4 of Lemma 3.3. Supplying K(X)/H with the filtration induced from K(X), we get an exact sequence of the adjoint graded groups

$$0 \to \mathrm{G}^*H \to \mathrm{G}^*K(X) \to \mathrm{G}^*(K(X)/H) \to 0$$
.

Take any $r \geq 0$. Since $G^r H$ is torsion-free (Lemma 4.1), Tors $G^r K(X)$ is mapped injectively into $G^r(K(X)/H)$. Since K(X)/H is cyclic, $G^r(K(X)/H)$ is cyclic as well and thus so is also Tors $G^r K(X)$. In particular, the group Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X) \simeq \operatorname{Tors} G^2 K(X)$ is cyclic.

Now suppose that C is *not* simple. Then
either: dim $X_1 = 2 = \dim X_2$ and det $X_1 = \det X_2$,

or: for i = 1 or for i = 2, one has: dim $X_i = 2$ and det $X_i = 1$.

In the first case, the torsion in $CH^2(X)$ is 0 by Theorem 5.1. In the second case, we replace the surface X_i by a stably birationally equivalent conic (see Lemma 5.2 and Corollary 2.5).

THEOREM 5.8. If ind $C_0(\rho_1) \otimes_F C_0(\rho_2) = 4$, then $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_1 \times X_2) = 0$.

PROOF. We set $C = C_0(\rho_1) \otimes_F C_0(\rho_2)$ and suppose that ind C = 4.

If C is a simple algebra, then it is a skewfield and we are done by Corollary 4.4.

If C is *not* simple, then

either: dim $X_1 = 2 = \dim X_2$ and det $\rho_1 = \det \rho_2$,

or: for i = 1 or for i = 2, one has: dim $X_i = 2$ and det $X_i = 1$.

In the first case, the torsion in $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_1 \times X_2)$ is 0 by Theorem 5.1. In the second case, we replace the surface X_i by a stably birationally equivalent conic (see Lemma 5.2 and Corollary 2.5).

THEOREM 5.9. Suppose that dim $\rho_1 = 4$, det $\rho_1 \neq 1$ and that for a certain 3-dimensional subform ρ'_1 of ρ_1 one has:

and
$$C_0(\rho_1) \otimes_F C_0(\rho_2) = \operatorname{ind} C_0(\rho'_1) \otimes_F C_0(\rho_2)$$
.

Then $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_1 \times X_2) = 0.$

PROOF. Applying the same arguments as above, we may assume that

- the forms ρ_1 and ρ_2 are anisotropic and
- one of the following alternative conditions holds:
 - the dimension of ρ_2 equals 3 or
 - the dimension of ρ_2 is 4 and det $\rho_1 \neq \det \rho_2 \neq 1$.

We are going to show that, under the assumptions made, Tors $G^2K(X_1 \times X_2) = 0$.

The algebra C is now simple; it has the index 1, 2, or 4. Set c = ind C. The group K(C) is generated by $(c/4) \cdot [C]$ where $[C] \in K(C)$ is the class of C.

Consider the case when dim $\rho_2 = 4$.

It follows from Item 2 of Lemma 4.3 that K(X) is generated modulo H by the element $(c/4)[\mathcal{U}(2,2)]$. Applying Item 2 of Lemma 3.3, one computes that $[\mathcal{U}(2,2)] = (4+2h_1+h_1^2) \boxtimes (4+2h_2+h_2^2) \in K(X)$. Thus, K(X) is generated modulo H also by $x \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (c/4)(2 \cdot h_1 \boxtimes h_2^2 + 2 \cdot h_1^2 \boxtimes h_2 + h_1^2 \boxtimes h_2^2)$. Since we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{G}^*H \to \mathcal{G}^*K(X) \to \mathcal{G}^*(K(X)/H) \to 0$$

with torsion-free G^*H , it would suffice to show that $x \in K(X)^{(3)}$.

Consider the conic X'_1 determined by ρ'_1 and denote by \mathcal{U}'_1 Swan's sheaf on X'_1 . The product $\mathcal{U}'_1(1) \boxtimes \mathcal{U}_2(2)$ of twisted Swan's sheaves has a structure of module over $C' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} C'_1 \otimes C_2$; its class in K(X'), where $X' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X'_1 \times X_2$ is equal

to $(2 + h'_1) \boxtimes (4 + 2h_2 + h_2^2)$ where h'_1 is the class in $K(X'_1)$ of a hyperplane section of X'_1 . Since ind C' =ind C = c, the latter product can be divided by (4/c) in K(X'), i.e.

$$K(X') \ni x' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (c/4)(2 \cdot 1 \boxtimes h_2^2 + 2 \cdot h_1' \boxtimes h_2 + h_1' \boxtimes h_2^2) .$$

Since $4x' \in K(X')^{(2)}$ and the group $G^1K(X') = CH^1(X')$ is torsion-free (see e.g. [74, Lemme 6.3, (i)]), it follows that $x' \in K(X')^{(2)}$. Since the image of x' with respect to the push-forward given by the closed imbedding $X' \hookrightarrow X$ coincides with x and $\operatorname{codim}_X X' = 1$, the element x is in $K(X)^{(3)}$.

Now suppose that dim $\rho_2 = 3$.

If c = 1, then the quadric $(X_2)_{F(X_1)}$ is isotropic and therefore Tors $CH^2(X) = 0$ by Corollary 2.7. Thus we may assume that c is divisible by 2.

The group K(X) is now generated modulo H by $(c/4)[\mathcal{U}(2,1)]$ and

$$[\mathcal{U}(2,1)] = (4+2h_1+h_1^2) \boxtimes (2+h_2) \in K(X)$$
.

Thus, K(X) is generated modulo H also by $x \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (c/4)(h_1^2 \boxtimes h_2)$ and it suffices to show that $x \in K(X)^{(3)}$.

The class in K(X') of the product $\mathcal{U}'_1(1) \boxtimes \mathcal{U}_2(1)$ of twisted Swan's sheaves is equal this time to $(2 + h'_1) \boxtimes (2 + h_2)$ and can be divided by (4/c) in K(X'), i.e.

$$K(X') \ni x' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (c/4)(h'_1 \boxtimes h_2)$$

Since $x' \in K(X')^{(2)}$ and the image of x' with respect to the push-forward given by the closed imbedding $X' \hookrightarrow X$ coincides with x, the element x is in $K(X)^{(3)}$.

COROLLARY 5.10. If ρ_1 and ρ_2 contain similar 3-dimensional subforms, then $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_1 \times X_2) = 0$.

PROOF. If dim $\rho_1 = 3$ or if det $\rho_1 = 1$, then the quadric $(X_2)_{F(X_1)}$ is isotropic and so we are done by Corollary 2.7.

Therefore, we may assume that $\dim \rho_1 = 4$ and $\det \rho_1 \neq 1$. These are the first two conditions of Theorem 5.9. We state that also the last condition of Theorem 5.9 is satisfied. Indeed, denote by $\rho'_1 \subset \rho_1$ and $\rho'_2 \subset \rho_2$ the similar 3-dimensional subforms. According to Lemma 3.4, the *F*-algebras $C_0(\rho'_1)$ and $C_0(\rho'_2)$ are isomorphic and $C_0(\rho_i) = C_0(\rho'_i)_{F(\sqrt{\det \rho_i})}$ for i = 1, 2. Therefore, $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\rho_1) \otimes_F C_0(\rho_2) = 1 = \operatorname{ind} C_0(\rho'_1) \otimes_F C_0(\rho_2)$.

6. The group $I^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F)$

The following assertion is obvious:

LEMMA 6.1. Let $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$ be a quadratic form over F. For any $k \in F^*$ the following conditions are equivalent.

(1) $k \in D_F(\langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle);$ (2) $\langle\!\langle a, b, k \rangle\!\rangle = \rho \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle;$ (3) $\rho \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \in P_3(F).$ LEMMA 6.2. Let $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$ be a quadratic form over F. Then 1. $P_3(F(\rho)/F) = \{ \langle \langle a, b, k \rangle \rangle \mid k \in D_F(\langle \langle d \rangle \rangle) \},$ 2. $H^3(F(\rho)/F) = \{ (a, b, k) \mid k \in D_F(\langle \langle d \rangle \rangle) \}.$

PROOF. 1. See [15, Lemma 3.1].

2. Let $\rho_0 = \langle -a, -b, ab \rangle$. Clearly $H^3(F(\rho)/F) \subset H^3(F(\rho_0)/F)$. It follows from [5, Beweis vom Satz 5.6] that $H^3(F(\rho_0)/F) = (a, b) \cup H^1(F)$. Hence any element $u \in H^3(F(\rho)/F)$ has the form (a, b, x) where $x \in F^*$. Since $(a, b, x) \in$ $H^3(F(\rho)/F)$, the Pfister form $\langle\!\langle a, b, x \rangle\!\rangle_{F(\rho)}$ is hyperbolic. It follows from the first assertion that there exists $k \in D_F(\langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle)$ such that $\langle\!\langle a, b, x \rangle\!\rangle = \langle\!\langle a, b, k \rangle\!\rangle$. Hence u = (a, b, x) = (a, b, k).

COROLLARY 6.3. Let ρ_1, \ldots, ρ_m be 4-dimensional quadratic forms over F. Then for a quadratic form ϕ the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) $\phi \in I^3(F(\rho_1)/F) + \dots + I^3(F(\rho_m)/F) + I^4(F);$
- (2) $\phi \in P_3(F(\rho_1)/F) + \dots + P_3(F(\rho_m)/F) + I^4(F);$
- (3) $\phi \in I^{3}(F)$ and $e^{3}(\phi) \in H^{3}(F(\rho_{1})/F) + \dots + H^{3}(F(\rho_{m})/F).$

PROOF. $(2) \Rightarrow (1) \Rightarrow (3)$. Obvious. $(3) \Rightarrow (2)$. Follows from Lemma 6.2.

COROLLARY 6.4. Let ρ_1, \ldots, ρ_m be 4-dimensional quadratic forms such that $H^3(F(\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_m)/F) = H^3(F(\rho_1)/F) + \cdots + H^3(F(\rho_m)/F)$. Then $I^3(F(\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_m)/F) \subset I^3(F(\rho_1)/F) + \cdots + I^3(F(\rho_m)/F) + I^4(F)$.

COROLLARY 6.5. Let $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$ and $\psi = \langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$ be quadratic forms over F. Then for any $\pi \in I^3(F(\rho)/F) + I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^4(F)$ there exist $k_1, k_2 \in F^*$ with the following properties:

- 1) $\langle\!\langle a, b, k_1 \rangle\!\rangle = \rho \langle\!\langle k_1 \rangle\!\rangle$ and $\langle\!\langle u, v, k_2 \rangle\!\rangle = \psi \langle\!\langle k_2 \rangle\!\rangle;$
- 2) $\pi \equiv \langle\!\langle a, b, k_1 \rangle\!\rangle + \langle\!\langle u, v, k_2 \rangle\!\rangle \pmod{I^4(F)}$.

PROOF. By Corollary 6.3, we have $\pi \in P_3(F(\rho)/F) + P_3(F(\psi)/F) + I^4(F)$. Hence there exist $\pi_1 \in P_3(F(\rho)/F)$ and $\pi_2 \in P_3(F(\psi)/F)$ such that

$$\pi \equiv \pi_1 + \pi_2 \pmod{I^4(F)}.$$

By Lemma 6.2, there exist $k_1, k_2 \in F^*$ such that $\pi_1 = \langle\!\langle a, b, k_1 \rangle\!\rangle$ and $\pi_2 = \langle\!\langle u, v, k_2 \rangle\!\rangle$. Finally, Lemma 6.1 shows that $\langle\!\langle a, b, k_1 \rangle\!\rangle = \rho \langle\!\langle k_1 \rangle\!\rangle$, $\langle\!\langle u, v, k_2 \rangle\!\rangle = \psi \langle\!\langle k_2 \rangle\!\rangle$.

7. The case of index 1

In this §, we study the group $H^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F)$ in the case where ρ , ψ are 4-dimensional quadratic forms with non-trivial discriminants and ind $C_0(\rho) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 1$. In the case $d_{\pm} \rho = d_{\pm} \psi$ we obviously have $C_0(\rho) \simeq C_0(\psi)$. Hence ρ is similar to ψ (see [86, Theorem 7]) and hence the group $H^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F)$ coincides with $H^3(F(\rho)/F)$. So it is sufficient to study only the case where $d_{\pm} \rho \neq d_{\pm} \psi$.

Replacing ρ and ψ by similar forms, we can rewrite our conditions as follows:

1) $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$ and $\psi = \langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$ with $a, b, d, u, v, \delta \in F^*$; 2) d, δ , and $d\delta$ are not squares in F^* ;

3) $\operatorname{ind}((a,b) \otimes_F (u,v))_{F(\sqrt{d},\sqrt{\delta})} = 1.$

During this section we will suppose that the conditions 1)–3) hold. We define the set $\Gamma(\rho, \psi)$ as

 $\{\gamma \in I^3(F) \mid \text{there exist } l_1, l_2 \in F^* \text{ such that } \gamma = l_1 \rho + l_2 \psi + \langle \langle d\delta \rangle \rangle \}.$

LEMMA 7.1. The set $\Gamma(\rho, \psi)$ is not empty.

PROOF. Since $\operatorname{ind}((a, b) \otimes_F (u, v))_{F(\sqrt{d}, \sqrt{\delta})} = 1$, there exist $s, r \in F^*$ such that $(a, b) \otimes (u, v) = (d, s) \otimes (\delta, r)$. Set $l_1 = \delta s$, $l_2 = -\delta r$. It is sufficient to verify that $\gamma \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} l_1 \rho + l_2 \psi + \langle \langle d\delta \rangle \rangle \in I^3(F)$. We have

$$\begin{split} \gamma &= \delta s \rho - \delta r \psi + \langle 1, -d\delta \rangle = \delta (s \rho - r \psi + \langle \delta, -d \rangle) = \\ &= \delta (s (\langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle - \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle) - r (\langle\!\langle u, v \rangle\!\rangle - \langle\!\langle \delta \rangle\!\rangle) + (\langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle - \langle\!\langle \delta \rangle\!\rangle)) = \\ &= \delta (s \langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle - r \langle\!\langle u, v \rangle\!\rangle + \langle\!\langle d, s \rangle\!\rangle - \langle\!\langle \delta, r \rangle\!\rangle) \;. \end{split}$$

Therefore $\gamma \in I^2(F)$ and $c(\gamma) = (a,b) + (u,v) + (d,s) + (\delta,r) = 0$. Hence $\gamma \in I^3(F)$.

LEMMA 7.2. $\Gamma(\rho, \psi) \subset I^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F)$.

PROOF. Let $\gamma = l_1 \rho + l_2 \psi + \langle \langle d\delta \rangle \rangle \in \Gamma(\rho, \psi)$. We have $\dim(\gamma_{F(\psi,\rho)})_{an} \leq \dim(\rho_{F(\rho)})_{an} + \dim(\psi_{F(\psi)})_{an} + \dim\langle \langle \delta d \rangle \rangle \leq 2 + 2 + 2 = 6 < 8$. Since $\gamma \in I^3(F)$, the Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz shows that $\gamma_{F(\psi,\rho)}$ is hyperbolic. \Box

COROLLARY 7.3. For any $\gamma \in \Gamma(\rho, \psi)$, we have $e^3(\gamma) \in H^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F)$.

LEMMA 7.4. Let $l, k \in F^*$ and let τ be a quadratic form such that $\tau \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \in I^3(F)$. Then $l\tau - \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \tau \equiv lk\tau \pmod{I^4(F)}$.

PROOF.
$$l\tau - \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \tau - lk\tau = - \langle\!\langle l \rangle\!\rangle \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \tau \in \langle\!\langle l \rangle\!\rangle I^3(F) \subset I^4(F).$$

LEMMA 7.5. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma(\rho, \psi)$, $\pi_1 \in P_3(F(\rho)/F)$ and $\pi_2 \in P_3(F(\psi)/F)$. Then there exists $\gamma' \in \Gamma(\rho, \psi)$ such that $\gamma - \pi_1 - \pi_2 \equiv \gamma' \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Moreover, $\gamma + \pi_1 + \pi_2 \equiv \gamma' \pmod{I^4(F)}$.

PROOF. Let $l_1, l_2 \in F^*$ be such that $\gamma = l_1 \rho + l_2 \psi + \langle \langle d\delta \rangle \rangle$. By Lemmas 6.1 and 6.2, there exist $k_1, k_2 \in F^*$ such that $\pi_1 = \rho \langle \langle k_1 \rangle \rangle$, $\pi_2 = \psi \langle \langle k_2 \rangle \rangle$. By Lemma 7.4, we have

$$l_1\rho - \pi_1 = l_1\rho - \langle\!\langle k_1 \rangle\!\rangle \rho \equiv l_1k_1\rho \pmod{I^4(F)},$$

$$l_2\psi - \pi_2 = l_2\psi - \langle\!\langle k_2 \rangle\!\rangle \psi \equiv l_2k_2\psi \pmod{I^4(F)}.$$

Hence $\gamma - \pi_1 - \pi_2 \equiv l_1 k_1 \rho + l_2 k_2 \psi + \langle \langle d\delta \rangle \rangle \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Setting $\gamma' = l_1 k_1 \rho + l_2 k_2 \psi + \langle \langle d\delta \rangle \rangle$, we get the required equation $\gamma - \pi_1 - \pi_2 \equiv \gamma' \pmod{I^4(F)}$. The second equation $\gamma + \pi_1 + \pi_2 \equiv \gamma' \pmod{I^4(F)}$ is obvious in view of the congruence $\pi_i \equiv -\pi_i \pmod{I^4(F)}$ (for i = 1, 2).

COROLLARY 7.6. $\Gamma(\rho, \psi) + I^3(F(\rho)/F) + I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^4(F) = \Gamma(\rho, \psi) + I^4(F).$

PROOF. It is an obvious consequence of Corollary 6.3 and Lemma 7.5 $\hfill\square$

- LEMMA 7.7. The following conditions are equivalent:
- (1) $I^{3}(F(\rho,\psi)/F) \subset I^{3}(F(\rho)/F) + I^{3}(F(\psi)/F) + I^{4}(F);$
- (2) $\Gamma(\rho, \psi) \subset I^3(F(\rho)/F) + I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^4(F);$
- (3) there exists $\gamma \in \Gamma(\rho, \psi)$ such that $\gamma \in I^3(F(\rho)/F) + I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^4(F)$;
- (4) $\Gamma(\rho, \psi)$ contains a hyperbolic form, i.e. $0 \in \Gamma(\rho, \psi)$;
- (5) the quadratic forms ψ and ρ contain similar 3-dimensional subforms;
- (6) Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho} \times X_{\psi}) = 0;$
- (7) $H^{3}(F(\rho,\psi)/F) = H^{3}(F(\rho)/F) + H^{3}(F(\psi)/F).$

PROOF. $(1) \Rightarrow (2)$. Obvious in view of Lemma 7.2.

 $(2) \Rightarrow (3)$. Obvious in view of Lemma 7.1.

(3) \Rightarrow (4). Let γ be such as in (3). By Corollary 6.3, there exist $\pi_1 \in P_3(F(\rho)/F)$ and $\pi_2 \in P_3(F(\psi)/F)$ such that $\gamma \in \pi_1 + \pi_2 + I^4(F)$. Hence $\gamma - \pi_1 - \pi_2 \in I^4(F)$. By Lemma 7.5, there exists $\gamma' \in \Gamma(\rho, \psi)$ such that $\gamma - \pi_1 - \pi_2 \equiv \gamma' \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Since $\gamma - \pi_1 - \pi_2 \in I^4(F)$, we have $\gamma' \in I^4(F)$. By definition of $\Gamma(\rho, \psi)$, $\dim(\gamma')_{an} \leq 4 + 4 + 2 = 10 < 16$. Since $\gamma' \in I^4(F)$, the Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz shows that $\gamma' = 0$.

(4) \Rightarrow (5). Since $0 \in \Gamma(\rho, \psi)$, there exist $l_1, l_2 \in F^*$ such that $0 = l_1\rho + l_2\psi + \langle\langle d\delta\rangle\rangle$. Thus $l_1\rho + l_2\psi = -\langle\langle d\delta\rangle\rangle$. Hence $l_1\rho$ and $l_2\psi$ contain a common subform of the dimension $(\dim(\rho) + \dim(\psi) - \dim\langle\langle d\delta\rangle\rangle)/2 = (4 + 4 - 2)/2 = 3$.

 $(5) \Rightarrow (6)$. See Corollary 5.10.

 $(6) \Rightarrow (7)$. See Corollary 2.13.

 $(7) \Rightarrow (1)$. It is a particular case of Corollary 6.4.

PROPOSITION 7.8. For an arbitrary element $\gamma \in \Gamma(\rho, \psi)$, one has

$$H^{3}(F(\rho,\psi)/F) = H^{3}(F(\rho)/F) + H^{3}(F(\psi)/F) + e^{3}(\gamma)H^{0}(F)$$

PROOF. By Corollary 7.3, the element $e^3(\gamma)$ belongs to $H^3(F(\rho,\psi)/F)$. If Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho} \times X_{\psi}) = 0$ then by Corollary 2.13, we have $H^3(F(\rho,\psi)/F) = H^3(F(\rho)/F) + H^3(F(\psi)/F)$ and the proof is complete. If Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho} \times X_{\psi}) \neq 0$, Lemma 7.7 shows that $\gamma \notin I^3(F(\rho)/F) + I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^4(F)$. Hence, by Corollary 6.3, $e^3(\gamma) \notin H^3(F(\rho)/F) + H^3(F(\psi)/F)$. To complete the proof it is sufficient to apply Corollary 2.13 and Theorem 5.7.

COROLLARY 7.9.

 $I^{3}(F(\rho,\psi)/F) \subset I^{3}(F(\rho)/F) + I^{3}(F(\psi)/F) + \{\Gamma(\rho,\psi),0\} + I^{4}(F) .$

PROOF. Let $\tau \in I^3(F(\rho,\psi)/F)$. Choose an element $\gamma \in \Gamma(\rho,\psi)$. By Proposition 7.8, either $e^3(\tau) \in H^3(F(\rho)/F) + H^3(F(\psi)/F)$ or $e^3(\tau - \gamma) \in H^3(F(\rho)/F) + H^3(F(\psi)/F)$. It remains to apply Corollary 6.3.

PROPOSITION 7.10. Let $\pi \in I^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F)$. Then at least one of the following conditions holds

1)
$$\pi \in I^{3}(F(\rho)/F) + I^{3}(F(\psi)/F) + I^{4}(F);$$

2) $\pi \in \Gamma(\rho, \psi) + I^{4}(F).$

PROOF. Obvious in view of Corollaries 7.9 and 7.6.

8. Main theorem

PROPOSITION 8.1. Let $\phi = \langle \langle a, b \rangle \rangle \perp -c \langle \langle d \rangle \rangle$ be an anisotropic quadratic form. Let $\psi = \langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$ and $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$. Then:

- 1. The following two conditions are equivalent:
 - (i) $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \in I^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F),$
 - (ii) $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.
- 2. The following two conditions are equivalent:
 - (i) $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \in I^3(F(\rho)/F) + I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^4(F),$
 - (ii) there exits a 5-dimensional Pfister neighbor ϕ_0 such that $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ and $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

PROOF. Note that $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle = \phi - c\rho = \rho - c\phi$.

(1i) \Rightarrow (1ii). Let $E = F(\psi)$. If the Pfister form $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle_E$ is isotropic, its neighbor $(\langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle \perp \langle -c \rangle\!\rangle_E$ is isotropic too. Since $\langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle \perp \langle -c \rangle \subset \phi$, the form ϕ_E is isotropic. Thus we can suppose that $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle_E$ is anisotropic. By the assumption, $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \in I^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F) = I^3(E(\rho)/F)$. Hence the anisotropic Pfister form $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle_E$ becomes isotropic over the function field of ρ_E . By the Arason-Pfister subform theorem, we have $k\rho_E \subset \langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle_E$ where k is an arbitrary element of $D_E(\rho) \cdot D_E(\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle)$. Since $(ab)^{-1} \in D_E(\rho)$ and $-abc \in$ $D_E(\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle)$ we can take $k = (ab)^{-1} \cdot (-abc) = -c$. Thus $-c\rho_E \subset \langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle_E$. Hence dim $((\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \perp c\rho)_E)_{an} \leq 8 - 4 = 4$. Since $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle + c\rho = \phi$, it follows that dim $(\phi_E)_{an} \leq 4$. Hence $\phi_{F(\psi)} = \phi_E$ is isotropic.

(1ii) \Rightarrow (1i). Since $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ and $\rho_{F(\rho)}$ are isotropic, we have $\dim(\phi_{F(\psi)})_{an} \leq 4$ and $\dim(\rho_{F(\rho)})_{an} \leq 2$. Therefore $\dim(\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle_{F(\rho,\psi)})_{an} = \dim((\phi - c\rho)_{F(\rho,\psi)})_{an} \leq 4 + 2 = 6$. By the Arason-Pfister theorem, $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle_{F(\rho,\psi)}$ is hyperbolic. Hence $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \in I^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F)$.

(2i) \Rightarrow (2ii). By Corollary 6.5, there exist $k_1, k_2 \in F^*$ such that $\langle\!\langle a, b, k_1 \rangle\!\rangle = \rho \langle\!\langle k_1 \rangle\!\rangle$, $\langle\!\langle u, v, k_2 \rangle\!\rangle = \psi \langle\!\langle k_2 \rangle\!\rangle$, and

$$\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \equiv \langle\!\langle a, b, k_1 \rangle\!\rangle + \langle\!\langle u, v, k_2 \rangle\!\rangle \pmod{I^4(F)}$$
.

It follows from [9, Theorem 4.8] that the Pfister forms $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle$, $\langle\!\langle a, b, k_1 \rangle\!\rangle$, and $\langle\!\langle u, v, k_2 \rangle\!\rangle$ are linked. Hence there exists $s \in F^*$ such that $s \langle\!\langle u, v, k_2 \rangle\!\rangle = \langle\!\langle a, b, k_1 \rangle\!\rangle - \langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle$. Since $\langle\!\langle a, b, k_1 \rangle\!\rangle = \rho \langle\!\langle k_1 \rangle\!\rangle$ and $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle = \rho - c\phi$, we have $s \langle\!\langle u, v, k_2 \rangle\!\rangle = \rho \langle\!\langle k_1 \rangle\!\rangle - (\rho - c\phi) = c\phi - k_1\rho$. Therefore $\phi - cs \langle\!\langle u, v, k_2 \rangle\!\rangle = ck_1\rho$. Hence ϕ and $cs \langle\!\langle u, v, k_2 \rangle\!\rangle$ contain a common subform of the dimension

$$\frac{1}{2}(\dim \phi + \dim(sc \langle\!\langle u, v, k_2 \rangle\!\rangle) - \dim(ck_1\rho)) = \frac{1}{2}(6+8-4) = 5.$$

Let us denote such a form by ϕ_0 . By the definition, we have $\phi_0 \subset \phi$. Since $\phi_0 \subset sc \langle \langle u, v, k_2 \rangle \rangle$, it follows that ϕ_0 is a Pfister neighbor. Since $\langle \langle u, v, k_2 \rangle \rangle =$

8. MAIN THEOREM

 $\psi \langle \langle k_2 \rangle \rangle$, it follows that $\langle \langle u, v, k_2 \rangle \rangle_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. Hence the Pfister neighbor $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ of $\langle \langle u, v, k_2 \rangle \rangle_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic as well.

(2ii) \Rightarrow (2i). Let ϕ_0 be a 5-dimensional Pfister neighbor such that $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ and $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. Let us write ϕ in the form $\phi = \phi_0 \perp \langle s_0 \rangle$. Since ϕ_0 is a Pfister neighbor, there exists $\pi \in GP_3(F)$ such that $\phi_0 \subset \pi$. We can write π in the form $\pi = \phi_0 \perp - \langle s_1, s_2, s_3 \rangle$. Set $\gamma = \langle s_0, s_1, s_2, s_3 \rangle$. We have

$$\gamma = \phi - \pi \equiv \phi = \langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle + c\rho \equiv c\rho \pmod{I^3(F)}.$$

Since dim $\gamma = \dim c\rho = 4$ it follows from Wadsworth's theorem ([86, Theorem 7]) that γ is similar to $c\rho$. Hence there exists $k \in F^*$ such that $\gamma = ck\rho$. We have

$$\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle = \rho - c\phi = \rho - c(\gamma + \pi) = \rho - c(ck\rho + \pi) = \langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \rho - c\pi.$$

Now it is sufficient to verify that $\langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \rho \in I^3(F(\rho)/F)$ and $\pi \in I^3(F(\psi)/F)$. We have $\langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \rho = \langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle + c\pi \in I^3(F)$. Since dim $(\langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \rho_{F(\rho)})_{an} < 8$, the Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz shows that $\langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \rho_{F(\rho)}$ is hyperbolic. Thus $\langle\!\langle k \rangle\!\rangle \rho \in I^3(F(\rho)/F)$. Since $\phi_0 \subset \pi$ and $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic, $\pi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic as well. Since $\pi \in GP_3(F)$, it follows that $\pi_{F(\psi)}$ is hyperbolic. Hence $\pi \in I^3(F(\psi)/F)$.

COROLLARY 8.2. Let $\phi = \langle \langle a, b \rangle \rangle \perp -c \langle \langle d \rangle \rangle$ be an anisotropic quadratic form. Let $\psi = \langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$ and $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$. Suppose that the group $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_{\rho})$ is torsion-free. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic;
- (2) there exits a 5-dimensional Pfister neighbor ϕ_0 such that $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ and $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic

PROOF. (1) \Rightarrow (2). By Item 1 of Proposition 8.1, we know that $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \in I^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F)$. Since Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_{\rho}) = 0$, Corollary 2.13 implies that

$$H^{3}(F(\rho,\psi)/F) = H^{3}(F(\rho)/F) + H^{3}(F(\psi)/F)];$$

By Corollary 6.4, $I^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F) \subset I^3(F(\rho)/F) + I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^4(F)$. Applying Proposition 8.1 once again, we are done. (2) \Rightarrow (1). Obvious.

LEMMA 8.3. Let ϕ be a 6-dimensional form and ψ be a 4-dimensional form. Suppose that ψ is similar to a subform in ϕ . Then ind $C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 1$.

PROOF. We can suppose that $\psi \subset \phi$. Hence there exists a 2-dimensional form μ such that $\psi \perp \mu = \phi$. Let E be a field extension of F generated by $\sqrt{d_{\pm}\phi}$ and $\sqrt{d_{\pm}\psi}$. Obviously $\phi_E, \psi_E \in I^2(F)$ and $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) =$ $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\phi_E) \otimes_E C_0(\psi_E)$. Thus we can reduce our problem to the case where $\phi, \psi \in I^2(F)$. Then $\mu \in I^2(F)$. Since $\dim \mu = 2$, the form μ is hyperbolic. Hence $\phi = \psi \perp \mathbb{H}$. Therefore $C_0(\phi) = C_0(\psi) \otimes_F M_2(F)$. Hence $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 1$. COROLLARY 8.4. Let $\phi = \langle \langle a, b \rangle \rangle \perp -c \langle \langle d \rangle \rangle$ be an anisotropic quadratic form. Let $\psi = \langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$ and $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$.

Suppose that ind $C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) \neq 1$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic and the isotropy is standard;
- (2) there exits a 5-dimensional Pfister neighbor ϕ_0 such that $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ and $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic;
- (3) $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \in I^3(F(\rho)/F) + I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^4(F);$
- (4) $(a, b, c) \in H^3(F(\rho)/F) + H^3(F(\psi)/F).$

PROOF. (1) \Rightarrow (2). Let ϕ and ψ be such as in (1). Let us suppose that the condition (2) is not satisfied. Then by the definition of standard isotropy, ψ is similar to a subform of ϕ . By Lemma 8.3, we have ind $C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 1$. This contradicts to our assumption.

$(2) \Rightarrow (1)$. Obvious.

 $(3) \iff (4) \iff (1)$. Follows from Proposition 8.1 and Corollary 6.3.

THEOREM 8.5. Let ϕ be an anisotropic 6-dimensional quadratic form and ψ be a 4-dimensional quadratic form with $d_{\pm}\psi = d_{\pm}\phi \neq 1$. Suppose that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. Then there exits a 5-dimensional Pfister neighbor ϕ_0 such that $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ and $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

PROOF. If $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\phi) = 1$ then ϕ is a Pfister neighbor. In this case we can take ϕ_0 to be equal to an arbitrary 5-dimensional subform in ϕ . In the case $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\phi) = 4$, it follows from Theorem 5.5 of Chapter 3 that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is anisotropic and we have a contradiction. Thus we can assume that $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\phi) = 2$. Then ϕ is similar to a form of the kind $\langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle \perp -c \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle$. Since $d_{\pm} \psi = d_{\pm} \phi$, there exist $u, v \in F^*$ such that ψ is similar to the form $\langle -u, -v, uv, d \rangle$. Replacing ϕ and ψ by similar forms, we can suppose that

$$\phi = \langle\!\langle a, b
angle\!\rangle \perp -c \langle\!\langle d
angle\!\rangle$$
 and $\psi = \langle\!\langle -u, -v, uv, d
angle$.

Let $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$. It follows from Theorem 5.1 that Tors $CH^2(X_{\psi} \times X_{\rho}) = 0$. Now the result required follows immediately from Corollary 8.2.

PROPOSITION 8.6. Let $\phi = \langle \langle a, b \rangle \rangle \perp -c \langle \langle d \rangle \rangle$ and $\psi = \langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$ be anisotropic quadratic forms. Suppose that ind $C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 4$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic;
- (2) There is a 5-dimensional subform $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ which is a Pfister neighbor and $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

PROOF. Let $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$. Clearly $C_0(\phi) = M_2(F) \otimes_F C_0(\rho)$. Hence ind $C_0(\rho) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 4$. It follows from Theorem 5.8 that $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho} \times X_{\psi}) = 0$. By Corollary 8.2, we are done.

PROPOSITION 8.7. Let $\phi = \langle \langle a, b \rangle \rangle \perp -c \langle \langle d \rangle \rangle$ and $\psi = \langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$ be anisotropic quadratic forms with $\delta \notin F^{*2}$. Suppose that ind $C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) =$ 1. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic;
- (2) Either ψ is similar to a subform in ϕ or there exists a 5-dimensional subform $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ which is a Pfister neighbor and $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

PROOF. (1) \Rightarrow (2). Since ϕ is anisotropic, we have $d \notin F^{*2}$. In view of Theorem 8.5 is sufficient to consider the case $d\delta \notin F^{*2}$. Let $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$. Since $C_0(\phi) = M_2(F) \otimes_F C_0(\rho)$, we have ind $C_0(\rho) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 1$. Thus all the assumptions of §7 hold. Propositions 7.10 and 8.1 show that at least one of the following conditions holds:

- 1) $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \in I^3(F(\rho)/F) + I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^4(F),$
- 2) $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \in \Gamma(\rho, \psi) + I^4(F).$

In the first case, Proposition 8.1 asserts that there exists a 5-dimensional subform $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ which is a Pfister neighbor and $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

Thus we can suppose that $\langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \in \Gamma(\rho, \psi) + I^4(F)$. Let $\gamma = l_1 \rho + l_2 \psi + l_2 \psi$ $\langle\!\langle d\delta \rangle\!\rangle \in \Gamma(\rho,\psi)$ be such that $\langle\!\langle a,b,c \rangle\!\rangle \in \gamma + I^4(F)$. Since $\langle\!\langle a,b,c \rangle\!\rangle = \rho - c\phi$, we have

$$l_1\rho - l_1c\phi = l_1 \langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \equiv \langle\!\langle a, b, c \rangle\!\rangle \equiv \gamma = l_1\rho + l_2\psi + \langle\!\langle d\delta \rangle\!\rangle \pmod{I^4(F)}.$$

Hence $l_1 c\phi + l_2 \psi + \langle\!\langle d\delta \rangle\!\rangle \in I^4(F)$. Since $\dim(l_1 c\phi + l_2 \psi + \langle\!\langle d\delta \rangle\!\rangle)_{an} \le 6 + 4 + 4$ 2 = 12 < 16, the Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz shows that $l_1 c \phi + l_2 \psi + \langle \langle d\delta \rangle \rangle =$ 0. Therefore $\phi = -cl_1l_2\psi - cl_1\langle\langle d\delta\rangle\rangle$. Since dim $\phi = 6 = \dim(-cl_1l_2\psi \perp$ $-cl_1 \langle\!\langle d\delta \rangle\!\rangle$, we have $\phi = -cl_1l_2\psi \perp -cl_1 \langle\!\langle d\delta \rangle\!\rangle$. Hence ψ is similar to a subform in ϕ .

 $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$. Obvious.

Together with results described in Introduction, Theorem 8.5, Propositions 8.6 and 8.7 give rise to the following

THEOREM 8.8. Let ϕ be an anisotropic quadratic form of dimension ≤ 6 and ψ be such that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. If the isotropy is non-standard then

- dim $\phi = 6$ and dim $\psi = 4$;
- $1 \neq d_{\pm} \phi \neq d_{\pm} \psi \neq 1;$
- ind $C_0(\phi) = 2$; and
- ind $C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 2$.

9. The case of index 2

Theorem 8.8 implies that if there exists a quadratic form ϕ of dimension \leq 6 having a non-standard isotropy over the function field of a quadratic form ψ , then there are $a, b, c, d, u, v, \delta \in F^*$ such that $\phi \sim \langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle \perp -c \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle$, $\psi \sim \langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle, d, \delta, d\delta \notin F^{*2}, \text{ and } \operatorname{ind}((a, b) \otimes_F (u, v))_{F(\sqrt{d}, \sqrt{\delta})} = 2.$

Set $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$. By Corollary 8.2, if $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_{\rho}) = 0$, then the isotropy is standard.

In this section we prove the following

81

THEOREM 9.1. Let $a, b, u, v, d, \delta \in F^{*2}$ be such that $d, \delta, d\delta \notin F^{*2}$. Let $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$ and $\psi = \langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$. Suppose that ind $C_0(\rho) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 2$. The following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho} \times X_{\psi}) \neq 0;$
- (2) there exists $c \in F^*$ such that the quadratic form $\phi = \langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle \perp -c \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle$ is isotropic over $F(\psi)$, but the isotropy is not standard.

PROOF. $(2) \Rightarrow (1)$. Obvious in view of Corollary 8.2.

(1) \Rightarrow (2). Since Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho} \times X_{\psi}) \neq 0$, it follows from Corollary 2.13 that there exists $w \in H^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F)$ such that $w \notin H^3(F(\rho)/F) + H^3(F(\psi)/F)$. Let $\rho_0 = \langle -a, -b, ab \rangle$. It follows from Theorem 5.9 that $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\rho_0) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) \neq$ $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\rho) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 2$. Therefore $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\rho_0) \otimes_F C_0(\psi) = 4$. By Theorem 5.8, we have $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho_0} \times X_{\psi}) = 0$. By Corollary 2.13, we have $H^3(F(\rho_0, \psi)/F) = H^3(F(\rho_0)/F) + H^3(F(\psi)/F)$. Hence

$$w \in H^3(F(\rho,\psi)/F) \subset H^3(F(\rho_0,\psi)/F) = H^3(F(\rho_0)/F) + H^3(F(\psi)/F).$$

Since $H^3(F(\rho_0)/F) = (a, b) \cup H^1(F)$, there exists $c \in F^*$ such that $w - (a, b, c) \in H^3(F(\psi)/F)$, i.e. $w \equiv (a, b, c) \pmod{H^3(F(\psi)/F)}$. By the assumption on w, we see that $(a, b, c) \in H^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F)$ and $(a, b, c) \notin H^3(F(\rho)/F) + H^3(F(\psi)/F)$. Therefore, $\langle\langle a, b, c \rangle\rangle \in I^3(F(\rho, \psi)/F)$ and

$$\langle\!\langle a,b,c\rangle\!\rangle \notin I^3(F(\rho)/F) + I^3(F(\psi)/F) + H^4(F)$$
.

By Proposition 8.1, the quadratic form $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. By Corollary 8.4, the isotropy is not standard.

CHAPTER 5

Some new examples in the theory of quadratic forms

We construct a 6-dimensional quadratic form ϕ and a 4-dimensional quadratic form ψ over some field F such that ϕ becomes isotropic over the function field $F(\psi)$ but every proper subform of ϕ is still anisotropic over $F(\psi)$. It is an example of *non-standard isotropy* with respect to some standard conditions of isotropy for 6-dimensional forms over function fields of quadrics, known previously.

Besides of that, we produce an example of 8-dimensional quadratic form ϕ with trivial determinant such that the index of the Clifford invariant of ϕ is 4 but ϕ can not be represented as a sum of two 4-dimensional forms with trivial determinants. Using this, we find a 14-dimensional quadratic form with trivial discriminant and Clifford invariant which which is not similar to a difference of two 3-fold Pfister forms.

Results of this Chapter are obtained in joint work with Oleg Izhboldin.

0. Introduction

Let F be a field of characteristic $\neq 2$. An important problem in the algebraic theory of quadratic forms is to classify pairs of anisotropic quadratic forms ϕ , ψ such that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic, where $F(\psi)$ is the function field of ψ , i.e. the function field of the projective quadric determined by ψ . In the case $\dim \phi \leq 5$, a complete classification is known (see [15]). The case $\dim \phi = 6$ was studied in [16], [44], [45], [49], and [54]. In the case where dim $\phi = 6$ and $\dim \psi \neq 4$, a complete classification was obtained. It was shown in Chapters 3 and 4, that the same classification is valid for 4-dimensional forms ψ , if the case where dim $\phi = 6$, dim $\psi = 4$, $1 \neq \det_{\pm} \phi \neq \det_{\pm} \psi \neq 1$, ind $C_0(\phi) = 2$, and ind $C_0(\phi) \otimes C_0(\psi) = 2$ is excluded. Here (see Section 15) we construct in this excepted case an example of ϕ and ψ with non-standard (i.e. not matching the old classification) isotropy of ϕ over $F(\psi)$ (see Theorem 15.2). It is possible to explain what this "non-standard isotropy" does exactly mean without describing the old classification (Lemma 15.3): isotropy of ϕ over $F(\psi)$ is nonstandard if and only if the form ϕ is $F(\psi)$ -minimal, i.e. no proper subform of ϕ becomes isotropic over $F(\psi)$. A stronger version of Theorem 15.2 states that an example of non-standard isotropy can be obtained starting from an arbitrary anisotropic 4-dimensional form ψ (with det $\psi \neq 1$) over an arbitrary field F_0 by passing to an appropriate extension F of F_0 (see Corollary 15.4).

Let I(F) be the ideal of even-dimensional forms in the Witt ring W(F). Another important problem in the algebraic theory of quadratic forms is to give a classification of low-dimensional quadratic forms belonging to $I^n(F)$ for a fixed n > 0. For n = 2 and for n = 3, this problem was studied by many authors. In [28] Jacobson proved that quadratic forms $\phi \in I^2(F)$ of dimension < 6 are uniquely determined up to similarity by the Clifford invariant $c(\phi)$. There exists a good description of 8-dimensional forms $\phi \in I^2(F)$ satisfying the condition ind $C(\phi) \leq 2$. Namely, these quadratic forms can be written as tensor product of a 2-dimensional subform and a 4-dimensional subform (see e.g. [41, Example 9.12]). The case of 8-dimensional quadratic forms $\phi \in I^2(F)$ with ind $C(\phi) = 4$ is much more complicated. It was an open question if these quadratic forms can be written as $\tau_1 \perp \tau_2$, where τ_1 and τ_2 are 4-dimensional forms with trivial determinant. In Section 13 we construct a counterexample for this question (Corollary 13.8). Nevertheless we find a "weak version" of the decomposition $\phi = \tau_1 \perp \tau_2$. Note that quadratic forms of the type $\tau_1 \perp \tau_2$ can be regarded as Scharlau's transfer $s_{L/F}(\tau)$ in the degenerate case $L = F \times F$. We show that an arbitrary 8-dimensional form $\phi \in I^2(F)$ with $\operatorname{ind} C(\phi) = 4$ can be represented as Scharlau's transfer $s_{L/F}(\tau)$, where L/F is an (étale) quadratic extension and τ is a 4-dimensional L-form with trivial determinant (see Theorem 13.10).

In Section 14 we study quadratic forms $\phi \in I^3(F)$. The structure of ϕ in the case dim $\phi \leq 12$ was described by Pfister in [68, Satz 14 und Zusatz] (see also [18]). Our aim is to study 14-dimensional quadratic forms in $I^3(F)$. In [72] M. Rost proved that an arbitrary 14-dimensional quadratic form can be represented (up to similarity) as Scharlau's transfer $s_{L/F}(\sqrt{d}\tau')$, where $L = F(\sqrt{d})$ and τ' is the pure subform of a 3-fold Pfister form. Note that in the degenerate case $L = F \times F$ we get the decomposition $\phi = k(\tau'_1 \perp -\tau'_2)$, where τ'_1, τ'_2 are pure subforms of 3-fold Pfister forms τ_1, τ_2 and $k \in$ F^* . It was an open question if any 14-dimensional form $\phi \in I^3(F)$ can be written in the form $\phi = k(\tau'_1 \perp -\tau'_2)$. It was remarked by D. Hoffmann (1995, Bielefeld, oral communication) that this question is equivalent to the discussed above question on 8-dimensional forms $\phi \in I^2(F)$ with ind $C(\phi) = 4$. Using the counterexample for 8-dimensional forms, we construct (in Section 14) a counterexample for 14-dimensional forms.

Similar counterexamples of 8-dimensional and 14-dimensional forms in the case of characteristic 0 are independently constructed in [21] by using a completely different technique.

Now we explain the structure of the Chapter. It can be divided into two parts: Sections 2–11 and Sections 12–15. All main results listed above are obtained in the second part. In the first part, the necessary preparations are made. The results of Sections 8 and 10 are needed for the counterexamples of 8-and-14-dimensional forms, while the results of Sections 9 and 11 are for the non-standard isotropy. The constructions and proofs of Sections 8, 10 are parallel to that of Sections 9, 11. It is the reason for why we included the results on 8,14-dimensional forms and on the non-standard isotropy in the same Chapter. However, Sections 8, 10 and Sections 9, 11 are written in an independent manner, so that the reader interested only in one of two groups of results can choose (although, in order to understand more complicated calculations of Section 9, it is better to go through Section 8 first).

Now we explain more precisely the contents of several first preparation Sections.

In Section 2, we show that certain products of (generalized) Severi-Brauer varieties considered as schemes over certain subproducts via the projection can be naturally identified with grassmanians (Corollary 2.4). It was already done in Corollary 6.4 of Chapter 1 and in Proposition 5.3 of Chapter 2. However this time we need more explicit information: namely, we need a description of the vector bundle on the product of the Severi-Brauer varieties corresponding to the tautological vector bundle on the grassmanian under that identification. The answer is given in terms of the canonical vector bundles on the Severi-Brauer varieties.

Let Γ be the grassmanian of "*n*-planes" in a vector bundle on a variety X. In Section 3, we describe the Grothendieck group of Γ together with the topological filtration on it in terms of the Grothendieck group of X. The general answer (Proposition 3.3) is an easy consequence of the well-known result on the Chow group of a grassmanian. Some additional negligible efforts are made to formulate the result in terms of characteristic classes of the class $[\mathcal{T}]$ of the tautological vector bundle \mathcal{T} ; classically ([12, Proposition 14.6.5]) characteristic classes of $-[\mathcal{T}]$ are used, what is not convenient for practical use. After all this, we apply the general assertion to the case of the grassmanian of 2-planes in a rank 4 vector bundle and get some explicit formulas which are then used in Sections 8 and 9.

In Section 4, we reprove that the pull-back to the generic fiber of a flat morphism is surjective. For what kind of groups? Well, our final goal is the topological filtration i.e., each term of that (Corollary 4.3). We reach the goal starting with the Chow groups (Proposition 4.1) and passing after that to the quotients of the topological filtration (Corollary 4.2). The statement on the Chow groups is not new and even was already used several times in this work. It is a formal consequence of the spectral sequence [**39**, Theorem 3.1]. Here, we give a short direct proof or, better to say, an explanation of the evidence of this fact (Proposition 4.1).

1. Terminology, notation, and backgrounds

1.1. Quadratic forms. By $\phi \perp \psi$, $\phi \simeq \psi$, and $[\phi]$ we denote respectively orthogonal sum of forms, isometry of forms, and the class of ϕ in the Witt ring W(F) of the field F. To simplify notation we write $\phi_1 + \phi_2$ instead of $[\phi_1] + [\phi_2]$. The maximal ideal of W(F) generated by the classes of the even-dimensional forms is denoted by I(F). The anisotropic part of ϕ is denoted by ϕ_{an} . We denote by $\langle \langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle \rangle$ the *n*-fold Pfister form $\langle 1, -a_1 \rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes \langle 1, -a_n \rangle$ and by $P_n(F)$ the set of all *n*-fold Pfister forms. The set of all forms similar to an *n*-fold Pfister form we denote by $GP_n(F)$. For any field extension L/F, we put $\phi_L = \phi \otimes_F L$.

For a quadratic extension L/F and an L-form ϕ , we denote by $s_{L/F}(\phi)$ Scharlau's transfer [**76**, Ch. 2, §5] corresponding to the F-linear homomorphism $\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}_{L/F} : L \to F$. In the case where $L = F(\sqrt{d})$, we have $s_{L/F}(\langle 1 \rangle) = \langle 1, d \rangle$ and $s_{L/F}(\langle \sqrt{d} \rangle) = \langle 1, -1 \rangle$.

For a quadratic form ϕ of dimension ≥ 3 , we denote by X_{ϕ} the projective variety given by the equation $\phi = 0$. We set $F(\phi) = F(X_{\phi})$.

1.2. Linked forms. We say that quadratic *F*-forms ϕ and ψ are *linked* if the following equivalent conditions hold:

- there exists a 2-dimensional form μ which is similar to a subform of ϕ and to a subform of ψ ,
- there exists a field extension L/F of degree ≤ 2 such that ϕ_L and ψ_L are isotropic,

If ϕ and ψ are forms of dimension ≥ 3 , then the condition that ϕ and ψ are linked can be reformulated as follows: there exists a closed point of degree ≤ 2 on the variety $X_{\phi} \times X_{\psi}$.

1.3. *K*-theory and Chow groups. For a smooth algebraic *F*-variety *X*, its Grothendieck ring is denoted by K(X). This ring is equipped with the filtration by codimension of support (which respects the multiplication). For a ring (or a group) with filtration *A*, we denote by G^*A the adjoint graded ring (resp., the adjoint graded group). There is a canonical surjective homomorphism of the graded Chow ring $CH^*(X)$ onto $G^*K(X)$, its kernel consists only of torsion elements and is trivial in the 0-th, 1-st, and 2-nd graded components ([**81**, §9]). For a geometrically integral variety of dimension *d* we set $CH_i(X) = CH^{d-i}(X)$ and $G_iK(X) = G^{d-i}K(X)$.

1.4. Algebras. Let A be an algebra over a field F. For a field extension E/F (or, more generally, for a unital commutative F-algebra E), we denote by A_E the E-algebra $A \otimes_F E$. For an F-variety X (or, more generally, for an F-scheme X), we denote by A_X the constant X-sheaf of algebras given by A.

In Section 2, the category of commutative unital F-algebras is denoted by F- \mathfrak{alg} .

2. Products of Severi-Brauer varieties

Let F be a field and let A be a central simple algebra over F.

Let $n \geq 0$. The generalized Severi-Brauer variety $Y \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} SB(n, A)$ of A is characterized as follows: for any $R \in F$ - \mathfrak{alg} , the set of R-points $Y(R) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} Mor_F(\operatorname{Spec} R, Y)$ of the variety Y consists of the right ideals J of the Azumaya R-algebra $A_R \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} A \otimes_F R$ having two following properties:

• the injection of A_R -modules $J \hookrightarrow A_R$ splits (in particular, J is projective as the R-module);

• $\operatorname{rk} J = n$, where $\operatorname{rk} J$ is the *R*-rank of *J* divided by deg *A*;

moreover, for any homomorphism $R \to R'$ in the category F- \mathfrak{alg} , the map $Y(R) \to Y(R')$ is given by tensor multiplication $J \mapsto J \otimes_R R'$.

The (usual) Severi-Brauer variety SB(A) of A is by definition the variety SB(1, A).

EXAMPLE 2.1. Let A be a quaternion algebra (a, b), where $a, b \in F^*$. The Severi-Brauer variety SB(A) is isomorphic to the projective conic determined by the quadratic form $\langle 1, -a, -b \rangle$.

EXAMPLE 2.2. Let A be a biquaternion algebra $(a_1, b_1) \otimes (a_2, b_2)$, where a_1 , $b_1, a_2, b_2 \in F^*$. The generalized Severi-Brauer variety SB(2, A) is isomorphic to the projective quadric determined by the Albert form

$$\langle -a_1, -b_1, a_1b_1, a_2, b_2, -a_2b_2 \rangle$$
.

The canonical vector bundle \mathcal{J} on the generalized Severi-Brauer variety Y is defined as follows: for any $R \in F$ -alg and a point $J \in Y(R)$, the fiber of \mathcal{J} over J is the R-module J; if $R \to R'$ is a homomorphism in F-alg, then the map of the fibers $J \to J'$, where $J' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} J \otimes_R R' \in Y(R')$, is defined by the formula $x \mapsto x \otimes 1$.

Since every fiber of \mathcal{J} is right ideal, \mathcal{J} has a structure of right A_Y -module.

PROPOSITION 2.3. Let $X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} SB(A)$, $Y \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} SB(n, A^{\text{op}})$; let \mathcal{I} and \mathcal{J} be the canonical vector bundles on X and Y. The product $X \times Y$, considered over X via the first projection, can be naturally identified (as a scheme over X) with the grassmanian $\prod_n(\mathcal{I})$ of n-planes in \mathcal{I} ; by this identification, the tautological vector bundle on the grassmanian corresponds to a vector bundle on $X \times Y$ isomorphic to $\mathcal{I} \otimes_{A_{X \times Y}} \mathcal{J}$.

PROOF. Let $R \in F$ -alg and let I be an R-point of X. To prove the first part of Proposition, it suffices to describe a natural bijection of the fibers over I. The fiber of $X \times Y$ over the point I is the set Y(R). The fiber of $\prod_n(\mathcal{I})$ over the point I is the set of R-submodules N of the R-module I such that the injection $N \hookrightarrow I$ splits and $\operatorname{rk}_R N = n$. For any N like that, the set $\operatorname{Hom}_R(I, N)$ is a right ideal of the R-algebra $\operatorname{End}_R I = A_R^{\operatorname{op}}$ and thus determines an element of Y(R). In this way, we get the natural bijection required.

To describe an isomorphism of the vector bundles (mentioned in the second statement of Proposition), it suffices to give a natural isomorphism of the *R*-modules $I \otimes_{A_R} \operatorname{Hom}_R(I, N)$ and *N*. This is given by the rule $x \otimes f \mapsto f(x)$. \Box

Now, let A_1, \ldots, A_m, A be central simple F-algebras such that

 $A = A_1^{\otimes i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes A_m^{\otimes i_m}$ with certain $i_1, \ldots, i_m \ge 0$.

Denote by X_1, \ldots, X_m the Severi-Brauer varieties of the algebras A_1, \ldots, A_m . Put $X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X_1 \times \cdots \times X_m$ and $Y \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} SB(n, A^{\text{op}})$. For every $j = 1, \ldots, m$, let \mathcal{I}_j be the canonical vector bundle on X_j . Put $\mathcal{I} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathcal{I}_1^{\otimes i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathcal{I}_m^{\otimes i_m}$; it is a right A_X -module. Let \mathcal{J} be the canonical vector bundle on Y; it is a left A_Y -module.

COROLLARY 2.4. In the notation introduced right above, the product $X \times Y$, considered over X via the first projection, can be naturally identified (as a scheme over X) with the grassmanian $\prod_n(\mathcal{I})$; by this identification, the tautological vector bundle on the grassmanian corresponds to a vector bundle on $X \times Y$ isomorphic to $\mathcal{I} \otimes_{A_{X \times Y}} \mathcal{J}$.

PROOF. Put $X' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{SB}(A)$ and let \mathcal{I}' be the canonical vector bundle on X'. Let $R \in F-\mathfrak{alg}$. An element of the set $X(R) = X_1(R) \times \cdots \times X_m(R)$ is a collection (I_1, \ldots, I_m) where I_j is a right ideal in $(A_j)_R$. The tensor product $I_1 \otimes_R \cdots \otimes_R I_m$ is a right ideal of A_R . In this way we get a map of sets $X(R) \to X'(R)$ which is natural with respect to R. Let $X \to X'$ be the corresponding morphism of F-varieties.

Consider the cartesian square



By Proposition, we can identify the product $X' \times Y$ with the grassmanian $\prod_n(\mathcal{I}')$. Since the inverse image of the vector bundle \mathcal{I}' with respect to the morphism $X \to X'$ is \mathcal{I} , the variety $X \times Y$ can be therefore identified with $\prod_n(\mathcal{I})$.

Taking the inverse of the vector bundle $\mathcal{I}' \otimes_{A_{X'\times Y}} \mathcal{J}$ with respect to the morphism $X \times Y \to X' \times Y$, we get the vector bundle $\mathcal{I} \otimes_{A_{X\times Y}} \mathcal{J}$. It proves the second statement of Corollary.

3. The Grothendieck group of a grassmanian

By ring we mean a commutative unital ring.

Let R be a ring. We consider only the descending filtrations $R^{(i)}$ $(i \in \mathbb{Z})$ on R satisfying the following conditions:

- $R^{(i)} \cdot R^{(j)} \subset R^{(i+j)}$ for all i, j and
- $R^{(0)} = R$.

Let R be a ring with filtration and let M be an R-module. We consider only the descending filtrations $M^{(i)}$ on M satisfying the following conditions:

- $R^{(i)} \cdot M^{(j)} \subset M^{(i+j)}$ for all i, j and
- $M^{(0)} = M$.

DEFINITION 3.1. Let R be a ring with filtration, let M be an R-module, let $e_1, \ldots, e_k \in M$, and let $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_k \in \mathbb{Z}$. We define the filtration on M induced by the conditions $e_i \in M^{(\alpha_i)}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, k$ to be the smallest filtration on M satisfying these conditions.

The following assertion is evident:

LEMMA 3.2. For every $n \ge 1$, the n-th term $M^{(n)}$ of the filtration on M induced by the conditions $e_i \in M^{(\alpha_i)}$ (i = 1, ..., k) is determined by the formula

$$M^{(n)} = \sum_{j=1}^{k} R^{(n-\alpha_j)} \cdot e_j .$$

We fix the following notation for the rest of this Section: F is an arbitrary field, X is a smooth F-variety, $r \ge n \ge 0$ are integers, \mathcal{E} is a rank r vector bundle over $X, \Gamma \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathbf{\Gamma}_n(\mathcal{E})$ is the grassmanian of n-planes in the vector bundle \mathcal{E} , and π is the structure morphism $\Gamma \to X$. We put m = r - n.

We denote by \mathcal{T} the *tautological vector bundle* on Γ (also called the *universal vector subbundle* on Γ , see [12, §14.6]). The rank of \mathcal{T} equals n.

An (m, n)-partition λ is a sequence of integers $(\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_m)$ of length m satisfying the condition $n \geq \lambda_1 \geq \cdots \geq \lambda_m \geq 0$. The weight $|\lambda|$ of λ is by definition the sum $\lambda_1 + \cdots + \lambda_m$.

Let $s \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (s_1, s_2, ...)$ be a sequence of variables. Additionally, we put $s_0 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} 1$ and $s_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} 0$ for all i < 0. For an (m, n)-partition λ , the Schur polynomial $\Delta_{\lambda}(s)$ of λ is the determinant of the matrix $(s_{\lambda_i+j-i})_{i,j=1}^m$ (see also the definition of [12, §14.5]). It is a homogeneous polynomial of weight $|\lambda|$, if every s_i is taken with the weight i.

For every $i \geq 1$, let us substitute $s_i = (-1)^i c_i([\mathcal{T}])$ where $[\mathcal{T}]$ is the class of \mathcal{T} in $K(\Gamma)$ and $c_i \colon K(\Gamma) \to K(\Gamma)$ is the *i*-th Chern class with values in K (see Definition 2.1 of Chapter 1). For any (m, n)-partition λ , we put $\Delta_{\lambda} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Delta_{\lambda}(s)$. Since $c_i([\mathcal{T}]) \in K(\Gamma)^{(i)}$, we have $\Delta_{\lambda} \in K(\Gamma)^{(|\lambda|)}$.

We consider $K(\Gamma)$ as a K(X)-module via the pull-back homomorphism $\pi^* \colon K(X) \to K(\Gamma)$.

PROPOSITION 3.3. The K(X)-module $K(\Gamma)$ is free and the elements $\{\Delta_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda}$, where λ runs over all (m, n)-partitions, form its basis. The topological filtration on $K(\Gamma)$ is induced by the conditions $\Delta_{\lambda} \in K(\Gamma)^{(|\lambda|)}$ (see Definition 3.1).

PROOF. We have to show that the map

$$\bigoplus_{\lambda} K(X) \xrightarrow{\sum \cdot \Delta_{\lambda}} K(\Gamma)$$

is an isomorphism of groups with filtrations, where the direct sum is taken over all (m, n)-partitions λ and for every λ , the λ -summand K(X) of the direct sum is considered with the topological filtration shifted by $|\lambda|$.

Since the filtrations are finite, it suffices to show that the induced homomorphism of adjoint graded groups

$$\bigoplus_{\lambda} \mathbf{G}^{*-|\lambda|} K(X) \xrightarrow{\sum \cdot \bar{\Delta}_{\lambda}} \mathbf{G}^* K(\Gamma)$$

is an isomorphism, where $\bar{\Delta}_{\lambda}$ the class of Δ_{λ} in the quotient $G^{|\lambda|}K(\Gamma)$. We prove it (see Proposition 3.7) after we have introduced some additional notation and proved some preliminary assertions.

We repeat that we denote by $\overline{\Delta}_{\lambda}$ the class of Δ_{λ} in the quotient $G^{|\lambda|}K(\Gamma)$. Note that $\overline{\Delta}_{\lambda}$ can be also defined directly in the similar way as Δ_{λ} by using the the Chern classes with values in G^*K (see Definition 2.8 of Chapter 1) instead of the Chern classes with values in K.

Let us now substitute $s_i = c_i(-[\mathcal{T}]) \in K(\Gamma)$ for every $i \geq 1$. For an (n, m)partition λ' , we put $\nabla_{\lambda'} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \Delta_{\lambda'}(s)$. We have $\nabla_{\lambda'} \in K(\Gamma)^{(|\lambda'|)}$ and we denote by $\bar{\nabla}_{\lambda'} \in \mathrm{G}^{|\lambda'|}K(\Gamma)$ the residue class. Note that $\bar{\nabla}_{\lambda'}$ can be also defined directly in the similar way as $\nabla_{\lambda'}$ by using the the Chern classes with values in G^*K . Now, taking the Chern classes with values in CH^* , let us define in the similar way one more element $\nabla_{\lambda'}^{\mathrm{CH}} \in \mathrm{CH}^{|\lambda'|}(\Gamma)$.

PROPOSITION 3.4. The map

$$\bigoplus_{\lambda'} \mathrm{CH}^{*-|\lambda'|}(X) \xrightarrow{\sum \cdot \nabla_{\lambda'}^{\mathrm{CH}}} \mathrm{CH}^{*}(\Gamma),$$

where λ' runs over the set of all (n, m)-partitions, is an isomorphism of graded groups.

PROOF. First of all, it is evidently a homomorphism of graded groups because $\nabla_{\lambda'}^{\text{CH}} \in \text{CH}^{|\lambda'|}(\Gamma)$ for every λ' . Thus we only have to show that it is an isomorphism of groups, without taking care for the gradations. This is done in [12, Proposition 14.6.5].

An (n, m)-partition λ' is called *dual* to an (m, n)-partition λ , if λ'_i (for every i = 1, ..., n) is equal to the quantity of $\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_m$ which are $\geq i$.

LEMMA 3.5. Let λ be an (m, n)-partition and let λ' be the (n, m)-partition dual to λ . Then $\Delta_{\lambda} = \nabla_{\lambda'}$. In particular, $\overline{\Delta}_{\lambda} = \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda'}$.

PROOF. The first relation follows from [12, Lemma 14.5.1]. After that the second relation is evident (note that $|\lambda| = |\lambda'|$).

LEMMA 3.6 ("Duality theorem"). Let λ' and λ'' be (n, m)-partitions such that $|\lambda''| + |\lambda'| \leq nm$ and let $\alpha \in G^*K(X)$. Then

$$\pi_* \left(\bar{\nabla}_{\lambda'} \cdot \bar{\nabla}_{\lambda''} \cdot \pi^*(\alpha) \right) = \begin{cases} \alpha, & \text{if } \lambda_i'' = m - \lambda_{n-i+1}' \text{ for all } 1 \le i \le n; \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

PROOF. Denote by $\tilde{\alpha} \in CH^*(X)$ an arbitrary preimage of α with respect to the canonical epimorphism $CH^*(X) \twoheadrightarrow G^*K(X)$. By the Chow group variant of the duality theorem ([12, Proposition 14.6.3]), we have the formula

$$\pi_* \left(\nabla_{\lambda'}^{\mathrm{CH}} \cdot \nabla_{\lambda''}^{\mathrm{CH}} \cdot \pi^*(\tilde{\alpha}) \right) = \begin{cases} \tilde{\alpha}, & \text{if } \lambda_i'' = m - \lambda_{n-i+1}' \text{ for all } 1 \le i \le n; \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Since the canonical epimorphism $CH^*(-) \rightarrow G^*K(-)$ commutes with pushforwards, pull-backs, and Chern classes, the formula required follows.

PROPOSITION 3.7. The map

$$\bigoplus_{\lambda} \mathbf{G}^{*-|\lambda|} K(X) \xrightarrow{\sum \cdot \bar{\Delta}_{\lambda}} \mathbf{G}^* K(\Gamma)$$

is an isomorphism of graded groups.

PROOF. By Lemma 3.5, the homomorphism $\sum \cdot \bar{\Delta}_{\lambda}$ coincides with the homomorphism $\sum \cdot \bar{\nabla}_{\lambda'}$, where λ' runs over all (n, m)-partitions. By Proposition 3.4, the upper arrow in the commutative diagram



is an isomorphism. Therefore the bottom arrow, i.e. the homomorphism $\sum \overline{\nabla} \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda'}$, is surjective. So, it remains to prove injectivity.

We prove injectivity of $\sum \cdot \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda'}$ in exactly the same way as injectivity of $\sum \cdot \nabla_{\lambda'}^{CH}$ is proved in [12] (see the beginning of the proof of [12, Proposition 14.6.5]). Suppose that the homomorphism is not injective. Let $\oplus \alpha_{\lambda'}$ be a non-zero element of ker $(\sum \cdot \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda'})$. Choose an (n, m)-partition $\tilde{\lambda}'$ of maximal weight such that $\alpha_{\tilde{\lambda}'} \neq 0$. Define another (n, m)-partition $\tilde{\lambda}''$ as follows: $\tilde{\lambda}''_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} m - \tilde{\lambda}'_{n-i+1}$ for $i = 1, \ldots, n$. By Lemma 3.6, we have

$$0 = \pi_* \big(\bar{\nabla}_{\tilde{\lambda}''} \cdot (\sum_{\lambda'} \cdot \bar{\nabla}_{\lambda'})(\alpha) \big) = \sum_{\lambda'} \pi_* \big(\bar{\nabla}_{\tilde{\lambda}''} \cdot \bar{\nabla}_{\tilde{\lambda}'} \cdot \pi^*(\alpha) \big) = \alpha_{\tilde{\lambda}'} ,$$

a contradiction.

The proof of Proposition 3.3 is complete.

REMARK 3.8. The assertion that $K(\Gamma)$ is a free K(X)-module holds in a more general situation, namely in the case where Γ is a *twisted* grassmanian over X. A proof can be found in [50, Theorem 4.4]. However the system of generators which appears there has no "good relation" to the topological filtration and differs from that of Proposition 3.3.

We are especially interested in the case where m = n = 1 (i.e. in the case of a projective line bundle) and in the case where m = n = 2.

COROLLARY 3.9. Let $\Gamma \to X$ be a projective line bundle and let \mathcal{T} be the tautological vector bundle on Γ . Then $K(\Gamma)$ is a free K(X)-module with the basis $1, 1 - [\mathcal{T}]$; the topological filtration on $K(\Gamma)$ is induced by the condition $1 - [\mathcal{T}] \in K(\Gamma)^{(1)}$.

PROOF. We apply Proposition 3.3 to the particular situation of Corollary. Since now m = n = 1, we have only two (m, n)-partitions: $\lambda = (0)$ and $\lambda = (1)$. In the first case we get $\Delta_{\lambda} = 1$, in the second case we get $\Delta_{\lambda} = 1 - [\mathcal{T}]$. \Box

COROLLARY 3.10. Let $\Gamma \to X$ be the Grassmanian of 2-planes in a rank 4 vector bundle over X. Denote by $-\eta, \mu \in K(\Gamma)$ respectively the first and the second Chern classes of the tautological vector bundle on Γ . Then $K(\Gamma)$ is a free K(X)-module with the basis $1, \eta, \mu, \eta^2, \mu\eta, \mu^2$; moreover, the topological filtration on $K(\Gamma)$ is induced by the conditions $\eta \in K(\Gamma)^{(1)}; \eta^2, \mu \in K(\Gamma)^{(2)};$ $\eta\mu \in K(\Gamma)^{(3)}; \mu^2 \in K(\Gamma)^{(4)}.$

PROOF. We apply Proposition 3.3 to the particular situation of Corollary. We are going to compute Δ_{λ} for every (2, 2)-partition λ . We use the notation introduced above. In particular, s_0, s_1, s_2 are variables and $s_{-1} = 0 = s_3$.

• For $\lambda = (2, 2)$, we have

$$\Delta_{\lambda}(s) = \det \begin{pmatrix} s_2 & s_3 \\ s_1 & s_2 \end{pmatrix} = s_2^2 - s_1 s_3 = s_2^2 ; \text{ therefore } \Delta_{(2,2)} = \mu^2.$$

• For $\lambda = (2, 1)$, we have

$$\Delta_{\lambda}(s) = \det \begin{pmatrix} s_2 & s_3 \\ s_0 & s_1 \end{pmatrix} = s_2 s_1 - s_0 s_3 = s_2 s_1 ; \text{ therefore } \Delta_{(2,1)} = \mu \eta.$$

• For $\lambda = (2, 0)$, we have

$$\Delta_{\lambda}(s) = \det \begin{pmatrix} s_2 & s_3 \\ s_{-1} & s_0 \end{pmatrix} = s_2 s_0 - s_{-1} s_3 = s_2 s_0 ; \text{ therefore } \Delta_{(2,0)} = \mu.$$

• For $\lambda = (1, 1)$, we have

$$\Delta_{\lambda}(s) = \det \begin{pmatrix} s_1 & s_2 \\ s_0 & s_1 \end{pmatrix} = s_1^2 - s_0 s_2 ; \text{ therefore } \Delta_{(1,1)} = \eta^2 - \mu.$$

• For $\lambda = (1, 0)$, we have

$$\Delta_{\lambda}(s) = \det \begin{pmatrix} s_1 & s_2 \\ s_{-1} & s_0 \end{pmatrix} = s_1 s_0 - s_{-1} s_2 = s_1 s_0 ; \text{ therefore } \Delta_{(1,0)} = \eta.$$

• For $\lambda = (0, 0)$, we have

$$\Delta_{\lambda}(s) = \det \begin{pmatrix} s_0 & s_1 \\ s_{-1} & s_0 \end{pmatrix} = s_0^2 - s_{-1}s_1 = s_0^2; \text{ therefore } \Delta_{(0,0)} = 1$$

To finish the proof, we just replace $\Delta_{(1,1)}$ by $\Delta_{(1,1)} + \Delta_{(2,0)} = \eta^2$.

4. Pull-back to generic fiber

We fix the following notation for this Section: F is a field, X and Y are irreducible varieties over F, $\pi : X \to Y$ is a flat morphism, θ is the generic point of Y, and $X_{\theta} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X \times_Y \operatorname{Spec} F(\theta)$ is the fiber of π over θ . We are going to consider the pull-back with respect to the flat morphism of schemes $i: X_{\theta} \to X$.

Note that from the set-theoretical (even topological) point of view, X_{θ} is really the fiber of π over the point θ (see [14, Exercise 3.10 after §3 of Chapter II]). In particular, X_{θ} is a subset of X.

The group $\operatorname{CH}^*(X)$ is generated by the classes [x] of points $x \in X$. The pull-back homomorphism $i^* : \operatorname{CH}^*(X) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(X_\theta)$ is determined by the following rule: if $x \notin X_\theta$ (i.e., if $\pi(x) \neq \theta$), then $i^*([x]) = 0$; if $x \in X_\theta$ (i.e., if $\pi(x) = \theta$), then $i^*([x]) = [x] \in \operatorname{CH}^*(X_\theta)$.

PROPOSITION 4.1. The pull-back homomorphism $i^* \colon \mathrm{CH}^*(X) \to \mathrm{CH}^*(X_\theta)$ is surjective.

PROOF. Take any generator $\alpha \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} [x]$ of the group $\operatorname{CH}^*(X_\theta)$, where $x \in X_\theta$. If we consider x as a point of X, we get an element $\beta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} [x] \in \operatorname{CH}^*(X)$ such that $i^*(\beta) = \alpha$.

COROLLARY 4.2. The pull-back homomorphism $i^* : G^*K(X) \to G^*K(X_\theta)$ is surjective.

PROOF. The diagram

where the vertical arrows are the canonical epimorphisms (see Section 1), is commutative. Since the map $\operatorname{CH}^*(X) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(X_{\theta})$ is surjective (Proposition 4.1) and the map $\operatorname{CH}^*(X_{\theta}) \to \operatorname{G}^*K(X_{\theta})$ is surjective, the map $\operatorname{G}^*K(X) \to \operatorname{G}^*K(X_{\theta})$ is surjective as well. \Box

COROLLARY 4.3. For any $n \ge 0$, the pull-back homomorphism

$$i^* \colon K(X)^{(n)} \to K(X_\theta)^{(n)}$$

is surjective.

PROOF. Follows from Corollary 4.2.

5. Weil transfer via Galois descent

In this Section, L/F is a finite Galois field extension of degree n with the Galois group G. All varieties are assumed to be quasi-projective.

DEFINITION 5.1. Let X be an F-variety. An L/F-form of X is an F-variety Y supplied with an isomorphism $Y_L \xrightarrow{\sim} X_L$. A morphism of an L/F-form Y to another L/F-form Y' of the same variety X is a morphism of F-varieties $f: Y \to Y'$ such that the diagram of L-morphisms

$$\begin{array}{ccc} Y_L \xrightarrow{J_L} & Y'_L \\ \searrow & \swarrow \\ & \swarrow \\ & & \chi_L \end{array}$$

commutes.

Let X be an F-variety. The (abstract) group $\operatorname{Aut}(X_L)$ of the automorphisms of the L-variety X_L can be supplied with a structure of G-module in the standard way (see [79, §1.1 de Chapitre III]): for $\tau \in G$ and $f \in \operatorname{Aut}(X_L)$ one puts $\tau(f) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\operatorname{id}_X \otimes \tau) \circ f \circ (\operatorname{id}_X \otimes \tau^{-1})$ where $\operatorname{id}_X \otimes \tau$ is the automorphism of the scheme X_L over F given by τ . Denote by $Z^1(G, \operatorname{Aut}(X_L)) = Z^1(L/F, \operatorname{Aut}(X_L))$ the set of 1-cocycles on G with values in $\operatorname{Aut}(X_L)$ ([79, §5.1 de Chapitre I]).

Any L/F-form Y of X determines a cocycle $z \in Z^1(L/F, \operatorname{Aut}(X_L))$ ([79, §1.3 de Chapitre III]): for any $\tau \in G$, the automorphism $z_{\tau} \in \operatorname{Aut}(X_L)$ is the composition

$$X_L \xrightarrow{\sim} Y_L \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_X \otimes \tau} Y_L \xrightarrow{\sim} X_L \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}_X \otimes \tau^{-1}} X_L$$

Moreover, the rule described above is a 1-1-correspondence between the set of L/F-forms of X (up to the *canonical* isomorphism) and the set

$$Z^1(L/F, \operatorname{Aut}(X_L))$$

(compare to [79, 1.3 de Chapitre III]).

Now suppose that $X = \prod_G T$ (the product of *n* copies of *T* numbered by the elements of *G*), where *T* is a variety over *F*. We are going to construct a special 1-cocycle $z \in Z^1(L/F, \operatorname{Aut}(X_L))$ in this special situation.

The group S_n of the permutations of the set G (recall that n = |G|) can be naturally identified with a subgroup of the group $\operatorname{Aut} X_L$: a permutation of the set G corresponds to the automorphism of the product $X_L = \prod_G Y_L$ given by the permutation of the factors. Moreover, this way S_n is a G-submodule of $\operatorname{Aut} X_L$ with trivial action of G. In particular, the set $Z^1(G, S_n)$ consists of the group homomorphisms $G \to S_n$.

For any $\tau \in G$ denote by $z_{\tau} \in S_n$ the left translation by τ , that is the permutation $\sigma \mapsto \tau \sigma$ of the set G. The map $z : G \to S_n$ given by the rule $\tau \mapsto z_{\tau}$ is a group homomorphism and thus $z \in Z^1(G, S_n)$.

We shall consider z as an element of $Z^1(L/F, \operatorname{Aut}(X_L))$.

DEFINITION 5.2. The following data are fixed: a finite Galois field extension L/F and an F-variety T. The L/F-form (see Definition 5.1) of the variety $X_L \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \prod_G T_L$ determined by the cocycle $z \in Z^1(L/F, \operatorname{Aut}(X_L))$ constructed above will be denoted by $\mathcal{R}(T)$ or $\mathcal{R}_{L/F}(T)$.

REMARK 5.3. The variety $\mathcal{R}_{L/F}(T)$ is the same as the Weil transfer (see [8, 6.6 de §1 de Chapitre I] and/or [77, Chapter 4]) of the L-variety T_L with respect to the extension L/F. Usually, working with varieties over fields, one defines the Weil transfer for any finite separable field extension L/F and a quasi-projective L-variety. However, we are interested here only in the case where the extension L/F is Galois and the L-variety "comes from F". Definition 5.2 can be regarded as an alternative definition of the Weil transfer in this particular situation. It is more convenient for our purposes: the property of $\mathcal{R}(Y)$ we need (see Lemma 5.5 below) becomes evident.

EXAMPLE 5.4. Let us take as L/F a quadratic extension $L = F(\sqrt{d})$ with some $d \in F^*$ and as T the Severi-Brauer variety of a quaternion F-algebra (a, b). Then $\mathcal{R}(T)$ is the quadric determined by the quadratic form

$$\langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$$
.

LEMMA 5.5. Let L/F be a finite Galois field extension with the Galois group G. Let T be an F-variety. For any $\tau \in G$, the following diagram of isomorphisms commutes

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{R}(T)_L & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id}\otimes\tau} & \mathcal{R}(T)_L \\ & & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ \prod_G T_L & \xrightarrow{(\operatorname{id}\otimes\tau)\circ z_\tau} & \prod_G T_L \end{array}$$

PROOF. It is a direct consequence of Definition 5.2.

6. Galois action on Grothendieck group

In this Section, F is an arbitrary field, L/F is a field extension (e.g. a Galois extension), G is a group of automorphism of L over F (e.g. the Galois group in the case where L/F is a Galois extension), Y is an F-variety.

The group G acts on the Grothendieck group $K(Y_L)$ of the L-variety Y_L . We are interested in a condition on Y which guarantees that the action of G on $K(Y)_L$ is trivial.

LEMMA 6.1. Suppose that the group $K(Y_L)$ is torsion-free and that the cokernel of the restriction map $\operatorname{res}_{L/F} : K(Y) \to K(Y_L)$ is a torsion group. Then the action of G on $K(Y_L)$ is trivial.

PROOF. Take any $y \in K(Y_L)$ and any $\sigma \in G$. Since $\operatorname{Coker}(\operatorname{res}_{L/F})$ is a torsion group, some multiple ny of y is in $\operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{res}_{L/F})$, therefore $\sigma(ny) = ny$. Since the group $K(Y_L)$ is torsion-free, it follows that $\sigma(y) = y$.

Working with homogeneous varieties, we have the first condition of Lemma 6.1 for free: the group K(Y) is natural (with respect to extensions of the base field F) isomorphic to K(A), where A is a separable algebra (i.e. the direct product of simple algebras with centers separable over F) ([**65**, Introduction]). As to the second condition, it is equivalent to the condition that every simple component of A is central over F. We are not interested here in a complete list of homogeneous varieties satisfying this condition. We only notice that the generalized Severi-Brauer varieties are included (see [**69**, Theorem 4.1 of §8] for the case of usual Severi-Brauer varieties) as well as their direct products ([**59**, §1.8]). So that we have

COROLLARY 6.2. Let Y be a product of generalized Severi-Brauer varieties. Then the action of G on $K(Y_L)$ is trivial.

COROLLARY 6.3. Let L/F be a finite Galois extension, G its Galois group, and Y a product of generalized Severi-Brauer varieties over F. Let us identify $\mathcal{R}(Y)_L$ with $\prod_G Y_L$ (see Definition 5.2). Then for any $\sigma \in G$ the automorphism of $K(\mathcal{R}(Y)_L)$ given by σ corresponds to the automorphism of $K(\prod_G Y_L)$ given by the automorphism of the product induced by the permutation z_{σ} of the factors, where z_{σ} is the left translation by σ .

PROOF. By Lemma 5.5, the diagram

commutes. By Corollary 6.2, σ over the bottom arrow is the identity.

7. Product of conics

In this Section, the ground field is denoted by l in order to adopt the notation to the situation where the results of this Section will be applied. We fix an algebraic closure \overline{l} of the field l. All algebras and varieties in this Section are algebras and varieties over l. For any variety X, we denote by \overline{X} the \overline{l} -variety $X_{\overline{l}}$. For any homogeneous variety X, we identify the ring K(X) with its image in $K(\overline{X})$ under the restriction homomorphism which is injective because the group K(X) is torsion-free ([**65**, Introduction]).

We also need to introduce certain terminology concerning the abelian groups with filtration.

Let A be an abelian group. We consider only the descending filtration $A^{(i)}$ $(i \in \mathbb{Z})$ on A satisfying the condition $A^{(0)} = A$.

DEFINITION 7.1. Let A be an abelian group with filtration and $a \in A$. We define the *codimension* $\operatorname{codim}_A a$ of a in A as

$$\operatorname{codim}_A a \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sup\{i \in \mathbb{Z} \mid a \in A^{(i)}\}$$
.

DEFINITION 7.2. Let A be an abelian group with filtration. A system of generators a_1, \ldots, a_n of A is called *filtering* if for any $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ the term $A^{(i)}$ is generated by a subsystem of a_1, \ldots, a_n (and hence, generated by the subsystem of the elements of codimensions $\geq i$). A filtering system is called a *filtering basis* if the abelian group A is free and a_1, \ldots, a_n form its basis.

Clearly, to determine a filtration on A, it suffices to give a filtering system of generators with their codimensions. Giving a filtering system of generators, we shall first write down its elements of codimension 0; then, after the ";"-sign, the elements of codimension 1; and so on.

LEMMA 7.3. Let Q be a split quaternion algebra and let Y be its Severi-Brauer variety. Denote by $p \in K(Y)$ the class of a rational point. Then 1; p is a filtering basis of K(Y). The multiplication in the ring K(Y) is determined by the formula $p^2 = 0$. PROOF. Since the quaternion algebra Q is split, the variety Y is (isomorphic to) a projective line. The statement on the filtering basis follows now e.g. from Corollary 3.9 (note that the tautological vector bundle \mathcal{T} corresponds to the locally free module $\mathcal{O}(-1)$ and that $p = 1 - [\mathcal{T}]$). Since $p^2 \in K(Y)^{(2)}$ and dim Y = 1, it follows that $p^2 = 0$.

LEMMA 7.4. Let Q be a quaternion division algebra and let Y be its Severi-Brauer variety. Denote by $p \in K(\bar{Y})$ the class of a rational point. Then 1; 2p is a filtering basis of K(Y).

PROOF. Since there exists a quadratic extension of L splitting Q, the transfer argument shows that $2p \in K(Y)^{(1)}$. Thus K(Y) contains the subgroup of $K(\bar{Y})$ generated by 1 and 2p; the index of the latter subgroup in $K(\bar{Y})$ is 2. Since there is a natural (with respect to extensions of scalars) isomorphism $K(Y) \simeq K(L) \oplus K(Q)$ ([69, Theorem 4.1 of §8]), the index of K(Y) in $K(\bar{Y})$ equals ind Q = 2. Consequently, K(Y) coincides with the subgroup generated by 1 and 2p.

Now we check the statement on the filtration. We have $K(Y)^{(1)} \subset K(Y) \cap K(\bar{Y})^{(1)}$ and the intersection is evidently generated by 2p. From the other hand, we have already shown that $2p \in K(Y)^{(1)}$. Thus $K(Y)^{(1)}$ coincides with the subgroup generated by 2p.

For two next lemmas, we fix the following notation: Q_1, \ldots, Q_n are quaternion algebras; for $i = 1, \ldots, n$, let Y_i be the Severi-Brauer variety of Q_i and let $pr_i: Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_n \to Y_i$ be the projection.

LEMMA 7.5. Suppose that the quaternion algebras Q_1, \ldots, Q_n are split. Then the map

 $pr_1^* \cdots pr_n^* \colon K(Y_1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \cdots \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} K(Y_n) \to K(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_n)$

is an isomorphism of rings with filtration. In particular,

1; $\{p_i\}_i$; $\{p_ip_j\}_{i < j}$; ...; $p_1 \cdots p_n$

is a filtering basis of $K(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_n)$, where $p_i \in K(Y_i)$ are the classes of rational points.

PROOF. Since the quaternion algebras Q_1, \ldots, Q_n are split, the varieties Y_1, \ldots, Y_n are (isomorphic to) projective lines.

LEMMA 7.6. Suppose that the quaternion algebras Q_1, \ldots, Q_n are such that the tensor product $Q_1 \otimes_l \cdots \otimes_l Q_n$ is a skewfield. Then the map

 $pr_1^* \cdots pr_n^* \colon K(Y_1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \cdots \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} K(Y_n) \to K(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_n)$

is an isomorphism of rings with filtration. In particular,

1; $\{2p_i\}_i$; $\{4p_ip_j\}_{i < j}$; ...; $2^n p_1 \cdots p_n$

is a filtering basis of $K(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_n)$, where $p_i \in K(\overline{Y}_i)$ are the classes of rational points.

PROOF. The map $pr_1^* \cdots pr_n^* \colon K(Y_1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \cdots \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} K(Y_n) \to K(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_n)$ (which is a homomorphism of rings with filtrations) is evidently injective. To check that its image, i.e. the group $K(Y_1) \cdots K(Y_n)$, coincides with $K(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_n)$ it suffices to check equality of the indexes (compare to the proof of Lemma 7.4). Since by [**69**, Theorem 4.1 of §8]

$$K(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_n) \simeq K((F \times Q_1) \otimes_l \cdots \otimes_l (F \times Q_n))$$

and for any $1 \leq i_1 < \cdots < i_k \leq n$ the product $Q_{i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes Q_{i_k}$, being a division algebra, has the index 2^k , the index of $K(Y_1 \times \cdots \times Y_n)$ in $K(\bar{Y}_1 \times \cdots \times \bar{Y}_n)$ coincides with the index of $K(Y_1) \cdots K(Y_n)$.

Now we check the statement on the filtrations. For any $p \ge 0$, the following inclusions are evident:

$$(K(Y_1)\cdots K(Y_n))^{(p)} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{i_1+\cdots+i_n=p} K(Y_1)^{(i_1)}\cdots K(Y_n)^{(i_n)} \subset \subset K(Y_1\times\cdots\times Y_n)^{(p)} \subset K(Y_1\times\cdots\times Y_n) \cap K(\bar{Y}_1\times\cdots\times \bar{Y}_n)^{(p)} .$$

Since the first term coincides with the last one, we are done.

Let $\hat{Y} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{SB}(Q)$ and $\check{Y} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{SB}(Q^{\text{op}})$, where Q is a quaternion algebra. The canonical vector bundle $\hat{\mathcal{I}}$ on \hat{Y} is a right $Q_{\hat{Y}}$ -module while the canonical vector bundle $\check{\mathcal{I}}$ on \check{Y} is a left $Q_{\check{Y}}$ -module. Denote by \mathcal{E} the tensor product $\hat{\mathcal{I}} \otimes_{Q_{\check{Y}\times\check{Y}}}\check{\mathcal{I}}$. It is a vector bundle of rank 1. Let \hat{p} and \check{p} be the classes of rational points on \tilde{Y} and \check{Y} .

LEMMA 7.7. In the notation introduced right above, the class of \mathcal{E} in $K(\hat{Y} \times \check{Y})$ equals $(1 - \hat{p})(1 - \check{p})$.

PROOF. First note that $4[\mathcal{E}] = [\hat{\mathcal{I}}] \cdot [\check{\mathcal{I}}]$, because $4 = \dim_l Q$. For the rest of the proof we assume that Q is split. The varieties \hat{Y}, \check{Y} are (isomorphic to) projective spaces and $[\hat{\mathcal{I}}] = 2[\mathcal{O}_{\check{Y}}(-1)], [\check{\mathcal{I}}] = 2[\mathcal{O}_{\check{Y}}(-1)]$ ([**69**, §8.4]). Finally, since \hat{p} is the class of a hyperplane, we have $\hat{p} = 1 - [\mathcal{O}_{\check{Y}}(-1)]$. Analogously, $\check{p} = 1 - [\mathcal{O}_{\check{Y}}(-1)]$. So, we get the formula $4[\mathcal{E}] = 4(1 - \hat{p})(1 - \check{p})$. Since the Grothendieck group is torsion-free, one can divide by 4.

8. Preliminary calculations I

The goal of this Section is Proposition 8.5.

In this Section, the ground field is denoted by l in order to adopt the notation to the situation where the results of this Section will be applied.

We are going to treat a rather special situation which will occur in Section 10. Let \hat{Q}_1 and \hat{Q}_2 be quaternion division *l*-algebras such that the tensor

product $\hat{Q} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \hat{Q}_1 \otimes_l \hat{Q}_2$ is a skew-field. For i = 1, 2, we put

 $\mathfrak{X} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X \times \hat{T} \times \overset{\vee}{T}.$

Let $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_1$ be the canonical vector bundle on $\hat{Y}_1, \hat{\mathcal{I}}_2$ the canonical vector bundle on \hat{Y}_2 , and $\hat{\mathcal{J}}$ the canonical vector bundle on \hat{T} . The tensor product $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_1 \otimes \hat{\mathcal{I}}_2$ of the vector bundles over \mathfrak{X} is a right $\hat{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -module, while $\hat{\mathcal{J}}$ is a left $\hat{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -module. Put $\hat{\mathcal{T}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\hat{\mathcal{I}}_1 \otimes \hat{\mathcal{I}}_2) \otimes_{\hat{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \hat{\mathcal{J}}$ and denote by $-\hat{\eta}, \hat{\mu} \in K(\mathfrak{X})$ the first and the second Chern classes of \mathcal{T} .

Let \mathcal{I}_1 be the canonical vector bundle on Y_1 , \mathcal{I}_2 the canonical vector bundle on Y_2 , and \mathcal{J} the canonical vector bundle on T. The tensor product $\mathcal{I}_1 \otimes \mathcal{I}_2$ of the vector bundles over \mathfrak{X} is a right $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -module, while \mathcal{J} is a left $Q_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -module. Put $\check{\mathcal{T}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\check{\mathcal{I}}_1 \otimes \check{\mathcal{I}}_2) \otimes_{\check{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \check{\mathcal{J}}$ and denote by $-\check{\eta}, \check{\mu} \in K(\mathfrak{X})$ the first and the second Chern classes of \mathcal{T} .

By \hat{p}_1 , \hat{p}_2 , \check{p}_1 , and \check{p}_2 we denote the classes of rational points on $\overline{\check{Y}}_1$, $\overline{\check{Y}}_2$, $\overline{\check{Y}}_1$, and $\overline{\check{Y}}_2$.

PROPOSITION 8.1. A filtering basis of the group $K(\mathfrak{X})$ is given by the products of elements of the following table such that from every column at most one element is taken:

1	$2\hat{p}_1$	$2 \hat{p}_2$	$\stackrel{{}_\circ}{p}_1+\stackrel{{}_\circ}{p}_1-\stackrel{{}_\circ}{p}_1\stackrel{{}_\circ}{p}_1$	$\stackrel{{}_\circ}{p}_2+\stackrel{{}_\circ}{p}_2-\stackrel{{}_\circ}{p}_2\stackrel{{}_\circ}{p}_2$	$\hat{\eta}$	$\check{\eta}$
2					$\hat{\mu}, \hat{\eta}^2$	$\check{\mu},\check{\eta}^2$
3					$\hat{\mu}\hat{\eta}$	$\check{\mu}\check{\eta}$
4					$\hat{\mu}^2$	$\overset{{}_{}}{\mu}^2$

The codimension of an element in the table is the number of the line where it is placed; the codimension of an element of the filtering basis is the sum of the codimensions of the factors.

PROOF. By Corollary 2.4, the projection $\hat{Y}_1 \times \hat{Y}_2 \times \hat{T} \to \hat{Y}_1 \times \hat{Y}_2$ is a grassmanian. Thus $\mathfrak{X} \to X \times \overset{\vee}{T}$ is a grassmanian as well (this morphism is obtained from the previous one by a base change). More precisely, it is the grassmanian of 2-planes in a rank 4 vector bundle. Moreover, by Corollary 2.4, $\hat{\mathcal{T}}$ is the tautological vector bundle of this grassmanian. Therefore, by Corollary 3.10, $K(\mathfrak{X})$ is a free $K(X \times \tilde{T})$ -module with the basis $1, \hat{\eta}, \hat{\mu}, \hat{\eta}^2, \hat{\mu}\hat{\eta}, \hat{\mu}^2$ and the topological filtration on $K(\mathfrak{X})$ is induced by the conditions $\stackrel{\wedge}{\eta} \in K(\mathfrak{X})^{(1)}$; $\stackrel{\wedge}{\eta}^{2}, \stackrel{\wedge}{\mu} \in K(\mathfrak{X})^{(2)}; \stackrel{\wedge}{\eta}\stackrel{\wedge}{\mu} \in K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}; \stackrel{\wedge}{\mu}^{2} \in K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}.$

We have reduced the problem of computation of the group $K(\mathfrak{X})$ with the filtration to the similar problem for $K(X \times \check{T})$.

By Corollary 2.4, the projection $Y_1 \times Y_2 \times T \to Y_1 \times Y_2$ is a grassmanian. Thus $X \times T \to X$ is a grassmanian as well (this morphism is obtained from the previous one by a base change). More precisely, it is (once again) the grassmanian of 2-planes in a rank 4 vector bundle (Corollary 2.4). Moreover, \tilde{T} is the tautological vector bundle of this grassmanian. Therefore, by Corollary 3.10, $K(X \times T)$ is a free K(X)-module with the basis $1, \tilde{\eta}, \check{\mu}, \tilde{\eta}^2, \check{\mu}\check{\eta}, \check{\mu}^2$ and the topological filtration on $K(X \times T)$ is induced by the conditions $\tilde{\eta} \in K(X \times T)^{(1)}$; $\check{\eta}^2, \check{\mu} \in K(X \times T)^{(2)}; \, \check{\eta}\check{\mu} \in K(X \times T)^{(3)}; \, \check{\mu}^2 \in K(X \times T)^{(4)}$.

We have reduced the problem of computation of the group $K(X \times \check{T})$ with the filtration to the similar problem for K(X).

By Proposition 3.3, the projection $\hat{Y}_2 \times \check{Y}_2 \to \check{Y}_2$ is a projective line bundle. Thus $X \to X_1 \times \check{Y}_2$ is a projective line bundle as well (this morphism is obtained from the previous one by a base change). Moreover, according to Lemma 7.7, the class of the tautological vector bundle on this grassmanian equals $(1-\hat{p}_2)(1-\check{p}_2)$. Consequently, by Corollary 3.9, K(X) is a free $K(X_1 \times \hat{Y}_2)$ -module with the basis $1, \hat{p}_2 + \check{p}_2 - \hat{p}_2\check{p}_2$; the topological filtration on K(X)is induced by the condition $\hat{p}_2 + \check{p}_2 - \hat{p}_2\check{p}_2 \in K(X)^{(1)}$. We have reduced the problem of computation of the group K(X) with the

We have reduced the problem of computation of the group K(X) with the filtration to the similar problem for $K(X_1 \times \hat{Y}_2)$.

By Proposition 3.3, the projection $X_1 \to \hat{Y}_1$ is a projective line bundle. Thus $X_1 \times \hat{Y}_2 \to \hat{Y}_1 \times \hat{Y}_2$ is a projective line bundle as well. Moreover, according to Lemma 7.7, the class of the tautological vector bundle on this grassmanian equals $(1-\hat{p}_1)(1-\check{p}_1)$. Consequently, by Corollary 3.9, $K(X_1 \times \hat{Y}_2)$ is a free $K(\hat{T}_1 \times \hat{Y}_2)$ -module with the basis $1, \hat{p}_1 + \check{p}_1 - \hat{p}_1\check{p}_1$; the topological filtration on K(X) is induced by the condition $\hat{p}_1 + \check{p}_1 - \hat{p}_1\check{p}_1 \in K(X_1 \times \hat{Y}_2)^{(1)}$.

We have reduced the problem of computation of the group $K(X_1 \times \hat{Y}_2)$ with the filtration to the similar problem for $K(\hat{Y}_1 \times \hat{Y}_2)$.

According to Lemma 7.6, the elements 1; $2\hat{p}_1, 2\hat{p}_2$; $4\hat{p}_1\hat{p}_2$ form a filtering basis of $K(\hat{Y}_1 \times \hat{Y}_2)$.

A quaternion algebra has a canonical antiautomorphism (the canonical simplectic involution). For i = 1, 2, via this isomorphism, we can identify the algebras \hat{Q}_i and \check{Q}_i . Taking the product of the antiautomorphisms, we identify

the algebras \hat{Q} and $\stackrel{\lor}{Q}$ as well. Thus the following varieties are identified: \hat{Y}_1 and $\stackrel{\lor}{Y}_1$, $\stackrel{\frown}{Y}_2$ and $\stackrel{\lor}{Y}_2$, $\stackrel{\lor}{T}$ and $\stackrel{\frown}{T}$.

Denote by s the automorphism of

 $\mathfrak{X} = \hat{Y}_1 \times \overset{\vee}{Y}_1 \times \hat{Y}_2 \times \overset{\vee}{Y}_2 \times \hat{T} \times \overset{\vee}{T}$

given by the permutation of the factors interchanging every ^-factor with the corresponding \vee -factor. The induced ring automorphism of $K(\mathfrak{X})$ will be also denoted by s.

LEMMA 8.2. Application of s to an element of the filtering basis of $K(\mathfrak{X})$ given in Proposition 8.1 changes every *\-sign* to *\-sign* and vise versa.

PROOF. Clearly, the vector bundles $\hat{\mathcal{T}}$ and $\check{\mathcal{T}}$ are interchanged by s. Thus, the following elements of $K(\mathfrak{X})$ are interchanged by $s: \hat{\eta}$ and $\check{\eta}; \hat{\mu}$ and $\check{\mu}$.

We can also consider s as an automorphism of $K(\bar{\mathfrak{X}})$. Clearly, the following elements of $K(\bar{\mathfrak{X}})$ are interchanged by $s: \stackrel{\wedge}{p}_1$ and $\stackrel{\vee}{p}_1; \stackrel{\wedge}{p}_2$ and $\stackrel{\vee}{p}_2$.

REMARK 8.3. Note that unfortunately s is not given by a permutation of the basis of $K(\mathfrak{X})$ (although it is "almost" so): for instance, $s(2p_1) = 2p_1^{\vee}$ is not a basis element while $2\hat{p}_1$ is. If x is a basis element not containing $2\hat{p}_i$ (i = 1, 2) as a factor, then s(x) is a basis element.

Denote by L the function field $l(\hat{T} \times \hat{T})$ of the variety $\hat{T} \times \hat{T}$. We are going to work with the pull-back homomorphism $K(\mathfrak{X}) \to K(X_L)$. First we calculate it in terms of the basis of $K(\mathfrak{X})$. Since it is a homomorphism of K(X)-algebras, it suffices to calculate the images of $\hat{\eta}$, $\hat{\mu}$, $\overset{\vee}{\eta}$, and $\overset{\vee}{\mu}$.

LEMMA 8.4. For the pull-back $K(\mathfrak{X}) \to K(X_L)$, one has

$\hat{\eta}$	\mapsto	$2(\hat{p}_1 + \hat{p}_2 - \hat{p_1}\hat{p}_2);$	$\hat{\mu} \; \mapsto \;$	$2 \hat{p_1} \hat{p_2}$
$\check\eta$	\mapsto	$2(\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_1+\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_2-\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_1\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_2);$	$\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle ightarrow}{\mu}\;\mapsto\;$	$2p_1^{\vee}p_2^{\vee}$

PROOF. It suffices to check the statement over an extension of the base

field. Thus we may assume that the algebras \hat{Q}_1 and \hat{Q}_2 are split. Since $\hat{\mathcal{T}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\hat{\mathcal{I}}_1 \otimes \hat{\mathcal{I}}_2) \otimes_{\hat{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \hat{\mathcal{J}}$ and $\dim_F \hat{Q} = 16$, we have $16[\hat{\mathcal{T}}] = [\hat{\mathcal{I}}_1] \cdot [\hat{\mathcal{I}}_2] \cdot [\hat{\mathcal{J}}]$.

Applying the pull-back to the right-hand side product, we get $[\hat{\mathcal{I}}_1] \cdot [\hat{\mathcal{I}}_2] \cdot 8$ because the rank of the vector bundle $\hat{\mathcal{J}}$ equals 8. Since \hat{Y}_1 and \hat{Y}_2 are projective lines, for i = 1, 2, we have $[\hat{\mathcal{I}}_i] = 2\hat{\xi}_i$, where $\hat{\xi}_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} [\mathcal{O}_{\hat{V}_i}(-1)].$

Since the Chern classes are compatible with the pull-back, it follows that the images of $\hat{\eta}$ and of $\hat{\mu}$ are respectively the first and the second Chern classes of $2\hat{\xi}_1\hat{\xi}_2$.

Let us compute the total Chern class c_t of $2\hat{\xi}_1\hat{\xi}_2$: $c_t(2\hat{\xi}_1\hat{\xi}_2) = (c_t(\hat{\xi}_1\hat{\xi}_2))^2 = (1 + (\hat{\xi}_1\hat{\xi}_2 - 1)t)^2.$ Therefore, the first Chern class equals $2(\hat{\xi}_1\hat{\xi}_2 - 1)$ and the second Chern class equals $(\hat{\xi}_1\hat{\xi}_2 - 1)^2$. Substituting $\hat{\xi}_i = 1 - \hat{p}_i$ we get the statement on $\hat{\eta}$ and $\hat{\mu}$ required (remember that by the definition, $\hat{\eta}$ is the first Chern class with *minus*).

The statement on $\check{\eta}$ and $\check{\mu}$ is obtained in the similar way.

Let $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)s} \subset K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}$ be the subgroup of the *s*-invariant elements. Let *p* be the class of a rational point on \bar{X} . Note that $p = \hat{p}_1 \check{p}_1 \hat{p}_2 \check{p}_2 \in K(\bar{X})$.

PROPOSITION 8.5. $2p \notin \operatorname{Im}(K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)s} \to K(X_L)).$

PROOF. We are going to work with the following composition:

$$\beta \colon K(\mathfrak{X}) \to K(X_L) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{res}_{\bar{L}/L}} K(X_{\bar{L}}) \twoheadrightarrow K(X_{\bar{L}})/4 \cdot K(X_{\bar{L}}),$$

where \overline{L} is an algebraic closure of L. We are going to show that $\beta(K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)^s}) = 0$. Since the class of 2p in the quotient $K(X_{\overline{L}})/4 \cdot K(X_{\overline{L}})$ is non-zero (see Lemma 7.5), the affirmation of Proposition will then follow.

A filtering basis of the group $K(\mathfrak{X})$ is given in Proposition 8.1. The elements of this basis having codimensions ≥ 4 form a basis of the term $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}$ (see Definition 7.2). The basis of $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}$ contains the elements

 $\hat{\xi} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\hat{p}_1 + \check{p}_1 - \hat{p}_1\check{p}_1)(\hat{p}_2 + \check{p}_2 - \hat{p}_2\check{p}_2)\hat{\mu} \quad \text{and} \quad \check{\xi} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\hat{p}_1 + \check{p}_1 - \hat{p}_1\check{p}_1)(\hat{p}_2 + \check{p}_2 - \hat{p}_2\check{p}_2)\check{\mu} .$ Denote by H the subgroup of $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}$ generated by all basis elements except $\hat{\xi}$ and $\check{\xi}.$

LEMMA 8.6. The sum $H + 2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}$ lies in Ker β and is s-invariant.

PROOF. Every basis element is a product of the following elements where in the first column the codimension of the element in $K(\mathfrak{X})$ (see Definition 7.1) is given; in the last column the image under β of the element is given (see Lemma 8.4):

(codim = 1)	$2 \overset{\scriptscriptstyle\wedge}{p}_1$	\mapsto	$2 p_1^{\wedge}$
(codim = 1)	$2 \overset{\scriptscriptstyle\wedge}{p}_2$	\mapsto	$2 p_2^{\wedge}$
(codim = 1)	$\stackrel{{}_\circ}{p}_1+\stackrel{{}_\circ}{p}_1-\stackrel{{}_\circ}{p}_1\stackrel{{}_\circ}{p}_1$	\mapsto	$\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{p}_1+\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_1-\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{p}_1\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_1$
(codim = 1)	$\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{p}_2+\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_2-\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{p}_1\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_2$	\mapsto	$\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{p}_2+\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_2-\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{p}_2\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_2$
(codim = 1)	$\hat{\eta}$	\mapsto	$2(\hat{p}_1 + \hat{p}_2 - \hat{p_1}\hat{p}_2)$
(codim = 1)	$\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle m ec }{\eta}$	\mapsto	$2(\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_1+\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_2-\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_1\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_2)$
(codim = 2)	$\hat{\mu}$	\mapsto	$2 \hat{p_1} \hat{p_2}$
(codim = 2)	$\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle m ec}{\mu}$	\mapsto	$2 \overset{\scriptscriptstyle ho}{p_1} \overset{\scriptscriptstyle ho}{p_2}$

The image of each element of the table but that of $\hat{p}_1 + \check{p}_1 - \hat{p}_1\check{p}_1$ and $\hat{p}_2 + \check{p}_2 - \hat{p}_2\check{p}_2$ is divisible by 2. If we like to form a product which is a basic element with a non-zero image under β , we are allowed to take no more than one copy of $\hat{p}_1 + \check{p}_1 - \hat{p}_1\check{p}_1$, no more than one copy of $\hat{p}_2 + \check{p}_2 - \hat{p}_2\check{p}_2$, and no more than

one other element of the table. Therefore, the only generators of $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}$, which have a non-zero image with respect to β , are $\hat{\xi}$ and $\hat{\xi}$. So, $\beta(H) = 0$. Moreover, since $\beta(\hat{\xi}) = 2p = \beta(\check{\xi})$, it follows that $\beta(2\hat{\xi}) = 0 = \beta(2\check{\xi})$. Thus $H + 2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)} \subset \operatorname{Ker} \beta$.

Since $2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}$ is evidently *s*-invariant, it suffices to check the inclusion

$$s(H) \subset H + 2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}$$
.

Take a basis element of H. It is a product of the elements in the table of Proposition 8.1. Therefore, it is either x, either $(2\hat{p}_1)x$, either $(2\hat{p}_2)x$, either $(2\hat{p}_1)(2\hat{p}_2)x$, where x is a basis element of $K(\mathfrak{X})$ not containing $2\hat{p}_i$ (i = 1, 2). Since s(x) is again a basis element of H, we have no problem in the first case.

Set $h_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \stackrel{\circ}{p}_i + \stackrel{\circ}{p}_i - \stackrel{\circ}{p}_i \stackrel{\circ}{p}_i$. Note that $\stackrel{\circ}{p}_i = h_i - \stackrel{\circ}{p}_i + \stackrel{\circ}{p}_i h_i$ (here the relation of Lemma 7.3 $\stackrel{\circ}{p}_i^2 = 0$ is used).

In the second and in the third cases, we have (here again i = 1, 2):

$$s(2\hat{p}_i x) = 2\hat{p}_i s(x) = 2h_i s(x) - 2\hat{p}_i s(x) + 2\hat{p}_i h_i s(x)$$

The first summand is in $2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}$, the second summand is in H, the third summand is in $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(5)} \subset H$.

Finally, in the fourth case, we have

$$s((2\hat{p}_1)(2\hat{p}_2)x) = (2\hat{p}_1)(2\hat{p}_2)s(x) =$$

= $(2h_1 + (2\hat{p}_1)(h_1 - 1))(2h_2 + (2\hat{p}_2)(h_2 - 1))s(x) \equiv$
= $(2\hat{p}_1)(2\hat{p}_2)(h_1 - 1)(h_2 - 1)s(x) \equiv (2\hat{p}_1)(2\hat{p}_2)s(x) \in H$

where the first congruence is modulo $2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}$ and the second congruence is modulo $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(5)} \subset H$.

Denote by $\widetilde{K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}}$ the quotient $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}/(H+2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)})$. According to Lemma 8.6, β determines a homomorphism of $\widetilde{K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}}$ and s determines an automorphism of $\widetilde{K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}}$. To show that $\beta((K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)})^s) = 0$ it suffices to show that

$$\beta((\widetilde{K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}})^s) = 0 \; .$$

The group $\widetilde{K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}}$ is generated by $\hat{\xi}$ and $\check{\xi}$ subject to the only relations $2\hat{\xi} = 0$, $2\check{\xi} = 0$. These two generators are interchanged by s. Therefore, the group $(\widetilde{K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}})^s$ is generated by $\hat{\xi} + \check{\xi}$. Since $\beta(\hat{\xi} + \check{\xi}) = 2p + 2p = 0$, we get the relation required.

9. Preliminary calculations II

The goal of this Section is Proposition 9.4.

In this Section, the ground field is denoted by l in order to adopt the notation to the situation where the results of this Section will be applied.

We are going to treat a special situation which will occur in Section 11. Let \hat{Q}_1 and \hat{Q}_2 be quaternion division *l*-algebras such that the tensor product $\hat{Q} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \hat{Q}_1 \otimes_l \hat{Q}_2$ is a skew-field. For i = 1, 2, we put

$$\begin{array}{lll} \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{Q}_i & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} \stackrel{\scriptstyle \wedge}{Q}_i^{\rm op}, & \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{Q} & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Q}_1 \otimes \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Q}_2 \\ \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{Q} & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} \stackrel{\scriptstyle \wedge}{Q}_1 \otimes \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Q}_2 & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Q} & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Q}_1 \otimes \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Q}_2 \\ \stackrel{\scriptstyle \wedge}{Y}_i & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} \operatorname{SB}(\stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Q}_i), & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Y}_i & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} \operatorname{SB}(\stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Q}_i), \\ \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{T} & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} \operatorname{SB}(2, \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Q}), & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{T} & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} \operatorname{SB}(2, \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Q}), \\ \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{T} & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} \operatorname{SB}(2, \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Q}), & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{T} & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} \operatorname{SB}(2, \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Q}), \\ X_i & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Y}_i \times \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{Y}_i, & X & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} X_1 \times X_2, & \mathfrak{X} & \stackrel{\scriptstyle \det}{=} X \times \stackrel{\scriptstyle \vee}{T} \end{array} \right)$$

Let $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_1$ be the canonical vector bundle on \hat{Y}_1 , $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_2$ the canonical vector bundle on \hat{Y}_2 , and $\hat{\mathcal{J}}$ the canonical vector bundle on \hat{T} . The tensor product $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_1 \otimes \hat{\mathcal{I}}_2$ of the vector bundles over \mathfrak{X} is a right $\hat{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -module, while $\hat{\mathcal{J}}$ is a left $\hat{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -module. Put $\hat{\mathcal{T}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\hat{\mathcal{I}}_1 \otimes \hat{\mathcal{I}}_2) \otimes_{\hat{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \hat{\mathcal{J}}$ and denote by $-\hat{\eta}, \hat{\mu} \in K(\mathfrak{X})$ the first and the second Chern classes of $\hat{\mathcal{T}}$.

second Chern classes of $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}$. Let $\check{\mathcal{I}}_1$ be the canonical vector bundle on \check{Y}_1 , $\hat{\mathcal{I}}_2$ the canonical vector bundle on \check{Y}_2 , and $\check{\mathcal{J}}$ the canonical vector bundle on \check{T} . The tensor product $\check{\mathcal{I}}_1 \otimes \hat{\mathcal{I}}_2$ of the vector bundles over \mathfrak{X} is a right $\check{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -module, while $\check{\mathcal{J}}$ is a left $\check{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ -module. Put $\check{\mathcal{T}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\check{\mathcal{I}}_1 \otimes \hat{\mathcal{I}}_2) \otimes_{\check{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \check{\mathcal{J}}$ and denote by $-\check{\eta}, \check{\mu} \in K(\mathfrak{X})$ the first and the second Chern classes of $\check{\mathcal{T}}$.

We define the vector bundles $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}$ in the similar way:

$$\overset{\sim}{\mathcal{T}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\overset{\sim}{\mathcal{I}}_1 \otimes \overset{\vee}{\mathcal{I}}_2) \otimes_{\tilde{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \overset{\sim}{\mathcal{J}} \\ \overset{\scriptscriptstyle}{\mathcal{T}} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\overset{\scriptscriptstyle}{\mathcal{I}}_1 \otimes \overset{\scriptscriptstyle}{\mathcal{I}}_2) \otimes_{\overset{\scriptscriptstyle}{Q}_{\mathfrak{X}}} \overset{\scriptscriptstyle}{\mathcal{J}}$$

and denote by $-\tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\mu} \in K(\mathfrak{X})$ the first and the second Chern classes of $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}$; by $-\tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\mu} \in K(\mathfrak{X})$ the first and the second Chern classes of $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}$.

By $\hat{p}_{1,}$ \hat{p}_{2} , \check{p}_{1} , and \check{p}_{2} we denote the classes of rational points on $\overline{\check{Y}}_{1}$, $\overline{\check{Y}}_{2}$, $\overline{\check{Y}}_{1}$, and $\overline{\check{Y}}_{2}$.

PROPOSITION 9.1. A filtering basis of the group $K(\mathfrak{X})$ is given by the products of elements of the following table such that from every column at most one

element is taken:

1	$2\hat{p}_1$	$2\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle\wedge}{p}_2$	$\hat{p}_1 + \check{p}_1 - \hat{p}_1\check{p}_1$	$\dot{\hat{p}}_2 + \dot{\hat{p}}_2 - \dot{\hat{p}}_2 \dot{\hat{p}}_2$	$\hat{\eta}$	η	$\tilde{\eta}$	$\overset{}{\eta}$
2					$\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{\mu}, \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{\eta}^2$	$\left[\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \sim}{\mu}, \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \sim}{\eta}^2 ight]$	$\tilde{\mu}, \tilde{\eta}^2$	$\overset{\scriptscriptstyle{w}}{\mu},\overset{\scriptscriptstyle{w}}{\eta}^2$
3					$\hat{\mu}\hat{\eta}$	$\widetilde{\mu}\widetilde{\eta}$	$\hat{\mu}\hat{\eta}$	$\overset{\scriptscriptstyle{ww}}{\mu}\overset{\scriptscriptstyle{w}}{\eta}$
4					$\hat{\mu}^2$	$\mu^{\sim 2}$	$\hat{\mu}^2$	μ^{\vee^2}

The codimension of an element in the table is the number of the line where it is placed; the codimension of an element of the filtering basis is the sum of the codimensions of the factors.

PROOF. By Corollary 2.4, the projection $\check{Y}_1 \times \check{Y}_2 \times \check{T} \to \check{Y}_1 \times \check{Y}_2$ is a grassmanian. Thus $\mathfrak{X} \to X \times \check{T} \times \check{T} \times \check{T}$ is a grassmanian as well (this morphism is obtained from the previous one by a base change). More precisely, it is the grassmanian of 2-planes in a rank 4 vector bundle. Moreover, by Corollary 2.4, $\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle\wedge}{\mathcal{T}}$ is the tautological vector bundle of this grassmanian. Therefore, by Corollary 3.10, $K(\mathfrak{X})$ is a free $K(X \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T})$ -module with the basis $\begin{array}{l} (\hat{\eta}, \hat{\mu}, \hat{\eta}^{2}, \hat{\mu}\hat{\eta}, \hat{\mu}^{2}) \text{ and the topological filtration on } K(\mathfrak{X}) \text{ is induced by the conditions } \\ \hat{\eta} \in K(\mathfrak{X})^{(1)}; \ \hat{\eta}^{2}, \hat{\mu} \in K(\mathfrak{X})^{(2)}; \ \hat{\eta}\hat{\mu} \in K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}; \ \hat{\mu}^{2} \in K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}. \\ \\ \text{We have reduced the problem of computation of the group } K(\mathfrak{X}) \text{ with the } \end{array}$

filtration to the similar problem for $K(X \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T})$.

By Corollary 2.4, the projection $\hat{Y}_1 \times \check{Y}_2 \times \check{T} \to \check{Y}_1 \times \check{Y}_2$ is a grassmanian. Thus $X \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T} \to X \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T}$ is a grassmanian as well. More precisely, it is the grassmanian of 2-planes in a rank 4 vector bundle. Moreover, $\stackrel{\sim}{\mathcal{T}}$ is the tautological vector bundle of this grassmanian (Corollary 2.4). Therefore, by Corollary 3.10, $K(X \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T})$ is a free $K(X \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T})$ -module with the basis $1, \tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\mu}, \tilde{\eta}^2, \tilde{\mu}\tilde{\eta}, \tilde{\mu}^2$ and the topological filtration on $K(X \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T})$ is induced by the conditions $\tilde{\eta} \in K^{(1)}; \tilde{\eta}^2, \tilde{\mu} \in K^{(2)}; \tilde{\eta}\tilde{\mu} \in K^{(3)}; \tilde{\mu}^2 \in K^{(4)}$.

We have reduced the problem of computation of the group $K(X \times T \times T \times T \times T)$ with the filtration to the similar problem for $K(X \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T})$. A filtering basis for the latter group is given in Proposition 8.1 (note that the notation there is slightly different: namely, $\hat{\eta} = \hat{\eta}, \ \check{\eta} = \check{\eta}, \ \hat{\mu} = \check{\mu}, \ \text{and} \ \check{\mu} = \check{\mu}.$ \square

A quaternion algebra has a canonical antiautomorphism (the simplectic involution). For i = 1, 2, via this isomorphism, we can identify the algebras \hat{Q}_i and \check{Q}_i . Taking the product of the antiautomorphisms, we identify \hat{Q} with $\overset{\circ}{Q}$ and $\overset{\circ}{Q}$ with $\overset{\circ}{Q}$. Thus the following varieties are identified: $\overset{\circ}{Y}_1$ and $\overset{\circ}{Y}_1$, $\overset{\circ}{Y}_2$ and $\stackrel{\vee}{Y}_2$, $\stackrel{\scriptstyle{}_{\scriptstyle{\mathcal{T}}}}{T}$ and $\stackrel{\scriptstyle{}_{\scriptstyle{\mathcal{T}}}}{T}$, $\stackrel{\scriptstyle{}_{\scriptstyle{\mathcal{T}}}}{T}$ and $\stackrel{\scriptstyle{}_{\scriptstyle{\scriptstyle{\mathcal{T}}}}}{T}$.

Denote by s_1 the automorphism of

 $\mathfrak{X} = \overset{\,\,{}_\circ}{Y}_1 \times \overset{\,\,{}_\circ}{Y}_1 \times \overset{\,\,{}_\circ}{Y}_2 \times \overset{\,\,{}_\circ}{Y}_2 \times \overset{\,\,{}_\circ}{T} \times \overset{\,\,{}_\circ}{T} \times \overset{\,\,{}_\circ}{T} \times \overset{\,\,{}_\circ}{T}$

given by the permutation of the factors interchanging \hat{Y}_1 with \check{Y}_1 , \check{T} with \check{T} , and \check{T} with \check{T} (and leaving \hat{Y}_2 and \check{Y}_2 untouched).

Denote by s_2 the automorphism of \mathfrak{X} given by the permutation of the factors interchanging \hat{Y}_2 with \check{Y}_2 , \tilde{T} with \check{T} , and \check{T} with \check{T} (and leaving \hat{Y}_1 and \check{Y}_1 untouched).

The induced ring automorphisms of $K(\mathfrak{X})$ will be also denoted by s_1 and s_2 .

LEMMA 9.2. Application of s_1 to an element of the filtering basis of $K(\mathfrak{X})$ given in Proposition 9.1 changes every "first" \land -sign (i.e. a \land -sign placed over p_1 or a \land -sign placed on the first place over η or over μ) to the \lor -sign and vise versa: every "first" \lor -sign to the \land -sign; the "second" \land -and- \lor -signs are left untouched. Application of s_2 to an element of the filtering basis changes every "second" \land -sign to the \lor -sign and vise versa; the "first" \land -and- \lor -signs are left untouched.

PROOF. We prove only the statement on s_1 .

Clearly, s_1 interchanges $\overset{\sim}{\mathcal{T}}$ with $\overset{\sim}{\mathcal{T}}$ and $\overset{\sim}{\mathcal{T}}$ with $\overset{\sim}{\mathcal{T}}$. Consequently, the following elements of $K(\mathfrak{X})$ are interchanged by s_1 : $\overset{\sim}{\eta}$ and $\overset{\sim}{\eta}$; $\overset{\sim}{\eta}$ and $\overset{\sim}{\eta}$; $\overset{\sim}{\mu}$ and $\overset{\sim}{\mu}$; $\overset{\sim}{\mu}$ and $\overset{\sim}{\mu}$.

We can also consider s_1 as an automorphism of $K(\mathfrak{X})$. Clearly, the elements \hat{p}_1 and \check{p}_1 of $K(\bar{\mathfrak{X}})$ are interchanged by s while the elements \hat{p}_2 and \check{p}_2 are left untouched.

Denote by L the function field of the variety $T \times T \times T \times T$. We are going to work with the pull-back homomorphism $K(\mathfrak{X}) \to K(X_L)$. First we calculate it in terms of the basis of $K(\mathfrak{X})$. Since it is a homomorphism of K(X)-algebras, it suffices to calculate the images of $\eta, \eta, \eta, \eta, \eta, \mu, \mu, \mu, \mu$, and μ .

LEMMA 9.3. For the pull-back $K(\mathfrak{X}) \to K(X_L)$, one has

$\hat{\eta}$	\mapsto	$2(\hat{p}_1 + \hat{p}_2 - \hat{p_1}\hat{p}_2);$	$\hat{\mu}$	\mapsto	$2 \dot{p_1} \dot{p_2}$
$\check{\eta}$	\mapsto	$2(\check{p}_1 + \check{p}_2 - \check{p_1}\check{p}_2);$	$\!$	\mapsto	$2p_1^{\vee}p_2^{\vee}$
$\widetilde{\eta}$	\mapsto	$2(\hat{p}_1 + \check{p}_2 - \hat{p_1}\check{p}_2);$	$\widetilde{\mu}$	\mapsto	$2 \dot{p_1} \dot{p_2}$
$\hat{\eta}$	\mapsto	$2(\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_1+\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{p}_2-\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_1\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p}_2);$	$\stackrel{\sim}{\mu}$	\mapsto	$2 \overset{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{p_1} \overset{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{p}_2$

PROOF. See the proof of Lemma 8.4.

Denote by G the subgroup of Aut $K(\mathfrak{X})$ generated by s_1 and s_2 . Let

$$K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)\,G} \subset K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}$$

be the subgroup of the G-invariant elements.

Let p be the class of a rational point on \bar{X} . Note that $p = p_1 \stackrel{\circ}{p_1} \stackrel{\circ}{p_2} \stackrel{\circ}{p_2} \in K(\bar{X})$.

PROPOSITION 9.4. $2p \notin \operatorname{Im}(K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}G \to K(X_L)).$

PROOF. We are going to work with the following composition:

$$\beta \colon K(\mathfrak{X}) \to K(X_L) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{res}_{\bar{L}/L}} K(X_{\bar{L}}) \twoheadrightarrow K(X_{\bar{L}})/4 \cdot K(X_{\bar{L}}),$$

where \overline{L} is an algebraic closure of L. We are going to show that the residue class of 2p is not in $\beta((K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)})^G)$.

We introduce some additional notation for elements of $K(\bar{X})$ in order to avoid repetitions of long expressions. For i = 1, 2, we put

$$p_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \stackrel{\circ}{p}_i \stackrel{\lor}{p}_i, \quad h_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \stackrel{\circ}{p}_i + \stackrel{\lor}{p}_i - p_i$$

(although it is not essential for the consequent, we remark that: p_i is the class of a rational point on \bar{X}_i ; h_i is the class of a hyperplane section if we identify \bar{X}_i with the quadric hypersurface in the 3-dimensional projective space via the Segre imbedding). Note that $p = p_1 p_2$. We also put $h \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} h_1 h_2$.

A filtering basis of the group $K(\mathfrak{X})$ is given in Proposition 9.1. The elements of this basis having codimensions ≥ 3 form a basis of the term $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}$ (see Definition 7.2). Denote by H the subgroup of $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}$ generated by all basis elements except the following ones:

$$2\hat{p}_{i}h , \ \ \eta h , \ \ \mu h , \ \ \mu h_{i}$$

where i = 1, 2 and * = M, M, W, W.

LEMMA 9.5. The sum $H + 2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}$ lies in Ker β and is G-invariant.

PROOF. Every basis element is a product of the following elements where in the first column the codimension of the element in $K(\mathfrak{X})$ (see Definition 7.1) is given; in the last column the image under β of the element is given (see Lemma 8.4):

(codim = 1)	$2\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle\wedge}{p}_1$	\mapsto	$2\dot{p_1}$
(codim = 1)	$2 \overset{\scriptscriptstyle\wedge}{p}_2$	\mapsto	$2 \hat{p_2}$
(codim = 1)	h_1	\mapsto	h_1
(codim = 1)	h_2	\mapsto	h_2
(codim = 1)	$\hat{\eta}$	\mapsto	$2(\hat{p}_1 + \hat{p}_2 - \hat{p_1}\hat{p}_2)$
(codim = 1)	$\stackrel{\mathrm{w}}{\eta}$	\mapsto	$2(\check{p}_1 + \check{p}_2 - \check{p}_1\check{p}_2)$
(codim = 1)	$\widetilde{\eta}$	\mapsto	$2(\hat{p}_1 + \check{p}_2 - \hat{p_1}\check{p}_2)$
(codim = 1)	$\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{\eta}$	\mapsto	$2(\dot{p}_1 + \dot{p}_2 - \dot{p}_1\dot{p}_2)$
(codim = 2)	$\hat{\mu}$	\mapsto	$2 \hat{p_1} \hat{p_2}$
(codim = 2)	$\!$	\mapsto	$2 p_1^{\vee} p_2^{\vee}$
(codim = 2)	$\widetilde{\mu}$	\mapsto	$2 p_1^{\wedge} p_2^{\vee}$
(codim = 2)	$\stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{\mu}$	\mapsto	$2 \overset{\scriptscriptstyle ho}{p_1} \overset{\scriptscriptstyle ho}{p_2}$

The image of each element of the table but that of h_1 and h_2 is divisible by 2. Easily seen, the basis elements of $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}$, which have a non-zero image with respect to β , are precisely the basic elements excepted in the definition of H. In particular, $\beta(H) = 0$. Moreover, since the image under β of any excepted basis element is divisible by 2, it follows that $H + 2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)} \subset \operatorname{Ker} \beta$.

Now we are going to check the *G*-invariance. We shall check only the affirmation on s_1 (the affirmation on s_2 is checked in the similar way). Since $2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}$ is evidently s_1 -invariant, it suffices to check the inclusion

$$s_1(H) \subset H + 2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}$$

Note that the elements $2\hat{p}_1$, h_1 , h_2 , and h are s_1 -invariant.

Take a basis element of H. It is a product of the elements in the table of Proposition 8.1. Therefore, it is either x, either $(2\hat{p}_1)x$, where x is a basis element of $K(\mathfrak{X})$ not containing $2\hat{p}_1$ as a factor. Since $s_1(x)$ is again a basis element of H, we have no problem in the first case.

In the second case, we have $x \in K(\mathfrak{X})^{(2)}$ and

$$s_1(2\hat{p}_1x) = 2\hat{p}_1s_1(x) = 2h_1s_1(x) - 2\hat{p}_1s_1(x) + 2\hat{p}_1h_1s_1(x) + 2\hat{p}_1$$

The first summand is in $2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}$ and the second summand is in H. We are going to show that the third summand is in H.

First suppose that x contains h_1 as a factor. Since h_1 is s_1 -invariant, $s_1(x)$ contains h_1 as well. Since $h_1^2 = 2\hat{p}_1\overset{\vee}{p}_1$ and $(\hat{p}_1)^2 = 0$ (Lemma 7.3), we have $2\hat{p}_1h_1s_1(x) = 0$ in this case. So, consider the case where x does not contain h_1 as a factor. Since x also does not contain $2\hat{p}_1$, $s_1(x)$ contains neither h_1 nor $2\hat{p}_1$ and so, the product $2\hat{p}_1h_1s_1(x)$ is a basis element of $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(4)}$. If it is not in H, then it should be an excepted basis element. However the excepted basis element of the codimension 4 are h_{μ}^* , * = M, M, M, M, and $2\hat{p}_1h_1s_1(x)$ is not of that kind. Thus $2\hat{p}_1h_1s_1(x) \in H$.

$$\square$$

Denote by $\widetilde{K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}}$ the quotient $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}/(H+2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)})$. According to Lemma 9.5, β determines a homomorphism of $\widetilde{K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}}$ and the group G acts on $\widetilde{K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}}$. To show that $\beta(K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}G) \not\supseteq 2p$, it suffices to show that

$$\beta\left((\widetilde{K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}})^G\right) \not\supseteq 2p$$
.

The group $K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}$ is a vector $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -space with the basis given by the classes of the excepted basis elements:

 $2 \stackrel{\wedge}{p}_i h , \quad \stackrel{*}{\eta} h , \quad \stackrel{*}{\mu} h , \quad \stackrel{*}{\mu} h_i .$

It is easy to calculate their images under β :

$$\beta(2\hat{p}_1h) = 2p_1h_2; \quad \beta(2\hat{p}_2h) = 2p_2h_1$$

(†)
$$\beta(\mathring{\eta}h) = 2p_1h_2 + 2p_2h_1 + 2p; \beta(\mathring{\mu}h) = 2p; \beta(\mathring{\mu}h_1) = 2p_1\mathring{p}_2; \quad \beta(\mathring{\mu}h_2) = 2\mathring{p}_1p_2;$$

where $\bullet, \circ \in \{\lor, \land\}.$
Since for
$$i = 1, 2$$

 $s_i(2\hat{p}_i h) = 2\hat{p}_i s(h) = 2h_i h - 2\hat{p}_i h + 2\hat{p}_i h_i h =$
 $= 2h_i h - 2\hat{p}_i h \equiv 2\hat{p}_i h \pmod{2K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}},$

and $s_{3-i}(2\hat{p}_i h) = 2\hat{p}_i h$, the residue classes in $\widetilde{K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}}$ of $2\hat{p}_1 h$ and $2\hat{p}_2 h$ are *G*-invariant. The action of *G* on ηh , μh , and μh_i is described in Lemma 9.2 (*G* permutes these generators). Summarizing, one sees that the *G*-invariant part of $\widetilde{K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)}}$ is generated by

$$2\hat{p}_1h, \ 2\hat{p}_2h, \ \sum_* \eta h, \ \sum_* \mu h, \ \sum_* \mu h_1, \ \sum_* \mu h_2.$$

Using the formulas \dagger , one can easily compute the images of these generators under β :

$$\beta(2\hat{p}_{1}h) = 2p_{1}h_{2}; \quad \beta(2\hat{p}_{2}h) = 2p_{2}h_{1};$$

$$\beta\left(\sum_{*} {}^{*}\eta h\right) = 4\beta(\hat{\eta}h) = 0; \quad \beta\left(\sum_{*} {}^{*}\mu h\right) = 4\beta(\hat{\mu}h) = 0;$$

$$\beta\left(\sum_{*} {}^{*}\mu h_{1}\right) = 4p_{1}\hat{p}_{2} + 4p_{1}\overset{\vee}{p}_{2} = 0; \quad \beta\left(\sum_{*} {}^{*}\mu h_{2}\right) = 4\hat{p}_{1}p_{2} + 4\overset{\vee}{p}_{1}p_{2} = 0$$

It follows that $\beta((K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)})^G)$ is the subgroup of $K(X_{\bar{L}})/4K(X_{\bar{L}})$ generated by the residue classes of $2p_1h_2 = 2\hat{p}_1\check{p}_1(\hat{p}_2 + \check{p}_2 - \hat{p}_2\check{p}_2)$ and $2p_2h_1 = 2\hat{p}_2\check{p}_2(\hat{p}_1 + \check{p}_1 - \hat{p}_1\check{p}_1)$. Therefore $2p = 2\hat{p}_1\check{p}_1\hat{p}_2\check{p}_2 \notin \beta((K(\mathfrak{X})^{(3)})^G)$ (by Lemma 7.5, the group $K(X_{\bar{L}})$ is free with the basis given by the products of $\hat{p}_1, \check{p}_1, \hat{p}_2$, and \check{p}_2).

10. First basic construction

Let k be a field of characteristic different from 2, containing elements

$$a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2, d \in k^*$$

such that $l \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} k(\sqrt{d})$ is a field and the biquaternion *l*-algebra

$$((a_1,b_1)\otimes_k (a_2,b_2))_l$$

is a skewfield.

Let T be the generalized Severi-Brauer variety (see Section 2) of rank 2 right ideals in the biquaternion k-algebra $(a_1, b_1) \otimes (a_2, b_2)$. Denote by K the function field of the k-variety $\mathcal{R}(T) = \mathcal{R}_{l/k}(T)$ (see Definition 5.2).

Put $L \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} K(\sqrt{d})$. Since $\mathcal{R}(T)_l \simeq T_l \times T_l$ (see Section 5), one has

ind
$$((a_1, b_1) \otimes (a_2, b_2))_L = 2$$

by the index reduction formula [7, Theorem 3].

For i = 1, 2, let q_i be the quadratic form $\langle -a_i, -b_i, a_i b_i, d \rangle$ over K.

THEOREM 10.1. For any odd field extension K'/K, the quadratic forms $(q_1)_{K'}$ and $(q_2)_{K'}$ are non-linked. In particular, the forms q_1 and q_2 themselves are non-linked.

PROOF. Remember that the quadratic forms q_1 and q_2 are in fact defined over k and denote by X_1 and X_2 the projective quadrics over k determined by q_1 and q_2 . Set $X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X_1 \times X_2$. We have to show that the degree of any closed point on the variety X_K is divisible by 4.

Consider the Grothendieck group $K(X_K)$ of the variety X_K supplied with the topological filtration. Let $p \in K(X_{\overline{K}})$ denote the class of a rational point. To show that degree of every closed point on X is divisible by 4, it suffices to show that $2p \notin K(X_K)_{(0)}$, where $K(X_K)_{(0)}$ is the 0-dimensional term of the topological filtration on $K(X_K)$. Since dim X = 4, we have $K(X_K)_{(0)} = K(X_K)^{(4)}$.

The pull-back homomorphism $K(X \times \mathcal{R}(T))^{(4)} \to K(X_K)^{(4)}$, given by the flat morphism of schemes $X_K \to X \times \mathcal{R}(T)$, is surjective by Corollary 4.3. Therefore it suffices to show that 2p is not in the image of this homomorphism.

Denote by σ the non-trivial automorphism of l over k. The group $K(X \times \mathcal{R}(T))^{(4)}$ is contained in the σ -invariant part of the group $K(X_l \times \mathcal{R}(T)_l)^{(4)}$. Thus it suffices to show that

$$2p \notin \operatorname{Im}\left(K(X_l \times \mathcal{R}(T)_l)^{(4)\sigma} \to K(X_L)\right).$$

For this, we apply Proposition 8.5.

In order to meet the conditions of Proposition 8.5, note that for i = 1, 2, one has $X_i \simeq \mathcal{R}(Y_i)$, where $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}_{l/k}$ and Y_i is the Severi-Brauer variety of the quaternion k-algebra (a_i, b_i) (see Example 5.4).

Thus we have $X \times \mathcal{R}(T) \simeq \mathcal{R}(Y_1 \times Y_2 \times T)$. Therefore, we can identify $X_l \times \mathcal{R}(T)_l$ with the product

$$\mathfrak{X} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{Y}_1 \times \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{Y}_2 \times \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \wedge}{T} \times \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{Y}_1 \times \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{Y}_2 \times \stackrel{\scriptscriptstyle \vee}{T}$$

where \hat{Y}_i , \check{Y}_i are two copies of $(Y_i)_l$ and \hat{T} , \check{T} are two copies of T_l . Moreover, by Corollary 6.3, the automorphism of $K(X_l \times \mathcal{R}(T)_l)$ induced by σ corresponds to the automorphism of $K(\mathfrak{X})$ induced by the permutation of the factors interchanging \hat{Y}_i with \check{Y}_i and \hat{T} with \check{T} .

We have met the conditions of Proposition 8.5. Applying it, we get the affirmation required. $\hfill \Box$

COROLLARY 10.2. For any field k_0 with char $k_0 \neq 2$ there exist a field extension K/k_0 and elements $a_1, a_2, b_1, b_2, d \in K^*$ with the following properties:

- $\operatorname{ind}((a_1, b_1) \otimes (a_2, b_2))_{K(\sqrt{d})} = 2;$
- for any odd field extension K'/K, the quadratic forms

$$q_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \langle -a_1, -b_1, a_1b_1, d \rangle \quad and \quad q_2 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \langle -a_2, -b_2, a_2b_2, d \rangle$$

are not linked over K'.

PROOF. Put $k \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} k_0(a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2, d)$ where a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2, d are indeterminates. Then $l \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} k(\sqrt{d})$ is a field and the biquaternion *l*-algebra $((a_1, b_1) \otimes (a_2, b_2))_l$ is a skewfield. For the field $K \supset k$ as in Theorem 10.1, all affirmations of Corollary hold.

11. Second basic construction

Let k be a field of characteristic different from 2, containing elements

$$a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2, d_1, d_2 \in k^*$$

such that $l \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} k(\sqrt{d_1}, \sqrt{d_2})$ is a field and the biquaternion *l*-algebra

$$\left((a_1,b_1)\otimes_k(a_2,b_2)\right)_l$$

is a skewfield.

Let T be the generalized Severi-Brauer variety (see Section 2) of rank 2 right ideals in the biquaternion k-algebra $(a_1, b_1) \otimes (a_2, b_2)$. Denote by K the function field of the k-variety $\mathcal{R}(T) = \mathcal{R}_{l/k}(T)$ (see Definition 5.2).

Put
$$L \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} K(\sqrt{d_1}, \sqrt{d_2})$$
. Since $\mathcal{R}(T)_l \simeq T_l^{\times 4}$ (see Section 5), one has

ind $((a_1, b_1) \otimes (a_2, b_2))_L = 2$

by the index reduction formula [7, Theorem 3].

For i = 1, 2, let q_i be the quadratic form $\langle -a_i, -b_i, a_i b_i, d_i \rangle$ over K.

THEOREM 11.1. Denote by X_1 and X_2 the projective quadric over K determined by q_1 and q_2 . The Chow group $CH^2(X_1 \times X_2)$ has a torsion.

PROOF. Put $X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X_1 \times X_2$ and consider the Grothendieck group K(X) of the variety X. There is an isomorphism $\operatorname{CH}^2(X) \simeq K(X)^{(2/3)}$ (see [81, §9]), where $K(X)^{(2/3)} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} K(X)^{(2)}/K(X)^{(3)}$ is the 2-codimensional successive quotient of the topological filtration on K(X). We are going to show that this quotient contains a torsion.

Denote by $p \in K(X_{\bar{K}})$ the class of a rational point. As we did all the time, we identify K(X) with a subgroup of $K(X_{\bar{K}})$ via the restriction homomorphism.

LEMMA 11.2. $2p \in K(X)$.

PROOF. For i = 1, 2, denote by \mathcal{U}_i Swan's vector bundle on X_i ([82]). It has a structure of right $(Q_i)_{X_i}$ -module, where $Q_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (a_i, b_i)_K$. For the class $[\mathcal{U}_i(2)] \in K(X_i)$ of the 2 (because $2 = \dim X_i$) times twisted Swan's vector bundle, there is a formula ([32, Lemma 3.6]): $[\mathcal{U}_i(2)] = 4 + 2h_i + h_i^2$, where h_i is the class of a general hyperplane section of X_i . Lifting to X, we can consider the tensor product $\mathcal{U}_1 \otimes_X \mathcal{U}_2$. It has a structure of right $Q_1 \otimes_K Q_2$ -module. Therefore, since ind $Q_1 \otimes_K Q_2 = 2$, the class $[\mathcal{U}_1(2) \otimes \mathcal{U}_2(2)] = (4 + 2h_1 + h_1^2)(4 + 2h_2 + h_2^2)$ is divisible by 2 in K(X). Thus the product $h_1^2 h_2^2$ is divisible by 2. Since $h_1^2 h_2^2 = 4p$, we are done. \Box Since one can find a field extension of K of degree 4 such that the forms q_1 and q_2 become isotropic over this extension, one has $4p \in K(X)^{(4)}$. Therefore, if we manage to show that $2p \notin K(X)^{(3)}$, we get an element of order 2 in the quotient $K(X)/K(X)^{(3)}$, namely the class of 2p. Since the groups $K(X)^{(0/1)}$ and $K(X)^{(1/2)}$ are torsion-free (see [74, Lemme 6.3, (i)] for the statement on $K(X)^{(1/2)} \simeq \operatorname{CH}^1(X)$), it will be a non-trivial torsion element in $K(X)^{(2/3)}$.

So, the last step in the proof of Theorem is the following

LEMMA 11.3. $2p \notin K(X)^{(3)}$.

PROOF. Remember that the quadratic forms q_1 and q_2 are in fact defined over k. Let us change the notation and from now on denote by X_1 and X_2 the projective quadrics over k determined by q_1 and q_2 . Set $X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X_1 \times X_2$. We have to show that $2p \notin K(X_K)^{(3)}$.

The pull-back homomorphism $K(X \times \mathcal{R}(T))^{(3)} \to K(X_K)^{(3)}$, given by the flat morphism of schemes $X_K \to X \times \mathcal{R}(T)$, is surjective by Corollary 4.3. Therefore it suffices to show that 2p is not in the image of this homomorphism.

Denote by G the Galois group of the biquadratic field extension l/k. The group $K(X \times \mathcal{R}(T))^{(3)}$ is contained in the G-invariant part of the group $K(X_l \times \mathcal{R}(T)_l)^{(3)}$. Thus it suffices to show that

$$2p \notin \operatorname{Im}\left(K(X_l \times \mathcal{R}(T)_l)^{(3)G} \to K(X_L)\right).$$

For this, we apply Proposition 9.4.

In order to meet the conditions of Proposition 9.4, for i = 1, 2, put $l_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} k(\sqrt{d_i})$ and denote by σ_i the non-trivial automorphism of l over l_{3-i} . The group G consists of 1, σ_1 , σ_2 , $\sigma_1\sigma_2$ and is generated by σ_1 , σ_2 .

Let Y_i be the Severi-Brauer variety of the quaternion k-algebra (a_i, b_i) . One has $X_i \simeq R_{l_i/k}(Y_i)$ (see Example 5.4). Therefore, we can identify $(X_i)_l$ with $\hat{Y}_i \times \check{Y}_i$, where \hat{Y}_i and \check{Y}_i are two copies of the variety $(Y_i)_l$; moreover, by Lemma 5.5, the automorphism of $(X_i)_l$ given by σ_i corresponds to the automorphism of $\hat{Y}_i \times \check{Y}_i$ given by σ_i composed with the interchanging of the factors. The automorphism of $(X_i)_l$ given by σ_{3-i} corresponds to the automorphism of $\hat{Y}_i \times \check{Y}_i$ given by σ_{3-i} .

We also can identify $\mathcal{R}(T)_l$ with $\prod_G T_l$. Choosing the following correspondence between the signs \wedge, \vee, \vee, \vee and the elements of G:

$$\begin{array}{rcl} & & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & & & \\ & &$$

we identify $\mathcal{R}(T)_l$ with $\tilde{T} \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T}$ where $\tilde{T}, \tilde{T}, \tilde{T}, \tilde{T}$ are copies of T_l . The automorphism of $\mathcal{R}(T)_l$ given by σ_1 corresponds under this identification to the automorphism of $\tilde{T} \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T}$ given by σ_1 composed with the interchanging

of \tilde{T} with \tilde{T} and of \tilde{T} with \tilde{T} . Analogously, the automorphism of $\mathcal{R}(T)_l$ given by σ_2 corresponds to the automorphism of $\tilde{T} \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T} \times \tilde{T}$ given by σ_2 composed with the interchanging of \tilde{T} with \tilde{T} and of \tilde{T} with \tilde{T} .

Summarizing and passing to the Grothendieck group of the varieties, we get the following commutative diagram (for i = 1, 2):

$$\begin{array}{cccc} K(\mathcal{R}_{l_1/k}(Y_1)_l \times \mathcal{R}_{l_2/k}(Y_2)_l \times \mathcal{R}(T)_l) & \stackrel{\sigma_i}{\longrightarrow} & K(\mathcal{R}_{l_1/k}(Y_1)_l \times \mathcal{R}_{l_2/k}(Y_2)_l \times \mathcal{R}(T)_l) \\ & & \downarrow & \\ & & \downarrow & \\ & & & K(\mathfrak{X}) & \stackrel{\sigma_i \circ s_i}{\longrightarrow} & K(\mathfrak{X}) \end{array}$$

where \mathfrak{X} and s_i are as in Proposition 8.5. By Corollary 6.2, σ_i over the bottom arrow is the identity.

We have met the conditions of Proposition 8.5. Applying it, we get the affirmation required. $\hfill \Box$

Theorem is proved.

COROLLARY 11.4. Let k be a field of characteristic $\neq 2$ and $a, b, u, v, d, \delta \in k^*$. Suppose that $d, \delta, d\delta \notin k^{*2}$ and $((a, b) \otimes (u, v))_{k(\sqrt{d}, \sqrt{\delta})}$ is a division algebra. Put $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$, $\psi = \langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$. Then there exists a field extension K/k such that

Tors
$$\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho_K} \times X_{\psi_K}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$$
 and $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\rho_K) \otimes C_0(\psi_K) = 2$.

PROOF. To come to the situation considered above, we simply put $a_1 = a$, $b_1 = b$, $a_2 = u$, $b_2 = v$, $d_1 = d$, and $d_2 = \delta$, so that $q_1 = \rho$ and $q_2 = \psi$.

Let K be the field extension of k constructed in the beginning of this Section. By Theorem 11.1, the group $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho_K} \times X_{\psi_K})$ is non-trivial. From the other hand, by Theorem 5.7 of Chapter 4, the order of this group is at most 2. Therefore $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\rho_K} \times X_{\psi_K}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$.

Finally, let us note that $C_0(\rho) \simeq (a, b)_{k(\sqrt{d})}$ and $C_0(\psi) \simeq (u, v)_{k(\sqrt{\delta})}$. Consequently ind $C_0(\rho_K) \otimes C_0(\psi_K) =$ ind $((a, b) \otimes (u, v))_L = 2$.

12. Quadratic forms over complete fields

In this section we need some results concerning the Witt ring over a complete discrete valuation field. We fix the following notation:

- (L, v) is a complete discrete valuation field.
- We set $\mathfrak{O}_L = \{x \in L^* | v(x) \ge 0\}, \mathfrak{M}_L = \{x \in L | v(x) > 0\}$, and $\mathfrak{U}_L = \mathfrak{O}_L \mathfrak{M}_L = \{x \in L | v(x) = 0\}.$
- Residue field \overline{L} is defined as $\mathfrak{O}_L/\mathfrak{M}_L$.
- For any $a \in \mathfrak{O}_L$ we denote by \bar{a} the class of a in $L = \mathfrak{O}_L/\mathfrak{M}_L$.

If $a \in \mathfrak{U}_L$, we obviously have $\bar{a} \in \bar{L}^*$. Let π be an element of L such that $v(\pi)$ is odd. Since $L^*/L^{*2} = U_L/U_L^{*2} \times \{1,\pi\}$, an arbitrary quadratic form ϕ over L can be written in the form $\phi = \langle a_1, \ldots, a_k \rangle \perp \pi \langle b_1, \ldots, b_l \rangle$ where

 $a_1,\ldots,a_k,b_1,\ldots,b_l \in \mathfrak{U}_L$. We define quadratic \overline{L} -forms $d^1_{\pi}(\phi)$ and $d^2_{\pi}(\phi)$ as follows:

 $d^1_{\pi}(\phi) = \langle \bar{a}_1, \dots, \bar{a}_k \rangle_{an}, \qquad d^2_{\pi}(\phi) = \langle \bar{b}_1, \dots, \bar{b}_l \rangle_{an}.$

REMARK 12.1. 1) Springer's theorem asserts that a quadratic form ϕ and an element $\pi \in L^*$ determine quadratic forms $d^1_{\pi}(\phi)$ and $d^2_{\pi}(\phi)$ uniquely up to isomorphism¹. The maps

 d^1_{π}, d^2_{π} : {isometry classes of *L*-forms} \rightarrow {isometry classes of \bar{L} -forms}

give rise to group homomorphisms $W(L) \to W(\bar{L})$, which are called the first and the second residue class and denoted by ∂_1 and ∂_2 (see [48, §1 of Chapter [6] or [76, Definition 2.5 of Chapter 6]).

2) In the case where ϕ is anisotropic, quadratic forms $\langle \bar{a}_1, \ldots, \bar{a}_k \rangle$ and $\langle \bar{b}_1, \ldots, \bar{b}_l \rangle$ are anisotropic as well. Thus, in this case

$$d^1_{\pi}(\phi) = \langle \bar{a}_1, \dots, \bar{a}_k \rangle, \qquad d^2_{\pi}(\phi) = \langle \bar{b}_1, \dots, \bar{b}_l \rangle.$$

LEMMA 12.2. Let ϕ and τ be anisotropic quadratic forms over a complete discrete valuation field (L, v). Let π be an element of L such that $v(\pi)$ is odd. Suppose that $\tau \subset \phi$. Then $d^1_{\pi}(\tau) \subset d^1_{\pi}(\phi)$ and $d^2_{\pi}(\tau) \subset d^2_{\pi}(\phi)$.

PROOF. Let γ be such that $\tau \perp \gamma = \phi$. It follows from Remark 12.1 that $d^1_{\pi}(\tau) \perp d^1_{\pi}(\gamma) = d^1_{\pi}(\phi)$ and $d^2_{\pi}(\tau) \perp d^2_{\pi}(\gamma) = d^2_{\pi}(\phi)$. Thus $d^1_{\pi}(\tau) \subset d^1_{\pi}(\phi)$ and $d^2_{\pi}(\tau) \subset d^2_{\pi}(\phi)$.

LEMMA 12.3. Let ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 be anisotropic quadratic k-forms. Let K =k((t)), and let $\phi = \phi_1 \perp t\phi_2$ be a quadratic form over K. Let L/K be an odd extension. Suppose that there exists $\tau \in GP_2(L)$ such that $\tau \subset \phi_L$. Then there exists an odd extension l/k of degree $\leq [L:K]$ such that at least one of the following conditions holds:

- there exists $\rho \in GP_2(l)$ such that $\rho \subset (\phi_1)_l$.
- there exists $\rho \in GP_2(l)$ such that $\rho \subset (\phi_2)_l$.
- quadratic forms $(\phi_1)_l$ and $(\phi)_l$ are linked.

Moreover, we can take $l = \overline{L}$.

PROOF. Since L/K is a finite field extension, L is a complete discrete valuation field. Let v be a valuation on L, and let $l = \overline{L}$ be the residue field of L. We have $[l:k] = [L:K] \leq [L:K]$. Since L/K is odd, [l:k] is odd too. Besides, the ramification index e(L/K) = v(t) is odd. Thus, d_t^1 and d_t^2 are well defined. Since dim $\tau = 4$ and det $\tau = 1$, it follows that dim $d_t^1(\tau)$ and dim $d_t^2(\tau)$ are even, dim $d_t^1(\tau)$ + dim $d_t^2(\tau) = 4$, and det $d_t^1(\tau)$ det $d_t^2(\tau) = 1$. Thus one of the following conditions holds:

- 1) $d_t^1(\tau) \in GP_2(\bar{L})$ and $d_1^2(\tau) = 0$, 2) $d_t^2(\tau) \in GP_2(\bar{L})$ and $d_t^1(\tau) = 0$,

¹In the original version of Springer's theorem, π is an uniformizing element of L. However, we can suppose that π is an arbitrary element such that $v(\pi)$ is odd because there exists a prime element $\pi_L \in L$ such that $\pi \equiv \pi_L$ in L^*/L^{*2} .

3) dim $d_t^1(\tau) = \dim d_t^2(\tau) = 2$ and $d_t^1(\tau)$ is similar to $d_t^2(\tau)$. Clearly, $d_t^1(\phi) = (\phi_1)_l$ and $d_t^2(\phi) = (\phi_2)_l$. It follows from Lemma 12.2 that $d_\pi^1(\tau) \subset d_\pi^1(\phi) = (\phi_1)_l$ and $d_\pi^2(\tau) \subset d_\pi^2(\phi) = (\phi_2)_l$. Thus, we are done.

13. 8-dimensional quadratic forms $\phi \in I^2(F)$

It is an important problem to find a good classification of 8-dimensional quadratic forms $\phi \in I^2(F)$. One of important invariants of ϕ is the Schur index of the Clifford algebra $C(\phi)$. Clearly, ind $C(\phi)$ is equal to one of the integers: 1, 2, 4, or 8.

If ϕ is a "generic" 8-dimensional form with det $\phi = 1$, then we have ind $C(\phi) = 8$. This shows that we cannot say anything specific in the case ind $C(\phi) = 8$. In the case ind $C(\phi) = 1$ we have plenty information on the structure of ϕ . Indeed, in this case $c(\phi) = 0$, and hence $\phi \in I^3(F)$. Finally, APH implies that $\phi \in GP_3(F)$. The case ind $C(\phi) = 2$ is well known too (see for example [41, Example 9.12]). Namely, for a quadratic form $\phi \in I^2(F)$ the following two conditions are equivalent: a) ind $C(\phi) \leq 2$; b) ϕ can be written in the form $\phi = \langle\!\langle a \rangle\!\rangle q$, where dim q = 4.

Thus, the only open case is ind $C(\phi) = 4$. It is very easy to give examples of quadratic forms ϕ with ind $C(\phi) \leq 4$. If $\phi = \pi_1 \perp \pi_2$ where $\pi_1, \pi_2 \in GP_2(F)$, then $c(\phi) = c(\pi_1) + c(\pi_2)$, and hence ind $C(\phi) \leq 4$. This example gives rise to the following natural

QUESTION 13.1. Suppose that $\phi \in I^2(F)$ is an 8-dimensional quadratic form with ind $C(\phi) \leq 4$. Do there necessarily exist quadratic forms $\pi_1, \pi_2 \in GP_2(F)$ such that $\phi = \pi_1 \perp \pi_2$?

In this section we construct a counterexample for this question. We start from the following

DEFINITION 13.2 (cf. [32, §7]). Let ϕ be a quadratic form over F.

- 1) By S(F) we denote the set of quadratic forms over F satisfying the following condition: there exists $\rho \in GP_2(F)$ such that $\rho \subset \phi$.
- 2) By $S_{\text{odd}}(F)$ we denote the set of quadratic forms over F satisfying the following condition: there exist an odd extension L/F and $\rho \in GP_2(L)$ such that $\rho \subset \phi_L$. In other words,

 $S_{\text{odd}}(F) = \{\phi \mid \text{there exists an odd extension } L/F \text{ such that } \phi_L \in S(L) \}.$

Clearly, $S(F) \subset S_{\text{odd}}(F)$. We do not know if there exists a field F such that $S(F) \neq S_{\text{odd}}(F)$.² Our interest in the set $S_{\text{odd}}(F)$ is motivated by the following

THEOREM 13.3 (see [32, Theorem 7.3]). Let ϕ be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 3 . The group Tors $G_1K(X_{\phi})$ is zero or equal to $\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$. The group

²In [**32**, Remark 7.2], it is remarked that a field F and a 7-dimensional form $\phi \in S_{\text{odd}}(F) \setminus S(F)$ can be constructed. However, recently O. Izhboldin showed that the form ϕ the author had in mind is in fact in S(F).

Tors $G_1K(X_{\phi})$ is nontrivial if and only if ϕ is anisotropic, dim $\phi \geq 5$, and $\phi \in S_{\text{odd}}(F)$.

PROPOSITION 13.4. Let $\phi \in I^2(K)$ be an anisotropic 8-dimensional quadratic form such that ind $C(\phi) = 4$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- 1) $\phi \in S(K)$, *i.e.*, there exists $\rho \in GP_2(K)$ such that $\rho \subset \phi$,
- 2) there exist $\rho_1, \rho_2 \in GP_2(K)$ such that $\phi = \rho_1 \perp \rho_2$,
- 3) ϕ and q are linked, where q is an Albert form corresponding to the algebra $C(\phi)$.

PROOF. 1) \Rightarrow 2). Let ρ' be a complement of ρ in ϕ . We have $\phi = \rho \perp \rho'$. Clearly det $\rho' = 1$ and dim $\rho' = 4$. Therefore $\rho' \in GP_2(K)$.

2) \Rightarrow 3). One can write ρ_1 , ρ_2 as follows: $\rho_1 = k_1 \langle \langle a_1, b_1 \rangle \rangle$ and $\rho_2 = k_2 \langle \langle a_2, b_2 \rangle \rangle$. Then $c(q) = c(\phi) = (a_1, b_1) + (a_2, b_2)$. Therefore, q is similar to the form $\langle -a_1, -b_1, a_1b_1, a_2, b_2, -a_2b_2 \rangle$. Obviously, $\phi_{K(\sqrt{a_1})}$ and $q_{K(\sqrt{a_1})}$ are isotropic. Hence ϕ and q are linked.

3) \Rightarrow 1). Suppose that ϕ and q are linked. Then there exists $s \in K^*$ such that $\phi_{K(\sqrt{s})}$ and $q_{K(\sqrt{s})}$ are isotropic. We claim that $i_W(\phi_{K(\sqrt{s})}) \ge 2$. Suppose at the moment that $i_W(\phi_{K(\sqrt{s})}) = 1$. Then $(\phi_{K(\sqrt{s})})_{an}$ is an anisotropic Albert form. Then $\operatorname{ind} C(\phi_{K(\sqrt{s})}) = 4$. Since $c(q) = c(\phi)$, we see that $\operatorname{ind} C(q_{K(\sqrt{s})}) = 4$. Hence the Albert form $q_{K(\sqrt{s})}$ is anisotropic, a contradiction. Thus $i_W(\phi_{K(\sqrt{s})}) \ge 2$. Hence there exists a 2-dimensional form μ such that $\mu \langle\!\langle s \rangle\!\rangle \subset \phi$. To complete the proof it is sufficient to set $\rho = \mu \langle\!\langle s \rangle\!\rangle$.

In this section we construct some new examples of quadratic forms ϕ such that $\phi \notin S_{\text{odd}}(K)$ (and hence $\phi \notin S(K)$). The main tool for our construction is the following

LEMMA 13.5. 1) Let ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 be anisotropic k-forms such that $\phi_1, \phi_2 \notin S_{\text{odd}}(k)$. Denote by ϕ the quadratic form $\phi_1 \perp t\phi_2$ over k((t)). Suppose that $\phi \in S_{\text{odd}}(k((t)))$. Then there exists a finite odd extension l/k such that $(\phi_1)_l$ and $(\phi_2)_l$ are linked.

2) Let ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 be anisotropic k-forms such that $\phi_1, \phi_2 \notin S(k)$. Let $\phi = \phi_1 \perp t\phi_2$ be a quadratic form over k((t)). Suppose that $\phi \in S(k((t)))$. Then ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are linked.

PROOF. It is an obvious consequence of Lemma 12.3.

COROLLARY 13.6. Let ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 be 4-dimensional k-forms not belonging to $GP_2(k)$. Suppose that $(\phi_1)_l$ and $(\phi_2)_l$ are not linked for any odd extension l/k. Then the quadratic form $\phi_1 \perp t\phi_2$ over k((t)) does not belong to $S_{\text{odd}}(k((t)))$.

THEOREM 13.7. There exist a field K and an 8-dimensional quadratic form $\phi \in I^2(K)$ such that ind $C(\phi) = 4$ but $\phi \notin S_{\text{odd}}(K)$.

116

PROOF. Let field k, elements $a_1, a_2, b_1, b_2, d \in k^*$, and 4-dimensional quadratic forms q_1, q_2 be as in Corollary 10.2. We set K = k((t)) and

$$\phi = q_1 \perp tq_2 = \langle -a_1, -b_1, a_1b_1, d \rangle \perp t \langle -a_2, -b_2, a_2b_2, d \rangle.$$

Clearly, dim $\phi = 4 + 4 = 8$ and det_± $\phi = 1$. In W(K) we have $\phi = (\langle \langle a_1, b_1 \rangle \rangle - \langle \langle d \rangle \rangle) - t(\langle \langle a_2, b_2 \rangle \rangle - \langle \langle d \rangle \rangle) = \langle \langle a_1, b_1 \rangle \rangle - t \langle \langle a_2, b_2 \rangle \rangle + \langle \langle d, t \rangle \rangle$. Therefore, $c(\phi) = (a_1, b_1) + (a_2, b_2) + (d, t)$. Applying Tignol's theorem [83, Proposition 2.4], we see that

ind
$$C(\phi) = \operatorname{ind}((a_1, b_1) \otimes (a_2, b_2) \otimes (d, t)) =$$

= 2 ind $((a_1, b_1) \otimes (a_2, b_2))_{K(\sqrt{d})} = 2 \cdot 2 = 4$.

It follows from Corollary 13.6 that $\phi \notin S_{\text{odd}}(K)$.

COROLLARY 13.8. The answer to Question 13.1 is negative.

COROLLARY 13.9. There exist a field K and an 8-dimensional quadratic form $\phi \in I^2(K)$ such that $\operatorname{Tors} G^i K(X_{\phi}) = 0$ for $i \neq 4$ and $\operatorname{Tors} G^4 K(X_{\phi}) = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$.

PROOF. It is an obvious consequence of Theorem 13.7 and [32, Theorem 8].

THEOREM 13.10. Let $\phi \in I^2(k)$ be an 8-dimensional quadratic form. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- 1) ind $C(\phi) \leq 4$,
- 2) at least one of the following conditions holds:
 - (a) there exist $\pi_1, \pi_2 \in GP_2(k)$ such that $\phi = \pi_1 \perp \pi_2$,
 - (b) there exist a field extension l/k of degree 2 and a quadratic form $\tau \in GP_2(l)$ such that $\phi = s_{l/k}(\tau)$.

PROOF. 1) \Rightarrow 2). If ϕ is isotropic, we can write ϕ as a sum $\phi = q \perp \langle 1, -1 \rangle$, where q is an Albert form. Writing q in the form $q = s \langle -a, -b, ab, u, v, -uv, \rangle$, we have $\phi = s \langle \langle a, b \rangle \rangle \perp -s \langle \langle u, v \rangle \rangle$. Setting $\pi_1 = s \langle \langle a, b \rangle \rangle$ and $\pi_2 = -s \langle \langle u, v \rangle \rangle$, we are done. Thus we can suppose that ϕ is anisotropic.

Since ind $C(\phi) \leq 4$, there exists an Albert form q such that $c(q) = c(\phi)$. If q is isotropic, then ind $C(\phi) \leq 2$, and hence ϕ can be written in the form $\phi = \langle\!\langle a \rangle\!\rangle \otimes \langle b_1, b_2, b_3, b_4 \rangle$. Setting $\pi_1 = \langle\!\langle a \rangle\!\rangle \otimes \langle b_1, b_2 \rangle$ and $\pi_2 = \langle\!\langle a \rangle\!\rangle \otimes \langle b_3, b_4 \rangle$, we have $\phi = \pi_1 \perp \pi_2$ and $\pi_1, \pi_2 \in GP_2(k)$. Thus in the case where q is isotropic, the proof is complete.

Now, we can suppose that ϕ and q are anisotropic. Let $\rho = \phi \perp tq$ be a quadratic form over K = k((t)). Obviously, dim $\rho = 14$ and $\rho \in I^3(K)$. It follows from [72] that there exist $d \in K$ and $\pi \in P_3(K(\sqrt{d}))$ such that $\rho = \phi \perp tq$ is similar to $s_{K(\sqrt{d})/K}(\sqrt{d}\pi')$. Let $L = K(\sqrt{d})$.

Since $K^*/K^{*2} = k^*/k^{*2} \times \{1, t\}$, it is sufficient to consider the following two cases:

- $d = a \in k^*$,
- d has the form at with $a \in k^*$.

First, consider the case $d = a \in k^*$. In this case we have L = l((t)) with $l = k(\sqrt{a})$. Then an arbitrary *L*-form γ can be written in the form $\phi_1 \perp t\phi_2$, where ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are *l*-forms. We have

$$s_{L/K}(\gamma) = s_{L/K}(\phi_1 \perp t\phi_2) = s_{l/k}(\phi_1) \perp ts_{l/k}(\phi_2).$$

Applying this formula to the case $\gamma = \sqrt{d\pi'}$, we see that $\phi \perp tq$ is similar to $s_{l/k}(\phi_1) \perp ts_{l/k}(\phi_2)$. Hence, one of the k-forms $s_{l/k}(\phi_1)$, $s_{l/k}(\phi_2)$ is similar to ϕ and the other is similar to q. Let i be such that $s_{l/k}(\phi_i) \sim \phi$, and let j be such that $s_{l/k}(\phi_j) \sim q$. Then $\dim \phi_i = 4$ and $\dim \phi_j = 3$. Since $s_{l/k}(\phi_i) \sim \phi$, there exists $r \in k^*$ such that $\phi = r \cdot s_{l/k}(\phi_i) = s_{l/k}(r\phi_i)$. Now it is sufficient to prove that $r\phi_i \in GP_2(l)$. Let $\tilde{\phi}_j = \phi_j \perp \langle \det(\phi_i) \det(\phi_j) \rangle$. Obviously, $\phi_i \perp t\tilde{\phi}_j \in I^2(L)$. Clearly, $\phi_1 \perp t\phi_2$ is similar to $\phi_i \perp t\phi_j$. Therefore π' is similar to $\phi_i \perp t\phi_j$, and hence π is similar to $\phi_i \perp t\tilde{\phi}_j$. Since $\pi \in I^3(l((t)))$, it follows that $\phi_i, \tilde{\phi}_j \in I^2(l)$. Since $\dim \phi_i = 4$, we have $\phi_i \in GP_2(l)$. Thus in the case $d \in k^*$ we are done.

Now, consider the case d = at, $a \in k^*$. In this case $L = k((t))(\sqrt{at})$ is a complete discrete valuation field with residue field k and uniformizing element \sqrt{at} . Then an arbitrary L-form γ can be written in the form $\phi_1 \perp \sqrt{at}\phi_2$, where ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 are k-forms. We have

$$s_{L/K}(\gamma) = s_{L/K}(\phi_1 \perp \sqrt{at\phi_2})$$

= $s_{L/K}(\langle 1 \rangle) \otimes \phi_1 \perp s_{L/K}(\langle \sqrt{at} \rangle) \otimes \phi_2$
= $\langle 1, at \rangle \otimes \phi_1 \perp \langle 1, -1 \rangle \otimes \phi_2$
= $(\phi_1 \perp \langle 1, -1 \rangle \otimes \phi_2) \perp t \cdot a\phi_1.$

Applying this formula to the case $\gamma = \sqrt{d\pi'}$, we see that $\phi \perp tq$ is similar to $(\phi_1 \perp \langle 1, -1 \rangle \otimes \phi_2) \perp t \cdot a\phi_1$. Therefore one of the forms ϕ , q is similar to $\phi_1 \perp \langle 1, -1 \rangle \otimes \phi_2$ and the other is similar to $a\phi_1$. Since ϕ and q are anisotropic, we see that dim $\phi_2 = 0$. Therefore dim $(\phi_1 \perp \langle 1, -1 \rangle \otimes \phi_2) = \dim a\phi_1$. Hence dim $\phi = \dim q$, a contradiction.

2) \Rightarrow 1). In the case where $\phi = \pi_1 \perp \pi_2$ and $\pi_1, \pi_2 \in GP_2(k)$, we have ind $C(\phi) \leq \operatorname{ind} C(\pi_1) \cdot \operatorname{ind} C(\pi_2) \leq 2 \cdot 2 = 4$. Now, suppose that there exist a field extension l/k of degree 2 and a quadratic form $\tau \in GP_2(l)$ such that $\phi = s_{l/k}(\tau)$. First of all, we have dim $\phi = [l:k] \cdot \dim \tau = 8$. Since $\tau \in I^2(l)$, it follows that $\phi = s_{l/k}(\tau) \in I^2(k)$ ([**76**, Corollary 14.9]). Finally, we have $c(\phi) = c(s_{l/k}(\tau)) = \operatorname{Tr}_{l/k}(c(\tau))$. Therefore, $\operatorname{ind} C(\phi) \leq 4$.

REMARK 13.11. 1) Setting $l = k \times k$, one can consider Condition 2(a) of Theorem 13.10 as a degenerate case of Condition 2(b).

2) Actually, Theorem 13.10 is an easy consequence of deep Rost's theorem [72]. Rost's proof uses numerous results on the algebraic groups. It would be interesting to find a direct proof of Theorem 13.10 in the framework of theory of quadratic forms.

14. 14-dimensional quadratic forms $\phi \in I^3(F)$

In this section we discuss the problem of classification of anisotropic forms $\phi \in I^3(K)$. For anisotropic quadratic forms $\phi \in I^3(K)$, the following results are known: if dim $\phi < 8$, then ϕ is hyperbolic; if dim $\phi = 8$, then ϕ is similar to a 3-fold Pfister form; there are no anisotropic 10-dimensional forms belonging to $I^3(K)$; if dim $\phi = 12$, then there exist a 2-dimensional quadratic form μ and a 6-dimensional Albert form q such that $\phi = \mu \otimes q$. Analyzing these results, one can see that:

- all anisotropic quadratic forms $\phi \in I^3(K)$ of dimension ≤ 12 belongs to S(K),
- any quadratic form $\phi \in I^3(K)$ of dimension ≤ 12 can be represented as a sum $\sum_{i=1}^k \rho_i$ with $\rho_i \in GP_3(K)$ and $k \leq 2$.

Here we consider the case dim $\phi = 14$. It is not difficult to construct a form of dimension 14 belonging to $I^3(K)$. Let τ'_1 and τ'_2 be pure subforms of 3-fold Pfister forms τ_1 and τ_2 . Then for any $k \in K^*$ the quadratic form $\phi = k(\tau'_1 \perp -\tau'_2)$ has dimension 14 and belongs to $I^3(K)$. This example gives rise to the following

QUESTION 14.1. Suppose that $\phi \in I^3(K)$ is a 14-dimensional quadratic form. Do there necessarily exist quadratic forms $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in P_3(K)$ and $k \in K^*$ such that $\phi = k(\tau'_1 \perp - \tau'_2)$?

We have the following

PROPOSITION 14.2. Let $\phi \in I^3(K)$ be an anisotropic 14-dimensional form. The following conditions are equivalent:

- 1) $\phi \in S(K)$, *i.e.*, there exists $\rho \in GP_2(K)$ such that $\rho \subset \phi$,
- 2) There exist $\rho_1, \rho_2 \in GP_3(K)$ such that $\phi = \rho_1 + \rho_2$ in W(K),
- 3) There exist $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in P_3(K)$ and $k \in K^*$ such that $\phi = k(\tau'_1 \perp -\tau'_2)$. Here τ'_1 and τ'_2 denote pure subforms of Pfister forms τ_1, τ_2 ,
- 4) There exist $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in P_3(K)$ such that $\phi \equiv \tau_1 + \tau_2 \pmod{I^4(K)}$,
- 5) $e^{3}(\phi)$ is a sum of two symbols, i.e., there exist $a_{1}, b_{1}c_{1}, a_{2}, b_{2}, c_{2} \in K^{*}$ such that $e^{3}(\phi) = (a_{1}, b_{1}, c_{1}) + (a_{2}, b_{2}, c_{2}).$

PROOF. 1) \Rightarrow 2). Let $s \in K^*$ be such that $\rho_{F(\sqrt{s})}$ is isotropic. Since $\rho \in GP_2(K)$, it follows that $i_W(\phi_{K(\sqrt{s})}) \ge 2$. Therefore $\dim(\phi_{K(\sqrt{s})})_{an} \le 10$, and hence Pfister's theorem [68] implies that $\dim(\phi_{K(\sqrt{s})})_{an} \le 8$. Thus, $i_W(\phi_{K(\sqrt{s})}) \ge 3$. Hence there exists a 3-dimensional form μ such that $\mu \langle \langle s \rangle \rangle \subset \phi$. We set $\rho_1 = (\mu \perp \langle \det \mu \rangle) \langle \langle s \rangle \rangle$. Clearly, $\rho_1 \in GP_3(K)$. Let $\rho_2 = (\phi \perp -\rho_1)_{an}$. We have $\phi = \rho_1 + \rho_2$ in W(K). It is sufficient to prove that $\rho_2 \in GP_3(K)$. Since $\dim \phi = 14 > 8 = \dim \rho_1$ and $\phi = \rho_1 + \rho_2$, it follows that $\rho_2 \ne 0$. Since $\phi, \rho_1 \in I^3(K)$, it follows that $\rho_2 \in I^3(K)$. Therefore, $\dim \rho_2 \ge 8$. Since ρ_1 and ϕ contain a common 6-dimensional form $\mu \langle \langle s \rangle \rangle$, we have $\dim \rho_2 = \dim(\phi \perp -\rho_1)_{an} \le 14 + 8 - 2 \cdot 6 = 10$. Since ρ_2 is anisotropic and $\rho_2 \in I^3(K)$, Pfister's theorem implies that $\dim \rho_2 = 8$. Therefore, $\rho_2 \in GP_3(K)$.

2) \Rightarrow 3). It is a particular case of [17, Lemma 3.2] (see also [9, Theorem 4.5])

3) \Rightarrow 4). Since $k(\tau'_1 \perp -\tau'_2) \equiv \tau_1 + \tau_2 \pmod{I^4(K)}$, we are done.

4) \Rightarrow 1). Let $L = K(\sqrt{s})$ be a field extension such that $(\rho_2)_L$ is isotropic. We have $\phi_{L(\rho_1)} \equiv (\rho_1 + \rho_2)_{L(\rho_1)} = 0 \pmod{I^4(L(\rho_1))}$. Since dim $\phi = 14 < 16$, APH implies that $\phi_{L(\rho_1)}$ is hyperbolic. Hence there exists an *L*-form γ such that $(\phi_L)_{an} = (\rho_1)_L \cdot \gamma$. Hence, dim $(\phi_L)_{an}$ is divisible by 8. Since dim $\phi = 14$, it follows that $i_W(\phi_L) \ge (14 - 8)/2 = 3$. Since $L = K(\sqrt{s})$, there exists a 2dimensional form μ such that $\langle\!\langle s \rangle\!\rangle \, \mu \subset \phi$. Now it is sufficient to set $\rho = \langle\!\langle s \rangle\!\rangle \, \mu$. $4\rangle \iff 5$). It is an easy consequence of bijectivity of $\bar{e}^3 : I^3(K)/I^4(K) \to H^3(K)$.

THEOREM 14.3. There exist a field E and a 14-dimensional quadratic form $\tau \in I^3(E)$ such that $\tau \notin S_{\text{odd}}(E)$.

PROOF. Let K and $\phi \in I^2(K)$ be as in Theorem 13.7. Since ind $C(\phi) = 4$, there exists an Albert form q such that $c(\phi) = c(q)$. Let E = K((t)), and let $\tau = \phi \perp tq$ be a quadratic form over E. Clearly, dim $\phi = 14$. We have $c(\tau) = c(\phi) + c(q) = 0$. Therefore $\tau \in I^3(E)$. To complete the proof, it suffices to verify that $\tau \notin S_{\text{odd}}(E)$

Suppose at the moment that $\tau \in S_{\text{odd}}(E)$. By Theorem 13.7, we have $\phi \notin S_{\text{odd}}(K)$. Since q is an anisotropic Albert form, it follows that $q \notin S_{\text{odd}}(K)$. Now, it follows from Lemma 13.5 that there exists an odd extension L/K such that ϕ_L and q_L are linked. Proposition 13.4 implies that $\phi_L \in S(L)$. Since L/K is an odd extension, we have $\phi \in S_{\text{odd}}(K)$, a contradiction.

COROLLARY 14.4. The answer to Question 14.1 is negative.

COROLLARY 14.5. There exist a field K and a 14-dimensional form $\phi \in I^3(K)$ such that $e^3(\phi)$ cannot be represented as a sum of two symbols.

REMARK 14.6. It was proved by D. W. Hoffmann and the first author (independently) that an arbitrary 14-dimensional quadratic form $\phi \in I^3(K)$ can be written in the form $\tau_1 + \tau_2 + \tau_3$ in W(K) where $\tau_1, \tau_2, \tau_3 \in GP_3(K)$ (see for instance [21]). In particular, $e^3(\phi)$ can be represented as a sum of 3 symbols.

REMARK 14.7. Let *n* be an even integer such that n > 14. It is not difficult to construct a field *E* and a quadratic form $\phi \in I^3(E)$ of dimension *n* such that $\phi \notin S_{\text{odd}}(E)$. The following example shows how to construct a quadratic form $\phi \in I^3(E)$ of dimension $6n \ (n \ge 4)$ so that $\phi \notin S_{\text{odd}}(E)$.

EXAMPLE 14.8. Let $n \ge 4$, and let k_0 be an arbitrary field of characteristic $\ne 2$. Let $k = k_0(X_1, \ldots, X_n, Y_1, \ldots, Y_n, U_1, \ldots, U_n, V_1, \ldots, V_n)$. For any $i = 1, \ldots, n$ we set $A_i = (X_1, Y_1) \otimes_k (U_i, V_i)$ and $q_i = \langle -X_i, -Y_i, X_i Y_i, U_i, V_i, -U_i V_i \rangle$. Let $A = A_1 \otimes_k \cdots \otimes_k A_n$ and K = k(SB(A)). Let $1 \le i < j \le n$. By the index reduction formula [78], we have $\operatorname{ind}(A_i \otimes_k A_j)_K = \min(\operatorname{ind}(A_i \otimes_k A_j), \operatorname{ind}(A_i \otimes_k A_j \otimes_k A)) = \min(4^2, 4^{n-2}) = 16$. Therefore, for any odd extension L/K we have $\operatorname{ind}(A_i \otimes_k A_j)_L = 16$. Then $(q_i)_L$ and $(q_j)_L$ are not linked.

Now we set $E = K((t_1)) \dots ((t_n))$ and $\phi = t_1(q_1)_E \perp \dots \perp t_n(q_n)_E$. We have $c(\phi) = [(A_1)_E] + \dots + [(A_n)_E] = [A_E] = [(A_{k(\mathrm{SB}(A))})_E] = 0$. Hence $\phi \in I^3(E)$. Applying Lemma 13.5, one can show that $\phi \notin S_{\mathrm{odd}}(E)$.

15. Nonstandard isotropy

Let ϕ and ψ be anisotropic quadratic forms over F. An important problem in the algebraic theory of quadratic forms is to find conditions on ϕ and ψ so that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. In the case where dim $\phi \leq 6$ the problem was studied by many authors: the case dim $\phi \leq 4$ was studied by Schapiro in [75]; the case dim $\phi = 5$ was studied by D. W. Hoffmann in [15]; for 6-dimensional forms ϕ the problem was studied by D. W. Hoffmann ([16]), A. Laghribi ([44], [45]), D. Leep ([49]), A. S. Merkurjev ([54]), and in Chapters 3, 4.

In these papers the authors show that under certain conditions on ϕ and ψ the isotropy of ϕ over $F(\psi)$ is standard in a sense. Let us recall the definition of "standard isotropy" given in Chapter 4.³

DEFINITION 15.1. Let ϕ and ψ be anisotropic quadratic forms such that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. We say that the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is *standard*, if at least one of the following conditions holds:

- ψ is similar to a subform in ϕ ;
- there exists a subform $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ with the following two properties:
 - the form ϕ_0 is a Pfister neighbor,
 - the form $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

Otherwise, we say that the isotropy is *non-standard*.

The main theorem of Chapter 4 asserts that in the case dim $\phi \leq 6$, the isotropy $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is standard except (possibly) the following case: dim $\phi = 6$, dim $\psi = 4$, $1 \neq \det_{\pm} \phi \neq \det_{\pm} \psi \neq 1$, and ind $C_0(\phi) = 2 = \operatorname{ind} C_0(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi)$.

In this section we show that there exist a 6-dimensional quadratic form ϕ and a 4-dimensional quadratic form ψ such that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic, but the isotropy is not standard. More precisely, we prove the following

THEOREM 15.2. Let k be a field of characteristic $\neq 2$, and let $a, b, u, v, d, \delta \in k^*$. Suppose that $d, \delta, d\delta \notin k^{*2}$ and $((a, b) \otimes (u, v))_{k(\sqrt{d}, \sqrt{\delta})}$ is a division algebra. Then there exist a field extension K/k and $c \in K^*$ with the following properties:

- 1) Quadratic forms $\phi = \langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle \perp -c \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle$ and $\psi = \langle\!\langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$ are anisotropic, and $\phi_{K(\psi)}$ is isotropic,
- 2) the isotropy $\phi_{K(\psi)}$ is not standard.

PROOF. Let $\rho = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$. It follows from Corollary 11.4 that there exists a field extension K/k such that $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2((X_{\psi})_K \times (X_{\rho})_K) = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$ and $\operatorname{ind} C_0(\psi_K) \otimes C_0(\rho_K) = 2$. To complete the proof, it is sufficient to apply Theorem 9.1 of Chapter 4.

³If dim $\phi \leq 6$, this definition coincides with definitions given in [23] and [30]. In this section we consider only the case dim $\phi \leq 6$.

Let ϕ be a K-form and E/F be a field extension. We recall that a quadratic form ϕ is called *E-minimal* [20, Definition 1.1] if the following conditions hold:

- ϕ is anisotropic,
- ϕ_E is isotropic,
- $(\phi_0)_E$ is anisotropic for any form $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ with dim $\phi_0 < \dim \phi$.

LEMMA 15.3. Let ϕ be a 6-dimensional and ψ a 4-dimensional quadratic forms over K. Suppose that ϕ is anisotropic and $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- 1) the isotropy $\phi_{K(\psi)}$ is not standard,
- 2) ϕ is a $K(\psi)$ -minimal form.

PROOF. 1) \Rightarrow 2). Suppose at the moment that ϕ is not $F(\psi)$ -minimal. Then there exists $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ with dim $\phi_0 < \dim \phi$ such that $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. The isotropy $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is standard because the dimension of ϕ_0 is ≤ 5 . The definition of standard isotropy shows that the isotropy $\phi_{K(\psi)}$ is standard too, a contradiction.

2) \Rightarrow 1). Suppose that isotropy $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is standard. Then at least one of the cases of Definition 15.1 holds. First suppose that ψ is similar to a subform of ϕ . Let $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ be such that $\psi \sim \phi_0$. Clearly, $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic and dim $\phi_0 = 4 < 6 = \dim \phi$. Therefore ϕ is not $F(\psi)$ -minimal, a contradiction. Now, consider the second case in Definition 15.1, i.e., suppose that there exists a subform $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ which is a Pfister neighbor such that $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. If dim $\phi_0 < \dim \phi$, then ϕ is not a $F(\psi)$ -minimal, and we have a contradiction. Now, let dim $\phi_0 = \dim \phi = 6$. Then $\phi = \phi_0$ is a 6-dimension Pfister neighbor. Since $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic, it follows that an arbitrary 5-dimensional subform of ϕ is isotropic over $F(\psi)$. Hence, ϕ is not $F(\psi)$ -minimal, a contradiction.

COROLLARY 15.4. Let ψ be an anisotropic 4-dimensional quadratic form over k with $\det_{\pm} \psi \neq 1$. Then there exist a field K and a 6-dimensional form ϕ over K such that ϕ is a $K(\psi)$ -minimal form.

PROOF. Replacing ψ by a similar form, we can suppose that ψ has the form $\langle -u, -v, uv, \delta \rangle$. Replacing k by a field of rational functions k(a, b, d), we can suppose that there exist $a, b, d \in k^*$ such that $d, \delta, d\delta \notin k^*$ and $((a, b) \otimes (u, v))_{k(\sqrt{d},\sqrt{\delta})}$ is a division algebra. Let K/k and $c \in K^*$ be as in Theorem 15.2. Let $\phi = \langle \langle a, b \rangle \rangle \perp -c \langle \langle d \rangle \rangle$. Theorem 15.2 implies that $\phi_{K(\psi)}$ is isotropic, but isotropy is not standard. Lemma 15.3 shows that ϕ is a $K(\psi)$ -minimal form.

CHAPTER 6

On the group $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$

Let F be a field of characteristic different from 2, ψ a quadratic F-form of dimension ≥ 5 , and D a central simple F-algebra of index 8 and exponent 2. We denote by $F(\psi, D)$ the function field of the product $X_{\psi} \times X_D$, where X_{ψ} is the projective quadric determined by ψ and where X_D is the Severi-Brauer variety determined by D. We compute the relative Galois cohomology group $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$ (with the coefficients $\mathbb{Z}/2$) under the assumption that the index of D goes down when extending the scalars to $F(\psi)$. Using this, we give new, very short proofs for the following results:

– Theorem 7.1, originally proved by Laghribi in [47] and

- Theorem 7.2, originally proved by Esnault, Kahn, Levine, and Viehweg in [10].

We also generalize the computation of $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$ to the case of arbitrary ind D.

Results of this Chapter are obtained in joint work with Oleg Izhboldin.

0. Introduction

Let ψ be a quadratic form and D be an exponent 2 central simple algebra over a field F (always assumed to be of characteristic not 2). Let X_{ψ} be the projective quadric determined by ψ , X_D the Severi-Brauer variety determined by D, and $F(\psi, D)$ the function field of the product $X_{\psi} \times X_D$.

A computation of the relative Galois cohomology group

$$H^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \ker \left(H^{3}(F, \mathbb{Z}/2) \to H^{3}(F(\psi, D), \mathbb{Z}/2) \right)$$

played a crucial role in obtaining the results of Chapters 3 and 7 concerning the problem of isotropy of quadratic forms over the function fields of quadrics.

The group $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$ is closely related to the Chow group $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ of 2-codimensional cycles on the product $X_{\psi} \times X_D$. The main result of this chapter is Theorem 8.1, where the both groups are computed assuming dim $\psi \geq 5$ and the index of D goes down when extending the scalars to the function field of ψ .

The essential part of the proof is Theorem 6.9 dealing with the case where D is a division algebra of degree 8. This Theorem has two applications in the theory of quadratic forms: a new shorter proof of Theorem 7.1, originally proved by Laghribi ([47, Théorème 1]), and a new, shorter, and more elementary proof of Theorem 7.2, originally proved by Esnault, Kahn, Levine, and Viehweg ([10, Corollary 9.2]).

An important role in the proof of Theorem 6.9 plays the formula of Proposition 4.4, which is in fact applicable to a wide class of algebraic varieties.

1. Terminology, notation, and backgrounds

1.1. Quadratic forms. Mainly, we use notation of [48] and [76]. However there is certain slight difference: we denote by $\langle \langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle \rangle$ the *n*-fold Pfister form

$$\langle 1, -a_1 \rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes \langle 1, -a_n \rangle$$

and by $P_n(F)$ the set of all *n*-fold Pfister forms; $GP_n(F)$ is the set of forms similar to a form from $P_n(F)$.

We recall that a quadratic form ψ is called a *(Pfister) neighbor* (of a Pfister form π), if it is similar to a subform in π and dim $\phi > \frac{1}{2} \dim \pi$. Two quadratic forms ϕ and ϕ^* are *half-neighbors*, if dim $\phi = \dim \phi^*$ and there exists $s \in F^*$ such that the sum $\phi \perp s \phi^*$ is similar to a Pfister form.

For a quadratic form ϕ of dimension ≥ 3 , we denote by X_{ϕ} the projective variety given by the equation $\phi = 0$ and we set $F(\phi) = F(X_{\phi})$.

1.2. Generic splitting tower. Let γ be a non-hyperbolic quadratic form over F. Put $F_0 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F$ and $\gamma_0 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \gamma_{an}$. For $i \geq 1$ let $F_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F_{i-1}(\gamma_{i-1})$ and $\gamma_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} ((\gamma_{i-1})_{F_i})_{an}$. The smallest h such that dim $\gamma_h \leq 1$ is called the *height* of γ . The sequence F_0, F_1, \ldots, F_h is called the *generic splitting tower* of γ ([40]). We need some properties of the fields F_s :

LEMMA 1.2.1 ([41]). Let M/F be a field extension such that $\dim(\gamma_M)_{an} = \dim \gamma_s$. Then the field extension MF_s/M is purely transcendental.

The following lemma is a consequence of the index reduction formula [55].

LEMMA 1.2.2 (see [22, Theorem 1.6] or [19, Proposition 2.1]). Let ϕ be a quadratic form from $I^2(F)$ with $\operatorname{ind} C(\phi) \geq 2^r > 1$. Then there is s with $0 \leq s \leq h(\phi)$ such that $\dim \phi_s = 2r + 2$ and $\operatorname{ind} C(\phi_s) = 2^r$.

COROLLARY 1.2.3. Let $\phi \in I^2(F)$ be a quadratic form with $\operatorname{ind}(C(\phi)) \geq 8$. Then there is $s \ (0 \leq s \leq h(\phi))$ such that $\dim \phi_s = 8$ and $\operatorname{ind} C(\phi_s) = 8$.

1.3. Central simple algebras. We are working with finite-dimensional associative algebras over a field. Let D be a central simple F-algebra. We denote by X_D the Severi-Brauer variety of D and by F(D) the function field $F(X_D)$.

For another central simple F-algebra D' and for a quadratic F-form ψ of dimension ≥ 3 , we set $F(D', D) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F(X_{D'} \times X_D)$ and $F(\psi, D) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$.

1.4. Galois cohomology. By $H^*(F)$ we denote the graded ring of Galois cohomology

 $H^*(F, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) = H^*(\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\operatorname{sep}}/F), \mathbb{Z}/2).$

For any field extension L/F, we set $H^*(L/F) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \ker(H^*(F) \to H^*(L))$.

We use the standard canonical isomorphisms $H^0(F) = \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}$, $H^1(F) = F^*/F^{*2}$, and $H^2(F) = \operatorname{Br}_2(F)$.

We also work with the cohomology groups $H^n(F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(i))$, i = 0, 1, 2, defined by B. Kahn (see [29]). For any field extension L/F, we set

$$H^*(L/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(i)) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \ker \left(H^*(F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(i)) \to H^*(L, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(i)) \right)$$

For n = 1, 2, 3, the group $H^n(F)$ is naturally identified with

$$\operatorname{Fors}_2 H^n(F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n-1))$$
.

1.5. *K*-theory and Chow groups. We are mainly working with smooth algebraic varieties over a field, although the smoothness assumption is not always essential.

Let X be a smooth algebraic F-variety. The Grothendieck ring of X is denoted by K(X). This ring is supplied with the filtration "by codimension of support" (which respects the multiplication); the adjoint graded ring is denoted by $G^*K(X)$. There is a canonical surjective homomorphism of the graded Chow ring $CH^*(X)$ onto $G^*K(X)$; its kernel consists only of torsion elements and is trivial in the 0-th, 1-st and 2-nd graded components ([**81**, §9]). In particular we have the following

LEMMA 1.5.1. The homomorphism $CH^i(X) \to G^iK(X)$ is bijective if at least one of the following conditions holds:

- i = 0, 1, or 2,
- $CH^i(X)$ is torsion-free.

Let X be a variety over F and E/F be a field extension. We denote by $i_{E/F}$ the restriction homomorphism $K(X) \to K(X_E)$. The same notation we use for the restriction homomorphisms $\operatorname{CH}^*(X) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(X_E)$ and $G^*K(X) \to G^*K(X_E)$. We fix a separable closure \overline{F} of the ground field F and denote by \overline{X} the variety $X_{\overline{F}}$. The image of the restriction homomorphism $i_{\overline{F}/F}: G^*K(X) \to G^*K(\overline{X})$ is denoted by $\overline{G}^*K(X)$. The image of the restriction homomorphism $i_{\overline{F}/F}: G^*K(X) \to G^*K(\overline{X})$ is denoted by $\overline{G}^*K(X)$. The image of the restriction homomorphism $i_{\overline{F}/F}: \operatorname{CH}^*(X) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(\overline{X})$ is denoted by $\overline{C}^*K(X)$.

For a projective homogeneous variety X, we identify K(X) with a subring of $K(\bar{X})$ via the restriction homomorphism $i_{\bar{F}/F} : K(X) \to K(\bar{X})$ which is injective by [65].

We denote by |S| the order of a set S (if S is infinite we set $|S| = \infty$).

2. The group $Tors G^*K(X)$

LEMMA 2.1. Let X be a variety over F and E/F be a field extension such that the homomorphism $i_{E/F} : K(X) \to K(X_E)$ is injective and the factor group $K(X_E)/i_{E/F}(K(X))$ is finite. Then

$$|\ker(G^*K(X) \to G^*K(X_E))| = \frac{|G^*K(X_E)/i_{E/F}(G^*K(X))|}{|K(X_E)/i_{E/F}(K(X))|}$$

PROOF. The proof is the same as the proof of [33, Proposition 2].

LEMMA 2.2. Let X be a variety, i be an integer, and E/F be a field extension such that the group $G^iK(X_E)$ is torsion-free. Then

$$\ker(G^i K(X) \to G^i K(X_E)) = \operatorname{Tors} G^i K(X)$$
.

PROOF. Since $G^i K(X_E)$ is torsion-free, one has

$$\ker(G^i K(X) \to G^i K(X_E)) \supset \operatorname{Tors} G^i K(X)$$

On the other hand, transfer (and specialization) arguments show that

$$\ker(G^i K(X) \to G^i K(X_E)) \subset \operatorname{Tors} G^i K(X)$$
.

LEMMA 2.3. Let X be a smooth variety, i be an integer, and E/F be a field extension such that the group $CH^i(X_E)$ is torsion-free. Then

- $\operatorname{CH}^{i}(X_{E}) \simeq G^{i}K(X_{E})$ (and hence the group $G^{i}K(X_{E})$ is torsion-free),
- $\operatorname{CH}^{i}(X_{E})/i_{E/F}(\operatorname{CH}^{i}(X)) \simeq G^{i}K(X_{E})/i_{E/F}(G^{i}K(X)).$

PROOF. The first assertion is contained in Lemma 1.5.1. The homomorphism $\operatorname{CH}^{i}(X_{E}) \to G^{i}K(X_{E})$ induces a homomorphism

$$\operatorname{CH}^{i}(X_{E})/i_{E/F}(\operatorname{CH}^{i}(X)) \to G^{i}K(X_{E})/i_{E/F}(G^{i}K(X))$$

which is bijective since $\operatorname{CH}^{i}(X_{E}) \to G^{i}K(X_{E})$ is bijective and $\operatorname{CH}^{i}(X) \to G^{i}K(X)$ is surjective.

PROPOSITION 2.4. Suppose that a smooth F-variety X and a field extension E/F satisfy the following three conditions:

- the homomorphism $i_{E/F}: K(X) \to K(X_E)$ is injective,
- the factor roup $K(X_E)/i_{E/F}(K(X))$ is finite,
- the group $CH^*(X_E)$ is torsion-free.

Then

$$|\operatorname{Tors} G^*K(X)| = \frac{|G^*K(X_E)/i_{E/F}(G^*K(X))|}{|K(X_E)/i_{E/F}(K(X))|} = \frac{|\operatorname{CH}^*(X_E)/i_{E/F}(\operatorname{CH}^*K(X))|}{|K(X_E)/i_{E/F}(K(X))|}$$

PROOF. It is an obvious consequence of Lemmas 2.1, 2.2, and 2.3. \Box

3. Auxiliary lemmas

For an abelian group A we use notation $\operatorname{rk}(A) = \dim_{\mathbb{Q}}(A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q})$.

LEMMA 3.1. Let $A_0 \subset A$, $B_0 \subset B$ be free abelian groups such that $\operatorname{rk} A_0 = \operatorname{rk} A = r_A$, $\operatorname{rk} B_0 = \operatorname{rk} B = r_B$. Then

$$\left|\frac{A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B}{A_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B_0}\right| = \left|\frac{A}{A_0}\right|^{r_B} \cdot \left|\frac{B}{B_0}\right|^{r_A}.$$

PROOF. One has

$$(A \otimes B)/(A_0 \otimes B) \simeq (A/A_0) \otimes B \simeq (A/A_0) \otimes \mathbb{Z}^{r_B} \simeq (A/A_0)^{r_B},$$

$$(A_0 \otimes B)/(A_0 \otimes B_0) \simeq A_0 \otimes (B/B_0) \simeq \mathbb{Z}^{r_A} \otimes (B/B_0) \simeq (B/B_0)^{r_A}.$$

3. AUXILIARY LEMMAS

Therefore,

$$\left|\frac{A \otimes B}{A_0 \otimes B_0}\right| = \left|\frac{A \otimes B}{A_0 \otimes B}\right| \cdot \left|\frac{A_0 \otimes B}{A_0 \otimes B_0}\right| = \left|\frac{A}{A_0}\right|^{r_B} \cdot \left|\frac{B}{B_0}\right|^{r_A}.$$

The following lemma is well known.

LEMMA 3.2. Let A be an abelian group with a finite filtration $A = \mathcal{F}^0 A \supset \mathcal{F}^1 A \supset \cdots \supset \mathcal{F}^k A = 0$. Let B be a subgroup of A with the filtration $\mathcal{F}^p B = B \cap \mathcal{F}^p A$. Let $G^* A = \bigoplus_{p \ge 0} \mathcal{F}^p A / \mathcal{F}^{p+1} A$ and $G^* B = \bigoplus_{p \ge 0} \mathcal{F}^p B / \mathcal{F}^{p+1} B$. Then

- $|A/B| = |G^*A/G^*B|,$
- if A is a finitely generated group then $\operatorname{rk} G^*A = \operatorname{rk} A$.

In the following lemma the term "ring" means a *commutative ring with unit*.

LEMMA 3.3. Let A and B be rings whose additive groups are finitely generated abelian groups. Let I be a nilpotent ideal of A such that $A/I \simeq \mathbb{Z}$. Let R be a subring of $A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B$ and A_R be a subring of A such that $A_R \otimes 1 \subset R$. Then the following inequality holds

$$\left|\frac{A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B}{R}\right| \le \left|\frac{A}{A_R}\right|^{r_B} \cdot \left|\frac{A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B}{R + (I \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B)}\right|^{r_A}$$

where $r_A = \operatorname{rk} A$ and $r_B = \operatorname{rk} B$.

PROOF. Let us denote by B_R the image of R under the following composition $A \otimes B \to (A/I) \otimes B \simeq \mathbb{Z} \otimes B \simeq B$. Obviously,

$$\left|\frac{A\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}B}{R+(I\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}B)}\right| = \left|\frac{B}{B_R}\right|.$$

For any $p \ge 0$ we set $\mathcal{F}^p A = \{a \in A \mid \exists m \in \mathbb{N} \text{ such that } ma \in I^p\}$. Clearly, $\operatorname{Tors}(A/\mathcal{F}^p A) = 0$, and so A/\mathcal{F}^p is a free abelian group. Therefore all factor groups $\mathcal{F}^p A/\mathcal{F}^{p+1}A$ (p = 0, 1, ...) are free abelian. Since $A/I \simeq \mathbb{Z}$, it follows that $\mathcal{F}^1 A = I$. Thus $A/\mathcal{F}^1 A \simeq \mathbb{Z}$. Since I is a nilpotent ideal of A, there exists k such that $I^k = 0$. Then $\mathcal{F}^k A = 0$. Thus the filtration $A = \mathcal{F}^0 A \supset$ $\mathcal{F}^1 A \supset \mathcal{F}^2 A \supset \ldots$ is finite and results of Lemma 3.2 can be applied.

Let $\mathcal{F}^p A_R \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} R \cap \mathcal{F}^p A$, $\mathcal{F}^p (A \otimes B) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{im}(\mathcal{F}^p A \otimes B \to A \otimes B)$, and $\mathcal{F}^p R \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} R \cap \mathcal{F}^p (A \otimes B)$. If K is one of the rings A, A_R , $A \otimes B$, or R, we set $G^p K \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathcal{F}^p K / \mathcal{F}^{p+1} K$ and $G^* K \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \bigoplus_{p \geq 0} \mathcal{F}^p K / \mathcal{F}^{p+1} K$. Obviously, $\mathcal{F}^p K \cdot \mathcal{F}^q K \subset \mathcal{F}^{p+q} K$ for all p and q. Therefore, $K = \mathcal{F}^0 K \supset \mathcal{F}^1 K \supset \cdots \supset \mathcal{F}^p K \supset \ldots$ is a ring filtration. Hence, the adjoint graded group $G^* K$ has a graded ring structure. Since the additive group of B is free, we have a natural ring isomorphism $G^* A \otimes B \simeq G^* (A \otimes B)$.

Since $A_R \otimes 1 \subset R$, we have $G^*A_R \otimes 1 \subset G^*R$. Clearly $G^0(A \otimes B) = (A/I) \otimes B$, and G^0R coincides with the image of the composition $R \to A \otimes B \to (A/I) \otimes B$. By definition of B_R , one has $G^0R = 1_{G^*A} \otimes B_R$ (here

 1_{G^*A} denotes the unit of the ring G^*A). Therefore $1_{G^*A} \otimes B_R \subset G^*R$. Since $G^*A_R \otimes 1 \subset G^*R$, $1_{G^*A} \otimes B_R \subset G^*R$, and G^*R is a subring of $G^*A \otimes B$, we have $G^*A_R \otimes B_R \subset G^*R$. Therefore $|G^*(A \otimes B)/G^*R| \leq |(G^*A \otimes B)/(G^*A_R \otimes B_R)|$. Applying Lemmas 3.1 and 3.2, we have

$$\left|\frac{A \otimes B}{R}\right| = \left|\frac{G^*(A \otimes B)}{G^*R}\right| \le \left|\frac{G^*A \otimes B}{G^*A_R \otimes B_R}\right| = \left|\frac{G^*A}{G^*A_R}\right|^{r_B} \cdot \left|\frac{B}{B_R}\right|^{r_A} = \left|\frac{A}{A_R}\right|^{r_B} \cdot \left|\frac{B}{B_R}\right|^{r_A} = \left|\frac{A}{A_R}\right|^{r_B} \cdot \left|\frac{A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B}{R}\right|^{r_A} \cdot \left|\frac{A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B}{R}\right|^{r_A}$$

4. On the group $CH^*(X \times Y)$

Let X be a smooth variety. We denote by $\mathcal{F}^pCH^*(X)$ the group

$$\bigoplus_{i \ge p} \operatorname{CH}^i(X)$$

Let Y be one more smooth variety. For a subgroup A of $CH^*(X)$ and a subgroup B of $CH^*(Y)$, we denote by $A \boxtimes B$ the image of the composition $A \otimes B \to CH^*(X) \otimes CH^*(Y) \to CH^*(X \times Y).$

The following assertion is evident (see also $[39, \S3]$ and Proposition 4.1 of Chapter 5).

LEMMA 4.1. Let X and Y be smooth varieties over F. Then

- the natural homomorphism $CH^*(X \times Y) \to CH^*(Y_{F(X)})$ is surjective,
- the kernel of the homomorphism $\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{F(X)})$ contains the group $\mathcal{F}^1\operatorname{CH}^*(X) \boxtimes \operatorname{CH}^*(Y)$.

COROLLARY 4.2. If the natural homomorphism

$$\operatorname{CH}^*(X) \otimes \operatorname{CH}^*(Y) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y)$$

is bijective and $\operatorname{CH}^*(Y)$ is torsion-free then the homomorphism $\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{F(X)})$ induces an isomorphism

$$\frac{\mathrm{CH}^*(X \times Y)}{\mathcal{F}^1\mathrm{CH}^*(X) \boxtimes \mathrm{CH}^*(Y)} \to \mathrm{CH}^*(Y_{F(X)}).$$

PROOF. Since

 $\operatorname{CH}^*(X) \otimes \operatorname{CH}^*(Y) \simeq \operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y)$ and $\operatorname{CH}^*(X)/\mathcal{F}^1\operatorname{CH}^*(X) \simeq \operatorname{CH}^0(X)$, the factor group $\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y)/(\mathcal{F}^1\operatorname{CH}^*(X) \boxtimes \operatorname{CH}^*(Y))$ is isomorphic to

$$\operatorname{CH}^{0}(X) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{CH}^{*}(Y) \simeq \mathbb{Z} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{CH}^{*}(Y) \simeq \operatorname{CH}^{*}(Y)$$

Thus, it is sufficient to prove that the homomorphism $\operatorname{CH}^*(Y) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{F(X)})$ is injective. It is obvious since $\operatorname{CH}^*(Y)$ is torsion-free. COROLLARY 4.3. Let X and Y be smooth varieties and E/F be a field extension such that the natural homomorphism $CH^*(X_E) \otimes CH^*(Y_E) \rightarrow CH^*(X_E \times Y_E)$ is bijective and $CH^*(Y_E)$ is torsion-free. Then there exists an isomorphism

$$\frac{\operatorname{CH}^*(X_E \times Y_E)}{i_{E/F}(\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y)) + \mathcal{F}^1\operatorname{CH}^*(X_E) \boxtimes \operatorname{CH}^*(Y_E)} \simeq \frac{\operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{E(X)})}{i_{E(X)/F(X)}(\operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{F(X)}))}$$
PROOF. Obvious in view of Corollary 4.2.

PROPOSITION 4.4. Let X and Y be smooth varieties over F and E/F be a field extension such that the following conditions hold

- $CH^*(X_E)$ is a free abelian group of rank r_X ,
- $CH^*(Y_E)$ is a free abelian group of rank r_Y ,
- the canonical homomorphism

$$\operatorname{CH}^*(X_E) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{CH}^*(Y_E) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(X_E \times Y_E)$$

is an isomorphism.

Then

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{\operatorname{CH}^*(X_E \times Y_E)}{i_{E/F}(\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y))} \right| &\leq \left| \frac{\operatorname{CH}^*(X_E)}{i_{E/F}(\operatorname{CH}^*(X))} \right|^{r_Y} \cdot \left| \frac{\operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{E(X)})}{i_{E(X)/F(X)}(\operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{F(X)}))} \right|^{r_X} \end{aligned}$$
PROOF. Let $A = \operatorname{CH}^*(X_E), \ A_R = i_{E/F}(\operatorname{CH}^*(X))$ and
$$I = \bigoplus_{p>0} \operatorname{CH}^p(X_E) = \mathcal{F}^1 \operatorname{CH}^*(X_E) .$$

Let $B = CH^*(Y_E)$. By our assumption, we have $CH^*(X_E \otimes Y_E) \simeq A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B$. We denote by R the image of the composition

$$\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(X_E \otimes Y_E) \simeq A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B$$
.

Clearly, all conditions of Lemma 3.3 hold. Moreover,

$$\left|\frac{\operatorname{CH}^*(X_E \times Y_E)}{i_{E/F}(\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y))}\right| = \left|\frac{A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B}{R}\right| \quad \text{and} \quad \left|\frac{\operatorname{CH}^*(X_E)}{i_{E/F}(\operatorname{CH}^*(X))}\right| = \left|\frac{A}{A_R}\right|.$$

By Corollary 4.3 we have

$$\left|\frac{A \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B}{R + (I \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} B)}\right| = \left|\frac{\operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{E(X)})}{i_{E(X)/F(X)}(\operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{F(X)}))}\right|.$$

To complete the prove it suffices to apply Lemma 3.3.

5. The group $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$

LEMMA 5.1 (see [32, (2.1)]). Let ψ be a (2n + 1)-dimensional quadratic form over a separably closed field. Set $X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X_{\psi}$ and $d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \dim X = 2n - 1$. Then for all $0 \leq p \leq d$ the group $\operatorname{CH}^p(X)$ is canonically isomorphic to \mathbb{Z} (for other p the group $\operatorname{CH}^p(X)$ is trivial). Moreover,

• if $0 \le p < n$, then $CH^p(X) = \mathbb{Z} \cdot h^p$, where $h \in CH^1(X)$ denotes the class of a hyperplane section of X;

if n ≤ p ≤ d, then CH^p(X) = Z · l_{d-p}, where l_{d-p} denotes the class of a linear subspace in X of dimension d − p, besides 2l_{d-p} = h^p.

COROLLARY 5.2. Let ψ be a (2n+1)-dimensional quadratic form over Fand let $X = X_{\psi}$. Then

- $CH^*(\bar{X})$ is a free abelian group of rank 2n,
- if $0 \le p < n$ then $|\operatorname{CH}^p(\bar{X})/\bar{\operatorname{CH}}^p(X)| = 1$,
- if $n \le p \le 2n 1$ then $|\operatorname{CH}^p(\bar{X})/\operatorname{CH}^p(X)| \le 2$,
- $|\mathrm{CH}^*(\bar{X})/\bar{\mathrm{CH}}^*(X)| \le 2^n$.

LEMMA 5.3. Let D be a central simple F-algebra of exponent 2 and of degree 8. Let E/L/F be field extensions such that ind $D_L = 4$ and ind $D_E = 1$. Let Y = SB(D). For any $0 \le p \le \dim Y = 7$, the group $CH^p(Y_E)$ is canonically isomorphic to \mathbb{Z} . Moreover, the image of the homomorphism $i_{E/L} : CH^p(Y_L) \to$ $CH^p(Y_E) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$ contains 1 if p = 0, 4; 2 if p = 1, 2, 5, 6; 4 if p = 3, 7.

PROOF. Since deg D = 8 and ind $D_E = 1$, Y_E is isomorphic to \mathbb{P}_E^7 . Hence, the group $\operatorname{CH}^p(Y_E) \cong \operatorname{CH}^p(\mathbb{P}_E^7)$ (where $p = 0, \ldots, 7$) is generated by the class h^p of a linear subspace ([14]).

The rest part of Lemma is contained in [34, Theorem]. For convenience of the reader, we also give a direct construction of the elements required. Let us denote by $\tilde{CH}^{p}(Y_{L})$ the image of the composition

$$\operatorname{CH}^p(Y_L) \xrightarrow{i_{E/L}} \operatorname{CH}^p(Y_E) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$$
.

The class of Y_L itself gives $1 \in \tilde{\operatorname{CH}}^0(Y_L)$. Let ξ be the tautological line bundle on the projective space $\mathbb{P}_E^7 \simeq Y_E$. Since $\exp D = 2$, the bundle $\xi^{\otimes 2}$ is defined over F and, in particular, over L. Its first Chern class gives $2 \in \tilde{\operatorname{CH}}^1(Y_L)$. Since $\operatorname{ind} D_L = 4$, the bundle $\xi^{\oplus 4}$ is defined over L. Its second Chern class gives $6 \in \tilde{\operatorname{CH}}^2(Y_L)$.¹ Thus $2 \in \tilde{\operatorname{CH}}^2(Y_L)$. The third Chern class of $\xi^{\oplus 4}$ gives $4 \in \tilde{\operatorname{CH}}^3(Y_L)$. The fourth Chern class of $\xi^{\oplus 4}$ gives $1 \in \tilde{\operatorname{CH}}^4(Y_L)$. Finally, taking the product of the cycles constructed in codimensions 1, 2, and 3 with the cycle of codimension 4, one gets the cycles of codimensions 5, 6, and 7 required. \Box

COROLLARY 5.4. Under the condition of Lemma 5.3, we have

$$|CH^*(Y_E)/i_{E/L}(CH^*(Y_L))| \le 256$$

PROOF. $\prod_{p=0}^{7} |CH^{p}(Y_{E})/i_{E/L}(CH^{p}(Y_{L}))| \le 1 \cdot 2 \cdot 2 \cdot 4 \cdot 1 \cdot 2 \cdot 2 \cdot 4 = 256.$

PROPOSITION 5.5. Let D be a central division F-algebra of degree 8 and exponent 2. Let ψ be a 5-dimensional quadratic F-form. Suppose that $D_{F(\psi)}$ is not a skewfield. Then Tors $G^*K(X_{\psi} \times X_D) = 0$.

¹In fact, it is enough only to know that the *Grothendieck classes* of the bundles $\xi^{\otimes 2}$ and $\xi^{\oplus 4}$ are in $K(Y_L)$ what can be also seen from the computation of the K-theory.

PROOF. Let $X = X_{\psi}$ and $Y = X_D$. Corollary 5.2 shows that $CH^*(X_{\bar{F}})$ is a free abelian group of rank $r_X = 4$ and $|CH^*(X_{\bar{F}})/i_{\bar{F}/F}(CH^*(X))| \le 2^2 = 4$.

Since D is a division algebra of degree 8 and $D_{F(\psi)}$ is not division algebra, it follows that $\operatorname{ind} D_{F(X)} = 4$. Applying Corollary 5.4 to the case L = F(X), $E = \overline{F}(X)$, we have $|\operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{\overline{F}(X)})/i_{\overline{F}(X)/F(X)}(\operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{F(X)}))| \leq 256$. Since $Y_{\overline{F}} = \operatorname{SB}(D_{\overline{F}}) \simeq \mathbb{P}_{\overline{F}}^7$, the group $\operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{\overline{F}})$ is a free abelian of rank

Since $Y_{\bar{F}} = \operatorname{SB}(D_{\bar{F}}) \simeq \mathbb{P}'_{\bar{F}}$, the group $\operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{\bar{F}})$ is a free abelian of rank $r_Y = 8$ and $\operatorname{CH}^*(X_{\bar{F}}) \otimes \operatorname{CH}^*(Y_{\bar{F}}) \simeq \operatorname{CH}^*(X_{\bar{F}} \times Y_{\bar{F}})$ (see [12, Proposition 14.6.5]). Thus all conditions of Proposition 4.4 hold for $X, Y, E = \bar{F}$ and we have

$$\left| \frac{\operatorname{CH}^{*}(X_{\bar{F}} \times Y_{\bar{F}})}{i_{\bar{F}/F}(\operatorname{CH}^{*}(X \times Y))} \right| \le 4^{8} \cdot 256^{4} = 2^{48}.$$

Using [69, Theorem 4.1 of §8] and [82, Theorem 9.1], we get a natural (with respect to extensions of F) isomorphism

$$K(X \times Y) \simeq K((F^{\times 3} \times C) \otimes_F (F^{\times 4} \times D^{\times 4})) \simeq$$
$$\simeq K(F^{\times 12} \times C^{\times 4} \times D^{\times 12} \times (C \otimes_F D)^{\times 4})$$

where $C \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} C_0(\psi)$ is the even Clifford algebra of ψ . Note that C is a central simple F-algebra of the degree 2^2 . Since $D_{F(\psi)}$ is not a skewfield, [55, Theorem 1] states that $D \simeq C \otimes_F B$ with some central division F-algebra B. Therefore, ind $C = \deg C = 2^2$ and ind $C \otimes D = \operatorname{ind} B = \deg B = 2$. Hence

$$\left|\frac{K(X_{\bar{F}} \times Y_{\bar{F}})}{i_{\bar{F}/F}(K(X \times Y))}\right| = (\operatorname{ind} C)^4 \cdot (\operatorname{ind} D)^{12} \cdot (\operatorname{ind} C \otimes D)^4 = 2^{2 \cdot 4 + 3 \cdot 12 + 1 \cdot 4} = 2^{48}.$$

Applying Proposition 2.4 to the variety $X \times Y$ and $E = \overline{F}$, we have

$$|\operatorname{Tors} G^* K(X \times Y)| = \frac{|\operatorname{CH}^*(X_{\bar{F}} \times Y_{\bar{F}})/i_{\bar{F}/F}(\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times Y))|}{|K(X_{\bar{F}} \times Y_{\bar{F}})/i_{\bar{F}/F}(K(X \times Y))|} \le \frac{2^{48}}{2^{48}} = 1.$$

Therefore, $\operatorname{Tors} G^* K(X \times Y) = 0.$

Applying Lemma 1.5.1 we get the following

COROLLARY 5.6. Under the condition of Proposition 5.5, the group $CH^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ is torsion-free.

6. The group $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$

PROPOSITION 6.1 ([5, Satz 5.6]). Let ψ be a quadratic F-form of dimension ≥ 5 . The group $H^3(F(\psi)/F)$ is non-trivial iff ψ is a neighbor of an anisotropic 3-Pfister form.

PROPOSITION 6.2 (see [66, Proposition 4.1 and Remark 4.1]). Let D be a central division F-algebra of exponent 2. Suppose that D is decomposable (in the tensor product of two proper subalgebras). Then

$$H^{3}(F(D)/F) = [D] \cup H^{1}(F)$$
.

LEMMA 6.3. If D and D' are Brauer equivalent central simple F-algebras, then the function fields F(D) and F(D') are stably birational equivalent.

PROOF. Since the algebras $D_{F(D')}$ and $D'_{F(D)}$ are split, the field extensions

F(D, D')/F(D') and F(D, D')/F(D)

are pure transcendental. Therefore each of the field extensions F(D)/F and F(D')/F is stably birational equivalent to the extension F(D, D')/F.

COROLLARY 6.4. Fix a quadratic F-form ψ and integers $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}$. For any central simple F-algebra D, the groups $H^i(F(D)/F)$, $H^i(F(D)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(j))$, $H^i(F(\psi, D)/F)$, $H^i(F(\psi, D)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(j))$ depend only on the Brauer class of D.

LEMMA 6.5. Let D be a central simple F-algebra of exponent 2 and let ψ be a quadratic F-form. The group $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2))$ is annihilated by 2.

PROOF. Let ψ_0 be a 3-dimensional subform of ψ . Clearly,

 $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) \subset H^3(F(\psi_0, D)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2))$.

Therefore, it suffices to show that the latter cohomology group is annihilated by 2. Replacing ψ_0 by the quaternion algebra $C_0(\psi_0)$, we come to a statement covered by [24, Lemma A.8].

COROLLARY 6.6. In the conditions of Lemma 6.5, one has $H^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) = H^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F) .$

PROPOSITION 6.7. Let D be an exponent 2 central simple F-algebra and let ψ be a quadratic F-form of dimension ≥ 3 . Suppose that ind $D_{F(\psi)} < \text{ind } D$. Then ψ is not a 3-Pfister neighbor and there is an isomorphism

$$\frac{H^3(F(\psi,D)/F)}{H^3(F(\psi)/F) + [D] \cup H^1(F)} \simeq \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) \ .$$

PROOF. By Proposition 2.2 of Chapter 4, there is an isomorphism

$$\frac{H^{3}(F(\psi,D)/F,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2))}{H^{3}(F(\psi)/F,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) + H^{3}(F(D)/F,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2))} \simeq \\ \simeq \frac{\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^{2}(X_{\psi} \times X_{D})}{pr_{\psi}^{*}\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^{2}(X_{\psi}) + pr_{D}^{*}\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^{2}(X_{D})}$$

By Corollary 6.6, we have $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) = H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$; by Lemma 2.8 of Chapter 4, we have $H^3(F(\psi)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) = H^3(F(\psi)/F)$; and by [24, Lemma A.8], we have $H^3(F(D)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) = H^3(F(D)/F)$.

Let D' be a division algebra Brauer equivalent to D. By Corollary 6.4, we have $H^3(F(D)/F) = H^3(F(D')/F)$; by Proposition 1.1 of Chapter 2, we have $\text{Tors } \operatorname{CH}^2(X_D) \simeq \operatorname{Tors } \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{D'})$. Since $D'_{F(\psi)}$ is no more a skewfield, there is a homomorphism of F-algebras $C_0(\psi) \to D'$ ([84, Théorème 1], see also [56, Theorem 2]). Although the algebra $C_0(\psi)$ is not always central simple, it

always contains a non-trivial subalgebra central simple over F. Therefore, D' is decomposable, what implies $H^3(F(D')/F) = [D] \cup H^1(F)$ (Proposition 6.2) and Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{D'}) = 0$ (Proposition 5.3 of Chapter 1). Finally, the existence of a homomorphism $C_0(\psi) \to D'$ implies that ψ is not a 3-Pfister neighbor; therefore Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi}) = 0$ ([**32**, Theorem 6.1]).

COROLLARY 6.8. Let D be a central division F-algebra of degree 8 and exponent 2. Let ψ be a 5-dimensional quadratic F-form. Suppose that $D_{F(\psi)}$ is not a skewfield. Then $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F) = [D] \cup H^1(F)$.

PROOF. It is a direct consequence of Proposition 6.7, Corollary 5.6, and Proposition 6.1. $\hfill \Box$

THEOREM 6.9. Let D be a central division F-algebra of degree 8 and exponent 2. Let ψ be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 5 . Suppose that $D_{F(\psi)}$ is not a skewfield. Then $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F) = [D] \cup H^1(F)$.

PROOF. Let ψ_0 be a 5-dimensional subform of ψ . Applying Corollary 6.8, we have $[D] \cup H^1(F) \subset H^3(F(\psi, D)/F) \subset H^3(F(\psi_0, D)/F) = [D] \cup H^1(F)$. Hence $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F) = [D] \cup H^1(F)$.

COROLLARY 6.10. Let $\phi \in I^2(F)$ be a 8-dimensional quadratic form such that ind $C(\phi) = 8$. Let D be a degree 8 central simple algebra such that $c(\phi) = [D]$. Let ψ be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 5 such that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. Then

- 1) D is a division algebra;
- 2) $D_{F(\psi)}$ is not a division algebra;
- 3) $H^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F) = [D] \cup H^{1}(F).$

7. Corollaries

In this section we demonstrate two applications of Corollary 6.10. Namely, we give very short proofs of the following two theorems:

THEOREM 7.1 ([47]). Let $\phi \in I^2(F)$ be an 8-dimensional quadratic form such that ind $C(\phi) = 8$. Let ψ be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 5 such that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. Then there exists a half-neighbor ϕ^* of ϕ such that $\psi \subset \phi^*$.

THEOREM 7.2 ([10, Corollary 9.3]). Let $\phi \in I^2(F)$ be a quadratic form such that ind $C(\phi) \geq 8$. Let A be an algebra such that $c(\phi) = [A]$. Then $\phi_{F(A)} \notin I^4(F(A))$. In particular, $\phi_{F(A)}$ is not hyperbolic. Moreover, if dim $\phi =$ 8 then $\phi_{F(A)}$ is anisotropic.

We need several lemmas.

LEMMA 7.3. Let $\phi \in I^2(F)$ be a 8-dimensional quadratic form and let D be an algebra such that $c(\phi) = [D]$. Then $\phi_{F(D)} \in GP_3(F(D))$.

PROOF. We have $c(\phi_{F(D)}) = c(\phi)_{F(D)} = [D_{F(D)}] = 0$. Hence $\phi_{F(D)} \in I^3(F(D))$. Since dim $\phi = 8$, we are done.

LEMMA 7.4. Let $\phi, \phi^* \in I^2(F)$ be 8-dimensional quadratic forms such that $c(\phi) = c(\phi^*) = [D]$, where D is a 3-quaternion division algebra. Suppose that there is a quadratic form ψ of dimension ≥ 5 such that the forms $\phi_{F(\psi,D)}$ and $\phi^*_{F(\psi,D)}$ are isotropic. Then ϕ and ϕ^* are half-neighbors.

PROOF. Lemma 7.3 implies that $\phi_{F(\psi,D)}, \phi^*_{F(\psi,D)} \in GP_3(F(\psi,D))$. By the assumption of the lemma, $\phi_{F(\psi,D)}$ and $\phi^*_{F(\psi,D)}$ are isotropic. Hence $\phi_{F(\psi,D)}$ and $\phi^*_{F(\psi,D)}$ are hyperbolic. Thus $\phi, \phi^* \in W(F(\psi,D)/F)$.

Let $\tau = \phi \perp \phi^*$. Clearly $\tau \in W(F(\psi, D)/F)$. Since $c(\tau) = c(\phi) + c(\phi^*) = [D] + [D] = 0$, we have $\tau \in I^3(F)$. Thus $e^3(\tau) \in H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$. It follows from Corollary 6.10 that $e^3(\tau) \in [D] \cup H^1(F)$. Hence there exists $s \in F^*$ such that $e^3(\tau) = [D] \cup (s)$. We have $e^3(\tau) = [D] \cup (s) = c(\phi) \cup (s) = e^3(\phi \langle \! \langle s \rangle \! \rangle)$. Since ker $(e^3 : I^3(F) \to H^3(F)) = I^4(F)$, we have $\tau \equiv \phi \langle \! \langle s \rangle \! \rangle \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Therefore $\phi + \phi^* = \tau \equiv \phi \langle \! \langle s \rangle \! \rangle = \phi - s\phi \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Hence $\phi^* + s\phi \in I^4(F)$. Hence ϕ and ϕ^* are half-neighbors.

The following statement was pointed out by Laghribi ([47]) as an easy consequence of the index reduction formula [55].

LEMMA 7.5. Let ψ be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 5 and D be a division 3-quaternion algebra. Suppose that $D_{F(\psi)}$ is not division algebra. Then there exists an 8-dimensional quadratic form $\phi^* \in I^2(F)$ such that $\psi \subset \phi^*$ and $c(\phi^*) = [D]$.

PROOF OF THEOREM 7.1. Let D be 3-quaternion algebra such that $c(\phi) = [D]$. Since ind $C(\phi) = 8$, it follows that D is a division algebra. Since $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic, $D_{F(\psi)}$ is not a division algebra. It follows from Lemma 7.5 that there exists an 8-dimensional quadratic form $\phi^* \in I^2(F)$ such that $\psi \subset \phi^*$ and $c(\phi^*) = [D]$. Obviously, all conditions of Lemma 7.4 hold. Hence ϕ and ϕ^* are half-neighbors.

LEMMA 7.6. Let D be a division 3-quaternion algebra over F. Then there exist a field extension E/F and an 8-dimensional quadratic form $\phi^* \in I^2(E)$ with the following properties:

- (i) D_E is a division algebra,
- (ii) $c(\phi^*) = [D_E],$
- (iii) $\phi_{E(D)}^*$ is anisotropic.

PROOF. Let $\phi \in I^2(F)$ be an arbitrary *F*-form such that $c(\phi) = [D]$. Let K = F(X, Y, Z) and $\gamma = \phi_K \perp \langle \langle X, Y, Z \rangle \rangle$ be a *K*-form. Let $K = K_0, K_1, \ldots, K_h; \gamma_0, \gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_h$ be a generic splitting tower of γ .

Since $\gamma \equiv \phi_K \pmod{I^3(K)}$, we have $c(\gamma) = c(\phi_K) = [D_K]$. Since K/F is purely transcendental, $\operatorname{ind} D_K = \operatorname{ind} D = 8$. Hence $\operatorname{ind} C(\gamma) = 8$. It follows from Corollary 1.2.3 that there exists s such that $\dim \gamma_s = 8$ and $\operatorname{ind} C(\gamma_s) = 8$. We set $E = E_s$, $\phi^* = \gamma_s$.

We claim that the condition (i)–(iii) of the lemma hold. Since $c(\phi^*) = c(\gamma_E) = c(\phi_E) = [D_E]$, condition (ii) holds. Since $[D_E] = c(\phi^*) = c(\gamma_s)$, we have ind $D_E = \text{ind } C(\gamma_s) = 8$ and thus condition (i) holds.

8. A GENERALIZATION

Now we only need to verify that (iii) holds. Let M_0/F be an arbitrary field extension such that ϕ_{M_0} is hyperbolic. Let $M = M_0(X, Y, Z)$. We have $\gamma_M = \phi_M \perp \langle \langle X, Y, Z \rangle \rangle_M$. Clearly $\langle \langle X, Y, Z \rangle \rangle_M$ is anisotropic over M. Since ϕ_M is hyperbolic, we have $(\gamma_M)_{an} = \langle \langle X, Y, Z \rangle \rangle_M$ and hence $\dim(\gamma_M)_{an} =$ 8. Therefore $\dim(\gamma_M)_{an} = \dim \gamma_s$. By Lemma 1.2.1, we see that the field extension $ME/M = MK_s/M$ is purely transcendental. Hence $\dim(\gamma_{ME})_{an} =$ $\dim(\gamma_M)_{an} = 8$. Since $(\phi_{ME}^*)_{an} = (\gamma_{ME})_{an}$, we see that ϕ_{ME}^* is anisotropic. Since ϕ_M is hyperbolic, it follows that $[D_M] = c(\phi_M) = 0$. Hence $[D_{ME}] = 0$ and therefore the field extension ME(D)/ME is purely transcendental. Hence $\phi_{ME(D)}^*$ is anisotropic. Therefore $\phi_{E(D)}^*$ is anisotropic.

LEMMA 7.7. Let $\phi, \phi^* \in I^2(F)$ be 8-dimensional quadratic forms such that $c(\phi) = c(\phi^*) = [D]$, where D is a 3-quaternion division algebra. Suppose that $\phi^*_{F(D)}$ is anisotropic. Then $\phi_{F(D)}$ is anisotropic.

PROOF. Suppose at the moment that $\phi_{F(D)}$ is isotropic. Then letting $\psi \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \phi^*$, we see that all conditions of Lemma 7.4 hold. Hence ϕ and ϕ^* are halfneighbors, i.e., there exists $s \in F^*$ such that $\phi^* + s\phi \in I^4(F)$. Therefore $\phi^*_{F(D)} + s\phi_{F(D)} \in I^4(F(D))$. Since $\phi_{F(D)}$ is hyperbolic, we see that $\phi^*_{F(D)} \in I^4(F(D))$. By the Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz, we see that $\phi^*_{F(D)}$ is hyperbolic. So we get a contradiction to the assumption of the lemma.

PROPOSITION 7.8. Let $\phi \in I^2(F)$ be an 8-dimensional quadratic form such that ind $C(\phi) = 8$. Let A be an algebra such that $c(\phi) = [A]$. Then $\phi_{F(A)}$ is anisotropic.

PROOF. Let D be a 3-quaternion algebra such that $c(\phi) = [D]$. Since ind $C(\phi) = 8$, D is a division algebra. Let E/F and ϕ^* be such that in Lemma 7.6. All conditions of Lemma 7.7 hold for E, ϕ_E , ϕ^* , and D_E . Therefore $\phi_{E(D)}$ is anisotropic. Hence $\phi_{F(D)}$ is anisotropic. Since $[A] = c(\phi) = [D]$, the field extension F(A)/F is stably isomorphic to F(D)/F (Lemma 6.3). Therefore $\phi_{F(A)}$ is anisotropic.

PROOF OF THEOREM 7.2. Suppose at the moment that $\phi_{F(A)} \in I^4(F(A))$. Since ind $C(\phi) \geq 8$, it follows that dim $\phi \geq 8$. By Corollary 1.2.3 there exists a field extension E/F such that dim $(\phi_E)_{an} = 8$, ind $C(\phi_E) = 8$. Since dim $(\phi_E)_{an} = 8$ and $\phi_{E(A)} \in I^4(E(A))$, the Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz shows that $((\phi_E)_{an})_{E(A)}$ is hyperbolic. We get a contradiction to Proposition 7.8. \Box

8. A generalization

In this section, we generalize Corollary 5.6 and Theorem 6.9 to the case of arbitrary ind D.

THEOREM 8.1. Let D be a central simple F-algebra of exponent 2. Let ψ be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 5 . Suppose that ind $D_{F(\psi)} < \text{ind } D$. Then $\text{Tors } \text{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) = 0$ and $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F) = [D] \cup H^1(F)$.

PROOF. By Proposition 6.7, there is a surjection

$$\frac{H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)}{[D] \cup H^1(F)} \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) .$$

Thus, it suffices to prove the second formula of Theorem.

Proving the second formula, we may assume that dim $\psi = 5$ (compare to the proof of Theorem 6.9) and D is a division algebra (Corollary 6.4). Under these assumptions, we can write down D as the tensor product $C_0(\psi) \otimes_F B$ (using [55, Theorem 1]). In particular, we see that $C_0(\psi)$ is a division algebra, i.e. ind $C_0(\psi) = \deg C_0(\psi) = 4$.

If deg D < 8, then $D \simeq C_0(\psi)$. In this case, $\psi_{F(D)}$ is a 5-dimensional quadratic form with trivial Clifford algebra; therefore $\psi_{F(D)}$ is isotropic; by this reason, the field extension $F(\psi, D)/F(D)$ is pure transcendental and consequently $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F(D)) = 0$. It follows that

$$H^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F) = H^{3}(F(D)/F) = [D] \cup H^{1}(F)$$
,

where the last equality holds by Proposition 6.2.

If deg D > 8, then ind $B \ge 4$. Applying the index reduction formula [78, Theorem 1.3], we get

ind
$$C_0(\psi)_{F(D)} = \min\{ \operatorname{ind} C_0(\psi), \operatorname{ind} B \} = 4$$
.

Therefore $\psi_{F(D)}$ is not a 3-Pfister neighbor and by Proposition 6.1 the group $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F(D))$ is trivial. Thus once again

$$H^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F) = H^{3}(F(D)/F) = [D] \cup H^{1}(F)$$
.

Finally, if deg D = 8, then we are done by Theorem 6.9 and Proposition 6.7.

REMARK 8.2. A computation of the group $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$ in some other cases not covered here is given in Chapters 3 and 7.

CHAPTER 7

Isotropy of 8-dimensional quadratic forms over function fields of quadrics

Let F be a field of characteristic different from 2 and ϕ be an anisotropic 8-dimensional quadratic form over F with trivial determinant. We study the last open cases in the problem of describing the quadratic forms ψ such that ϕ becomes isotropic over the function field $F(\psi)$.

Results of this Chapter are obtained in joint work with Oleg Izhboldin.

0. Introduction

Let F be a field of characteristic different from 2 and let ϕ and ψ be two anisotropic quadratic forms over F. An important problem in the algebraic theory of quadratic forms is to find conditions on ϕ and ψ so that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. More precisely, one studies the question whether the isotropy of ϕ over $F(\psi)$ is standard in a sense.

In this chapter we consider the case where ϕ is an 8-dimensional anisotropic quadratic form with trivial determinant. Necessity of certain sufficient conditions for isotropy of ϕ over $F(\psi)$ was studied by A. Laghribi; we call the isotropy, caused by one of these conditions, *L*-standard:

DEFINITION. Let ϕ and ψ be anisotropic quadratic forms such that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. Besides we suppose that dim $\phi = 8$ and det $\phi = 1$. We say that the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is *L*-standard, if at least one of the following conditions holds:

- there exists a half-neighbor ϕ^* of ϕ such that $\psi \subset \phi^*$;
- there exists a 5-dimensional subform $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ with the following two properties:
 - the form ϕ_0 is a Pfister neighbor,
 - the form $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

Otherwise, we say that the isotropy is non-L-standard.

In the case when dim $\psi \geq 5$, the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is always L-standard ([46], [47], see also Chapter 6). The main result of this chapter is the following

THEOREM. Let ϕ be an anisotropic 8-dimensional quadratic form with det $\phi = 1$ and ψ be a 4-dimensional quadratic form with det $\psi \neq 1$. Suppose that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. Then the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is L-standard except the case ind $C(\phi) = ind(C(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi)) = 4$. For the exceptional case of the theorem see Corollary 7.4. For the case where dim $\psi = 3$ or where dim $\psi = 4$ and det $\psi = 1$ see §8.

1. Terminology and notation

1.1. Quadratic forms. Mainly, we use notation of [48] and [76]. However there is certain slight difference: we denote by $\langle \langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle \rangle$ the *n*-fold Pfister form $\langle 1, -a_1 \rangle \otimes \cdots \otimes \langle 1, -a_n \rangle$. We denote by $P_n(F)$ the set of all *n*-fold Pfister forms; $GP_n(F)$ is the set of the forms similar to a form from $P_n(F)$. For any field extension L/F, we denote by $P_n(L/F)$ the set of forms from $P_n(F)$ hyperbolic over L; $GP_n(L/F)$ is the set of the forms similar to a form from $P_n(L/F)$.

We recall that a quadratic form ψ is called a (*Pfister*) neighbor (of a Pfister form π), if it is similar to a subform in π and dim $\phi > \frac{1}{2} \dim \pi$. Two quadratic forms ϕ and ϕ^* are half-neighbors, if dim $\phi = \dim \phi^*$ and there exists $s \in F^*$ such that the sum $\phi \perp s \phi^*$ is similar to a Pfister form.

For a quadratic form ϕ of dimension ≥ 3 , we denote by X_{ϕ} the projective variety given by the equation $\phi = 0$. We set $F(\phi) = F(X_{\phi})$ if dim $\phi \geq 3$; $F(\phi) = F(\sqrt{d})$ if dim $\phi = 2$ and $d = d_{\pm}\phi \neq 1$; and $F(\phi) = F$ otherwise.

1.2. Algebras. We consider only finite-dimensional *F*-algebras.

For a central simple F-algebra D, we denote by deg(D), [D], and exp(D) respectively the degree of D, the class of D in the Brauer group Br(F), and the exponent of D, i.e., the order of [D] in the Brauer group.

For a simple *F*-algebra *A*, we denote by ind(A) the Schur index of *A*. For an algebra *B* of the form $B = A \times \cdots \times A$ with simple *A*, we set ind B = ind A.

Let ϕ be a quadratic form. We denote by $C(\phi)$ the Clifford algebra of ϕ . By $C_0(\phi)$ we denote the even part of $C(\phi)$. Note that for any quadratic *F*-form ψ and any central simple *F*-algebra *D*, the index of $C_0(\psi) \otimes_F D$ is well-defined.

If $\phi \in I^2(F)$ then $C(\phi)$ is a central simple algebra. Its class $[C(\phi)]$ in the Brauer group $\operatorname{Br}_2(F)$ is denoted by $c(\phi)$.

Let D be a central simple algebra. We denote by X_D the Severi-Brauer variety of D and by F(D) the function field $F(X_D)$. For another central simple F-algebra D' and for a quadratic F-form ψ of dimension ≥ 3 , we set $F(D', D) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F(X_{D'} \times X_D)$ and $F(\psi, D) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$.

1.3. Cohomology groups. By $H^*(F)$ we denote the graded ring of Galois cohomology $H^*(F, \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} H^*(\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\operatorname{sep}}/F), \mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z}).$

For n = 0, 1, 2, 3, there is a homomorphism $e^n : I^n(F) \to H^n(F)$ which is uniquely determined by the condition $e^n(\langle\langle a_1, \ldots, a_n \rangle\rangle) = (a_1, \ldots, a_n)$ (see [5]). The homomorphism e^n is surjective and ker $e^n = I^{n+1}(F)$ for n = 0, 1, 2, 3 (see [53], [62], and [71]).

We also work with the cohomology groups $H^n(F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(i))$, (i = 0, 1, 2), defined by B. Kahn (see [29]). For n = 1, 2, 3, the group $H^n(F)$ is naturally identified with $\operatorname{Tors}_2 H^n(F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(n-1))$.

1.4. *K*-theory and Chow groups. For a smooth algebraic *F*-variety X, its Grothendieck ring is denoted by K(X). This ring is supplied with the filtration by codimension of support (also called the topological filtration).

We fix an algebraic closure \overline{F} of the base field F and denote by \overline{X} the \overline{F} -variety $X_{\overline{F}}$. If the variety X is projective homogeneous, we identify K(X) with a subring of $K(\overline{X})$ via the restriction homomorphism which is injective by [65].

For a ring (or a group) with filtration A, we denote by G^*A the adjoint graded ring (resp., the adjoint graded group).

There is a canonical surjective homomorphism of the graded Chow ring $CH^*(X)$ onto $G^*K(X)$, its kernel consists only of torsion elements and is trivial in the 0-th, 1-st, and 2-nd graded components ([**81**, §9]).

Let X_1 and X_2 be two smooth F-varieties. For any $x_1 \in K(X_1)$ and $x_2 \in K(X_2)$, we denote by $x_1 \boxtimes x_2$ the product $pr_1^*(x_1) \cdot pr_2^*(x_2) \in K(X_1 \times X_2)$ where pr_1^* and pr_2^* are the pull-backs with respect to the projections pr_1 and pr_2 of $X_1 \times X_2$ on X_1 and X_2 respectively. For an \mathcal{O}_{X_1} -module \mathcal{F}_1 and an \mathcal{O}_{X_2} module \mathcal{F}_2 , we denote by $\mathcal{F}_1 \boxtimes \mathcal{F}_2$ the tensor product $pr_1^*(\mathcal{F}_1) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} pr_2^*(\mathcal{F}_2)$.

1.5. Relative groups. Let Φ be an arbitrary functor on the category of fields (of characteristic $\neq 2$) with values in the category of abelian groups. For a field extension L/F we use the notation $\Phi(L/F)$ for ker($\Phi(F) \rightarrow \Phi(L)$). Here is a list of examples that we need in this chapter: W(L/F), $I^n(L/F)$, $H^n(L/F)$, and $H^n(L/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(i))$.

2. The groups $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$ and $I^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$

PROPOSITION 2.1. Let D be a central simple F-algebra of exponent 2 and ψ be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 3 . Then there exists a natural isomorphism

$$\frac{H^3(F(\psi,D)/F)}{H^3(F(\psi)/F) + H^3(F(D)/F)} \simeq \frac{\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)}{pr_{\psi}^* \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi}) + pr_D^* \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_D)}$$

where pr_{ψ}^* and pr_D^* are the pull-backs with respect to the projection pr_{ψ} and pr_D of $X_{\psi} \times X_D$ to X_{ψ} and X_D .

PROOF. By Proposition 2.2 of Chapter 4, the factor group

$$\frac{H^3(F(\psi, D)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2))}{H^3(F(\psi)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) + H^3(F(D)/F), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2))}$$

is isomorphic to

$$\frac{\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)}{pr_{\psi}^* \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi}) + pr_D^* \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_D)}.$$

Now it is sufficient to apply isomorphisms

$$H^{3}(F(\psi)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) = H^{3}(F(\psi)/F),$$

$$H^{3}(F(D)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) = H^{3}(F(D)/F),$$

$$H^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}(2)) = H^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F).$$

(see e.g. Lemma 2.8 of Chapter 4, [24, Lemma A.8], Corollary 6.6 of Chapter 6). $\hfill \Box$

COROLLARY 2.2. Let D be a biquaternion algebra and ψ be a 4-dimensional quadratic form. Then there exists a natural isomorphism

$$\frac{H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)}{H^3(F(\psi)/F) + H^3(F(D)/F)} \simeq \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D).$$

In particular, $2 \cdot \text{Tors } \text{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) = 0.$

PROOF. Since dim $\psi = 4$, we have Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi}) = 0$ (see e.g. [32, Theorem 6.1] or Lemma 2.4 of Chapter 4). By Proposition 5.3 of Chapter 1, we have Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_D) = 0$. To complete the proof it is sufficient to apply Proposition 2.1.

LEMMA 2.3. Let ψ be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 3 . Then 1. the map $e^3 : P_3(F(\psi)/F) \to H^3(F(\psi)/F)$ is surjective; 2. $I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^4(F) = P_3(F(\psi)/F) + I^4(F)$.

PROOF. 1. Really, we have to verify that the set $H^3(F(\psi)/F)$ consists of symbols. This fact is proved in [5, Satz 5.6].

2. Follows from Item 1 and from injectivity of $e^3: I^3(F)/I^4(F) \to H^3(F)$. \Box

LEMMA 2.4. Let D be a biquaternion algebra and q be an Albert form of D. Then

1. $H^{3}(F(D)/F) = [D] \cup H^{1}(F);$ 2. $I^{3}(F(D)/F) + I^{4}(F) = \{q \langle\!\langle s \rangle\!\rangle \mid s \in F^{*}\} + I^{4}(F);$ 3. the map $e^{3} : I^{3}(F(D)/F) \to H^{3}(F(D)/F)$ is surjective.

PROOF. 1. See [66, Corollary 4.5]. 2. Obviously $e^3(q\langle\!\langle s \rangle\!\rangle) = [D] \cup (s)$. Now, it is sufficient to apply Item 1 and injectivity of $e^3: I^3(F)/I^4(F) \to H^3(F)$. 3. Follows from Items 1 and 2.

LEMMA 2.5. Let D be a biquaternion algebra and ψ be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 3 . Then the natural homomorphism

$$\frac{I^3(F(\psi,D)/F) + I^4(F)}{I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^3(F(D)/F) + I^4(F)} \to \frac{H^3(F(\psi,D)/F)}{H^3(F(\psi)/F) + H^3(F(D)/F)}$$

is injective.

In particular, the condition $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F) = H^3(F(\psi)/F) + H^3(F(D)/F)$ implies that $I^3(F(\psi, D)/F) \subset I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^3(F(D)/F) + I^4(F)$.

PROOF. Obvious consequence of the following facts: $H^{3}(T)/H^{4}(T) \rightarrow H^{3}(T)$

a) $I^{3}(F)/I^{4}(F) \rightarrow H^{3}(F)$ is injective;

b) $I^{3}(F(\psi)/F) \rightarrow H^{3}(F(\psi)/F)$ is surjective (Lemma 2.3); c) $I^{3}(F(D)/F) \rightarrow H^{3}(F(D)/F)$ is surjective (Lemma 2.4).

COROLLARY 2.6. Let D be a biquaternion algebra and ψ be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 3 such that Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) = 0$. Then

$$I^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F) \subset I^{3}(F(\psi)/F) + I^{3}(F(D)/F) + I^{4}(F)$$

PROOF. Follows from Lemma 2.5 and Proposition 2.1.

3. The group $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$

In this section, ψ is a quadratic *F*-form of dimension 4, *D* is a biquaternion *F*-algebra.

LEMMA 3.1. Consider the tensor product $K(X_{\psi}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} K(X_D)$ together with the filtration induced by the topological filtrations on $K(X_{\psi})$ and $K(X_D)$. The adjoint graded group $G^*(K(X_{\psi}) \otimes K(X_D))$ is torsion-free.

PROOF. The adjoint graded group $G^*K(X_{\psi})$ is torsion-free (see e.g [32]). The adjoint graded group $G^*K(X_D)$ is torsion-free as well (see [34, Example]). We have a surjection

$$G^*K(X_{\psi}) \otimes G^*K(X_D) \twoheadrightarrow G^*(K(X_{\psi}) \otimes K(X_D))$$

The left-hand side term is a finitely generated torsion-free abelian group, i.e. a free abelian group of finite rank. This rank coincides with the rank of the right-hand side term. Therefore, the map is an isomorphism. \Box

We consider the subgroup $K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)$ of $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ together with the filtration induced by the topological filtration on $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$.

LEMMA 3.2. The homomorphism $K(X_{\psi}) \otimes K(X_D) \to K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)$ is an isomorphism of groups with filtrations.

PROOF. It is a homomorphism of groups respecting the filtrations. First of all let us check that it is an isomorphism of groups, regardless the filtrations. It is evidently an epimorphism. So, we only have to check the injectivity. Since for any extension of the base field F, the restriction homomorphism on the product $K(X_{\psi}) \otimes K(X_D)$ is injective, it suffices to check the injectivity in a split situation. However, if D splits, then X_D is isomorphic to a projective space; therefore the map $K(X_{\psi}) \otimes K(X_D) \to K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)$ is an isomorphism.

To finish the proof, it is suffices to show that the homomorphism of the adjoint graded groups is injective. Consider the commutative diagram

$$G^*(K(X_{\psi}) \otimes K(X_D)) \longrightarrow G^*(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D))$$

$$\uparrow \qquad \qquad \uparrow$$

$$G^*(K(X_{\psi}) \otimes K(X_D)) \longrightarrow G^*(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D))$$

The left-hand side arrow is injective since the group $G^*(K(X_{\psi}) \otimes K(X_D))$ is torsion-free (Lemma 3.1) The upper arrow is injective because \bar{X}_D is isomorphic to a projective space. Therefore the bottom arrow is injective too.

COROLLARY 3.3. The group $G^*(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D))$ is torsion-free.

We denote by C the even Clifford algebra $C_0(\psi)$. Let $\mathcal{U}(2)$ be Swan's sheaf \mathcal{U} on the quadric X_{ψ} ([82, §6]), twisted twice. It has a structure of C-module. Let \mathcal{J} be the canonical sheaf on the Severi-Brauer variety X_D ([69, §8.4]). It has a structure of D-module.

Put $\mathcal{F} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathcal{U}(2) \boxtimes \mathcal{J}$. It is a sheaf on $X_{\psi} \times X_D$ with a structure of $C \otimes_F D$ module. Denote by f the homomorphism $K(C \otimes D) \to K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ given by the functor of tensor multiplication by \mathcal{F} over $C \otimes D$.

Put $\mathcal{G} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathcal{U}(2) \boxtimes \mathcal{J}^{\otimes 3}$. It is a sheaf on $X_{\psi} \times X_D$ with a structure of $C \otimes_F D^{\otimes 3}$ module. Consider the homomorphism $K(C \otimes D^{\otimes 3}) \to K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ given by the functor of tensor multiplication by \mathcal{G} over $C \otimes D^{\otimes 3}$. Since the algebra $D^{\otimes 2}$ is split, the group $K(C \otimes D^{\otimes 3})$ is canonically isomorphic (via Morita equivalence) to $K(C \otimes D)$. Denote by g the the composition $K(C \otimes D) \xrightarrow{\sim} K(C \otimes D^{\otimes 3}) \to K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$.

LEMMA 3.4. 1. The homomorphism

 $K(C \otimes D)^{\oplus 2} \to K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)/(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D))$,

induced by the homomorphisms f + g, is surjective. 2. If $C \otimes D$ is a skewfield, then $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D) = K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)$.

PROOF. 1. Using Swan's computation of the K-theory for quadrics [82, Theorem 9.1] (with $\mathcal{U}(2)$ instead of \mathcal{U}) and a generalized Peyre's version [66, Proposition 3.1] of Quillen's computation of K-theory for Severi-Brauer schemes [69, Theorem 4.1 of §8], we get an isomorphism

 $K(F)^{\oplus 4} \oplus K(C)^{\oplus 2} \oplus K(D)^{\oplus 4} \oplus K(C \otimes D)^{\oplus 2} \simeq K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$

such that the image of $K(F)^{\oplus 4} \oplus K(C)^{\oplus 2} \oplus K(D)^{\oplus 4}$ is contained in $K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)$ and the summand $K(C \otimes D)^{\oplus 2}$ is mapped into $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ via f + g. Therefore, $K(C \otimes D)^{\oplus 2} \to K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)/(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D))$ is an epimorphism. 2. If the algebra $C \otimes D$ is a skewfield, then its class generates the group $K(C \otimes D)$. The images of this class under f, g are $\mathcal{F}, \mathcal{G} \in K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)$. \Box

COROLLARY 3.5. If $C \otimes D$ is a skewfield, then the group $G^*K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ is torsion-free.

PROOF. By Lemma 3.4, $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D) = K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)$. By Corollary 3.3, the group $G^*(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D))$ is torsion-free.

4. The group $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$

THEOREM 4.1. Let D be a biquaternion algebra and ψ be an anisotropic 4-dimensional quadratic form with det $\psi \neq 1$. Then the group $CH^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ is torsion-free except (possibly) the following two cases:

(1) ind $C_0(\psi) \otimes D = \text{ind } D = 4$,

(2) ind $C_0(\psi) \otimes D = 2$.

PROOF. Set $C \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} C_0(\psi)$ and $s \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{ind}(C \otimes D)$. The possible values of s are 1, 2, 4, 8.

Assume that s = 8. Since det $\psi \neq 1$, it follows that $C \otimes D$ is a skewfield. Therefore, the group $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) \simeq G^2 K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ is torsion-free by Corollary 3.5.

Now assume s = 1. Then $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\psi_{F(D)})) = 1$. Therefore the quadratic form $\psi_{F(D)}$ is isotropic. Hence the extension $F(\psi, D)/F(D)$ is purely transcendental and $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F) = H^3(F(D)/F)$. Now, Corollary 2.2 shows that $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) = 0$.

Finally, assume s = 4 and $\operatorname{ind} D \neq 4$. Then the biquaternion algebra Dis Brauer equivalent to a quaternion F-algebra D'. Since $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ depends only on the Brauer class of D (see e.g. Chapter 6), we may replace D by D'. Let ψ' be a 3-dimensional quadratic F-form such that $C_0(\psi') \simeq D'$. The Severi-Brauer variety $X_{D'}$ is isomorphic to the conic $X_{\psi'}$. Since the tensor product $C_0(\psi) \otimes C_0(\psi')$ has index 4, it is a division algebra. Therefore, by Corollary 4.4 of Chapter 4, the group $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_{\psi'})$ is torsion-free. \Box

REMARK 4.2. The assumption ψ is anisotropic is not essential: if ψ is isotropic, then

$$H^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F) = H^{3}(F(D)/F)$$

and therefore the group $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ is torsion-free as well (by Corollary 2.2).

PROPOSITION 4.3. Let D be a biquaternion algebra and let ψ be a 4dimensional quadratic form with det $\psi \neq 1$. Then the group Tors CH²($X_{\psi} \times X_D$) is equal to zero or isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z}/2$.

PROOF. Since we already know that the torsion in the group $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ is annihilated by 2 (Corollary 2.2), it suffices to show that the torsion is cyclic.

Once again we set $C \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} C_0(\psi)$. According to Theorem 4.1, it suffices to consider the case where $\operatorname{ind}(C \otimes D)$ equals 2 or 4.

Consider the quotient $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)/(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D))$ with the filtration induced by the topological filtration on $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$. Since in the exact sequence of the adjoint graded groups

$$0 \to G^*(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)) \to G^*K(X_{\psi} \times X_D) \to G^*(K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)/(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D))) \to 0$$

the left-hand side term is torsion-free (Corollary 3.3), we have an injection

Tors $G^*K(X_{\psi} \times X_D) \hookrightarrow G^*(K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)/(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)))$.

Since $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) \simeq G^2 K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$, it suffices to show that the group $G^2(K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)/(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)))$ is cyclic.

Denote by $h \in K(X_{\psi})$ the class of a general hyperplane section of X_{ψ} . Let $\xi \in K(\bar{X}_D)$ be the class of the tautological linear bundle on the projective space \bar{X}_D . Note that for any $i \geq 0$, the multiple $(\operatorname{ind} D^{\otimes i}) \cdot \xi^i$ of ξ^i belongs to $K(X_D)$. Thus $\xi^i \in K(X_D)$ for i even and $4\xi^i \in K(X_D)$ for i odd.

The algebra $C \otimes D$ is simple. Therefore, its Grothendieck group is cyclic. By Lemma 3.4, it follows that the quotient $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)/(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D))$ is generated by two elements, namely by (s/2)x and (s/2)y, where $x \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (4 + 2h + h^2) \boxtimes \xi$, $y \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (4 + 2h + h^2) \boxtimes \xi^3$, and $s \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{ind } C \otimes D$ (we use here the equality $[\mathcal{U}(2)] = 4 + 2h + h^2 \in K(X_{\psi})$, [**32**, Lemma 3.6]).

We have a congruence $x \equiv h^2 \boxtimes (\xi - 1) - h \boxtimes (\xi - 1)^2 \pmod{K(X_{\psi})} \boxtimes K(X_D)$). The right-hand side element belongs to $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)^{(2)}$, because it is in $K(\bar{X}_{\psi} \times \bar{X}_D)^{(2)}$ and $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)^{(2)} = K(\bar{X}_{\psi} \times \bar{X}_D)^{(2)} \cap K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ (see [74, Lemme 6.3, (i)]). Therefore, $(s/2)x \in (K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)/(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)))^{(2)}$ (take into account that the coefficient s/2 is an integer).

We also have another congruence modulo $K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)$:

$$y - x \equiv \left(h^2 \boxtimes (\xi - 1) - h \boxtimes (\xi - 1)^2\right) \cdot \left(1 \boxtimes (\xi^2 - 1)\right) \,.$$

The right-hand side element is in $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)^3$ as a product of an element in $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)^{(2)}$ and the element $1 \boxtimes (\xi^2 - 1) \in K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)^{(1)}$. Therefore, $(s/2)(y - x) \in (K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)/(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)))^{(3)}$ and it follows that the group $G^2(K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)/(K(X_{\psi}) \boxtimes K(X_D)))$ is generated by (s/2)x. So, in particular, this group is cyclic.

REMARK 4.4. The assumption det $\psi \neq 1$ is not essential: if det $\psi = 1$, then $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F) = H^3(F(\psi', D)/F)$ and $H^3(F(\psi)/F) = H^3(F(\psi')/F)$, where ψ' is an arbitrary 3-dimensional subform of ψ (Lemma 5.2 of Chapter 4). Therefore,

$$\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) \simeq \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi'} \times X_D) \simeq \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{D'} \times X_D)$$

where D' is the even Clifford algebra of ψ' . The group $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{D'} \times X_D)$ is zero or $\mathbb{Z}/2$ according to Theorem 6.1 of Chapter 2.

THEOREM 4.5. Suppose that $\psi = \langle -x, -y, xy, d \rangle$ (with $d \notin F^{*2}$) and $D = (x, y) \otimes (u, v)$ where $x, y, d, u, v \in F^*$. Then Tors $CH^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) = 0$.

PROOF. The even Clifford algebra of the quadratic form ψ is isomorphic to the quaternion algebra $(x, y)_{F(\sqrt{d})}$. Therefore, the tensor product $C_0(\psi) \otimes D$ is Brauer equivalent to the quaternion algebra $(u, v)_{F(\sqrt{d})}$ and in particular has index 2 or 1. In the case, where the index is 1, we are done by Theorem 4.1. Let us assume the index equals to 2. It suffices to show that the element $x \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} h^2 \boxtimes (\xi - 1) - h \boxtimes (\xi - 1)^2$ is in $K(X_{\psi} \times X_D)^{(3)}$ (see the proof of Proposition 4.3).

By definition, the element $h \in K(X_{\psi})$ is the class of a hyperplane section of the quadric X_{ψ} . This hyperplane section is the quadric $X_{\psi'}$ determined by a 3-dimensional subform ψ' of ψ . Clearly, x is equal to the image of $x' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=}$
$\begin{aligned} h'\boxtimes(\xi-1)-1\boxtimes(\xi-1)^2 &\in K(X_{\psi'}\times X_D) \text{ under the push-forward homomorphism} \\ K(X_{\psi'}\times X_D) &\to K(X_{\psi}\times X_D). \text{ Moreover, } x' \in K(X_{\psi'}\times X_D)^{(2)}, \text{ because } x' \in \\ K(\bar{X}_{\psi'}\times \bar{X}_D)^{(2)} \text{ and } K(X_{\psi'}\times K(X_D))^{(2)} &= K(\bar{X}_{\psi'}\times \bar{X}_D)^{(2)} \cap K(X_{\psi'}\times K(X_D)). \end{aligned}$ Since the codimension of $X_{\psi'}\times X_D$ in $X_{\psi}\times X_D$ equals to 1, it follows that $x \in K(X_{\psi}\times X_D)^{(3)}.$

REMARK 4.6. The assumption $d \notin F^{*2}$ is not essential: if $d \in F^{*2}$, then Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) \simeq \operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{C_0(\psi')} \times X_D)$, where $\psi' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \langle -x, -y, xy \rangle$; since $C_0(\psi') \simeq (x, y)$, we have ind $C_0(\psi') \otimes D \leq 2$; therefore, by Theorem 6.1 of Chapter 2, the latter group is zero.

5. Standard isotropy in the case $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) = 0$

DEFINITION 5.1. We say that (ϕ, D, q) is a special triple if the following conditions hold:

- 1) ϕ is an 8-dimensional anisotropic form with det $\phi = 1$,
- 2) D is a biquaternion algebra,
- 3) q is an Albert form,
- 4) $[D] = c(\phi) = c(q) \in Br_2(F).$

In this section we need the following

THEOREM 5.2. Let ϕ be an anisotropic 8-dimensional quadratic form with det $\phi = 1$ and let D be an algebra such that $c(\phi) = [D]$. Then $\phi_{F(D)}$ is anisotropic.

PROOF. See [46, Théorème 4] and [10, Corollary 9.3], see also Theorem 7.2 of Chapter 6. $\hfill \Box$

Our study of isotropy of 8-dimensional forms over function field of quadrics is based on the following assertion.

PROPOSITION 5.3. Let (ϕ, D, q) be a special triple and ψ be a quadratic form. Then

- 1. The following two conditions are equivalent:
 - (i) $\phi + q \in I^3(F(\psi, D)/F);$
 - (ii) $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

2. The following two conditions are equivalent:

- (i) $\phi + q \in I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^3(F(D)/F) + I^4(F);$
- (ii) there exists a 5-dimensional Pfister neighbor ϕ_0 such that $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ and $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

PROOF. (1i) \Rightarrow (1ii). Condition (1i) implies that the quadratic form $(\phi \perp q)_{F(\psi,D)}$ is hyperbolic. Since $q_{F(D)}$ is hyperbolic, it follows that $\phi_{F(\psi,D)}$ is hyperbolic. Let $E \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F(\psi)$. We see that $\phi_{E(D)}$ is hyperbolic. Theorem 5.2 implies that ϕ_E is isotropic, i.e., condition (1ii) holds.

(1ii) \Rightarrow (1i). Suppose that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. Since $c(\phi) = c(q)$, it follows that $\phi + q \in I^3(F)$. Hence it is sufficient to prove that $\phi_{F(\psi,D)}$ and $q_{F(\psi,D)}$ are hyperbolic. The form $q_{F(\psi,D)}$ is hyperbolic because $q_{F(D)}$ is. Since $c(\phi) = [D]$, we

have $\phi_{F(\psi,D)} \in I^3(F(\psi,D))$. Since $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic, we have $\dim(\phi_{F(\psi,D)})_{an} < 8$. The Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz shows that $\phi_{F(\psi,D)}$ is hyperbolic. (2i) \Rightarrow (2ii). By Lemmas 2.3 and 2.4, there exist $\pi \in P_3(F(\psi)/F)$ and $s \in F^*$

$$\phi + q \equiv \pi + q \langle\!\langle s \rangle\!\rangle \pmod{I^4(F)}.$$

We have $\phi + sq \equiv \pi \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Since $\pi \in P_3(F)$, $\pi_{F(\pi)}$ is hyperbolic. Hence $(\phi + sq)_{F(\pi)} \equiv \pi_{F(\pi)} \equiv 0 \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Since $\dim(\phi + sq) \leq 8 + 4 < 16$, the Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz shows that $(\phi + sq)_{F(\pi)}$ is hyperbolic. Hence there exists a form γ such that $(\phi \perp sq)_{an} = \pi\gamma$. Clearly $0 < 8 - 6 \leq \dim(\phi \perp sq)_{an} \leq 8 + 6 < 16$. This implies that $\dim \gamma = 1$, i.e., there exists $k \in F^*$ such that $\gamma = \langle k \rangle$. Thus $\phi + sq = k\pi$. Therefore $(\phi \perp -k\pi) = -sq$. Hence ϕ and $k\pi$ contain a common subform of dimension

$$\frac{\dim \phi + \dim \pi - \dim q}{2} = \frac{8+8-6}{2} = 5.$$

Let us denote such a form by ϕ_0 . Since dim $\phi_0 = 5$ and $\phi_0 \subset k\pi$, it follows that ϕ_0 is a Pfister neighbor of π . Since $\pi \in P_3(F(\psi)/F)$, it follows that $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

 $(2ii) \Rightarrow (2i)$. Let ϕ_0 be a 5-dimensional quadratic form such as in (2ii). By the assumption, there exists $\pi \in GP_3(F)$ such that $\phi_0 \subset \pi$. Since $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic, it follows that $\pi \in GP_3(F(\psi)/F)$.

Since $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ and $\phi_0 \subset \pi$, there exist 3-dimensional quadratic forms ρ', ρ'' such that $\phi = \phi_0 \perp \rho'$ and $\pi = \phi_0 \perp \rho''$. We set $\rho = \rho'' \perp -\rho'$. Clearly dim $\rho = 6$. In the Witt ring W(F) we have $\rho = \rho'' - \rho' = \pi - \phi$. In particular, $\rho \in I^2(F)$. Hence ρ is an Albert form.

We have $c(\rho) = c(\pi) + c(\phi) = 0 + c(\phi) = c(q)$. Hence ρ is similar to q ([28, Theorem 3.12]). Let $s \in F^*$ be such that $\rho = sq$. We have $\pi - \phi = \rho = sq$. Hence $\phi = \pi - sq$. Therefore

$$\phi + q = \pi + q \langle\!\langle s \rangle\!\rangle \in GP_3(F(\psi)/F) + [q] \cdot I(F) \subset C$$

$$\subset I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^3(F(D)/F) + I^4(F).$$

COROLLARY 5.4. Let (ϕ, D, q) be a special triple and ψ be a quadratic form of dimension ≥ 3 . Suppose that Tors $CH^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) = 0$. Then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (1) $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic,
- (2) there exits a 5-dimensional Pfister neighbor ϕ_0 such that $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ and $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

PROOF. Obvious in view of Proposition 5.3 and Corollary 2.6.

6. The group $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$ in the case $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\psi) \otimes_F D) = 2$

In this section we study the group $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$ in the case where ψ is a 4-dimensional quadratic form with a non-trivial discriminant, D is a biquaternion division F-algebra, and $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\psi) \otimes_F D) = 2$.

such that

Let $d \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \det \psi$. By our assumption, $d \notin F^{*2}$. Replacing ψ by a similar form, we can suppose $\psi = \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle$ with $a, b \in F^*$. Let $L \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F(\sqrt{d})$. By our assumption, we have $\operatorname{ind}((a, b) \otimes_F D)_L = 2$. Hence there exists a quaternion *F*-algebra *Q* such that $(a, b)_L + [D_L] = [Q_L]$ in $\operatorname{Br}_2(L)$ (see [42, Proposition 16.2]). Let us write *Q* in the form Q = (r, s) with $r, s \in F^*$. We set $\psi' = \langle -r, -s, rs, d \rangle$.

Let q be an Albert form corresponding to D.

LEMMA 6.1. There exist $k, k' \in F^*$ such that $k\psi + k'\psi' + q \in I^3(F)$.

PROOF. Since $(a, b)_L + [D_L] = [Q_L] = (r, s)_L$, it follows that $(a, b) + (r, s) + [D] \in \operatorname{Br}_2(L/F)$. Hence there exist $k \in F^*$ such that (a, b) + (r, s) + [D] = (d, k). Let $k' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} -1$ and $\phi \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} k\psi + k'\psi' + q$. We claim that $\phi \in I^3(F)$. To prove this, it is sufficient to verify that $\phi \in I^2(F)$ and $c(\phi) = 0$. We have

$$\begin{split} \phi &= k\psi + k'\psi' + q = k \langle -a, -b, ab, d \rangle - \langle -r, -s, rs, d \rangle + q = \\ &= k(\langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle - \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle) - (\langle\!\langle r, s \rangle\!\rangle - \langle\!\langle d \rangle\!\rangle) + q = \\ &= k \langle\!\langle a, b \rangle\!\rangle + \langle\!\langle d, k \rangle\!\rangle - \langle\!\langle r, s \rangle\!\rangle + q. \end{split}$$

Hence $\phi \in I^2(F)$ and $c(\phi) = (a, b) + (d, k) + (r, s) + c(q) = (a, b) + (d, k) + (r, s) + [D] = 0.$

DEFINITION 6.2. Let D be a biquaternion algebra and ψ be a 4-dimensional quadratic form such that det $\psi \neq 1$ and $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\psi) \otimes_F D) = 2$. We denote by $\Gamma(\psi, D)$ the set defined as follows

 $\{\gamma \in I^3(F) \mid \text{there exist } k, k', l \in F^* \text{ such that } \gamma = k\psi + k'\psi' + lq\},\$

where q is an Albert form corresponding to D and ψ' is a 4-dimensional quadratic form satisfying the following two properties: det $\psi' = \det \psi$ and $C_0(\psi')$ is Brauer-equivalent to $C_0(\psi) \otimes_F D$.

- REMARK 6.3. 1. The set $\Gamma(\psi, D)$ does not depend on the choice of q and ψ' : indeed, the condition on q and ψ' determines them uniquely up to similarity.
- 2. Lemma 6.1 shows the set $\Gamma(\psi, D)$ is not empty.

LEMMA 6.4. $\Gamma(\psi, D) \subset I^3(F(\psi, D)/F).$

PROOF. Let $\gamma = k\psi + k'\psi' + lq \in \Gamma(\psi, D)$. By the definition of $\Gamma(\psi, D)$, we have $\gamma \in I^3(F)$. Thus it is sufficient to prove that $\gamma_{F(\psi,D)}$ is hyperbolic. We have $\dim(\psi_{F(\psi)})_{an} \leq 2$ and $\dim(q_{F(D)})_{an} = 0$. Therefore $\dim(\gamma_{F(\psi,D)})_{an} = \dim((k\psi \perp k'\psi' \perp lq)_{F(\psi,D)})_{an} \leq 2 + 4 + 0 = 6 < 8$. Since $\gamma \in I^3(F)$, the Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz shows that $\gamma_{F(\psi,D)}$ is hyperbolic. \Box

LEMMA 6.5. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma(\psi, D)$, $\pi \in P_3(F(\psi)/F)$, and $s \in F^*$. Then there exists $\gamma' \in \Gamma(\psi, D)$ such that $\gamma' \equiv \gamma + \pi + q \langle \! \langle s \rangle \! \rangle \pmod{I^4(F)}$.

PROOF. Let us write γ in the form $\gamma = k\psi + k'\psi' + lq$. Since $\pi \in P_3(F(\psi)/F)$, there exists $r \in F^*$ such that $\pi = \psi \langle \langle r \rangle \rangle$.

We have $k\psi + \pi \equiv k\psi - k\pi = k\psi - k\psi \langle \langle r \rangle \rangle = rk\psi \pmod{I^4(F)}$ and $lq + q \langle \langle s \rangle \rangle \equiv lq - lq \langle \langle s \rangle \rangle = lsq \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Therefore

$$\gamma + \pi + q \langle\!\langle s \rangle\!\rangle = k\psi + k'\psi' + lq + \pi + q \langle\!\langle s \rangle\!\rangle \equiv rk\psi + k'\psi' + lsq \pmod{I^4(F)}.$$

Now it is sufficient to set $\gamma' = rk\psi + k'\psi' + lsq$.

COROLLARY 6.6.

$$\Gamma(\psi, D) + I^4(F) = \Gamma(\psi, D) + I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^3(F(D)/F) + I^4(F)$$

PROOF. Obvious in view of Lemmas 6.5, 2.3, and 2.4.

LEMMA 6.7. The following conditions are equivalent:

(1) $I^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F) \subset I^{3}(F(\psi)/F) + I^{3}(F(D)/F) + I^{4}(F);$

- (2) $\Gamma(\psi, D) \subset I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^3(F(D)/F) + I^4(F);$
- (3) there exists $\gamma \in \Gamma(\psi, D)$ such that

$$\gamma \in I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^3(F(D)/F) + I^4(F);$$

- (4) $\Gamma(\psi, D)$ contains a hyperbolic form, i.e. $0 \in \Gamma(\psi, D)$;
- (5) there exist $x, y, u, v, d \in F^*$ such that $\psi \sim \langle -x, -y, xy, d \rangle$ and $D \cong (x, y) \otimes_F (u, v);$
- (6) Tors $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) = 0;$
- (7) $H^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F) = H^{3}(F(\psi)/F) + H^{3}(F(D)/F).$

PROOF. $(1) \Rightarrow (2)$. Obvious in view of Lemma 6.4.

(2) \Rightarrow (3). Obvious, because $\Gamma(\psi, D)$ is not empty.

(3) \Rightarrow (4). Condition (3) implies that $0 \in \Gamma(\psi, D) + I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^3(F(D)/F) + I^4(F)$. It follows from Corollary 6.6 that $0 \in \Gamma(\psi, D) + I^4(F)$. Hence there exists $\gamma = k\psi + k'\psi' + lq \in \Gamma(\psi, D)$ such that $\gamma \in I^4(F)$. Since dim $\gamma = 4 + 4 + 6 = 14 < 16$, the Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz shows that $\gamma = 0$. (4) \Rightarrow (5). Let $\gamma = k\psi + k'\psi' + lq$ be a hyperbolic form. We have $(k\psi \perp lq)_{an} =$

(4) \Rightarrow (5). Let $\gamma = k\psi + k\psi + lq$ be a hyperbolic form. We have $(k\psi \perp lq)_{an} = -k'\psi'_{an}$. Therefore $k\psi$ and -lq contain a common subform of dimension

$$\frac{1}{2}(\dim \psi + \dim q - \dim \psi') = \frac{1}{2}(4 + 6 - 4) = 3.$$

Let us denote such a 3-dimensional form by τ . Let $x, y \in F^*$ be such that $\tau \sim \langle -x, -y, xy \rangle$. Thus $\langle -x, -y, xy \rangle$ is similar to a subform of ψ and similar to a subform of q. Let $d = \det \psi$. Since $\langle -x, -y, xy \rangle$ is similar to a subform of ψ it follows that $\langle -x, -y, xy, d \rangle$ is similar to ψ . Since $\langle -x, -y, xy \rangle$ is similar to a subform of the Albert form q, it follows that there exist $u, v \in F^*$ such that q is similar to $\langle -x, -y, xy, u, v, -uv \rangle$. Then [D] = c(q) = (x, y) + (u, v). Therefore $D \cong (x, y) \otimes_F (u, v)$.

- $(5) \Rightarrow (6)$. See Theorem 4.5.
- $(6) \Rightarrow (7)$. See Proposition 2.1.
- $(7) \Rightarrow (1)$. See Lemma 2.5.

PROPOSITION 6.8. Let D be a biquaternion algebra and let ψ be a 4-dimensional quadratic form such that det $\psi \neq 1$ and $\operatorname{ind}(D \otimes_F C_0(\psi)) = 2$. Then for any $\gamma \in \Gamma(\psi, D)$ one has

$$H^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F) = H^{3}(F(\psi)/F) + H^{3}(F(D)/F) + e^{3}(\gamma)H^{0}(F).$$

PROOF. By Lemma 6.4, the element $e^3(\gamma)$ belongs to $H^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$. If the group $\operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D)$ is torsion-free, then, by Proposition 2.1, we have

$$H^{3}(F(\psi, D)/F) = H^{3}(F(\psi)/F) + H^{3}(F(D)/F)$$

and the proof is complete. If $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) \neq 0$, Lemma 6.7 shows that $\gamma \notin I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^3(F(D)/F) + I^4(F)$. It follows from Lemma 2.5 that $e^3(\gamma) \notin H^3(F(\psi)/F) + H^3(F(D)/F)$. To complete the proof it is sufficient to apply Proposition 4.3 and Proposition 2.1.

COROLLARY 6.9.

$$I^{3}(F(\psi,D)/F) \subset I^{3}(F(\psi)/F) + I^{3}(F(D)/F) + \Gamma'(\psi,D) + I^{4}(F),$$

where $\Gamma'(\psi,D) = \Gamma(\psi,D) \cup \{0\}.$

PROOF. Let $\tau \in I^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$. Choose an element $\gamma \in \Gamma(\psi, D)$. By Proposition 6.8, either the element $e^3(\tau)$ or the element $e^3(\tau - \gamma)$ is in

$$H^{3}(F(\psi)/F) + H^{3}(F(D)/F)$$
.

It remains to apply Lemma 2.5.

PROPOSITION 6.10. Let $\lambda \in I^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$. Then at least one of the following conditions holds

1) $\lambda \in I^{3}(F(\psi)/F) + I^{3}(F(D)/F) + I^{4}(F);$ 2) $\lambda \in \Gamma(\psi, D) + I^{4}(F).$

PROOF. Obvious in view of Corollaries 6.9 and 6.6.

7. Main theorem

THEOREM 7.1. Let ϕ be an anisotropic 8-dimensional quadratic form with det $\phi = 1$ and let ψ be a 4-dimensional quadratic form with det $\psi \neq 1$. Suppose that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic and let the case ind $C(\phi) = ind(C(\phi) \otimes_F C_0(\psi)) = 4$ be excepted. Then the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is L-standard.

PROOF. In the case where ind $C(\phi) = 8$, the theorem is proved in Chapter 3. Thus we can suppose that ind $C(\phi) \leq 4$. Then there exists a biquaternion algebra D such that $c(\phi) = [D]$. Let q be an Albert form corresponding to D. Clearly (ϕ, D, q) is a special triple.

By Corollary 5.4, we can suppose that $\operatorname{Tors} \operatorname{CH}^2(X_{\psi} \times X_D) \neq 0$. Theorem 4.1 asserts that at least one of the following conditions holds:

- 1) $\operatorname{ind}(D \otimes C_0(\psi)) = \operatorname{ind} D = 4$,
- 2) $\operatorname{ind}(D \otimes C_0(\psi)) = 2.$

149

If $\operatorname{ind}(D \otimes C_0(\psi)) = 2$, then all the conditions of Definition 6.2 hold. Thus we have a well-defined set $\Gamma(\psi, D)$.

By Proposition 5.3, we have $\phi + q \in I^3(F(\psi, D)/F)$. By Proposition 6.10, we see that at least one of the following condition holds:

1)
$$\phi + q \in I^3(F(\psi)/F) + I^3(F(D)/F) + I^4(F);$$

2) $\phi + q \in \Gamma(\psi, D) + I^4(F).$

In the first case, Proposition 5.3 shows that there exists a 5-dimensional Pfister neighbor ϕ_0 such that $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ and $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. This implies that the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is L-standard.

Therefore, we may assume that $\phi + q \in \Gamma(\psi, D) + I^4(F)$. Thus there exist $k, k', l \in F^*$ (and a 4-dimensional quadratic form ψ') such that

$$\phi + q \equiv k\psi + k'\psi' + lq \pmod{I^4(F)}.$$

Since $k\psi + k'\psi' + lq \in I^3(F)$ it follows that

$$k\psi + k'\psi' + lq \equiv l(k\psi + k'\psi' + lq) \pmod{I^4(F)}.$$

Therefore

$$\phi + q \equiv lk\psi + lk'\psi' + q \pmod{I^4(F)}$$

Thus $\phi \equiv lk\psi + lk'\psi' \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Let $\phi^* \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \psi \perp kk'\psi'$. Since $\phi \equiv lk\phi^* \pmod{I^4(F)}$ and $\dim \phi^* = 8$, it follows that ϕ and ϕ^* are half-neighbors. Since $\psi \subset \phi^*$, the isotropy is L-standard and the proof is complete.

COROLLARY 7.2. Let ϕ be an anisotropic 8-dimensional quadratic form with det $\phi = 1$ and let ψ be a 4-dimensional quadratic form with det $\psi \neq 1$. Suppose that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic but the isotropy is not L-standard. Then ϕ can be written in the form $\phi = \pi_1 \perp \pi_2$ with $\pi_1, \pi_2 \in GP_2(F)$.

PROOF. Since det $\phi = 1$, it is sufficient to verify that ϕ contains a 4dimensional quadratic form with trivial determinant. Suppose at the moment that ϕ contains no 4-dimensional quadratic form with trivial determinant. Then [25, Theorem 6.1] implies that there exists a homomorphism of F-algebras, $C_0(\psi) \to C_0(\phi)$. Since det $\phi = 1$ and dim $\phi = 8$, there exists a 3quaternion algebra A such that $C_0(\phi)$ has the form $A \times A$ and $C(\phi) \simeq M_2(A)$. Thus we get a homomorphism $C_0(\psi) \to A$ which is injective because $C_0(\psi)$ is a simple algebra. Then $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\psi) \otimes_F A) = 2$. Since $M_2(A) \simeq C(\phi)$, we have $\operatorname{ind}(C_0(\psi) \otimes_F C(\phi)) = 2$. Theorem 7.1 implies that isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is L-standard. The contradiction obtained completes the proof. \Box

It is a natural question if there exists an example of non-L-standard isotropy. One way to find non-L-standard isotropy is based on the following

LEMMA 7.3. Let q be a 6-dimensional quadratic form and let ψ be a 4dimensional quadratic form over a field k. Suppose that q is a $k(\psi)$ -minimal form (see definition in [20]). Let $F \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} k((t)), \phi \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} q \perp t \langle 1, \det(q) \rangle$. Then the form $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic, but the isotropy is not L-standard.

PROOF. The proof of this lemma is absolutely analogous to the proof of Theorem 5.1 of Chapter 3 and we omit it. \Box

COROLLARY 7.4. There exist a field F, an 8-dimensional quadratic form $\phi \in I^2(F)$, and a 4-dimensional F-form ψ with nontrivial determinant such that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic, but the isotropy is not L-standard.

PROOF. By Corollary 15.4 of Chapter 5, there exists a field k, a quadratic form q of dimension 6, and a quadratic form ψ of dimension 4 over a field k such that q is a $k(\psi)$ -minimal form. Now the required result follows from Lemma 7.3.

8. Isotropy over the function field of a conic

In this section we still assume that ϕ is an anisotropic 8-dimensional quadratic form of trivial determinant. We are interested in the question when ϕ is isotropic over the function field of a quadratic form ψ .

For the forms ψ of dimension ≥ 5 , the question was studied in [47] and [46]. The case dim $\psi = 4$, $d_{\pm}\psi \neq 1$ is done in the previous section. Thus it suffices to consider only two cases: dim $\psi = 3$ or $\psi \in GP_2(F)$. Since the function field of a form $\psi \in GP_2(F)$ is stably birational equivalent to the function field of an arbitrary 3-dimensional subform of ψ (see e.g. Lemma 5.2 of Chapter 4), it suffices to handle only one of these cases.

Let us consider the case where $\psi \in GP_2(F)$.

THEOREM 8.1. Let ϕ be an anisotropic 8-dimensional quadratic form (we do not assume det $\phi = 1$) and let $\psi \in GP_2(F)$. Then the form $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic if and only if at least one of the following conditions holds:

- a) there exists a 10-dimensional form ϕ^* such that $\psi \subset \phi^*$ and $s\phi \equiv \phi^*$ (mod $I^4(F)$) for suitable $s \in F^*$;
- b) there exists a 5-dimensional subform $\phi_0 \subset \phi$ with the following two properties:
 - the form ϕ_0 is a Pfister neighbor,
 - the form $(\phi_0)_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic.

PROOF. First, suppose that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. The excellence property of the field extension $F(\psi)/F$ implies that there exist a 6-dimensional form τ and a form γ such that $\phi - \tau = \gamma \psi$ (see [20, Proof of Proposition 1.1]). Comparing dimensions, one can see that $1 \leq \dim \gamma \leq 3$. First, consider the case where dim γ is odd (i.e., dim $\gamma = 1$ or 3). We set $s \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} d_{\pm} \gamma$. Clearly, $\gamma \equiv \langle s \rangle$ (mod $I^2(F)$). Hence $\gamma \psi \equiv s \psi$ (mod $I^4(F)$). Since $\phi - \tau = \gamma \psi$, it follows that $\phi = \tau + \gamma \psi \equiv \tau + s \cdot \psi \equiv s(s\tau + \psi) \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Setting $\phi^* \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} s\tau \perp \psi$, one can see that condition a) holds. Now, suppose that dim γ is odd, i.e., dim $\gamma = 2$. Then $\gamma \psi \in GP_3(F)$. We have $\phi - \gamma \psi = \tau$. Therefore, the quadratic forms ϕ and $\gamma \psi$ contain a common subform of dimension $\frac{1}{2}(\dim \phi + \dim \gamma \psi - \dim \tau) = \frac{1}{2}(8 + 8 - 6) = 5$. Let us denote that 5-dimensional form by ϕ_0 . Clearly, condition b) holds. Now, suppose that at least one of conditions a) and b) holds. We have to verify that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. It is obvious in the case where condition b) holds. Suppose now that condition a) holds. Since $\psi \subset \phi^*$ and $\dim \phi^* = 10$, one has $\dim(\phi^*_{F(\psi)})_{an} \leq 6$. Therefore $\dim((\phi \perp -s\phi^*)_{F(\psi)})_{an} \leq 8 + 6 =$ 14 < 16. Since $\phi \perp -s\phi^* \in I^4(F)$, the Arason-Pfister Hauptsatz implies that $\dim((\phi \perp -s\phi^*)_{F(\psi)})_{an}$ is hyperbolic. Hence $(\phi_{F(\psi)})_{an} = (s\phi^*_{F(\psi)})_{an}$. Therefore $\dim(\phi_{F(\psi)})_{an} \leq 6$. Hence $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic. \Box

COROLLARY 8.2. Let ϕ be an anisotropic 8-dimensional quadratic form with det $\phi = 1$ and let ψ be a 4-dimensional quadratic form with det $\psi = 1$ (or ψ is a 3-dimensional form). Suppose that $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is isotropic but the isotropy is not L-standard. Then $\operatorname{ind}(C(\phi) \otimes C_0(\psi)) = 4$.

PROOF. We can assume that $\psi \in GP_2(F)$ (if dim $\psi = 3$, then we replace ψ by $\psi \perp \langle \det \psi \rangle$). Let us suppose that $\operatorname{ind}(C(\phi) \otimes C_0(\psi)) \neq 4$. By Theorem 8.1, there exist a 10-dimensional form ϕ^* and an coefficient $s \in F^*$ such that $\psi \subset \phi^*$ and $s\phi \equiv \phi^* \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Then ϕ^* can be written in the form $\phi^* = \psi \perp q$. Clearly, q is an Albert form and $c(q) = c(\phi^*) + c(\psi)$. Therefore $\operatorname{ind} C(q) = \operatorname{ind}(C(\phi^*) \otimes C(\psi)) = \operatorname{ind}(C(\phi) \otimes C_0(\psi)) \neq 4$. Hence, q is isotropic. Thus there exists a 4-dimensional form \tilde{q} such that $\tilde{q}_{an} = q_{an}$. Set $\tilde{\phi}^* \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \psi \perp \tilde{q}$. Clearly, $\dim \tilde{\phi}^* = 8$, $\psi \subset \tilde{\phi}^*$ and $s\phi \equiv \phi^* \equiv \tilde{\phi}^* \pmod{I^4(F)}$. Therefore, the isotropy $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is L-standard, a contradiction.

REMARK 8.3. There are many examples of ϕ and ψ with $\psi \in GP_2(F)$ such that the isotropy of $\phi_{F(\psi)}$ is not L-standard. The condition of Theorem 8.1 can be regarded as a modification of the notion of the L-standard isotropy for the case $\psi \in GP_2(F)$.

CHAPTER 8

A generalization of the Albert-Risman theorems

Let A be a central simple algebra of a prime degree p over a field F and let B_1, \ldots, B_{p-1} be central simple F-algebras of degrees $p^{n_1}, \ldots, p^{n_{p-1}}$. We show that if every tensor product $A \otimes_F B_i$ has zero divisors, then there exists a field extension E/F of degree $\leq p^{n_1+\cdots+n_{p-1}}$ which splits the algebras B_1, \ldots, B_{p-1} as well as the algebra A. In the case p = 2, this statement was proved 1975 by L. Risman ([70]); in the case p = 2 and $n_1 = 1$, it is a classical theorem of A. Albert (see [1] or [2]).

0. Introduction

A well-known theorem of A. Albert states (see [1] or [2]): if tensor product of two quaternion algebras has zero divisors, then the quaternion algebras can be split by a common extension of the base field of degree ≤ 2 .

1975 L. J. Risman gave the following generalization of Albert's theorem ([70, Theorem 1]): if tensor product of a degree 2^n (where $n \ge 1$) central simple algebra A and a quaternion algebra B has zero divisors, then A and B possess a common splitting field of degree $\le 2^n$.

Attempts to find a generalization of Risman's theorem to the case of an odd prime p was unsuccessful for a long time. Even worth: 1993 B. Jacob and A. R. Wadsworth ([27], see also Chapter 9) have shown that already Albert's theorem has no generalization to the case of *two* degree p algebras. Two degree p central simple algebras A, B with no common splitting field of degree p, they found for every odd prime p, possessed the following property: for any integers $i, j \geq 0$ the index of the tensor product $A^{\otimes i} \otimes B^{\otimes j}$ was $\leq p$.

We propose here the following generalization of Risman's theorem:

THEOREM 0.1. Let A be a central simple algebra of a prime degree p over a field F and let B_1, \ldots, B_{p-1} be central simple F-algebras of degrees $p^{n_1}, \ldots, p^{n_{p-1}}$. Set $n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} n_1 + \cdots + n_{p-1}$ and suppose that for every $i = 1, \ldots, p-1$ the tensor product $A \otimes_F B_i$ has zero divisors. Then there exists a field extension E/F of degree $\leq p^n$ which splits all the algebras A, B_1, \ldots, B_{p-1} .

In the particular case where $n_1 = \cdots = n_{p-1} = 1$, Theorem 0.1 can be regarded as a generalization of Albert's theorem. For instance, taking p = 3we get the following

EXAMPLE 0.2. Let A, B, C be three degree 3 central simple algebras over a field F. Suppose that each of the two tensor products $A \otimes B$ and $A \otimes C$ has zero divisors. Then there exists a field extension E/F of degree ≤ 9 which splits all the three algebras A, B, C.

In fact, a general method of obtaining results of the type similar to Theorem 0.1 is developed in Chapter 10. However this method allows to control degrees of common splitting fields of algebras only up to a prime to p factor. In order to obtain the announced exact statement, we use here a refinement of that method. It is based on the intersection theory and especially on the theory of *non-negative intersections* developed in [12, Chapter 12] (see the proof of Proposition 1.2).

Terminology and notation. Let F be a field. We fix an algebraic closure \overline{F} of F and, for any F-variety X, denote by \overline{X} the \overline{F} -variety $X_{\overline{F}}$. Let σ be a cycle on X. We denote by $[\sigma]$ its class in the Chow group $CH^*(X)$ and by $\overline{\sigma}$ the corresponding cycle on \overline{X} . Sometimes, while working on $X \times Y$, where Y is another F-variety, we denote, abusing notation, by σ as well the cycle $\sigma \times Y$.

Degree deg(σ) of a simple 0-dimensional cycle σ is defined to be the degree of its residue field over the base field. Degree of an arbitrary 0-dimensional cycle $\sigma = \sum l_j \sigma_j$, where l_j are integers and σ_j are simple cycles, is defined as $\sum l_j \deg(\sigma_j)$.

A cycle $\sigma = \sum l_j \sigma_j$ (of any dimension) is called *non-negative*, if all the integers l_j are non-negative.

1. Preliminaries

In this section we prove two (independent) statements needed for the next section.

LEMMA 1.1. For any integers $n, m \geq 0$, let $\phi : \mathbb{P}^n \times \mathbb{P}^m \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{nm+n+m}$ be the Segre imbedding. Denote by $f \in CH^1(\mathbb{P}^n)$, $g \in CH^1(\mathbb{P}^m)$, and $h \in CH^1(\mathbb{P}^{nm+n+m})$ the classes of hyperplanes. Then

$$\phi^*(h) = f + g \in \mathrm{CH}^1(\mathbb{P}^n \times \mathbb{P}^m),$$

where $\phi^* \colon \mathrm{CH}^*(\mathbb{P}^{nm+n+m}) \to \mathrm{CH}^*(\mathbb{P}^n \times \mathbb{P}^m)$ is the pull-back homomorphism.

PROOF. Denote by $[x_0 : \cdots : x_n]$, $[y_0 : \cdots : y_m]$, and $[z_0 : \cdots : z_{nm+n+m}]$ the coordinates in \mathbb{P}^n , \mathbb{P}^m , and \mathbb{P}^{nm+n+m} . The Segre embedding ϕ is determined by the rule

$$\phi([x_0:\cdots:x_n]\times[y_0:\cdots:y_m])=[x_0y_0:x_0y_1:\cdots:x_ny_{m-1}:x_ny_m].$$

The intersection of the hyperplane $z_0 = 0$ with $\mathbb{P}^n \times \mathbb{P}^m$ has two transversal components: one of them is determined in $\mathbb{P}^n \times \mathbb{P}^m$ by the equation $x_0 = 0$ and represents f while the other one is determined by the equation $y_0 = 0$ and represents g.

2. THE PROOF

PROPOSITION 1.2. Let T be a direct product of Severi-Brauer varieties over a field F. Let σ and σ' be non-negative cycles on T and let $\psi: T' \to T$ be a morphism of F-varieties. Then

- 1. there exists a non-negative cycle τ on T such that $[\tau] = [\sigma] \cdot [\sigma'] \in CH^*(T);$
- 2. there exists a non-negative cycle τ' on T' such that $\psi^*([\sigma]) = [\tau']$.

PROOF. We define the cycles τ and τ' à la [12]: τ is the intersection product $\sigma \cap \sigma'$ of σ and σ' ; τ' is the pull-back $\psi^!(\sigma)$ of the cycle σ with respect to ψ . Note that the cycles τ and τ' are defined *precisely*, not only up to rational equivalence.

Considering τ as a cycle on T and τ' as a cycle on T', we have $[\tau] = [\sigma] \cdot [\sigma'] \in CH^*(T)$ and $[\tau'] = \psi^*([\sigma]) \in CH^*(T')$. So, we only have to check that τ and τ' are non-negative. For this it suffices to check that the cycles $\bar{\tau}$ and $\bar{\tau}'$ on the \bar{F} -varieties \bar{T} and \bar{T}' are non-negative.

Since intersection products commute with flat pull-backs ([12, Theorem 6.2]), we still have $\bar{\tau} = \bar{\sigma} \cap \bar{\sigma}'$ and $\bar{\tau}' = \bar{\psi}!(\bar{\sigma})$, where $\bar{\psi}$ is the morphism $T' \to T$ obtained from ψ by the base change. Since the variety \bar{T} is isomorphic to a direct product of projective spaces, the tangent bundle on \bar{T} is generated by the global sections (see [12, Examples 12.2.1a and 12.2.1c]). Therefore, by [12, Corollary 12.2], the cycles $\bar{\tau}$ and $\bar{\tau}'$ are non-negative.

2. The proof

In this section we prove Theorem 0.1.

We denote by X, Y_1, \ldots, Y_{p-1} , and T_1, \ldots, T_{p-1} the Severi-Brauer varieties of the algebras A, B_1, \ldots, B_{p-1} , and $A \otimes_F B_1, \ldots, A \otimes_F B_{p-1}$. We set

$$Y \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \prod_{i=1}^{p-1} Y_i \; .$$

For every *i*, tensor product of ideals induces a closed imbedding $\psi_i : X \times Y_i \hookrightarrow T_i$ which is a twisted form of the Segre imbedding $\mathbb{P}^{p-1} \times \mathbb{P}^{p^{n_i-1}} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{p^{n_i+1}-1}$.

Let $f \in CH^1(\bar{X})$, $g_i \in CH^1(\bar{Y}_i)$, and $h_i \in CH^1(\bar{T}_i)$ be the classes of hyperplanes.

The algebra $A \otimes B_i$ (for every *i*) has degree p^{n_i+1} and zero divisors, so that its index divides p^{n_i} . Therefore, there exists a simple (and in particular nonnegative) p^{n_i} -codimensional cycle σ_i on the variety T_i such that $[\bar{\sigma}_i] = h_i^{p^{n_i}} \in$ $CH^{p_{n_i}}(\bar{T}_i)$ (see [6, §3]).

By Item 2 of Proposition 1.2, there exists a non-negative cycle τ_i on $X \times Y_i$ such that $[\tau_i] = \psi_i^*([\sigma_i])$. Since $[\bar{\sigma}_i] = h_i^{p^{n_i}}$, it follows from Lemma 1.1 that $[\bar{\tau}_i] = (f + g_i)^{p^{n_i}} \in CH^{p^{n_i}}(\bar{X} \times \bar{Y}_i)$.

Applying Item 1 of Proposition 1.2 to the variety $X \times Y$, we find a nonnegative cycle τ on $X \times Y$ such that $[\tau] = [\tau_1] \cdots [\tau_{p-1}] \in CH^*(X \times Y)$. Note that τ is a cycle of codimension $p^{n_1} + \cdots + p^{n_{p-1}}$ on a variety of dimension $(p-1) + (p^{n_1} - 1) + \dots + (p^{n_{p-1}} - 1) = p^{n_1} + \dots + p^{n_{p-1}}$, so that it is a 0-dimensional cycle. Moreover,

$$[\bar{\tau}] = [\bar{\tau}_1] \cdots [\bar{\tau}_{p-1}] = (f+g_1)^{p^{n_1}} \cdots (f+g_{p-1})^{p^{n_{p-1}}} = p^n \cdot (f^{p-1}g_1^{p^{n_1}-1} \cdots g_{p-1}^{p^{n_{p-1}}-1}),$$

where the last equality holds because of the relation $f^p = 0$. Since f^{p-1} is the class of a rational point on \bar{X} and since $g_i^{p^{n_i}-1}$ is the class of a rational point on the variety \bar{Y}_i for every *i*, we get $\deg(\tau) = p^n$.

Let τ' be any simple cycle included in τ . Since the cycle τ is non-negative, we have $\deg(\tau') \leq p^n$. The residue field E of τ' is a common splitting field of the algebras A, B_1, \ldots, B_{p-1} and $[E : F] = \deg(\tau') \leq p^n$. The proof of Theorem 0.1 is complete.

CHAPTER 9

Linked algebras

Two central simple algebras A, B of a prime degree p over a field are called *linked*, if for any integers $i, j \ge 0$ the index of $A^{\otimes i} \otimes B^{\otimes j}$ is at most p. They are called *strongly linked*, if they possess a common splitting field of a finite degree (over the base field) not divisible by p^2 .

We show that for any two not strongly linked central simple algebras an extension of the base field can be made such that the algebras become *linked* while still not being *strongly linked*.

0. Introduction

1931 A. Albert proved (see [1] or [2]): two quaternion division algebras can be split by a common quadratic extension of the base field provided that their tensor product has zero divisors.

Attempts to generalize the theorem of Albert to the case of an odd prime p have led 1987 to counter-examples of J.-P. Tignol and A. R. Wadsworth ([85, Proposition 5.1]), who constructed two degree p central division algebras A, B with zero divisors in $A \otimes B$ and without common splitting field extensions of degree p.

Stronger counter-examples was obtained 1993 by B. Jacob and A. R. Wadsworth ([27]). Two degree p central division algebras A, B without common splitting field of degree p, they found, possessed the following property: for any integers $i, j \ge 0$ the index of the tensor product $A^{\otimes i} \otimes B^{\otimes j}$ was $\le p$. It was in fact even shown that any common splitting field of the algebras A, Bhas degree divisible by p^2 ([27, Remark 2]).

In this Chapter we show (see Theorem 1.1) that similar counter-examples can be obtained by an appropriate base extension starting from *any* two degree p central simple algebras A, B provided that degree of every common splitting field of A, B is divisible by p^2 (what is guaranteed if e.g. the tensor product $A \otimes B$ is a division algebra). The proof is essentially different from that of [27].

Notation. For a smooth variety X over a field F, we denote by K(X) the Grothendieck group of X; by $K(X)^{(n)}$, where $n \ge 0$, the *n*-codimensional term of the topological filtration on X (see [**69**, §7] for a definition of the topological filtration); by CH^{*}(X) the Chow ring of X graded by codimension of cycles; by CH₀(X) the 0-dimensional component of the Chow ring, i.e. the component

9. LINKED ALGEBRAS

 $\operatorname{CH}^{\dim X}(X)$. For a central simple *F*-algebra *A*, we denote by $\operatorname{SB}(A)$ the Severi-Brauer variety of *A* and by $\operatorname{SB}(r, A)$ (for $r \ge 0$) the generalized Severi-Brauer varieties (also called *generic partial splitting varieties*) of *A*.

1. The theorem

Throughout this Chapter, A, B are central simple algebras of a prime degree p over a field F. We call them *linked*, if $ind(A^{\otimes i} \otimes_F A^{\otimes j}) \leq p$ for any $i, j \geq 0$. The algebras A and B are called *strongly linked*, if there exists a finite field extension E/F such that

- the algebras A_E and B_E are split and
- the degree [E:F] is not divisible by p^2 .

Clearly, strongly linked algebras are linked. By the theorem of Albert, the inverse is true for p = 2. For any odd p, we shall prove the following

THEOREM 1.1. Let F be a field, p be an odd prime number, and A, B be degree p central simple F-algebras. Suppose that A, B are not strongly linked. Then there exists a field extension \tilde{F}/F such that the algebras $A_{\tilde{F}}, B_{\tilde{F}}$ are linked but still not strongly linked.

One can take for \tilde{F} the function field F(T) of the following product of generalized Severi-Brauer varieties

 $T \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{SB}(p, A \otimes B) \times \operatorname{SB}(p, A^{\otimes 2} \otimes B) \times \cdots \times \operatorname{SB}(p, A^{\otimes p-1} \otimes B) .$

2. Preliminary observations

We set $X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{SB}(A) \times \text{SB}(B)$. Let L/F be an arbitrary common splitting field extension of A, B.

LEMMA 2.1. The algebras A, B are not strongly linked if and only if the image of the restriction homomorphism $\operatorname{CH}_0(X) \to \operatorname{CH}_0(X_L)$ is divisible by p^2 .

PROOF. Note that since the algebras A_L, B_L are split, the variety X_L is isomorphic to a product of two projective spaces. Therefore the degree map deg : $\operatorname{CH}_0(X_L) \to \mathbb{Z}$ is an isomorphism. Also note that the composition $\operatorname{CH}_0(X) \to \operatorname{CH}_0(X_L) \to \mathbb{Z}$ of the restriction and degree maps is the degree map for $\operatorname{CH}_0(X)$.

If the image of the restriction homomorphism $\operatorname{CH}_0(X) \to \operatorname{CH}_0(X_L)$ is not divisible by p^2 , then there exists a closed point on X of degree not divisible by p^2 . The residue field of this point is a common splitting field for A and B showing that the algebras are strongly linked.

To prove the inverse implication, suppose the image of the restriction homomorphism $\operatorname{CH}_0(X) \to \operatorname{CH}_0(X_L)$ is divisible by p^2 . Then the image of the degree homomorphism deg: $\operatorname{CH}_0(X) \to \mathbb{Z}$ is divisible by p^2 as well. Let E/F be any finite field extension such that the algebras A_E, B_E are split. The variety X_E has then a rational point. Taking the transfer, we obtain a 0-dimensional

cycle of degree [E:F] on X. Consequently, [E:F] is divisible by p^2 , i.e. the algebras A, B are not strongly linked.

LEMMA 2.2. If the algebras A, B are not strongly linked, then, for any not simultaneously 0 integers $0 \leq i, j < p$, the index of tensor product $A^{\otimes i} \otimes B^{\otimes j}$ is divisible by p.

PROOF. Let i, j be any integers such that $0 \leq i, j < p$. Suppose that the tensor product $A^{\otimes i} \otimes B^{\otimes j}$ is split. If $i \neq 0$, then any splitting field of B splits A as well; therefore the algebras A, B possess a common splitting field of degree p in this case, what contradicts to the assumption they are not strongly linked. Thus i = 0. The symmetric argument shows that j = 0 as well.

LEMMA 2.3. Suppose that, for any not simultaneously 0 integers $0 \le i, j < p$, the index of tensor product $A^{\otimes i} \otimes B^{\otimes j}$ is divisible by p. Then the image of the restriction homomorphism $K(X)^{(1)} \to K(X_L)^{(1)}$ is divisible by p.

PROOF. We have already noticed that since the algebras A_L and B_L are split, the varieties $SB(A_L)$ and $SB(B_L)$ are isomorphic to ((p-1)-dimensional) projective spaces. Let ξ, η be the Grothendieck classes of the tautological line bundles on $SB(A_L)$, $SB(B)_L$ respectively. The group $K(X_L)$ is generated by $\{\xi^i \eta^j\}_{i,j=0}^{p-1}$. Using a generalized Peyre's version [**66**, Proposition 3.1] of Quillen's computation of K-theory for Severi-Brauer schemes [**69**, Theorem 4.1 of §8], one can show that the image of the restriction map $K(X) \to K(X_L)$ is generated by $\{ind(A^{\otimes i} \otimes B^{\otimes j}) \cdot \xi^i \eta^j\}_{i,j=0}^{p-1}$. Since the first term of the topological filtration coincides with the kernel

Since the first term of the topological filtration coincides with the kernel of the rank map, the group $K(X_L)^{(1)}$ is generated by $\{\xi^i \eta^j - 1\}_{i,j=0}^{p-1}$ while the image of $K(X)^{(1)} \to K(X_L)^{(1)}$ is generated by $\{\operatorname{ind}(A^{\otimes i} \otimes B^{\otimes j}) \cdot (\xi^i \eta^j - 1)\}_{i,j=0}^{p-1}$.

The assertion required follows now from the assumption on the indexes $\operatorname{ind}(A^{\otimes i} \otimes B^{\otimes j})$.

COROLLARY 2.4. In the conditions of Lemma 2.3, for any n > 0, the image of the restriction homomorphism $CH^n(X) \to CH^n(X_L)$ is divisible by p.

PROOF. For any $n \ge 0$, there is a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{CH}^{n}(X_{L}) & \longrightarrow & K(X_{L})^{(n/n+1)} \\ \xrightarrow{\operatorname{res}_{L/F}} & & & & & \\ \operatorname{CH}^{n}(X) & \longrightarrow & K(X)^{(n/n+1)} \end{array}$$

where the upper arrow is an isomorphism. Therefore, it suffices to show that for any n > 0 the image of the restriction homomorphism $K(X)^{(n)} \to K(X_L)^{(n)}$ is divisible by p. By Lemma 2.3, the image of $K(X)^{(n)} \to K(X_L)^{(1)}$ is divisible by p. Since the quotient $K(X_L)^{(1/n)}$ is torsion-free, we are done.

3. The proof

In this section we prove Theorem 1.1.

We set $\tilde{F} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} F(T)$, $\tilde{A} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} A_{\tilde{F}}$, and $\tilde{B} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} B_{\tilde{F}}$, where T is the product of generalized Severi-Brauer varieties written down in the end of Section 1. We also set $X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{SB}(A) \times \text{SB}(B)$ and $\tilde{X} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{SB}(\tilde{A}) \times \text{SB}(\tilde{B})$.

First of all we note that by the main property of generalized Severi-Brauer varieties one has $\operatorname{ind}(\tilde{A}^{\otimes i} \otimes \tilde{B}) \leq p$ for any $i = 1, \ldots, p-1$. Therefore $\operatorname{ind}(\tilde{A}^{\otimes i} \otimes \tilde{B}) \leq p$ for any integers $i, j \geq 0$, i.e. the algebras \tilde{A}, \tilde{B} are linked. So we only have to show that they are not strongly linked.

LEMMA 3.1. For any not simultaneously 0 integers $0 \leq i, j < p$, the index of tensor product $\tilde{A}^{\otimes i} \otimes \tilde{B}^{\otimes j}$ is divisible by p.

PROOF. First of all, by Lemma 2.2, the assertion holds for the algebras A, B, because they are assumed to be not strongly linked. The assertion on \tilde{A}, \tilde{B} follows now from the index reduction formula for generalized Severi-Brauer varieties ([61, Formula 5.11]) (in fact it suffices to apply a simpler statement on triviality of the relative Brauer group for the function field of generalized Severi-Brauer varieties).

Let L/F be a common splitting field extension for the algebras A, B. Set $\tilde{L} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L(T)$. Clearly, \tilde{L}/\tilde{F} is a common splitting field extension for \tilde{A}, \tilde{B} .

COROLLARY 3.2. For any n > 0, the image of the restriction homomorphism $\operatorname{CH}^n(\tilde{X}) \to \operatorname{CH}^n(\tilde{X}_{\tilde{L}})$ is divisible by p.

PROOF. Follows from Lemma 3.1 and Corollary 2.4.

We consider the graded ring $\operatorname{CH}^*(\tilde{X})$ as a graded $\operatorname{CH}^*(X)$ -algebra via the restriction homomorphism $\operatorname{CH}^*(X) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(\tilde{X})$.

PROPOSITION 3.3. The $CH^*(X)$ -algebra $CH^*(X)$ is generated by its graded components of codimensions $\leq p$.

PROOF. Since the pull-back $\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times T) \to \operatorname{CH}^*(\tilde{X})$ is an epimorphism of graded $\operatorname{CH}^*(X)$ -algebras (see [**39**, Theorem 3.1] or Proposition 4.1 of Chapter 5 for the surjectivity), it suffices to show that the algebra $\operatorname{CH}^*(X \times T)$ is generated by its graded components of codimensions $\leq p$.

Consider the variety $X \times T$ as a scheme over X via the projection. According to Proposition 5.3 of Chapter 2, it is a product (over X) of p-grassmanians. By [12, Proposition 14.6.5], $CH^*(X \times T)$ is therefore generated (as $CH^*(X)$ algebra) by the Chern classes of the tautological bundles on the grassmanians. Since all these bundles have rank p, they may have non-trivial Chern classes only in codimensions $\leq p$.

Finally, Theorem 1.1 follows from Lemma 2.1 and the following assertion:

COROLLARY 3.4. The image of the restriction $\operatorname{CH}_0(\tilde{X}) \to \operatorname{CH}_0(\tilde{X}_{\tilde{L}})$ is divisible by p^2 .

3. THE PROOF

PROOF. Note that since $p \neq 2$, we have $p < (p-1)^2 = \dim X$. Thus, by Proposition 3.3, the group $\operatorname{CH}_0(\tilde{X})$ is generated by the image of $\operatorname{CH}_0(X) \to \operatorname{CH}_0(\tilde{X})$ and by the products $\operatorname{CH}^n(\tilde{X}) \cdot \operatorname{CH}^m(\tilde{X})$ with n, m > 0.

The image in $CH_0(\tilde{X}_{\tilde{L}})$ of the first part of the generators is divisible by p^2 since in the commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{CH}_{0}(\tilde{X}) & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{CH}_{0}(\tilde{X}_{\tilde{L}}) \\ & \uparrow & & \uparrow \\ & & & \operatorname{CH}_{0}(X) & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{CH}_{0}(X_{L}) \end{array}$$

the image of the bottom arrow is divisible by p^2 (Lemma 2.1).

The image in $\operatorname{CH}_0(\tilde{X}_{\tilde{L}})$ of the second part of the generators is divisible by p^2 since for any n > 0 the image of $\operatorname{CH}^n(\tilde{X}) \to \operatorname{CH}^n(\tilde{X}_{\tilde{L}})$ is divisible by p (Corollary 3.2).

9. LINKED ALGEBRAS

CHAPTER 10

Common splitting fields of division algebras

For every prime number p and every map $\alpha : \mathbb{Z}^n \to \mathbb{Z}$, we find the minimal integer β such that the following assertion holds: any elements x_1, \ldots, x_n of the Brauer group $\operatorname{Br}(F)$ of an arbitrary field F, satisfying the conditions $\operatorname{ind}(i_1x_1 + \cdots + i_nx_n) = p^{\alpha(i_1,\ldots,i_n)}$ for all $i_1, \ldots, i_n \in \mathbb{Z}$, possess a finite common splitting field extension E/F with $v_p([E:F]) \leq \beta$, where v_p denotes the multiplicity of p.

0. Introduction

Let us fix a prime number p. Let $\alpha \colon \mathbb{Z}^n \to \mathbb{Z}$ be an arbitrary map. We say that α is the *behaviour* of elements x_1, \ldots, x_n of the Brauer group Br(F) of a field F, if for any $i_1, \ldots, i_n \in \mathbb{Z}$ the Schur index $ind(i_1x_1 + \cdots + i_nx_n)$ equals $p^{\alpha(i_1,\ldots,i_n)}$. We say that α is a *behaviour*, if there exists a field F and elements $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in Br(F)$ with the behaviour α .

Let F be a field and $x \in Br(F)$. A splitting field of x is by definition a field extension E of F such that $x_E = 0 \in Br(E)$. A common splitting field of several elements of Br(F) is by definition a field which is a splitting field for each of the elements. We consider only (common) splitting fields finite over the base field.

Let us fix a behaviour α . In this chapter we determine the minimal integer β such that the following assertion holds (see Theorem 3.1): if some elements in the Brauer group of an arbitrary field F have the behaviour α , then they possess a common splitting field E with $v_p([E:F]) \leq \beta$.

Similar questions was already considered in the literature. Here is a list of known results:

1. A classical theorem of Albert (see [1] or [2]) states: if tensor product of two quaternion division algebras has zero divisors, then the quaternion algebras possess a common splitting field quadratic over the base field.

2. A generalization of Albert's theorem due to Risman ([70, Theorem 1]) asserts: if tensor product of a 2-primary division algebra A and a quaternion algebra B has zero divisors, then A and B possess a common splitting field of degree deg A.

3. Jacob and Wadsworth ([27], see also Chapter 9) constructed two division algebras of prime degree p over certain field F such that

- $\operatorname{ind}(A^{\otimes i} \otimes_F B^{\otimes j}) \leq p$ for any $i, j \geq 0$ and
- the degree of any common splitting field of A and B is divisible by p^2 .

4. The following was noticed by M. Rost (unpublished). Three quaternion algebras such that the Brauer class of any tensor product of some of them is represented by a quaternion algebra as well can not be (in general) split by a common quadratic extension of the base field.

5. A generalization of Risman's theorem to the case of odd prime is obtained in Chapter 8.

Note that the theorem presented here does not assert existence of a common splitting field of degree p^{β} . We even do not know whether such assertion is true in general. However, in certain particular cases (this means, for certain concrete behaviours) the proof can be refined in order to get the stronger result. An example is the theorem of Chapter 8.

Notation. For a smooth variety X over a field F, we denote by K(X) the Grothendieck group of X; by $\Gamma_0 K(X)$ the 0-dimensional term of the gamma-filtration on K(X) (for a definition of the gamma-filtration see [52, Definition 8.3] or Definition 2.6 of Chapter 1); by $T_0 K(X)$ the 0-dimensional term of the topological filtration on X (see [69, §7] for a definition of the topological filtration). We fix an algebraic closure \bar{F} of F and denote by \bar{X} the \bar{F} -variety $X_{\bar{F}}$.

For any projective homogeneous variety X, we identify K(X) with a subgroup in $K(\bar{X})$ via the restriction homomorphism $K(X) \to K(\bar{X})$ which is injective by [65].

The order of a finite set S is denoted by |S|.

For a central simple F-algebra A, we denote by SB(A) the Severi-Brauer variety of A and by SB(r, A) (for $r \ge 0$) the generalized Severi-Brauer varieties of A (also called *generic partial splitting varieties*).

1. "Generic" algebras of given behaviour

For any central simple algebras A_1, \ldots, A_n over a field F, we define their behaviour to be the behaviour of their classes in the Brauer group of F.

As in Definition 3.5 of Chapter 2, we say that algebras A_1, \ldots, A_n are *disjoint*, if, for any integers $i_1, \ldots, i_n \ge 0$, it holds

$$\operatorname{ind}(A^{\otimes i_1} \otimes_F \cdots \otimes_F A^{\otimes i_n}) = \operatorname{ind}(A^{\otimes i_1}) \cdots \operatorname{ind}(A^{\otimes i_n}) .$$

We say that a collection of algebras $\tilde{A}_1, \ldots, \tilde{A}_n$ is "generic" (compare to Definition 5.4 of Chapter 2), if it can be obtained via the following procedure. We start with some disjoint central simple algebras A_1, \ldots, A_n over a field Fsuch that ind $A_j = \exp A_j$ for every $j = 1, \ldots, n$. Then we take some central simple algebras B_1, \ldots, B_m whose Brauer classes lie in the subgroup of Br(F)generated by the Brauer classes of A_1, \ldots, A_n . We denote by Y the direct product $SB(r_1, A_1) \times \cdots \times SB(r_m, A_m)$ of generalized Severi-Brauer varieties with some $r_1, \ldots, r_m \ge 0$ and we set $\tilde{A}_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (A_i)_{F(Y)}$ for each $i = 1, \ldots, n$. PROPOSITION 1.1. For any behaviour $\alpha : \mathbb{Z}^n \to \mathbb{Z}$, there exist "generic" division algebras $\tilde{A}_1, \ldots, \tilde{A}_n$ (over a suitable field \tilde{F}) having the behaviour α .

We prove the proposition after the following

LEMMA 1.2. Let A, B be central simple algebras over a field F and let A', B' be central simple algebras over a field F'. Suppose that deg $B = \deg B'$ and that for any $i \ge 0$ the index of $A' \otimes_{F'} B'^{\otimes i}$ divides the index of $A \otimes_F B^{\otimes i}$. Then, for any $r \ge 0$, the index of $A'_{F'(SB(r,B'))}$ divides the index of $A_{F(SB(r,B))}$.

PROOF. Set $s \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \deg B = \deg B'$ and denote by d the greatest common divisor of r and s. By [60, Formula 1], one has

$$\operatorname{ind}(A_{F(\operatorname{SB}(r,B))}) = \gcd_{1 \le i \le s} \left(\frac{d}{\gcd(i,d)} \operatorname{ind}(A \otimes B^{\otimes j}) \right)$$

Replacing A by A' and B by B', we get a formula for $\operatorname{ind}(A'_{F'(\operatorname{SB}(r,B'))})$. Since $\operatorname{ind}(A' \otimes B'^{\otimes i})$ divides $\operatorname{ind}(A \otimes B^{\otimes i})$ for any *i*, we are done.

PROOF OF PROPOSITION 1.1. We start with disjoint division algebras A_1 , ..., A_n over a suitable field F such that for any j = 1, ..., n one has

$$\deg A_{i} = \exp A_{i} = p^{\alpha(0,...,0,1,0,...,0)}$$

where 1 (in the argument of α) is placed on the *j*-th position (algebras like that do definitely exist). For every i_1, \ldots, i_n with $0 \le i_j < \deg A_j$, we consider the algebra

$$B_{i_1\dots i_n} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} A_1^{\otimes i_1} \otimes \dots \otimes A_n^{\otimes i_n}$$

and denote by $Y_{i_1...i_n}$ the variety $\operatorname{SB}(p^{\alpha(i_1,...,i_n)}, B_{i_1...i_n})$. We set $Y \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \prod Y_{i_1...i_n}$ and $\tilde{A}_j \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (A_j)_{F(Y)}$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, n$. We state $\tilde{A}_1, \ldots, \tilde{A}_n$ are "generic" division algebras required.

To show that $\operatorname{ind}(i_1[\tilde{A}_1] + \cdots + i_n[\tilde{A}_n]) = p^{\alpha^{(i_1,\dots,i_n)}}$ for all $i_1,\dots,i_n \in \mathbb{Z}$, it suffices to check that

$$\operatorname{ind}(\tilde{A}_1^{\otimes i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes \tilde{A}_n^{\otimes i_n}) = p^{\alpha(i_1, \dots, i_n)}$$

for any i_1, \ldots, i_n with $0 \le i_j < \deg A_j$. Since the inequality \le is evident, it suffices to prove the inverse inequality.

Since α is a behaviour, we can find division algebras A'_1, \ldots, A'_n over a field F' having the behaviour α . Clearly, for any i_1, \ldots, i_n with $0 \leq i_j < \deg A'_j = \deg A_j$, the index of the algebra $B'_{i_1...i_n} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} A'_1^{\otimes i_1} \otimes \cdots \otimes A'_n^{\otimes i_n}$ equals $p^{\alpha(i_1,...,i_n)}$ and divides the index of the algebra $B_{i_1...i_n}$ (while their degrees coincide). Let us choose some integers i'_1, \ldots, i'_n with $0 \leq i'_j \leq \deg A'_j$. By Lemma 1.2, $\operatorname{ind}(B'_{i_1...i_n})_{F'(Y'_{i'_1...i'_n})}$ divides $\operatorname{ind}(B_{i_1...i_n})_{F(Y_{i'_1...i'_n})}$, where $Y'_{i'_1...i'_n} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{SB}(p^{\alpha(i'_1,...,i'_n)}, B'_{i'_1...i'_n})$. Moreover, the extension $F'(Y'_{i'_1...i'_n})/F$ does not in fact affect the index of any F'-algebra, because the variety $Y'_{i'_1...i'_n}$ is rational. Therefore, the index of $B'_{i_1...i_n}$ itself divides $\operatorname{ind}(B_{i_1...i_n})_{F(Y_{i'_1...i'_n})}$. So we see, that if we replace the base field F of the algebras A_1, \ldots, A_n by the function field $F(Y_{i'_1...i'_n})$, the index of every $B_{i_1...i_n}$ is still divisible by $p^{\alpha(i_1,...,i_n)}$.

Passing after that to the function field of another variety $Y_{i''_1...i''_n}$ and so on, we get in the end the required statement on the indexes.

2. Definition of β

We fix a prime number p and a behaviour $\alpha \colon \mathbb{Z}^n \to \mathbb{Z}$.

Let us consider a field F and elements $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in Br(F)$ with the behaviour α . Choose division F-algebras representing the elements x_1, \ldots, x_n and denote by X_1, \ldots, X_n the corresponding Severi-Brauer varieties. Set $X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n$.

Since \bar{X} is isomorphic to a direct product of projective spaces, $\Gamma_0 K(\bar{X})$ is an infinite cyclic group generated by the class of a rational point. We have $0 \neq \Gamma_0 K(X) \subset \Gamma_0 K(\bar{X}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}$. Therefore, the quotient $\Gamma_0 K(\bar{X})/\Gamma_0 K(X)$ is a finite group.

DEFINITION 2.1. We put $\beta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} v_p(|\Gamma_0 K(\bar{X})/\Gamma_0 K(X)|).$

LEMMA 2.2. The integer β , defined in 2.1, depends only on the prime p and the behaviour α ; it does not depend on the choice of the field F and the elements $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in Br(F)$.

PROOF. According to Corollary 2.2 of Chapter 2, the groups $\Gamma_0 K(X)$ and $\Gamma_0 K(\bar{X})$ depend only on p and on the behaviour of x_1, \ldots, x_n .

3. The theorem

THEOREM 3.1. For a prime number p and a behaviour $\alpha \colon \mathbb{Z}^n \to \mathbb{Z}$, let β be the integer defined in the previous section. Then

1. for any field F, any n elements $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in Br(F)$ with the behaviour α possess a common splitting field E/F satisfying the condition

$$v_p([E:F]) \le \beta;$$

2. there exists a field F and elements $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in Br(F)$ with the behaviour α such that any their common splitting field E/F satisfies the condition

$$v_p([E:F]) \ge \beta$$

We prove the theorem after the following

LEMMA 3.2. Let A_1, \ldots, A_n be central simple algebras over a field F and let X_1, \ldots, X_n be the corresponding Severi-Brauer varieties. Set $X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} X_1 \times \cdots \times X_n$ and $\beta' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} v_p(|T_0K(\bar{X})/T_0K(X)|)$. Then

1. for any common splitting field E/F of A_1, \ldots, A_n , it holds

$$v_p([E:F]) \ge \beta';$$

3. THE THEOREM

2. the algebras A_1, \ldots, A_n possess a common splitting field E/F with

$$v_p([E:F]) = \beta' \; .$$

PROOF. For any variety Y, $T_0K(Y)$ is by definition the subgroup of K(Y)generated by the classes $[y] \in K(Y)$ of the closed points $y \in Y$. If Y is a complete F-variety, the rule $[y] \mapsto \deg(y) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} [F(y) : F]$, where F(y) is the residue field of y, determines a well-defined homomorphism deg: $T_0K(Y) \to \mathbb{Z}$ (compare to [14, Corollary 6.10 of Chapter II]). Note that the composition $T_0K(Y) \to T_0K(\bar{Y}) \to \mathbb{Z}$ of the restriction homomorphism with the degree homomorphism for \bar{Y} coincides with the degree homomorphism for Y.

Since \bar{X} is isomorphic to a direct product of projective spaces, the homomorphism deg : $T_0K(\bar{X}) \to \mathbb{Z}$ is bijective. In particular, since $T_0K(X)$ is a non-zero subgroup of $T_0K(\bar{X})$, we see that the quotient $T_0K(\bar{X})/T_0K(X)$ is finite.

1. If E is a common splitting field of the algebras A_1, \ldots, A_n , the variety X_E has a closed rational point. Therefore, there exists a zero-cycle on X of degree [E : F]. It follows that the order of the quotient $T_0K(\bar{X})/T_0K(X)$ divides [E : F]. In particular, $v_p([E : F]) \geq \beta'$.

2. It follows from the definition of β' and the above discussion that there exists a zero-cycle $\sigma = \sum_{i=1}^{r} l_i \sigma_i$ on X (where $l_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\sigma_i \in X$) with $v_p(\deg(\sigma)) = \beta'$. Since

$$\deg(\sigma) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{i=1}^{r} l_i \deg(\sigma_i),$$

one has $v_p(\deg(\sigma_i)) \leq \beta'$ for certain *i*. Denote by *E* the residue field of the point σ_i . Since the variety X_E possess a rational point, *E* is a common splitting field of the algebras A_1, \ldots, A_n . Therefore, by Item 1, it holds $v_p([E : F]) \geq \beta'$. From the other hand $v_p([E : F]) = v_p(\deg(\sigma_i)) \leq \beta'$. Thus $v_p([E : F]) = \beta'$.

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.1. 1. Let x_1, \ldots, x_n be some elements with the behaviour α in the Brauer group of a field F. Consider the variety X as in Definition 2.1. According to Item 2 of Lemma 3.2, the elements x_1, \ldots, x_n possess a common splitting field E/F with $v_p([E:F]) = \beta' \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} v_p(|T_0K(\bar{X})/T_0K(X)|)$. From the other hand, $\beta = v_p(\Gamma_0K(\bar{X})/\Gamma_0K(X))$ by Lemma 2.2. Since

$$T_0K(X) = \Gamma_0K(X)$$
 and $T_0K(X) \supset \Gamma_0K(X)$

(see [13, Theorem 3.9 of Chapter V] for the second relation) the order of the quotient $T_0K(\bar{X})/T_0K(X)$ divides the order of the quotient $\Gamma_0K(\bar{X})/\Gamma_0K(X)$. Therefore $\beta' \leq \beta$ and consequently $v_p([E:F]) \leq \beta$.

2. Let x_1, \ldots, x_n be the Brauer classes of some "generic" division algebras with the behaviour α (which exist by Proposition 1.1). Let X be the product of the Severi-Brauer varieties of these division algebras. By Item 1 of Lemma 3.2, $v_p([E:F]) \ge \beta'$ for any common splitting field E/F of x_1, \ldots, x_n . By Theorem 5.5 of Chapter 2, one has $T_0K(X) = \Gamma_0K(X)$. Therefore $\beta' = \beta$. \Box 10. SPLITTING FIELDS OF ALGEBRAS

Bibliography

- Albert, A. A. On the Wedderburn norm condition for cyclic algebras. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 37 (1931), 301–312.
- [2] <u>Tensor product of quaternion algebras.</u> Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. **35** (1972), 65–66.
- [3] _____ Structure of Algebras. Amer. Math. Soc. Coll. Pub. XXIV, Providence R. I. 1961.
- [4] Amitsur, S. A., Rowen L. H., Tignol J.-P. Division algebras of degree 4 and 8 with involution. Israel J. Math. 33 (1979), 133–148.
- [5] Arason, J. Kr. Cohomologische Invarianten quadratischer Formen. J. Algebra 36 (1975), 448–491.
- [6] Artin, M. Brauer-Severi varieties. In Brauer Groups in Ring Theory and Algebraic Geometry, edited by F. van Oystaeyen and A. Verschoren. Springer Lect. Notes Math. 917 (1982), 194–210.
- [7] Blanchet, A. Function fields of generalized Brauer-Severi varieties. Comm. Algebra 19 (1991), no. 1, 97–118.
- [8] Demazure, M., Gabriel, P. Groupes Algébriques (Tome I). Masson & Cie, Éditeur Paris, North-Holland Publishing Company — Amsterdam, 1970.
- [9] Elman, R., Lam, T. Y. Pfister forms and K-theory of fields. J. of Algebra 23 (1972), 181–213.
- [10] Esnault, H., Kahn, B., Levine M., and Viehweg V. The Arason invariant and mod 2 algebraic cycles. K-theory Preprint Archives (http://www.math.uiuc.edu/K-theory/), Preprint N°151.
- [11] Faith, C. Algebra: Rings, Modules and Categories I. Springer-Verlag, 1973.
- [12] Fulton, W. Intersection Theory. Springer-Verlag, 1984.
- [13] _____, Lang, S. Riemann-Roch Algebra. Springer-Verlag, 1985.
- [14] Hartshorne, R. Algebraic Geometry. Springer-Verlag, 1977.
- [15] Hoffmann, D. W. Isotropy of 5-dimensional quadratic forms over the function field of a quadric. Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 58.2 (1995), 217-225.
- [16] _____ On 6-dimensional quadratic forms isotropic over the function field of a quadric. Comm. Alg. 22 (1994), 1999–2014.
- [17] _____ Twisted Pfister Forms. Doc. Math. 1 (1996), 67–102.
- [18] _____ On the dimensions of anisotropic quadratic forms in I^4 . Invent. Math., to appear.
- [19] _____ Splitting patterns and invariants of quadratic forms. Math. Nachr., to appear.
- [20] _____, Lewis, D. W., van Geel, J. Minimal forms for function fields of conics. Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 58.2 (1995), 227–237.
- [21] _____, Tignol, J.-P. On 14-dimensional forms in I^3 , 8-dimensional forms in I^2 , and the common value property. Preprint, 1997.
- [22] Hurrelbrink, J., Rehmann, U. Splitting patterns of quadratic forms. Math. Nachr. 176 (1995), 111–127.
- [23] Izhboldin O. T. On the Nonexcellence of Field Extensions $F(\pi)/F$. Doc. Math. 1 (1996), 127–136.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [24] _____ On the nonexcellence of the function fields of Severi-Brauer varieties. Max-Planck-Institut für Mathematik in Bonn, Preprint MPI **96-159** (1996), 1–28.
- [25] _____ Isotropy of low dimensional forms over the function fields of quadrics. Max-Planck-Institut für Mathematik in Bonn, Preprint MPI 97-1 (1997), 1–18.
- [26] Jacob, B. Indecomposible division algebras of prime exponent. J. reine angew. Math. 413 (1991), 181–197.
- [27] _____, Wadsworth, A. R. Division algebras with no common subfields. Israel J. Math. 83 (1993), 353–360.
- [28] Jacobson, N. Some applications of Jordan norms to involutorial associative algebras. Adv. Math. 48 (1983), 149–165.
- [29] Kahn, B. Descente galoisienne et K_2 des corps de nombres. K-Theory 7 (1993), 55–100.
- [30] _____ Quadratic forms isotropic over the function field of a quadric: a survey. Math. Forschungsinstitut Oberwolfach, Tagungsbericht 24/1995 (1995), 6–7.
- [31] Karpenko, N. A. Chow ring of a projective quadric. Ph. D. theses (in Russian), Leningrad (1990), 80 p.
- [32] <u>Algebro-geometric invariants of quadratic forms.</u> Algebra i Analiz 2 (1991), no. 1, 141–162 (in Russian). Engl. transl.: Leningrad (St. Petersburg) Math. J. 2 (1991), no. 1, 119–138.
- [33] On topological filtration for Severi-Brauer varieties. Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 58.2 (1995), 275–277.
- [34] _____ On topological filtration for Severi-Brauer varieties II. Amer. Math. Soc. Transl. 174 (1996), no. 2, 45–48.
- [35] _____ Torsion in CH² of Severi-Brauer varieties and indecomposability of generic algebras. Manuscripta Math. 88 (1995), 109–117.
- [36] _____ On topological filtration for triquaternion algebra. Nova J. of Math., Game Theory, and Algebra 4 (1996), no. 2, 161–167.
- [37] _____ Grothendieck's Chow motives of Severi-Brauer varieties. Algebra i Analiz 7 (1995), no.4, 196–213 (in Russian). Engl. transl.: St. Petersburg Math. J. 7 (1996), no. 4, 649–661.
- [38] <u>Cohomology</u> of relative cellular spaces and isotropic flag varieties. Preprint (1997), 1–57.
- [39] _____, Merkurjev, A. S. Chow groups of projective quadrics. Algebra i Analiz 2 (1990), no. 3, 218–235 (in Russian). Engl. transl.: Leningrad (St. Petersburg) Math. J. 2 (1991), no. 3, 655–671.
- [40] Knebusch, M. Generic splitting of quadratic forms I. Proc. London Math. Soc. 33 (1976), 65–93.
- [41] <u>Generic splitting of quadratic forms II.</u> Proc. London Math. Soc. **34** (1977), 1–31.
- [42] Knus, M.-A., Merkurjev, A. S., Rost, M., Tignol, J.-P. The Book of Involutions. Preliminary version of June 12, 1996.
- [43] Köck, B. Chow motif and higher Chow theory of G/P. Manuscripta Math. 70 (1991), 363–372.
- [44] Laghribi, A. Formes quadratiques de dimension 6. Preprint (1996).
- [45] _____ Isotropie d'une forme quadratique de dimension ≤ 8 sur le corps des fonctions d'une quadrique. C.R.Acad.Sci.Paris 323 (1996), série I, 495–499.
- [46] _____ Isotropie de certaines formes quadratiques de dimension 7 et 8 sur le corps des fonctions d'une quadrique. Duke Math. J. 85 (1996), no. 2, 397–410.
- [47] _____ Formes quadratiques en 8 variables dont l'algèbre de Clifford est d'indice 8. K-Theory, to appear.
- [48] Lam, T. Y. The Algebraic Theory of Quadratic Forms. Massachusetts: Benjamin 1973 (revised printing: 1980).
- [49] Leep, D. Function fields results. Handwritten notes (1989).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [50] Levine, M., Srinivas, V., Weyman, J. K-theory of twisted Grassmanians. K-Theory 3 (1989) 99–121.
- [51] Mammone, P. On the tensor product of division algebras. Arch. Math. 58 (1992), 34–39.
- [52] Manin, Yu. I. Lectures on the K-functor in algebraic geometry. Russian Math. Surveys 24 (1969), no. 5, 1–89.
- [53] Merkurjev, A. S. On the norm residue symbol of degree 2. Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 261 (1981), 542–547 (in Russian). Engl. transl.: Soviet Math. Dokl. 24 (1981), 546–551.
- [54] _____Kaplansky conjecture in the theory of quadratic forms. Zap. Nauchn. Semin. Leningr. Otd. Mat. Inst. Steklova 175 (1989), 75–89 (in Russian). Engl. transl.: J. Sov. Math. 57 (1991), no. 6, 3489–3497.
- [55] _____ Simple algebras and quadratic forms. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. 55 (1991), 218–224 (in Russian). English transl.: Math. USSR Izv. 38 (1992), no. 1, 215–221.
- [56] _____ K-theory of simple algebras. Proc. Symp. Pure Math. **58.1** (1995), 65–83.
- [57] <u>The group $H^1(X, K_2)$ for projective homogeneous varieties.</u> Algebra i Analiz 7 (1995), no. 3, 136–164 (in Russian). Engl. transl.: St. Petersburg Math. J. 7 (1996), no. 3, 421–444.
- [58] <u>Certain K-cohomology groups of Severi-Brauer varieties</u>. Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 58.2 (1995), 319–331.
- [59] _____, Panin, I. A. K-theory of algebraic tori and toric varieties. K-Theory (1997), to appear.
- [60] _____, Panin I. A., Wadsworth, A. A list of index reduction formulas. Preprint 94-079, SFB preprint series, Bielefeld Univ., Germany, 1994.
- [61] _____, Panin, I. A., Wadsworth, A. R. Index reduction formulas for twisted flag varieties, I. K-Theory 10 (1996), 517–596.
- [62] _____, Suslin, A. A. The group K_3 for a field. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat. **54** (1990), no.3, 522–545 (in Russian). Engl. transl.: Math. USSR, Izv. **36** (1991), no.3, 541–565.
- [63] Mumford, D. Introduction to Algebraic Geometry (Preliminary version of first 3 Chapters).
- [64] Panin, I. A. K-theory of Grassman bundles and it's twisted forms. LOMI, preprint E-5-89, Leningrad 1989.
- [65] On the algebraic K-theory of twisted flag varieties. K-Theory 8 (1994), no. 6, 541–585.
- [66] Peyre, E. Products of Severi-Brauer varieties and Galois cohomology. Proc. Symp. Pure Math. 58.2 (1995), 369–401.
- [67] <u>Corps de fonctions de variétés homogènes et cohomologie galoisienne.</u> C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris **321** (1995), série I, 891–896.
- [68] Pfister, A. Quadratische Formen in beliebigen Körpern. Invent. Math. 1 (1966), 116– 132.
- [69] Quillen, D. Higher algebraic K-theory: I. In Algebraic K-Theory I, edited by H. Bass. Springer Lect. Notes Math. 341 (1973), 85–147.
- [70] Risman, L. J. Zero divisors in tensor products of division algebras. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 51 (1975), no. 1, 35–36.
- [71] Rost, M. Hilbert 90 for K_3 for degree-two extensions. Preprint (1986).
- [72] _____ On 14-dimensional quadratic forms, their spinors and the difference of two octonion algebras. Preprint (1994).
- [73] Rowen, L. H. Division algebras of exponent 2 and characteristic 2. J. of Algebra 90 (1984), 71–83.
- [74] Sansuc, J.-J. Groupe de Brauer et arithmétique des groupes algébriques linéaires sur un corps de nombres. J. reine angew. Math. 327 (1981), 12–80.
- [75] Schapiro D. B. Similarities, quadratic forms. and Clifford algebra. Doctoral Dissertation, University of California, Berkeley, California (1974).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [76] Scharlau, W. Quadratic and Hermitian Forms Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, Tokyo (1985).
- [77] Scheiderer, C. Real and étale cohomology. Lect. Notes Math. 1588 (1994).
- [78] Schofield, A., van den Bergh, M. The index of a Brauer class on a Brauer-Severi variety. Transactions Amer. Math. Soc. 333 (1992), no. 2, 729–739.
- [79] Serre, J.-P. Cohomologie galoisienne. Lect. Notes Math. 5 (1994) (5-ème édition).
- [80] Srinivas, V. Algebraic K-Theory. Progress in Math. 90, Birkhäuser 1991.
- [81] Suslin, A. A. Algebraic K-theory and the norm residue homomorphism. J. Soviet Math. 30 (1985), 2556–2611.
- [82] Swan, R. K-theory of quadric hypersurfaces. Ann. Math. 122 (1985), no. 1, 113–154.
- [83] Tignol, J.-P. Algèbres indécomposibles d'exposant premier. Adv. in Math. 63 (1987), 205–228.
- [84] _____ Réduction de l'indice d'une algèbre simple centrale sur le corps des fonctions d'une quadrique. Bull. Soc. Math. Belgique **42** (1990), 725–745.
- [85] _____, Wadsworth, A. R. Totally ramified valuations on finite-dimensional division algebras. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 302 (1987), 223–250.
- [86] Wadsworth, A. R. Similarity of quadratic forms and isomorphism of their function fields. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 208 (1975), 352–358.